

PCOS: From infertility to pregnancy

Edited by Stefano Palomba and Didier Dewailly

Published in Frontiers in Endocrinology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-2689-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-2689-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

PCOS: From infertility to pregnancy

Topic editors

Stefano Palomba — Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Didier Dewailly — Université de Lille, France

Citation

Palomba, S., Dewailly, D., eds. (2023). *PCOS: From infertility to pregnancy*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-2689-7

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05	Editorial: PCOS: from infertility to pregnancy
	Stefano Palomba and Didier Dewailly

80 Dendrobium officinale polysaccharide ameliorates polycystic ovary syndrome via regulating butyrate dependent gut-brain-ovary axis mechanism Xueping Feng, Decai Wang, Linlin Hu, Haishan Lu, Bo ling,

Yanna Huang and Qinyang Jiang

- 23 Acupuncture combined with metformin versus metformin alone to improve pregnancy rate in polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis Xin Chen, Ying Lan, Lijie Yang, Yang Liu, Hongyu Li, Xinyun Zhu, Yuemeng Zhao, Caiyi Long, Mengjing Wang, Qingling Xie, Zhao Li and Jie Wu
- 34 Canagliflozin combined with metformin versus metformin monotherapy for endocrine and metabolic profiles in overweight and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A single-center, open-labeled prospective randomized controlled trial

Jiaqi Zhang, Chuan Xing, Xiangyi Cheng and Bing He

45 Underlying mechanisms of acupuncture therapy on polycystic ovary syndrome: Evidences from animal and clinical studies

Yang Ye, Cong-Cong Zhou, Hang-Qi Hu, li Fukuzawa and Hao-Lin Zhang

62 Therapeutic effect and safety of curcumin in women with PCOS: A systematic review and meta-analysis Wenjuan Shen, Yangfan Qu, Huan Jiang, Hongwei Wang, Yujia Pan,

Yuehui Zhang, Xiaoke Wu, Yanhua Han and Yang Zhang

- 78 Effect of different timing of letrozole initiation on pregnancy outcome in polycystic ovary syndrome Lan Shi, Shujin Ye, Mengyun Gao, Yijie Chen, Xuejing Jin and Zhifen Zhang
- 90 Cardiovascular disease risk in offspring of polycystic ovary syndrome

Noha M. Shawky

100 Effects of follicular output rate on cumulative clinical pregnancy rate and cumulative live birth rate in PCOS patients with different characteristics

Rulan Jiang, Mingya Cao, Haomeng Hao, Rui Jia, Peipei Chen, Yuanyuan Liu and Zhiming Zhao

112 Circulating apelin and chemerin levels in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: A meta-analysis

Yiming Gao, Caihong Xin, Huaying Fan, Xin Sun and Hongli Wang

121 Add-on effect of the Guizhi Fuling formula for management of reduced fertility potential in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

Anna Rong, Na Ta, Lihua E. and Wenbin Meng

Muhammad Zahoor

 131 The mutational analysis of mitochondrial DNA in maternal inheritance of polycystic ovarian syndrome
Shaheen Bibi, Ghulam Abbas, Muhammad Zahoor Khan, Tanzeela Nawaz, Qudrat Ullah, Aziz Uddin, Muhammad Fiaz Khan,

Sajid Ul Ghafoor, Muhammad Shahid Nadeem, Sadia Tabassum and

Frontiers in Endocrinology

4

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Richard Ivell, University of Nottingham, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Stefano Palomba Prof.Stefano.Palomba@gmail.com

RECEIVED 09 May 2023 ACCEPTED 17 May 2023 PUBLISHED 30 May 2023

CITATION

Palomba S and Dewailly D (2023) Editorial: PCOS: from infertility to pregnancy. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1220014. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1220014

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Palomba and Dewailly. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: PCOS: from infertility to pregnancy

Stefano Palomba^{1*} and Didier Dewailly²

¹Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ²Université de Lille, Nord-Pas-de-Calais, France

KEYWORDS

cardiovascular risk, infertility, PCOS, polycystic ovarian syndrome, pregnancy, reproduction

Editorial on the Research Topic PCOS: from infertility to pregnancy

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a heterogeneous and very frequent endocrinological disease associated with reproductive alterations (1). Women with PCOS have reduced fertility in the presence of ovulatory dysfunction that is a key element in the pathogenesis of PCOS (2). However, patients with PCOS have alterations in several reproductive athways independently of their ovulatory status (3). These include primary and secondary alterations of the oocyte and embryo quality (4), and of endometrial competence (5). Those endometrial alterations, with subsequent abnormal trophoblast invasion and placentation, are probably the main etiologic factor of the increased incidence of pregnancy complications in PCOS (6). However, PCOS is also associated with an increased cardiometabolic risk (1), albeit clinical evidence about the related mortality is still lacking.

The current Research Topic includes 11 papers, selected after an intense reviewing process. Five articles represent original research, whereas the other 6 consisted of narrative and systematic reviews with or without meta-analysis.

In an experimental animal study, Feng et al. assessed the therapeutic effect and mechanism of action of Dendrobium officinale extract, which is commonly administered in China as a dietary supplement, in letrozole-induced PCOS rats. Dendrobium officinale extract reduced body weight, and restored estrous cycle by improving follicle development and lowering testosterone levels. These effects were potentially mediated by gut microbiota changes. Shen et al. assessed the effect of curcumin, a phenolic compound with potent antiinflammatory and antioxidant properties also administered as a dietary supplement. The meta-analysis of 7 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) demonstrated that curcumin is safe and effective to reduce body weight, to improve inflammation, and markers of insulin resistance and lipid profile. Unfortunately, many trials had a high risk of bias, are from the Asiatic area and included a very low number of randomized subjects. Similarly, Rong et al. reported the synthesis of data from 16 RCTs for a total of 1385 patients showing the safety and efficacy of the Guizhi fuling pill as an adjuvant treatment for infertile patients with PCOS. When added to Western medicine, including oral contraceptives, insulin-sensitizing drugs, and clomiphene citrate, Guizhi fuling pill, a traditional Chinese herbal formula, induced a significant improvement in the ovulation and pregnancy rates of about 24% and 53%, respectively, in PCOS patients. Again the suboptimal certainty of evidence and the unclear risk of bias precluded any clear-cut recommendation for clinicians. A narrative

review by Shawky discussed the available experimental and clinical data on the increased cardio-metabolic risk in offspring of women with PCOS exploring the different theories supporting that risk and analyzing the sex differences. Clearly, the increased cardiometabolic risk in offspring of mothers with PCOS probably needs the interaction of environmental (not only prenatal but also postnatal) and genetic factors over the lifespan. A sex interaction cannot be excluded as mediator of cardiometabolic outcomes. Gao et al. firstly performed a systematic review with meta-analysis, including 18 studies (case-control and cohort studies) for a total of 1265 PCOS patients and 894 controls. These studies aimed to evaluate the potential role of apelin and chemerin, two newly identified adipokines widely expressed in different organs. The data synthesis demonstrates that only chemerin, but not apelin, is significantly higher in PCOS patients suggesting that chemerin may be a therapeutic target to reduce the cardiovascular risk in patients with PCOS. Acupuncture is more and more used as a complementary and alternative treatment for infertility with controversial data regarding its efficacy (7). A comprehensive systematic review by Ye et al. on the use of acupuncture in women with PCOS underlined that all available meta-analyses agree that clinical evidence about the effectiveness of acupuncture for improving fertility is scarce in PCOS patients. Therefore, robust and well-designed clinical trials are needed to confirm or refute these hypotheses of efficacy. In the current Research Topic, the effect of acupuncture in PCOS patients under metformin administration was tested by Chen et al. in a systematic review with meta-analysis of 9 RCTs including a total of 1159 women. Even if acupuncture improved the ovulation and pregnancy rate by about 30% in PCOS patients with a potential action on the insulin resistance, the risk of bias was high for many studies and the quality of the evidence was defined as low to very low (8). Another interesting RCT by Zhang et al. assessed the effect of canagliflozin, a sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitor, a novel class of hypoglycemic oral drugs that enhance the renal glucose loss in 51 women with PCOS. Three months of canagliflozin administration induced only a significant, but clinically modest, beneficial effect on total testosterone and glucose concentrations.

Surprisingly, only one paper was published in this Research Topic about evidence-based treatment for infertile PCOS patients, such as letrozole administration (9, 10). The retrospective analysis by Shi et al. on a total of 539 infertile patients with PCOS, showed that letrozole administered starting on day 5 following menstrual bleeding is associated with a cumulative conception rate about 10% higher in comparison with administration on day 3 due to a potentially better endometrial thickness.

During the last years, the follicular output rate (FORT) has acquired a progressively more important role for scientists and clinicians as a marker of good reproductive prognosis. FORT is the ratio of preovulatory follicle count on the trigger day to the antral follicule count (AFC), and is considered an important criterion by which to quantify the follicular development potential (11). Jiang et al. retrospectively analyzed the effects of FORT on reproductive performance in 454 infertile patients with PCOS scheduled for IVF cycles and showed that FORT is directly related to the cumulative pregnancy and live birth rates when the FORT was less than 70%. After stratification analyses, each additional unit of FORT increased the cumulative live birth rate by 1.3% confirming that FORT may be used as a simple and non-invasive tool to assess the dynamic changes of follicular growth in response to exogenous gonadotropins in the clinical practice.

Finally, in the current Research Topic, Bibi et al. published for the first time a link between some specific mitochondrial DNA mutations and PCOS using next-generation sequencing (NGS). Six regions with common variations in all analyzed genomes were identified, even if individual variations were also reported. Interestingly, the score-based pathogenicity analysis of mitochondrial variants that demonstrated frameshift mutations in the ND2 gene was associated to the highest risk for PCOS, potentially opening the door to predisposition tests for PCOS.

In conclusion, the reading of the current Research Topic, beside the scientific value of the specific papers published, arouse in us two main considerations. First, very few conclusions may be drawn from systematic reviews after considering the suboptimal quality of many of the studies available. Second, there is great interest from Asian scientists in regard to PCOS and its management in conjunction with alternative and adjuvant treatments. We hope that this Research Topic may stimulate the design of well-structured and powered RCTs, also in Western countries, to confirm or refute these new, interesting, and potentially useful strategies of treatment for women with PCOS.

Author contributions

SP and DD conceptualized the study, acquired the main data, drafted the article, provided their final approval of the version to be published and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work especially regarding its accuracy and integrity.

Acknowledgments

We thank all Authors who contributed to this Research Topic

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Dumesic DA, Oberfield SE, Stener-Victorin E, Marshall JC, Laven JS, Legro RS. Scientific statement on the diagnostic criteria, epidemiology, pathophysiology, and molecular genetics of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Endocr Rev* (2015) 36:487–525. doi: 10.1210/er.2015-1018

2. Dewailly D, Robin. G, Peigne M, Decanter C, Pigny P, Catteau-Jonard S. Interactions between androgens, FSH, anti-müllerian hormone and estradiol during folliculogenesis in the human normal and polycystic ovary. *Hum Reprod Update* (2016) 22:709–24. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmw027

3. Palomba S. Is fertility reduced in ovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome? *Opin Pap Hum Reprod* (2021) 36:2421-8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab181

 Palomba S, Daolio J, La Sala GB. Oocyte competence in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Trends Endocrinol Metab (2017) 28:186–98. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.11.008

5. Palomba S, Piltonen TT, Giudice LC. Endometrial function in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2021) 27:584–618. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa051

6. Palomba S, de Wilde MA, Falbo A, Koster MP, La Sala GB, Fauser BC. Pregnancy complications in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod Update* (2015) 21:575–92. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv029

7. Wu XK, Stener-Victorin E, Kuang HY, Ma HL, Gao JS, Xie LZ. Effect of acupuncture and clomiphene in Chinese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* (2017) 317:2502–14. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.7217

8. Palomba S, Falbo A, Zullo F, Orio FJr. Evidence-based and potential benefits of metformin in the polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Endocr Rev* (2009) 30:1–50. doi: 10.1210/er.2008-0030

9. Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L, et al. Recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod* (2018) 33:1602–18. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey256

10. Wang R, Li W, Bordewijk EM, Legro RS, Zhang H, Wu X, et al. First-line ovulation induction for polycystic ovary syndrome: an individual participant data meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2019) 25:717–32. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz029

11. Genro VK, Grynberg M, Scheffer JB, Roux I, Frydman R, Fanchin R. Serum antimüllerian hormone levels are negatively related to follicular output RaTe (FORT) in normo-cycling women undergoing controlled ovarian hyperstimulation. *Hum Reprod* (2011) 26:671–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deq361

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Palomba, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Xiangyan Ruan, Beijing Obstetrics and Gynecology Hospital, Capital Medical University, China Avi Lerner, Imperial College London, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Qinyang Jiang jiangqinyang2013@gxu.edu.cn Yanna Huang huangyn@gxu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 06 June 2022 ACCEPTED 07 July 2022 PUBLISHED 05 August 2022

CITATION

Feng X, Wang D, Hu L, Lu H, ling B, Huang Y and Jiang Q (2022) Dendrobium officinale polysaccharide ameliorates polycystic ovary syndrome *via* regulating butyrate dependent gut-brain-ovary axis mechanism. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:962775. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.962775

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Feng, Wang, Hu, Lu, ling, Huang and Jiang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the **Creative Commons Attribution License** (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author (s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Dendrobium officinale polysaccharide ameliorates polycystic ovary syndrome *via* regulating butyrate dependent gut-brain-ovary axis mechanism

Xueping Feng^{1,2}, Decai Wang³, Linlin Hu⁴, Haishan Lu⁵, Bo ling⁶, Yanna Huang^{1*} and Qinyang Jiang^{1*}

¹College of Animal Science & Technology, Guangxi University, Nanning, China, ²College of Basic Medicine, Youjiang Medical University for Nationalities, Baise, China, ³Department of Library, Youjiang Medical University for Nationalities, Baise, China, ⁴Reproductive Medicine Center, The Affiliated Hospital of Youjiang Medical University for Nationalities, Baise, China, ⁵Department of Pathology, The Affiliated Hospital of Youjiang Medical University for Nationalities, Baise, China, ⁶College of Pharmacy, Youjiang Medical University for Nationalities, Baise, China

Research has shown that dendrobium officinale polysaccharide (DOP) can promote follicular development and inhibit the apoptosis of ovarian granular cells in PCOS rats. However, DOP cannot be absorbed directly by the stomach and small intestine but is degraded into short-chain fatty acids by gut microbiota in the large intestine and regulates the composition of gut microbiota. How DOP improved ovarian function in PCOS rats through the blood-brain barrier is unclear. In this study, we generated letrozole-induced PCOS rat models and studied the therapeutic effect and mechanism of DOP. 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing analysis, GC-MS short-chain fatty acid detection, and Gene Expression Omnibus database searching were conducted to screen the significantly changed pathways, and a series of experiments, such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, RT-qPCR, Western blot, and immunohistochemistry, were performed. We found that DOP treatment could improve ovarian morphology and endocrine disorders, restore the normal estrus cycle, increase gut microbiota α diversity, and alter β diversity and enrichment of butyrate-producing bacterium in PCOS rats. In addition, compared with PCOS rats, those treated with DOP exhibited higher butyrate and polypeptide YY levels, possibly due to the regulation of G proteincoupled receptor 41 expression. These results indicated that DOP relieved the symptoms of PCOS rats which may be related to the mechanism of butyrate dependent gut-brain-ovary axis protection.

KEYWORDS

dendrobium officinale polysaccharide, polycystic ovary syndrome, ovary, gut microbiota, butyrate

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is the most common endocrine and metabolic disorder prevalent in women of reproductive age. It is characterized by ovulatory dysfunction, hyperandrogenism, and polycystic ovarian morphology (1) and is accompanied by various metabolic abnormalities, such as insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, and adiposity (2). It has been demonstrated that gut microbiota composition changes and dysbiosis occur in PCOS animal models and women with PCOS, which is closely related to hyperandrogenism (3–5). Gut bacteria-released metabolites have an effective role in weight control by stimulating gut satietogenic hormones, controlling lipid metabolism in adipose tissue, influencing insulin signaling, and improving gut barrier function (6).

Metformin (MET) is an insulin sensitizer, which can improve menstruation, hyperinsulinemia, hyperandrogenemia, and BMI in PCOS (7–10), but long-term use can lead to gastrointestinal distress and even lower pregnancy rates (11, 12). Therefore, traditional Chinese medicine, which has few side effects and a wide range of targets, is becoming an option for the treatment of PCOS.

Dendrobium officinale Kimura et Migo is a traditional and valuable Chinese medicine and is popularly consumed as a functional dietary supplement. Dendrobium officinale polysaccharide (DOP) is the main active component that has various biological functions including antioxidant (13), antiangiogenesis (14), anti-fatigue (15), and anti-apoptosis (16), as well as improving gut health (17). DOP treatment in type 2 diabetic rats improved the liver metabolism disorder and protected the liver against oxidative stress and inflammatory injury (18). Moreover, DOP could also improve insulin resistance and abnormal lipid metabolism in obese mice (19). Those studies suggest that DOP has great potential in the treatment of diseases related to lipid metabolism abnormalities. Research has shown that DOP can promote follicular development and inhibit apoptosis of ovarian granular cells in PCOS rats (20), but DOP cannot be digested and absorbed by the stomach and small intestine (21), and how DOP acts on the ovary through the blood-brain barrier remains unclear.

Herein, this study was conducted to investigate the effects of DOP on estrus cycle, pathophysiology, endocrine hormone, gut microbial diversity, and metabolites in PCOS rats to clarify the mechanism of DOP improving PCOS.

Materials and methods

Materials

Dendrobium officinale polysaccharide (VTY24621, Clara Reagent Grade, 98%) was purchased from Dehang Wuzhou (Beijing, China). Primary antibodies PI3 Kinase p85 (Cat#4257), anti-Phospho-AKT (ser473) (Cat#4060), and anti-Phospho-mTOR (ser2448) (Cat# 5536) were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (USA). Anti-GPR41 (Cat#AF9057) and anti-GAPDH (Cat#AF7021) were purchased from Affinity Biosciences Technology (Jiangsu, China). SYBR Premix EX TaqTM (RR047A) and SYBR Premix EX TagTM Kit (RR820A) were purchased from TaKaRa (Dalian, China), and PCR primers were purchased from Gencreate (Wuhan, China). RIPA tissue/cell lysate was purchased from Solarbio Life Sciences (Beijing, China). The ELISA kits [testosterone (E05101m), insulin (E05070r), polypeptide YY (E13432r), and estradiol (E05110r)] were purchased from CUSABIO (Wuhan, China). Metformin hydrochloride (H11021518) was purchased from Beijing Jingfeng Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (Beijing, China).

Animals

Eight-week-old female Sprague-Dawley rats $(180 \pm 20g)$ were purchased from Changsha Tianqin Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (Hunan, China) [SCXK (Hunan) 2019-0014, No. 430726210100078487] and raised at the Laboratory Animal Center of Youjiang Medical University for Nationalities [SYXK (Guangxi): 2017-0003] (22 \pm 2°C, relative humidity 55 \pm 5%, 12h light/dark cycle). All the experimental procedures were approved by the Animal Welfare and Ethics Committee of Youjiang Medical University for Nationalities (YY. No 2020032511).

Establishment of PCOS model and treatment

After 1 week of acclimatization, vaginal smears were taken for 5 consecutive days, and 30 rats with normal estrus cycles were selected for subsequent experiments. Then the rats were randomly divided into two groups: the normal saline group (NS group) and the model group. The model group was orally administered with letrozole [1 mg/kg/day, dissolved in 0.5% carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC)], and the normal saline group was orally administered with 0.5% CMC (1 ml/kg/day) for 28 days. Three rats were randomly selected from each group for model validation, and the successful PCOS model in rats was ensured by testing serum testosterone levels and ovarian histopathological observations. Then the model group was

Abbreviations: DOP, dendrobium officinale polysaccharide; PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome; MET, metformin; CMC, carboxymethyl cellulose; NS, normal saline; LH, luteinizing hormone; FSH, follicle stimulating hormone; FBG, fasting blood glucose; T, testosterone; E₂, estradiol; PYY, peptide tyrosine-tyrosine; GPR41, G protein-coupled receptor 41; SCFAs, short-chain fatty acids; CYP17A1, 17-a hydroxylase.

randomly divided into dendrobium officinale polysaccharide group (DOP group), metformin group (MET group), and polycystic ovary syndrome group (PCOS group). For the PCOS group, the rats were orally administered with normal saline (1 ml/kg/day). For the DOP group, the rats were orally administered with DOP (200 mg/kg/day). For the MET group, the rats were orally administered with MET (300 mg/kg/day) and for the NS group, and the rats were orally administered with normal saline. During treatment, vaginal smears were performed for 10 consecutive days. After 28 days of treatment, all rats were sacrificed, then fasting blood glucose (FBG), serum, ovaries, colons, and colon feces were collected for further analysis. During the process and treatment, the rats were weighed weekly.

Serum collection and hormone level determination

After 28 days of treatment, all rats were anesthetized with isoflurane and blood was taken from the abdominal aorta, left at 4°C overnight, then the serum was isolated by centrifuging at 4,000 rpm for 10 min then stored at -80°C. FSH and LH levels were measured by the Beijing North Institute of Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (Beijing, China). The serum concentrations of hormones (testosterone, fasting insulin, polypeptide YY, and estradiol) were determined using ELISA kits.

Fecal sample collection and determination

Feces were collected from the colon of rats and frozen in liquid nitrogen for 5 min then stored at -80°C. The 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing and GC-MS short-chain fatty acids were detected respectively by OE Biotech Inc. (Shanghai, China) and Luming Biotech Inc. (Shanghai, China).

Ovary morphology analysis

The ovarian tissue samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde solution at 4°C over 24 h, then embedded in paraffin and cut into $3\sim4$ -µm thickness for hematoxylin–eosin staining. Analysis was performed using a light microscope (Olympus, Japan).

Quantitative real-time PCR analysis

Total RNA was prepared from frozen rat ovarian tissues using the TRIzol method, and cDNA was synthesized using a PrimeScript RT Reagent Kit with gDNA Eraser. Quantitative real-time PCR was performed according to the SYBR Premix EX TaqTM kit instruction and run on the LightCycler 96 system (Roche, USA). The housekeeping gene β -actin was used for normalization, and the relative expressions of each gene were calculated by the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta$ CT} method. Gene primers are listed as follows: β -actin—forward 5'-CGATGGGAAGTGCTGGATAG-3' and reverse 5'-CGGTTAGAGTAGGTGACGTTG-3'; PI3K—forward 5'-AATACACCTGGTGCTCGACAC-3' and reverse 5'-CCTCTGATCTTGACCCTGAAC-3'; AKT—forward 5'-CAC AGGTCGCTACATGCCA-3' and reverse 5'-GTAAGGAAGGG ATGCCTAGAG-3'; mTOR—forward 5'-TGCCAACTACCT TCGGAACC-3' and reverse 5'-GCTCGCTTCAATACACCTGCTGCACCTGAACC-3' and reverse 5'-GCTCGCTTCACTTCAAA CTCC-3'; CYP17A1—forward 5'-ATCCGAGAAGTGCTG CGTATC-3' and reverse 5'-GGCATGAACTGAT CTGGCTG-3'.

Western blot analysis

Appropriate amount of ovarian tissue was added into RIPA tissue/cell lysate solution to extract total protein and determine the concentration. Then, 4× protein loading buffer was added and boiled to denature. Thirty-microgram protein samples were separated with 8% SDS-PAGE gel at 120 V for 1 h. The isolated proteins were transferred onto PVDF membranes and incubated at 250 mA for 1 to 2.5 h. After incubation of the PVDF membranes with the blocking solution, the protein strips were mixed with primary antibody (diluted concentration, 1:1,000) and incubated overnight at 4°C. The blots were then washed with TBST buffer and incubated with goat anti-rabbit antibodies for 1 h at room temperature. The chemiluminescent assay kit and the protein expression levels were normalized to GAPDH. ImageJ software was used to analyze the results.

Immunohistochemical analysis

The procedure of immunohistochemical staining was carried out according to the instructions. To put it simply, paraffin sections of colon tissue are first dewaxed and hydrated, followed by an antigenic repair, followed by dripping of an endogenous peroxidase blocker, incubated at room temperature for 10 min, washed with PBS for 3 min \times 3 times, and finally dropped with primary antibody at 4°C and incubated overnight. On the second day, they are washed with PBS buffer for 3 min \times 3 times, incubated with reaction enhancement solution at 37°C for 20 min, and washed with PBS buffer for 3 min \times 3 times. Goat anti-rabbit lg G polymer was dropped, followed by DAB display, tap water washing, hematoxylin staining solution incubation for 20 s, alcohol dehydration, xylene transparency, and neutral gum sealing. The staining results were observed under a light microscope.

Statistical analysis

Data are presented as the means \pm standard deviation (SD). Data analysis and mapping were performed separately using SPSS 20.0 and GraphPad Prism 8.0 software. Integrated optical density was measured using Image Pro Plus 6.0 software. Differences among multiple groups were compared using oneway analysis of variance followed by LSD (L)-Dunnett's T3(3) analysis; p < 0.05 was considered to indicate a statistically significant difference.

Results

DOP treatment reduced the body weight in rats

Before the experiment starts, there was no significant difference in body weight between the NS group and model group (Supplement 1). After rats were orally administered with letrozole for 4 weeks, the body weight of rats was significantly higher than in the NS group (Figure 1A). After treatment for 4 weeks, the body weight of rats in the DOP group was significantly lower than in the PCOS group (Figure 1B), indicating that DOP has a certain effect on body weight loss.

DOP treatment could restore the estrus cycle in rats

The estrous cycle in rat averages 4~5 days and is generally divided into four stages: proestrus, estrus, metestrus, and diestrus. The stages of estrus are distinguished by identifying different cell types (22). Proestrus: nucleated epithelial cells are the majority, oval in shape, and occasionally there are a few white cells and irregular keratinized epithelial cells. Estrus:

most of them are irregular-shaped keratinized epithelial cells, which gather together in piles and are shaped like leaves. Metestrus: keratinized epithelial cells, nucleated epithelial cells, and leukocytes are all visible in similar proportions. Diestrus: many neutrophils and a few nucleated epithelial cells are present. During the treatment, vaginal smears were examined in rats for 10 consecutive days (approximately two estrus cycles) at 8 to 9 a.m. from day 19 to assess the effect of treatment (Figure 2-1), and it was found that the NS rats still maintained regular estrous cycles (Figure 2-2A), while the PCOS rats remained in the diestrus (Figure 2-2B), but rats treated with DOP/MET had improved estrus cycles (Figures 2-2C-D). A normal estrus cycle should have four consecutive estrus stages; thus, we counted the estrus stages for each rat. A complete estrus cycle observed is defined as estrus regular and conversely as irregular. The results showed that rats in the NS group all had regular estrous cycles but not in the PCOS group. After DOP/MET treatment which can reverse to irregular in most of the rats, the recovery rate of estrus cycles was up to 66.7% and 83.3% (Figure 2-2E).

DOP treatment improved endocrine disorders but without affecting fasting glucose in rats

To evaluate the therapeutic effects of DOP, we collected serum for steroid hormone level detection. The testosterone (T), luteinizing hormone (LH), insulin, and estradiol (E_2) levels in the PCOS group were significantly higher than in the NS group (Figure 3A–C, 3E), and DOP/MET treatment was significantly reduced, while the serum FSH levels in the PCOS group were significantly lower than those in the NS group (Figure 3D), and DOP/MET treatment significantly increased the serum FSH level when compared to the PCOS group. There was no significant difference in fasting blood glucose among all groups (Figure 3F).





DOP treatment can improve the morphology of polycystic ovary in rats

As shown in Figure 4, the ovarian morphology in the NS group was normal (Figures 4A–a). In contrast, the ovaries of letrozole-treated rats showed typical PCOS characteristics, including increased cystic follicles, fewer corpora lutea, and thinning of granulosa cell layers (Figures 4D–d). After DOP/ MET treatment, we found that polycystic ovary morphology was markedly attenuated and showed more corpora lutea (Figures 4B–b, C–c).

DOP treatment regulated the PI3K-AKTmTOR pathway in rats

In order to study the molecular mechanism of DOP treatment to improve the phenotype of PCOS rats, we extracted data set GSE98595 from the GEO database and predicted the differently expressed genes. Metascape was used

for gene enrichment analysis (Supplement 2). As shown in Figure 5A, the first three gene sets with the most significant enrichment were hsa:04144, hsa:04010, and hsa:04151. It is noteworthy that the PI3K-Akt signaling pathway regulates the activation of primordial follicles (23). The results showed that PI3K, AKT, mTOR, and CYP17A1mRNA expression in the PCOS group was significantly higher than that in the NS group (Figures 5B–E). After DOP/MET treatment, PI3K, AKT, mTOR, and CYP17A1mRNA expression was significantly lower than in the PCOS group. Western blot results further confirmed that compared with the PCOS group, the expression of PI3K, p-AKT, and p-mTOR proteins in the DOP group was significantly reduced (Figures 5F–J).

The diversity of the gut microbiota was altered by DOP treatment in rats

As mentioned above, our study has proved that DOP can improve endocrine disorders and follicle development in PCOS



rats, but DOP cannot be directly absorbed by the stomach and small intestine, which finally degraded into SCFAs by gut microbiota in the large intestine, and the composition of gut microbiota was modulated (21). How DOP affects endocrine and ovarian function in PCOS rats via the blood-brain barrier is unclear. Due to these reasons, the V3-V4 regions of the 16S rRNA gene were sequenced in 24 fecal samples to analyze. PD_whole_tree index and Chao1 index were used to compare the gut microbiota α diversity among the four groups. It was found that the gut microbiota α diversity in the DOP group was significantly increased compared with the NS group (Figure 6A), but based on Chao1 index analysis, there was no significant difference in α diversity (Figure 6B). The overall distribution of gut microbes was assessed based on β diversity, which was calculated using PCoA (Figure 6C and Supplement 3). A oneway analysis of similarities (ANOSIM) test was used to evaluate the similarities between groups. The results showed that there

were significant differences in gut microbiota composition among all groups (ANOSIM R = 0.586, p = 0.001).

DOP treatment ameliorated the gut dysbiosis in rats

Microbial community structure and its metabolites affect animal health. At the phylum level, there were no taxonomic differences observed between all groups and more than 97% of gut bacteria are *Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes*, and *Proteobacteria* (Figure 7A). At the genera level, the 30 most abundant gut bacteria are shown in Figure 7B. To further study the different microbial compositions in the feces of rats in different groups, we constructed a cladogram to show its evolutionary characteristics (Figure 7C), and LefSe analysis was performed to distinguish microbial biomarkers (Figure 7D). Compared



with the NS group, the PCOS group showed an increase in the prevalence of *Actinobacteria*, *Prevotellaceae_UCG_001*, and *Alloprevotella* (Figures 7E, G, I). Notably, bacteria from the *Blautia* and *Lachospiraceae_ND3007_group* genera were most significantly enriched in the DOP group (Figures 7H, J). Compared with the PCOS group, *Deferribacteres* were more abundant in the MET group (Figure 7F). The results showed that there were more harmful bacteria enriched in the intestinal of PCOS rats, such as *Prevotellaceae_UCG_001*, *Ruminococcus*, and *Clostridiales*, and DOP/MET treatment increased the abundance

of short-chain fatty acid bacteria, such as *Blautia*, *Lachospiraceae_ND3007_group*, and *Deferribacteres*.

DOP treatment elevated butyrate levels in feces in rats

As the abundances of SCFA producers (such as *Blautia*, *Lachospiraceae_ND3007_group*, and *Desulfovibrionaceae*) in the gut microbiota were enriched, the fecal levels of SCFAs were



FIGURE 4

Effect of DOP on the morphology of ovarian pathological tissue in rats. Note: * for corpus luteum, # for cystic follicle, scale bar: $(A-D) = 500 \mu m$, a-d = 200 μm .



FIGURE 5

Effects of DOP treatment on the PI3K–Akt–mTOR signaling pathway in rats by qPCR and Western blot. (A) Top 14 clusters from Metascape pathway enrichment analysis differently expressed associated genes. Significance is indicated by the –log10 (P) value. (B–E) Ovarian gene PI3K, Akt, mTOR, and CYP17A1 expression levels, n = 3. (F–J) Expressions of PI3K, p-Akt, and p-mTOR protein are expressed as the fold change in the optical density of a target protein, and GAPDH expression served as the control, n = 2. Note: compared with the PCOS group, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.



monitored. Compared with the PCOS group, the levels of fecal butyric acid in the DOP and MET groups were significantly increased (Figure 8A), while propionic acid levels were significantly increased only in the MET group (Figure 8B). There was no significant difference in the fecal levels of acetic acid among all groups (Figure 8C).

DOP treatment attenuated PCOS through a butyrate dependent gut-brain mechanism

As previously mentioned, the levels of butyric acid in rat feces were higher after DOP/MET treatment. To determine whether butyric acid mitigates PCOS phenotypes through the gut–brain axis, we assessed the levels of brain–gut regulators peptide tyrosine-tyrosine (PYY) and G protein-coupled receptor 41 (GPR41) in rats. Compared with the PCOS group, the levels of serum PYY in the NS, DOP, and MET groups were all significantly increased (Figure 9A); the colonic GPR41 expression and integrated optical density were also significantly increased in the NS, DOP, and MET groups (Figures 9B, C). The results showed that the improvement mechanism of DOP on PCOS rats was closely related to the regulation of PYY and GPR41.

Discussion

Polycystic ovary syndrome is one of the leading causes of anovulatory infertility in women. It has been suggested that the main causes of PCOS are genetic and environmental interactions. For example, an unhealthy lifestyle, diet, or any infectious agent can increase the risk of developing PCOS.

Letrozole is an effective aromatase inhibitor that can block the transformation of androgen to estrogen *in vivo* and is widely



used in the construction of PCOS rat models, which can produce endocrine characteristics and ovarian morphological changes similar to clinical PCOS, including hyperandrogenemia, ovulation disorder, and obesity (24). In our study, the body weight and testosterone levels were significantly higher in PCOS rats; after DOP treatment, the body weight and testosterone significantly decreased, which was consistent with previous findings (20, 25). Studies have shown that androgen has strong assimilative activity, promoting food intake, energy absorption, and fat storage. Body weight loss in DOP rats may be closely related to decreased testosterone levels.

Hyperandrogenemia is one of the main features of polycystic ovary syndrome. High androgen and E_2 levels in serum are not conducive to the growth of dominant follicles and inhibit ovulation (26). In our study, more cystic follicles were observed in the ovaries of rats in the PCOS group, and the normal estrus cycle was lost. The compensatory hyperinsulinemia is thought to be a major driver of



hyperandrogenemia in polycystic ovary syndrome which amplifies luteinizing hormone-mediated androgen synthesis. Therefore, metformin is often used to improve insulin sensitivity in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. Our results showed that MET treatment decreased serum insulin, testosterone, E_2 , and LH levels and promoted the secretion of FSH in PCOS rats, while DOP treatment showed similar effects to MET, indicating that DOP has the effect of improving endocrine disorder in PCOS rats.

The PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway is closely related to follicular development (23). In PCOS mouse models, it was observed that excessive androgen upregulation of mTORC1 resulted in dominant follicular selection disorder and follicular dysplasia (27), while rapamycin blocked the central mTOR signaling, leading to inhibition of the gonadal hormone axis and significant reduction in LH and estradiol levels in puberty rats (28). Previous studies have shown that metformin can promote the expression of glucose transporter 4, inhibit the expression of the androgen receptor, block the insulin receptor/ PI3K/AKT/mTOR signaling pathway, and improve the abnormal metabolism in PCOS (29). 17-A hydroxylase (CYP17A1) plays a key role in steroid synthesis by converting the progesterone to androgen and thereby increasing the level of androgen. Clinical studies suggest that enhanced CYP17A1 enzyme activity and expression may account for hyperandrogenism in PCOS (30). LH stimulates CYP17A1 mRNA expression and androgen production in theca cells *via* activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway (31). Therefore, it was observed in this study that the high secretion of LH may be the cause of the high expression of CYP17A1 mRNA and the elevated testosterone level. In the present study, we observed increased CYP17A1 gene expression and activation of the PI3K/ AKT/mTOR signaling pathway and that multiple cystic follicles appear in the PCOS group; after DOP and MET treatment, CYP17A1 and PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway were downregulated, and the morphology of the polycystic ovary was improved.

PCOS is a complex endocrine and metabolic disease, and there has been increased interest in the interplay with gut dysbiosis. Although our study has proved that DOP can improve endocrine disorders and follicle development in PCOS rats, DOP cannot be digested by enzymes encoded by the human genome. How DOP affects endocrine and ovarian function in PCOS rats *via* the blood-brain barrier is worthy of further study. As a dietary fiber, DOP can be degraded into SCFAs by gut microbiota in the large intestine and modulate the composition of gut microbiota (21). A high-fiber diet can remodel the gut microbiota and relieve chronic metabolic inflammation, reproductive function, and brain-gut



FIGURE 9

Effects of DOP treatment on gut–brain mediators. (A) Serum levels of PYY, n = 5. (B-C) Colonic GPR41 expression, location, and integrated optical density, n = 3, scale bar = 50 and 25 μ m. Note: compared with the PCOS group, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001; compared with the NS group, #p < 0.05, ##p < 0.01, ###p < 0.001.



polypeptide secretion in PCOS patients (32). Thus, we collected rat feces for 16S rRNA and SCFAS detection, trying to find the detailed mechanism of DOP improving PCOS.

In Figure 6, compared with the NS group, there is no significant difference in the PCOS group while DOP treatment can significantly increase the α diversity. PCoA analysis found that β diversity of the gut microbiota has a significant difference between fecal levels from the NS group and PCOS group which could be partially restored by DOP/MET treatment. These data indicated that DOP/MET treatment could reshape the gut microbiota community structure of PCOS rats. Studies have reported that women with PCOS had decreased α diversity and altered β diversity and gut microbiota composition (33, 34). Dysbiosis of the gut microbiota in the host can activate the immune system and interfere with the function of insulin

receptors, causing hyperinsulinemia, increasing the production of androgen in the ovary, and preventing the development of normal follicles (35).

LEfSe analysis found that the abundance of beneficial bacteria such as *Blautia* and *Lachospiraceae_ND3007_group* was higher in the DOP group. *Blautia*, a bacterial group belonging to the family *Lachnospiraceae* of phylum Firmicutes, could ferment carbohydrates and produce acetate and butyrate which has been reported to be negatively correlated with obesity and T2D (36, 37). Decaffeinated green and black tea polyphenols reduced body weight in diet-induced obese mice which was strongly associated with *Blautia* enrichment in the gut (38). *Lachospiraceae_ND3007_group* has been reported to be negatively correlated to be negatively correlated with obesity associated with *Blautia* enrichment in the gut (38). *Lachospiraceae_ND3007_group* has been reported to be negatively correlated with testosterone (39). These could reasonably explain why body weight and testosterone levels in

PCOS rats decreased and butyric acid levels increased after DOP treatment. In the PCOS group, the abundance of Prevotellaceae UCG-001, Ruminococcus, and Clostridiales was higher. According to reports, Prevotellaceae UCG-001 is thought to be associated with impaired glucose tolerance (40). Prevotella copri is considered to be the main species driving the link between branched-chain amino acid biosynthesis and insulin resistance, exacerbating glucose tolerance and increasing circulating levels of branched-chain amino acids (41). Ruminococcus is a kind of Gram-positive anaerobic bacteria, which can secrete βglucuronidase, destroy colonic mucosa, and participate in the invasion and metastasis of tumors (42). Moreover, Clostridiales which are significantly enriched in T2D women (43) can metabolize peptones and amino acids to produce lactic acid as the major product (44). In our study, the rats in the PCOS group were observed to exhibit higher T, insulin, and lower butyric acid levels. The intestine is an important organ for metformin's pharmacological effects, promoting glucose uptake and lactic acid production by influencing the composition of gut microbiota (45). Therefore, the possibility exists that the metabolic benefits linked to metformin treatment may in part depend upon its action in the gut. In the intestines, metformin does not only improve the glucose uptake in T2D individuals, reshape the human microbiota, promote the growth of beneficial bacterial species, and counteract the expansion of detrimental bacterial species but also promotes the short-chain fatty acid (SCFA) production, protects the intestinal barrier, and regulates the secretion of gut peptides (46, 47). In this study, Desulfovibrionaceae and Desulfovibrionales in the MET group are the dominant genera. Interestingly, Desulfovibrionaceae and Desulfovibrionales are sulfate-reducing bacteria that can break down lactic acid produced by the microbial community into propionic and butyric acids, which are known to contain mechanisms for combating oxidative stress (48). This may explain why higher levels of propionic and butyric acid were detected in the MET group.

In this study, we observed that levels of butyrate were lower in the PCOS group while higher in the DOP group and MET group. Interestingly, lower butyrate levels were also detected in PCOS patients (49), suggesting a correlation between altered butyrate levels and PCOS (50). In addition, reduced butyric acid levels in diet-induced obesity are an important cause of reduced insulin resistance (51). Butyrate has been shown to act on G protein-coupled receptors (GPR41 and GPR43), resulting in GLP-1 and PYY secretion and thereby regulating sex hormone levels to ameliorate PCOS (52, 53). PYY is secreted by the entero-endocrine L-cells of the distal ileum and colon which may affect sex hormone levels by crossing the blood-brain barrier and binding to neuropeptide Y receptors (54). Studies have reported that PCOS patients have lower PYY, which is negatively correlated with LH and insulin (33, 49). In this study, the levels of serum PYY were lower, but LH and insulin were

higher in PCOS rats. Notably, DOP/MET treatment reversed these hormone levels.

This evidence suggests that the ameliorative effect of DOP on PCOS rats is mainly due to promoting the release of butyrate by gut microbiota, which affects the secretion of sex hormones through the butyrate-GPR41-PYY mechanism, rather than DOP itself.

Conclusions

The present study highlighted that DOP could reduce body weight, reverse endocrine disorder, restore the normal estrus cycle, improve polycystic ovary morphology, remodel the gut microbiota, and promote butyrate production in PCOS rats. The ameliorative mechanism is to improve the steroid hormone disorder, promote follicular development, and improve the symptoms of polycystic ovary through the butyrate-dependent gut–brain (GRP41-PYY) axis (Figure 10). These results provide theoretical references for DOP as a potential supplement for PCOS treatment.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: NCBI PRJNA855132, available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/bioproject/PRJNA855132.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Animal Welfare and Ethics Committee of Youjiang Medical University for Nationalities.

Author contributions

Project administration, supervision, and writing—review and editing: QJ and YH; investigation, methodology, and writing—original draft: XF; methodology and data curation: DW; conceptualization: LH; software: HL; validation: BL. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Guangxi Province (Grant No. 2020JJB140033) in China.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Bozdag G, Mumusoglu S, Zengin D, Karabulut E, Yildiz BO. The prevalence and phenotypic features of polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod* (2016) 31(12):2841–55. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew218

2. Zhao H, Xing C, Zhang J, He B. Comparative efficacy of oral insulin sensitizers metformin, thiazolidinediones, inositol, and berberine in improving endocrine and metabolic profiles in women with PCOS: a network meta-analysis. *Reprod Health* (2021) 18(1):171. doi: 10.1186/s12978-021-01207-7

3. Guo Y, Qi Y, Yang X, Zhao L, Wen S, Liu Y, et al. Association between polycystic ovary syndrome and gut microbiota. *PLoS One* (2016) 11(4):e0153196. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0153196

4. Wang T, Sha L, Li Y, Zhu L, Wang Z, Li K, et al. Dietary alpha-linolenic acidrich flaxseed oil exerts beneficial effects on polycystic ovary syndrome through sex steroid hormones-Microbiota-Inflammation axis in rats. *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*) (2020) 11:284. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00284

5. Haudum C, Lindheim L, Ascani A, Trummer C, Horvath A, Munzker J, et al. Impact of short-term isoflavone intervention in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) patients on microbiota composition and metagenomics. *Nutrients* (2020) 12 (6):1622. doi: 10.3390/nu12061622

6. Ejtahed HS, Soroush AR, Angoorani P, Larijani B, Hasani-Ranjbar S. Gut microbiota as a target in the pathogenesis of metabolic disorders: A new approach to novel therapeutic agents. *Horm Metab Res* (2016) 48(6):349–58. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-107792

7. Teede HJ, Misso ML, Boyle JA, Garad RM, McAllister V, Downes L, et al. Translation and implementation of the Australian-led PCOS guideline: clinical summary and translation resources from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Med J Aust* (2018) 209(S7):S3-8. doi: 10.5694/mja18.00656

8. Graff SK, Mario FM, Ziegelmann P, Spritzer PM. Effects of orlistat vs. metformin on weight loss-related clinical variables in women with PCOS: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Clin Pract* (2016) 70(6):450–61. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.12787

9. Ejtahed HS, Tito RY, Siadat SD, Hasani-Ranjbar S, Hoseini-Tavassol Z, Rymenans L, et al. Metformin induces weight loss associated with gut microbiota alteration in non-diabetic obese women: a randomized double-blind clinical trial. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2019) 180(3):165–76. doi: 10.1530/EJE-18-0826

10. Fruzzetti F, Perini D, Russo M, Bucci F, Gadducci A. Comparison of two insulin sensitizers, metformin and myo-inositol, in women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2017) 33(1):39-42. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2016.1236078

11. Domecq JP, Prutsky G, Mullan RJ, Sundaresh V, Wang AT, Erwin PJ, et al. Adverse effects of the common treatments for polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98 (12):4646–54. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2374

12. Forslund K, Hildebrand F, Nielsen T, Falony G, Le Chatelier E, Sunagawa S, et al. Disentangling type 2 diabetes and metformin treatment signatures in the human gut microbiota. *Nature* (2015) 528(7581):262–6. doi: 10.1038/nature15766

13. Luo A, He X, Zhou S, Fan Y, He T, Chun Z. *In vitro* antioxidant activities of a water-soluble polysaccharide derived from dendrobium nobile lindl. extracts. *Int J Biol Macromol* (2009) 45(4):359–63. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2009.07.008

14. Wang Z, Jin C, Li X, Ding K. Sulfated polysaccharide JCS1S2 inhibits angiogenesis via targeting VEGFR2/VEGF and blocking VEGFR2/Erk/VEGF signaling. Carbohydr Polym (2019) 207:502–9. doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2018.11.091

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.962775/full#supplementary-material

15. Wei W, Li ZP, Zhu T, Fung HY, Wong TL, Wen X, et al. Anti-fatigue effects of the unique polysaccharide marker of dendrobium officinale on BALB/c mice. *Molecules* (2017) 22(1):155. doi: 10.3390/molecules22010155

16. Yang S, Gong Q, Wu Q, Li F, Lu Y, Shi J. Alkaloids enriched extract from dendrobium nobile lindl. attenuates tau protein hyperphosphorylation and apoptosis induced by lipopolysaccharide in rat brain. *Phytomedicine* (2014) 21 (5):712–6. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2013.10.026

17. Zhang GY, Nie SP, Huang XJ, Hu JL, Cui SW, Xie MY, et al. Study on dendrobium officinale O-acetyl-glucomannan (Dendronan). 7. improving effects on colonic health of mice. *J Agric Food Chem* (2016) 64(12):2485–91. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.5b03117

18. Xie SZ, Liu B, Zhang DD, Zha XQ, Pan LH, Luo JP. Intestinal immunomodulating activity and structural characterization of a new polysaccharide from stems of dendrobium officinale. *Food Funct* (2016) 7 (6):2789–99. doi: 10.1039/c6f000172f

19. Qu J, Tan S, Xie X, Wu W, Zhu H, Li H, et al. Dendrobium officinale polysaccharide attenuates insulin resistance and abnormal lipid metabolism in obese mice. *Front Pharmacol* (2021) 12:659626. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.659626

20. Zhang S, Tu H, Zhu J, Liang A, Huo P, Shan K, et al. Dendrobium nobile lindl. polysaccharides improve follicular development in PCOS rats. *Int J Biol Macromol* (2020) 149:826–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.01.196

21. Li L, Yao H, Li X, Zhang Q, Wu X, Wong T, et al. Destiny of dendrobium officinale polysaccharide after oral administration: Indigestible and nonabsorbing, ends in modulating gut microbiota. *J Agric Food Chem* (2019) 67(21):5968–77. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.9b01489

22. Cora MC, Kooistra L, Travlos G. Vaginal cytology of the laboratory rat and mouse: Review and criteria for the staging of the estrous cycle using stained vaginal smears. *Toxicol Pathol* (2015) 43(6):776–93. doi: 10.1177/0192623315570339

 Chen M, He C, Zhu K, Chen Z, Meng Z, Jiang X, et al. Resveratrol ameliorates polycystic ovary syndrome via transzonal projections within oocyte-granulosa cell communication. *Theranostics* (2022) 12(2):782–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.11.047

24. Wang MX, Yin Q, Xu X. A rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome with insulin resistance induced by letrozole combined with high fat diet. *Med Sci Monit* (2020) 26:e922136. doi: 10.12659/MSM.922136

25. Wu YY, Liang CY, Liu TT, Liang YM, Li SJ, Lu YY, et al. Protective roles and mechanisms of polysaccharides from dendrobium officinal on natural aginginduced premature ovarian failure. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2018) 101:953–60. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.03.030

26. Yaba AD, Demir N. The mechanism of mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) in a mouse model of plycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *J Ovarian Res* (2012) 5(1):38. doi: 10.1186/1757-2215-5-38

27. Song X, Shen Q, Fan L, Yu Q, Jia X, Sun Y, et al. Dehydroepiandrosteroneinduced activation of mTORC1 and inhibition of autophagy contribute to skeletal muscle insulin resistance in a mouse model of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Oncotarget* (2018) 9(15):11905–21. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24190

28. Roa J, Garcia-Galiano D, Varela L, Sanchez-Garrido MA, Pineda R, Castellano JM, et al. The mammalian target of rapamycin as novel central regulator of puberty onset *via* modulation of hypothalamic Kiss1 system. *Endocrinology* (2009) 150(11):5016–26. doi: 10.1210/en.2009-0096

29. Li X, Cui P, Jiang HY, Guo YR, Pishdari B, Hu M, et al. Reversing the reduced level of endometrial GLUT4 expression in polycystic ovary syndrome a mechanistic study of metformin action. *Am J Transl Res* (2015) 7(3):574–86.

30. Wickenheisser JK, Quinn PG, Nelson VL, Legro RS, Strauss J, McAllister JM. Differential activity of the cytochrome P450 17a-hydroxylase and steroidogenic acute regulatory protein gene promoters in normal and polycystic ovary syndrome theca cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2000) 85(6):2304–11. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.6.6631

31. Demirel F, Bideci A, Cinaz P, Camurdan MO, Biberoglu G, Yesilkaya E, et al. Serum leptin, oxidized low density lipoprotein and plasma asymmetric dimethylarginine levels and their relationship with dyslipidaemia in adolescent girls with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2007) 67(1):129–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.02849.x

32. Wang X, Xu T, Liu R, Wu G, Gu L, Zhang Y, et al. High-fiber diet or combined with acarbose alleviates heterogeneous phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome by regulating gut microbiota. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:806331. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.806331

33. Liu R, Zhang C, Shi Y, Zhang F, Li L, Wang X, et al. Dysbiosis of gut microbiota associated with clinical parameters in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Front Microbiol* (2017) 8:324. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00324

34. Zeng B, Lai Z, Sun L, Zhang Z, Yang J, Li Z, et al. Structural and functional profiles of the gut microbial community in polycystic ovary syndrome with insulin resistance (IR-PCOS): a pilot study. *Res Microbiol* (2019) 170(1):43–52. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2018.09.002

35. Yurtdas G, Akdevelioglu Y. A new approach to polycystic ovary syndrome: The gut microbiota. J Am Coll Nutr (2020) 39(4):371-82. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2019.1657515

36. Nishitsuji K, Xiao J, Nagatomo R, Umemoto H, Morimoto Y, Akatsu H, et al. Analysis of the gut microbiome and plasma short-chain fatty acid profiles in a spontaneous mouse model of metabolic syndrome. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):15876. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-16189-5

37. Wu Y, Dong Y, Atefi M, Liu Y, Elshimali Y, Vadgama JV. Lactate, a neglected factor for diabetes and cancer interaction. *Mediators Inflammation* (2016), 2016:1–12. doi: 10.1155/2016/6456018

38. Henning SM, Yang J, Hsu M, Lee RP, Grojean EM, Ly A, et al. Decaffeinated green and black tea polyphenols decrease weight gain and alter microbiome populations and function in diet-induced obese mice. *Eur J Nutr* (2018) 57 (8):2759–69. doi: 10.1007/s00394-017-1542-8

39. d'Afflitto M, Upadhyaya A, Green A, Peiris M. Association between sex hormone levels and gut microbiota composition and diversity-a systematic review. *J Clin Gastroenterol* (2022) 56(5):384–92. doi: 10.1097/MCG.00000000001676

40. Hu TG, Wen P, Shen WZ, Liu F, Li Q, Li EN, et al. Effect of 1deoxynojirimycin isolated from mulberry leaves on glucose metabolism and gut microbiota in a streptozotocin-induced diabetic mouse model. *J Nat Prod* (2019) 82 (8):2189–200. doi: 10.1021/acs.jnatprod.9b00205

41. Pedersen HK, Gudmundsdottir V, Nielsen HB, Hyotylainen T, Nielsen T, Jensen BAH, et al. Human gut microbes impact host serum metabolome and insulin sensitivity. *Nature* (2016) 535(7612):376–81. doi: 10.1038/nature18646

42. Chen M, Xiao D, Liu W, Song Y, Zou B, Li L, et al. Intake of ganoderma lucidum polysaccharides reverses the disturbed gut microbiota and metabolism in type 2 diabetic rats. *Int J Biol Macromol* (2020) 155:890–902. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2019.11.047

43. Karlsson FH, Tremaroli V, Nookaew I, Bergstrom G, Behre CJ, Fagerberg B, et al. Gut metagenome in European women with normal, impaired and diabetic glucose control. *Nature* (2013) 498(7452):99–103. doi: 10.1038/nature12198

44. He J, Zheng W, Tao C, Guo H, Xue Y, Zhao R, et al. Heat stress during late gestation disrupts maternal microbial transmission with altered offspring's gut microbial colonization and serum metabolites in a pig model. *Environ pollut* (2020) 266(Pt 3):115111. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2020.115111

45. He L. Metformin and systemic metabolism. Trends Pharmacol Sci (2020) 41 (11):868-81. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2020.09.001

46. Prattichizzo F, Giuliani A, Mensa E, Sabbatinelli J, De Nigris V, Rippo MR, et al. Pleiotropic effects of metformin: Shaping the microbiome to manage type 2 diabetes and postpone ageing. *Ageing Res Rev* (2018) 48:87–98. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2018.10.003

47. Rodriguez J, Hiel S, Delzenne NM. Metformin: old friend, new ways of action-implication of the gut microbiome? *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* (2018) 21(4):294–301. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000468

48. Richter EL. The effect of dietary sulfur on performance, mineral status, rumen hydrogen sulfide, and rumen microbial populations in yearling beef steers[master's thesis].[Ames]:. Iowa State University, (2011) P. PP: 26–27.

49. Zhang J, Sun Z, Jiang S, Bai X, Ma C, Peng Q, et al. Probiotic bifidobacterium lactis V9 regulates the secretion of sex hormones in polycystic ovary syndrome patients through the gut-brain axis. *mSystems* (2019) 4(2):e00017–19. doi: 10.1128/mSystems.00017-19

50. Saad MSA, Prada PO. Linking gut microbiota and inflammation to obesity and insulin resistance. *Physiology* (2016) 31:283-93. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00041.2015

51. Koh A, De Vadder F, Kovatcheva-Datchary P, Backhed F. From dietary fiber to host physiology: Short-chain fatty acids as key bacterial metabolites. *Cell* (2016) 165(6):1332–45. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.041

52. He Y, Wang Q, Li X, Wang G, Zhao J, Zhang H, et al. Lactic acid bacteria alleviate polycystic ovarian syndrome by regulating sex hormone related gut microbiota. *Food Funct* (2020) 11(6):5192–204. doi: 10.1039/c9fo02554e

53. He Y, Shi L, Qi Y, Wang Q, Zhao J, Zhang H, et al. Butylated starch alleviates polycystic ovary syndrome by stimulating the secretion of peptide tyrosine-tyrosine and regulating faecal microbiota. *Carbohydr Polym* (2022) 287:119304. doi: 10.1016/j.carbpol.2022.119304

54. Zhao X, Jiang Y, Xi H, Chen L, Feng X. Exploration of the relationship between gut microbiota and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): a review. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd* (2020) 80(2):161–71. doi: 10.1055/a-1081-2036 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Palomba, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY Xiaomiao Zhao, Guangdong Provincial People's Hospital, China Xue-Lian Li, Fudan University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Jie Wu wujiejiaoshou@163.com

[†]These authors share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 25 June 2022 ACCEPTED 08 July 2022 PUBLISHED 29 August 2022

CITATION

Chen X, Lan Y, Yang L, Liu Y, Li H, Zhu X, Zhao Y, Long C, Wang M, Xie Q, Li Z and Wu J (2022) Acupuncture combined with metformin versus metformin alone to improve pregnancy rate in polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:978280. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.978280

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Chen, Lan, Yang, Liu, Li, Zhu, Zhao, Long, Wang, Xie, Li and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Acupuncture combined with metformin versus metformin alone to improve pregnancy rate in polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Xin Chen^{1†}, Ying Lan^{2†}, Lijie Yang^{2†}, Yang Liu¹, Hongyu Li¹, Xinyun Zhu³, Yuemeng Zhao¹, Caiyi Long⁴, Mengjing Wang¹, Qingling Xie¹, Zhao Li² and Jie Wu^{2*}

¹College of Acupuncture and Tuina, Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China, ²Hospital of Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China, ³People's Hospital of Leshan, Leshan, China, ⁴Clinical Medical College, Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China

Objective: The aim of this study was to evaluate the comparison between acupuncture combined with metformin versus metformin alone in improving the pregnancy rate of people with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS).

Methods: A literature search of eight databases resulted in nine randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that assessed the effect of acupuncture combined with metformin on pregnancy rate in PCOS patients compared with metformin alone. Subsequently, data extraction and analysis were conducted to evaluate the quality and risk of bias of the methodological design of the study, and meta-analysis was conducted on the RCT data.

Results: Nine RCTs and 1,159 women were included. Acupuncture can improve pregnancy rate. It was analyzed according to the diagnostic criteria of PCOS [Z = 2.72, p = 0.007, relative risk (RR) 1.31, 95% CI 1.08 to 1.60, p = 0.15, $l^2 = 41\%$]. Analysis was performed according to different diagnostic criteria of pregnancy (Z = 3.22, p = 0.001, RR 1.35, 95% CI 1.13 to 1.63, p = 0.12, $l^2 = 42\%$). Acupuncture can improve ovulation rate. Subgroup analysis was performed according to the number of ovulation patients (Z = 2.67, p = 0.008, RR 1.31, 95% CI 1.07 to 1.59, p = 0.04, $l^2 = 63\%$) and ovulation cycle (Z = 3.57; p = 0.0004, RR 1.18, 95% CI 1.08 to 1.29, p = 0.57, $l^2 = 0\%$). Statistical analysis also showed that acupuncture combined with metformin could improve homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) [mean difference (MD) -0.68, 95% CI -1.01 to -0.35, p = 0.003, $l^2 = 83\%$].

Conclusions: Based on the results of this study, compared with metformin alone, acupuncture combined with metformin has a positive effect on pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, and insulin resistance in PCOS. However, due to the limitations regarding the number and quality of the included studies, the above conclusions need to be verified by further high-quality studies.

Systematic Review Registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/ #myprospero.

KEYWORDS

acupuncture, metformin, polycystic ovary syndrome, pregnancy rate, insulin resistance, systematic review, meta-analysis

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is the most common hormonal disorder in women and is also one of the most common factors that cause infertility (1). With the opening of the three-child policy in China, the reproductive needs of women of childbearing age are increasingly urgent, but the incidence of PCOS in these women is as high as 9% to 18% (2), which has a great impact on pregnancy. Studies have shown that insulin resistance (IR) is a key feature of the pathophysiology of PCOS (3), with 85% of patients being affected by IR. IR disrupts the follicular environment (4) by leading to hyperandrogenemia (5), affecting follicular development and ovulation, which is not conducive to pregnancy. In addition, people with obesity account for 35%-60% (6) of the population with PCOS, which is closely related to IR and the pathological mechanism of PCOS (7). Weight gain has been shown to further aggravate IR (8, 9). The above factors affect women's health.

Acupuncture has become more and more popular in the world as a complementary and alternative therapy for infertility. In 2010, a study in the United States showed that 29% of patients used complementary and alternative drugs with the aim to treat infertility, of whom 22% chose acupuncture (10). In China, traditional medicine is even more popular. A large number of clinical and animal experiments have shown that acupuncture has significant effects in the treatment of infertility and anovulation caused by PCOS, including improving clinical pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, live birth rate, insulin resistance, menstruation, hormone levels, follicular development, and hyperandrogenaemia, and regulating the secretory function of hypothalamic pituitary ovarian axis (HPOA) (11-17) but it may also cause subcutaneous bleeding or pain and other mild adverse reactions. Studies have shown that metformin is one of the most important drugs for reducing insulin resistance in PCOS patients (18). Such drugs have been shown to improve clinical pregnancy rate and ovulation rate, and have positive effects on hyperinsulinemia and ovarian androgen hypersecretion.

There are no detailed and systematic methodological evaluations and data consolidations between acupuncture combined with metformin versus metformin alone. The main objective of this study was to conduct a systematic review and meta-analysis comparing whether acupuncture combined with metformin can further improve pregnancy rates compared to metformin alone, thus providing a more effective treatment for this population.

Methods

This study was conducted according to Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) (19). This study was listed on the Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO) on 15 February 2022, with registration number: CRD42022302940.

Data sources

In this study, the following eight databases [PubMed, Embase, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), Web of Science (SCI), Chinese Biomedical Database (CBM), Chinese National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), Wan Fang Data Knowledge Service Platform, and VIP Journal Integration Platform (VIP)] were searched from the database construction to 14 April 2022, including four English databases and four Chinese databases. At the same time, to retrieve Chinese Clinical Trial Register, Clinical Trials.gov, relevant articles in the reference lists were also collected. The retrieval was carried out by the combination of medical subject headings (MeSH). Keywords searched in PubMed include "Acupuncture" and "Metformin" and "Polycystic Ovary Syndrome" and "Infertility" and "Randomized Controlled Trial". See appendix for detailed search strategies.

Study selection and data extraction

Two researchers (YL and HYL) independently screened the retrieved articles, read the titles and abstracts, and then excluded the repeated studies and irrelevant articles. According to the inclusion criteria and exclusion criteria, eligible studies were identified, data were extracted and cross-checked, and any ambiguity was resolved through discussion and consensus. If no consensus was reached, a third researcher (QLX) was asked to adjudicate. Any literature that is removed will be recorded. The experimental groups received acupuncture (acupuncture, moxibustion, electroacupuncture, acupoint embedding therapy, acupoint injection, acupuncture ear, warm needling, fire-needle, or floating needle) combined with metformin; the control groups were treated with metformin alone. Inclusion criteria were as follows: (a) subjects were diagnosed with PCOS; (b) the treatment group used acupuncture combined with metformin, while the control group used only metformin; and (c) the study type was a randomized controlled trial. Exclusion criteria were as follows: (a) subjects were treated with drugs other than metformin; (b) the use of traditional Chinese medicine; (c) the study was conducted on animals; and (d) the study was not reported in Chinese or English. This study was divided into two groups: the acupuncture combined with metformin group and the metformin alone group. Data were extracted independently by two researchers (YL and HYL), and checked by another researcher (XC) to extract information that might be related to the research results, as follows: First author, year of publication, number of participants, age, infertility duration, treatment duration, interventions, diagnostic criteria, outcome indicators, side effects and adverse events, and other information. The results were recorded in an Excel spreadsheet (Table 1).

Risk of bias assessment

Cochrane RoB2.0 was used to evaluate risk of bias in the individual studies (20). The following six items were extracted from each of the RCTs for evaluation: (a) randomization process; (b) deviations from intended interventions; (c) missing outcome data; (d) measurement of the outcome; (e) selection of the reported result; and (f) overall. When the appropriate method is used and described appropriately and clearly, the study was considered to be low risk; otherwise, it was rated as high risk, or some concerns if the method could not be accurately judged. Two researchers (YL and HYL) independently assessed these factors and, if necessary, a third researcher (QLX) was consulted to resolve disagreements (Figures 1, 2).

Outcomes

Main outcome measures: pregnancy rate: positive morning urine beta human chorionic gonadotropin (β -hCG) or blood β -hCG, basal body temperature (BBT) for more than 3 weeks, pregnancy sac detected by color ultrasonography, or fetal bud and heartbeat detected by colour ultrasonography at 7 weeks of gestation.

Statistical analysis

RevMan5.3 software was used for statistical analysis. Relative risk (RR) and its 95% confidence interval (CI) were used for dichotomous variables, MD or standardized mean difference (SMD) were used for continuity variables, and 95% CI was given. p < 0.05 was considered as a statistically significant difference. According to the study of the object of study, observation group intervention, and control group, judging whether the concrete application of similar clinical outcome index, according to the result of the I^2 test to determine the statistical heterogeneity. I^2 >50% is considered as high heterogeneity. The methods of subgroup analysis and sensitivity analysis were used, and the study adopts a random-effects model.

Results

Studies retrieved

In total, 330 related literatures were screened initially, and nine studies (21–29) ultimately met our inclusion criteria after the different rounds of screening. A total of 1,159 patients with PCOS who received acupuncture or acupuncture combined with metformin were identified from nine randomized controlled trials (Figure 3).

Quality of the evidence: Summary of findings table

We used the GRADE method to present a "Summary of Findings" table. The quality of evidence for outcome measures (pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, and HOMA-IR) was evaluated for a subject review comparison (acupuncture combined with metformin vs. metformin alone). We used the GRADE criteria to assess the quality of evidence, study limitations, inconsistencies, inaccuracies, and publication bias. The two researchers (ZL and QLX) independently judged the quality of the evidence (high, moderate, low, or very low) and resolved differences through discussion Table 2.

No.	Study, pub- lication year (country)	No. of patients (O/A)	Age: mean ±SD or range (years)	Duration of infertil- ity: mean ±SD or range (years)	Intervention	Control	Period of treatment	Diagnostic criteria	Side effects and adverse events	Type of out- comes
1	Li YC,2021 (China)21	I:57/57 C:57/57	I:31.42 ± 3.22 (20-40) C:31.48 ± 3.25 (21-39)	NR	Acupuncture +Metformin	Metformin	3 months	2018 "Guidelines for Diagnosis and Treatment of Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome" in China	NR	pregnancy, ovulation, TCM symptom score, FPG,FINS,HOMA- IR,Blood fat.
2	Wang JY,2020 (China) 22	I:30/30 C:30/30	I:26.43 ±3.52 (22-38) C:26.23 ±3.48 (21-38)	NR	Acupuncture +Metformin	Metformin	3 months	NR	NR	pregnancy,Sex hormone level, FPG,HOMA-IR, BMI,etc.
3	Li L,2014 (China) 23	I:53/53 C:51/51	I:27.10 ±2.50 (22-40) C:25.20 ±1.80 (21-38)	I:3.6(2.0-7.5) C:3.3(2.0-7.2)	Acupuncture +Metformin	Metformin	6 months	Rotterdam	Gastrointestinal reaction	Sex hormone level, BBT,B-scan ultrasonography, BMI,WHR, Ferriman-Gallway, HOMA-IR,FPG, FINS,OGTT,ST, FBG,etc.
4	Zhai ZY,2017 (China) 24	I:40/40 C:40/40	I:23.70 ±2.20 (20-29) C:23.10 ±1.90 (20-28)	I:4.40±1.20 (2-7) C:4.10 ±1.40(2-7)	Acupuncture +Metformin	Metformin	3 months	Rotterdam	Gastrointestinal reaction, Menstrual abnormalities	ovulation,BMI, WHR,Sex hormon level,FPG,FINS, APN.
5	Peng XY,2020 (China) 25	I:30/30 C:30/30	I:28.42 \pm 1.32 (22-32) C:28.32 \pm 1.35 (22-33)	I:2.02±0.12 (0.6-4) C:2.06 ± 0.11(0.6-4)	Acupuncture +Metformin	Metformin	6 months	2018 "Guidelines for Diagnosis and Treatment of Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome" in China	NR	pregnancy, ovulation,Sex hormone level, B- scan ultrasonography.
6	Li SS,2015 (China) 26	I:75/75 C:75/75	I:25.10 ± 2.30 (23-34) C:24.10 ± 2.20 (21-33)	I:3.2(2-4) C:3.3(2-5)	Acupuncture +Metformin	Metformin	6 months	NR	NR	pregnancy, ovulation,Sex hormone level, B- scan ultrasonography, HOMA-IR,BMI, Ferriman-Gallway, OGTT,ST.
7	Tang J,2017 (China) 27	I:52/52 C:52/52	I:28.53± 6.62(22- 42) C:28.26 ±6.70 (21-40)	I:3.72±1.38 (1-7) C:3.41 ±1.52(1-8)	Acupuncture +Metformin	Metformin	I:3 menstrual cycles C:3 months	Rotterdam	NR	pregnancy, ovulation,Total effects,BMI,FPG, Sex hormone level, FINS.
8	Zhang ZL,2016 (China) 28	I:50/50 C:50/50	I:26.30± 4.40(22- 38)	I:3.2±0.6(2-7) C:3.1± 0.5(2- 6)	Acupuncture +Metformin	Metformin	6 months	Rotterdam	NR	BMI,WHR,B-scan ultrasonography,

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the studies included in this systematic review (acupuncture + metformin vs. metformin).

(Continued)

No.	Study, pub- lication year (country)	No. of patients (O/A)	Age: mean ±SD or range (years)	Duration of infertil- ity: mean ±SD or range (years)	Intervention	Control	Period of treatment	Diagnostic criteria	Side effects and adverse events	Type of out- comes
			C:27.2 ±4.1(23- 37)							Sex hormone level, Ferriman-Gallway
9	Liu YE, 2018 (China)29	I:138/138 C:140/140	I:30.00 ±7.00 (23-37) C:31.20 ±8.10 (23-39)	I:2.35±1.65 (0.7-4.0) C:2.51± 1.83 (0.7-4.3)	Acupuncture +Metformin	Metformin	2 months	Rotterdam	NR	pregnancy, ovulation,Sex hormone level, AMH,BMI, menstrual cycle,etc.

TABLE 1 Continued

AMH, anti-Müllerian hormone; APN, Adiponectin; BBT, basal body temperature; BMI, Body Mass Index; C, control; FINS, Fasting insulin; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HOMA-IR, Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance; I, intervention; NR, not reported; OGTT, oral glucose tolerance test; ST, insulin release test; TCM, Traditional Chinese Medicine; WHR, Waist-to-Hip Ratio.

Main results

Pregnancy

Six studies of acupuncture combined with metformin reported pregnancy rates (22, 23, 25-27, 29). In terms of pregnancy rates, the results were statistically significantly different between the two groups (Z = 3.22, p = 0.001, RR 1.35, 95% CI 1.13 to 1.63, p = 0.12, $I^2 = 42\%$), indicating that acupuncture combined with metformin was superior to metformin alone in improving pregnancy. We found that different diagnostic criteria were adopted in clinical studies on pregnancy rate; thus, we conducted subgroup analysis and used B-ultrasound for diagnosis (Z = 2.39, p = 0.02, RR 1.49, 95% CI 1.07 to 2.07, p = 0.03, $I^2 = 66\%$). B-ultrasound was not used for the diagnostic group (Z = 2.14, p = 0.03, RR 1.30, 95% CI 1.02 to 1.65, p = 0.64, $I^2 = 0\%$), indicating that the heterogeneity of the test was mainly derived from the criteria of pregnancy (Figure 4). Additionally, there are different diagnostic criteria for PCOS; when summarizing the characteristics, we found that there are two different sets of diagnostic criteria. The first is the Rotterdam standard, and the second is a set of PCOS diagnosis and treatment guidelines in China. We also performed subgroup analysis of the above two kinds of diagnostic criteria, finding that heterogeneity when using the Rotterdam criteria ($I^2 = 25\%$) was significantly lower than the overall heterogeneity ($I^2 = 41\%$) (Figure 5).

Ovulation

Seven studies of acupuncture combined with metformin reported ovulation rates, calculated by number of ovulations in four studies (21, 24, 25, 29) and ovulation cycles in three studies (23, 26, 27). We analyzed these studies separately according to their different calculation methods.

Calculated by the number of ovulation: 532 participants in these studies, 224 women in the trial group and 180 women in the control group ovulated. The results were statistically significant (Z = 2.67, p = 0.008, RR 1.31, 95% CI 1.07 to 1.59,





p = 0.04, $I^2 = 63\%$). Calculated according to ovulation cycle: 683 participants in these studies, cycle ovulation rates were recorded for 278 women in the trial group and 226 women in the control group. The results had low heterogeneity, and indicated that acupuncture combined with metformin had a positive effect on improving ovulation rate compared with metformin alone (Z = 3.57; p = 0.0004, RR 1.18, 95% CI 1.08 to 1.29, p = 0.57, $I^2 = 0\%$) (Figure 6).

Homa-Ir

HOMA-IR was reported in three studies of acupuncture combined with metformin (21–23) with a total of 282 participants, 144 in the experimental group and 138 in the control group. The results showed that the difference in HOMA-IR between the two groups was statistically significant (Z = 4.02; p < 0.0001), with high heterogeneity (MD –0.68, 95% CI –1.01 to –0.35, p = 0.003, $I^2 = 83\%$). After sensitivity analysis

(p = 0.34, $I^2 = 0\%$), heterogeneity was derived from a research (22), and it was found that the sample size of the study was only 30 cases. Therefore, sample size may be the main source of heterogeneity (Figure 7).

Side effects and adverse events

The incidence of side effects and adverse events was reported in two trials. A total of 21 patients treated with acupuncture combined with metformin had gastrointestinal reactions and 2 had menstrual abnormalities. After metformin alone treatment, a total of 23 patients had gastrointestinal reactions and 6 patients had menstrual abnormalities.

Discussion

In this systematic review and meta-analysis, acupuncture combined with metformin was suggested to have a positive effect on pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, and HOMA-IR in patients



TABLE 2 Summary of findings table.

Acupuncture+ Metformin compared to Metformin for PCOS

Patient or population: patients with PCOS Settings: outpatients Intervention: Acupuncture+ Metformin Comparison: Metformin

Outcomes	Illustrative comparative risks* (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% CI)	No of Participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments
	Assumed risk	Corresponding risk				
	Metformin	Acupuncture+ Metformin				
Pregnancy- B-ultrasound	Study popu	lation	RR 1.49 (1.07 to 2.07)	502 (4 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \bigcirc \mathbf{low}^{1,2}$	
	563 per 1000	840 per 1000 (603 to 1000)				
	Moderate					
	404 per 1000	602 per 1000 (432 to 836)				
Pregnancy- Not B-ultrasound	Study popu	lation	RR 1.3 (1.02 to 1.65)	254 (2 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \ominus \ominus$ low ¹	
	429 per 1000	557 per 1000 (437 to 707)				
	Moderate					
	407 per 1000	529 per 1000 (415 to 672)				
Pregnancy- Rotterdam	Study popu	lation	RR 1.24 (1.06 to	636 (4 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \ominus \ominus$ low ¹	
	547 per 1000	678 per 1000 (580 to 793)	1.45)			
	Moderate					
	414 per 1000	513 per 1000 (439 to 600)				
Pregnancy- China	Study population		RR 2.14 (1.02 to	60 (1 study)	$\oplus \oplus \ominus \ominus \text{ low}^{1,3}$	
	233 per 1000	499 per 1000 (238 to 1000)	4.49)			
	Moderate					
	233 per 1000	499 per 1000 (238 to 1000)				
Ovulation - number of	Study popu	lation	RR 1.31 (1.07 to 1.59)	532 (4 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \ominus \ominus$ low ^{1,2}	
ovulations	674 per 1000	883 per 1000 (721 to 1000)				
	Moderate					
	649 per 1000	850 per 1000 (694 to 1000)				
Ovulation - ovulation cycles	Study population		RR 1.18 (1.08 to 1.29)	683 (3 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \ominus \ominus$ low ¹	
	677 per798 per 1000 (731 to1000873)					
	Moderate					
	674 per 1000	795 per 1000 (728 to 869)				
HOMA-IR	inter	mean homa-ir in the vention groups was 0.68 r (1.01 to 0.35 lower)		282 (3 studies)	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc \mathbf{low}^{1,3,4}$	

*The basis for the assumed risk (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The corresponding risk (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% CI). CI, Confidence interval; RR, Risk ratio;

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence High quality, Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect. Moderate quality, Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate. Low quality, Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to change the estimate. Very low quality, We are very uncertain about the estimate.

¹Evidence downgraded by two levels for serious risk of bias, the majority of the RCTs have unclear or high risk of bias. ²Evidence downgraded by one level for serious inconsistency 50% <12<75%. ³Evidence downgraded by one level for serious imprecision, low number of events (total number of events < 300). ⁴Evidence downgraded by two levels for serious inconsistency 12≥75%.



with PCOS compared to metformin alone. Subgroup analysis showed that the causes of heterogeneity were related to diagnostic criteria and random methods.

These findings are consistent with previous systematic evaluation and RCT results. Acupuncture alone or in combination with Western medicine in treating PCOS infertility can improve pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, hormone level, ovarian function, insulin resistance, and obesity (15, 30–33). However, the research results of Wu et al. were contrary to this (34). This study reported that acupuncture was not effective at treating infertility in PCOS patients. From the perspective of trial design, this study broke the traditional "step-by-step" evidence-based medicine research mode; that is, literature studies, observational studies, and small RCTs were not performed before performing a large-sample, multicenter RCT (35). This differs from the studies we have included in this review. Among the specific therapeutic methods, the choice of needles, acupoints, stimulation intensity, qi generation, treatment frequency, and course of treatment all have an impact on the curative effect. Therefore, the different results of acupuncture efficacy may be related to the lack of uniformity and objectivity of the current relevant clinical research standards.

Secondly, through meta-analysis, it was found that different diagnostic criteria of PCOS can cause differences in heterogeneity, and the heterogeneity of Rotterdam diagnostic criteria ($I^2 = 25\%$) was significantly lower than the overall heterogeneity ($I^2 = 41\%$). Currently, the Rotterdam standard is generally accepted and internationally recognized. In this study, five articles (23, 24, 27–29) adopted this standard. Fifteen years later, based on the disease characteristics of Han women in China, epidemiological investigation and research on the Chinese PCOS population was conducted. The 2018 "Guidelines for Diagnosis and Treatment of Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome" in China were formulated; two of the included studies were based on this standard (21, 25). When comparing the two criteria, the Rotterdam diagnostic criteria have a



Forest plot of effects of acupuncture combined with metformin versus metformin alone on pregnancy rate (diagnostic criteria of PCOS).



wider range than China's, but China's criteria are more detailed. Chinese standards put forward the concept of "suspected PCOS" as the first step of diagnosis, with the second step being to confirm PCOS. As a result, the clinical studies using the Chinese standard included both patients with early suspected status and confirmed status. However, as the original data did not separate these two groups of patients, there was heterogeneity in the analysis. However, this improvement to the guidelines raises the bar for future health risk assessment, long-term clinical management, and pregnancy assistance strategies in patients who have not been fully diagnosed in the early stages of the condition.

Through different diagnostic criteria for pregnancy, our subgroup analysis found that the heterogeneity of pregnancy diagnosis by ultrasound was lower than that by laboratory indicators (hCG detection only in serum or urine). We think more about the diagnosis of pregnancy. Based on the last 3 years of studies retrieved from Clinical Trials.gov, the Chinese Clinical Trial Register and Prosper, in studies of PCOS and *in vitro* fertilization/intra-cytoplasmic sperm injection (IVF/ICSI) (36–39), ultrasound was widely used as the diagnostic standard for pregnancy. In the subgroup analysis, it was found that clinical pregnancy criteria were generally adopted relatively recently, indicating that Chinese clinical studies were closer to international studies.

Quality of the evidence

In this review, we included only nine RCTs, most of which had small sample sizes. The quality of the evidence was low or very low. The main problems are risk of bias, imprecision, and inconsistency of the research results (Table 2).

Limitations

The limitations of this systematic evaluation are as follows (1): the included intervention measures, such as acupuncture forms, acupoint selection, treatment frequency, and course of treatment, vary greatly, and further subgroup analysis cannot be carried out due to the limited number of studies, affecting the accuracy of the results; and (2) due to incomplete information about the authors of most of the studies, we were only able to contact four of the authors by email, and did not receive any replies. It can be seen that the author of the original study is not very positive about the return visit of the author of the systematic evaluation. It may be because the author doesnot commonly use this contact method, or the recognition and research significance of the systematic evaluation are not high within the industry, and the author is not confident in his own scheme.



Conclusion

Implications for practice

We cannot exclude clinically relevant differences in pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, LH/FSH, HOMA-IR, and FPG for acupuncture combined with metformin versus metformin. The pregnancy rate, ovulation rate and HOMA-IR of participants receiving acupuncture combined with metformin may have improved compared to metformin alone. Due to differences in pregnancy diagnostic criteria, we are not sure if this is effective in studies without a definitive B-ultrasound diagnosis. Due to the low quality of evidence and the limited number of RCTs available in this area, our ability to determine whether acupuncture combined with metformin is more effective at treating PCOS than metformin alone is limited.

Implications for research

It is hoped that acupuncture combined with metformin will improve the pregnancy rate of PCOS women.Further welldesigned and well-performed randomized controlled trials are needed to definitively answer this question. Under uniform diagnostic criteria, a standard set of acupuncture points and stimulation methods should be considered, and the control group should receive the same metformin regimen as the acupuncture group.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

References

1. Zhang W, Sun L, Guo J, Yu X, Shi Y. [Family-based analysis of the adiponectin gene polymorphisms and polycystic ovary syndrome]. *Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zhi* (2014) 49:758-62. doi: 10.3760/cma.J.issn.0529-567x.2014.10.009

2. Balen AH, Morley LC, Misso M, Franks S, Legro RS, Wijeyaratne CN, et al. The management of anovulatory infertility in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: an analysis of the evidence to support the development of global WHO guidance. *Hum Reprod Update* (2016) 22:687–708. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmw025

3. Lim SS, Kakoly NS, Tan JWJ, Fitzgerald G, Bahri Khomami M, Joham AE, et al. Metabolic syndrome in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review, metaanalysis and meta-regression. *Obes Rev* (2019) 20(2):339–52. doi: 10.1111/ obr.12762

4. Dumesic DA, Abbott DH. Implications of polycystic ovary syndrome on oocyte development. *Semin Reprod Med* (2008) 26(1):53–61. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-992925

5. Barbieri RL, Makris A, Randall RW, Daniels G, Kistner RW, Ryan KJ. Insulin stimulates androgen accumulation in incubations of ovarian stroma obtained from women with hyperandrogenism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1986) 62(5):904–10. doi: 10.1210/jcem-62-5-904

Author contributions

YL and HYL conducted literature searches, evaluated study inclusion, and extracted data. XC and JLY analyzed data and drafted the manuscript. QLX's assessment was incorporated into the study and cross-checked with XC. YL revised the language and the article. JW, XYZ, YMZ, CYL, MJW, and ZL conceived the study and revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81774412 and 82105028) and the Sichuan Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine (2021MS079).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

6. Badawy A, Elnashar A. Treatment options for polycystic ovary syndrome. *Int J Women's Health* (2011) 3:25–35. doi: 10.2147/IJWH.S11304

7. Cassar S, Misso ML, Hopkins WG, et al. Insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of euglycaemic-hyperinsulinaemic clamp studies. *Hum Reprod* (2016) 31(11):2619-31. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew243

8. Stepto NK, Cassar S, Joham AE, Hutchison SK, Harrison CL, Goldstein RF, et al. Women with polycystic ovary syndrome have intrinsic insulin resistance on euglycaemic-hyperinsulaemic clamp. *Hum Reprod* (2013) 28(3):777–84. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des463

9. Lim SS, Davies MJ, Norman RJ, Moran LJ. Overweight, obesity and central obesity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2012) 18(6):618–37. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dms030

10. Smith JF, Eisenberg ML, Millstein SG, Nachtigall RD, Shindel AW, Wing H, et al. The use of complementary and alternative fertility treatment in couples seeking fertility care: data from a prospective cohort in the united states. *Fertil Steril* (2010) 93(7):2169–74. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.02.054

11. Chen X, Tang H, Liang Y, Wu P, Xie L, Ding Y, et al. Acupuncture regulates the autophagy of ovarian granulosa cells in polycystic ovarian syndrome ovulation

disorder by inhibiting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway through LncMEG3. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2021) 144:112288. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021.112288

12. Jo J, Lee YJ, Lee H. Acupuncture for polycystic ovarian syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medicine* (2017) 96(23):e7066. doi: 10.1097/md.000000000007066

13. Yu LQ, Cao LY, Shi Y, Yuan YJ, Jin X. A review of the effect and mechanism of acupuncture on polycystic ovary syndrome. *Shanghai J Acupuncture Moxibustion* (2015) 34:269–72. doi: 10.13460/j.issn.1005-0957. 2015. 03. 0269

14. Shen Y, Wang J. Acupuncture modulates the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis in the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: a research progress. *Chin J Integrated Traditional Western Med* (2022) 42:625–32. doi: 10.7661/cjim.20210913.365

15. Johansson J, Redman L, Veldhuis PP, Sazonova A, Labrie F, Holm G, Johannsson G, et al. Acupuncture for ovulation induction in polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 304(9):E934–943. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00039.2013

16. Liang F, Koya D. Acupuncture: is it effective for treatment of insulin resistance? *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2010) 12:555–69. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2009.01192.x

17. Shi Y, Li L, Zhou J, Sun J, Chen L, Zhao J, et al. Efficacy of electroacupuncture in regulating the imbalance of AMH and FSH to improve follicle development and hyperandrogenism in PCOS rats. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2019) 113:108687. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.108687

18. Tarkun I, Dikmen E, Cetinarslan B, Cantürk Z, et al. Impact of treatment with metformin on adipokines in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur Cytokine Network* (2010) 21(4):272–7. doi: 10.1684/ecn.2010.0217

19. Page MJ, Mckenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003583

20. Higgins JPT, Sterne JAC, Savović J, et al. A revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomized trials. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2016) 10(Supp 1):CD201601.

21. Li YC, Feng T, Rong CF, He MJ. Effect of ear acupuncture combined with metformin on insulin resistance in patients with phlegm-dampness polycystic ovary syndrome. *J External Ther Traditional Chin Med* (2021) 30:59–61.

22. Wang JY, Ma Y, Du WN, Wang BC, Wu LQ. Clinical study of influence of metformin combined with acupuncture on glucolipid metabolism and adipokines in obese polycystic ovarian syndrome. *China Modern Med* (2020) 27:69–72.

23. Li L, Mo H, Wen B, Zhang J, Li Y, Chen WF, et al. Clinical study of the acupuncture combined with metformin for infertility patients with obesity-type polycystic ovary syndrome. *China J Traditional Chin Med Pharm* (2014) 29:2115–9.

24. Zhai ZY. Metformin combined with acupuncture for infertility of obese polycystic ovary syndrome. *International Medicine and Health Guidance News* (2017) 23:2403 –5. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1007-1245.2017.15.025

25. Peng XY. Clinical observation of acupuncture combined with metformin in the treatment of polycystic ovarian infertility. *Chin Community Doctors* (2020) 36:121–2. doi: :10.3969/j.issn.1007-614x.2020.26.059

26. Li SS. Metformin and auxiliary acupuncture in the treatment of obese women infertility with polycystic ovary syndrome for 75 cases. *Chin Med Modern*

Distance Educ China (2015) 13(06):78-9. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-2779.2015.06.039

27. Tang J. Effects of acupuncture combined with metformin on sex hormone levels, glucose metabolism and pregnancy outcome in infertility patients with polycystic ovary syndromed. *Zhejiang J Traditional Chin Med* (2017) 52:568–9. doi: 10.13633/j.cnki.zjtcm.2017.08.014

28. Zhang ZL. Effect of acupuncture combined with metformin on infertility of obese polycystic ovary syndrome. *Med Forum* (2016) 20:4670–1. doi: 10.19435/j.1672-1721.2016.33.036

29. Liu YE, Liao BD. Clinical observation of acupuncture plus metformin for infertile women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Shanghai J Acupuncture Moxibustion* (2018) 37:1354–8. doi: 10.13460/j.issn.1005-0957.2018.12.1354

30. Huang SQ, Xu HY, Xiong J, Xiang J, Hua FH. Efficacy of acupuncture for PCOS infertility: a systematic review. *Chin J Evidence-Based Med* (2021) 21:431–7. doi: 10.7507/1672-2531.202009166

31. Wu D, Wang XB, Cong HF, Liu SM, Liang Y. Effects of acupuncture on the ovarian function in obese patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *World Chin Med* (2020) 15:2482–5. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-7202.2020.16.028

32. Pastore LM, Williams CD, Jenkins J, Patrie JT. True and sham acupuncture produced similar frequency of ovulation and improved LH to FSH ratios in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96(10):3143–50. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1126

33. Shen LY, Liang CM, Yang WJ, Pan L, Li H, Hu H. Acupuncture treatment of polycystic ovarian syndrome patients with abdominal obesity by regulating dai meridian: A randomized controlled clinical trial. *Acupuncture Res* (2018) 43 (04):255–9. doi: 10.13702/j.1000-0607.170687

34. Wu XK, Stener-Victorin E, Kuang HY, Ma HL, Gao JS, Xie LZ. Effect of acupuncture and clomiphene in chinese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* (2017) 317(24):2502–14. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.7217

35. Deng YY, Gao JS, Ma LH, Wang R, Chen XH, Ma HX. Protocol optimization and quality control of large-scale acupuncture clinical trial for infertility. *Zhongguo Zhen Jiu* (2017) 37:541-4. doi: 10.13703/j.0255-2930.2017.05.023

36. Hamdan M, Dunselman G, TC Li, Cheong Y. The impact of endometrioma on IVF/ICSI outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2015) 21(6):809–25. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv035

37. Xu J, Yin MN, Chen ZH, Yang L, Ye DS, Sun L. Embryo retention significantly decreases clinical pregnancy rate and live birth rate: A matched retrospective cohort study. *Fertil Steril* (2020) 114(4):787–91. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2020.04.043

38. Liu X, Zhang W, Xu Y, Chu Y, Wang X, Li Q, et al. Effect of vitamin d status on normal fertilization rate following *in vitro* fertilization. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2019) 17(1):59. doi: 10.1186/s12958-019-0500-0

39. Lim CED, Ng RWC, Cheng NCL, Zhang GS, Chen H, et al. Acupuncture for polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2019) 7(7):Cd007689. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007689.pub4

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Palomba, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Tiziana Russo, Mediterranea University of Reggio Calabria, Italy Eusebio Chiefari, University Magna Graecia of Catanzaro, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Bing He hebing7557@163.com

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 26 July 2022 ACCEPTED 22 August 2022 PUBLISHED 06 September 2022

CITATION

Zhang J, Xing C, Cheng X and He B (2022) Canagliflozin combined with metformin versus metformin monotherapy for endocrine and metabolic profiles in overweight and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A single-center, openlabeled prospective randomized controlled trial. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1003238.

doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1003238

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhang, Xing, Cheng and He. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Canagliflozin combined with metformin versus metformin monotherapy for endocrine and metabolic profiles in overweight and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A single-center, open-labeled prospective randomized controlled trial

Jiaqi Zhang 🝺, Chuan Xing, Xiangyi Cheng and Bing He 🝺*

Department of Endocrinology, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China

Objectives: Canagliflozin (CANA), a kind of sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibition, study in which the role of CANA monotherapy in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) has been investigated, and it could become a novel option in the PCOS treatment. Nevertheless, trials focused on SGLT-2 combination therapy's efficacy, and safety in PCOS patients are limited. This randomized controlled trial compared the efficacy and safety of CANA and metformin (MET) combination therapy and MET monotherapy in endocrine and metabolic profiles of overweight and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS).

Methods: Fifty-one overweight or obese non-diabetic PCOS women between 18 and 40 years old were enrolled. Patients were randomly allocated to receive either CANA/MET or MET treatment. The CANA/MET group received CANA 100 mg once daily plus MET 1000 mg twice daily, while the MET group received MET 1000 mg twice daily for three months. Changes in menstrual pattern, anthropometric parameters, gonadal parameters, glucose and lipid homeostasis, and adverse events (AEs) were evaluated.

Results: Compared with the MET group, women have a significantly lower level of total testosterone (TT), area under the curve for glucose (AUCGlu), and area under the curve for insulin (AUCIns) to AUCGlu ratio in the combination group. There were no significant differences in menstrual frequency, body weight, body mass index, follicle-stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone, free androgen index, sex hormone-binding globulin, androstenedione, fasting

blood glucose, fasting insulin, AUCIns, homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), triglycerides, total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, apolipoprotein A1 (Apo A1), apolipoprotein B (Apo B), and APO B/A1 ratio. AEs were seen in 57.70% (15/26) and 68.00% (17/25) of patients in the CANA/MET and MET groups, respectively.

Conclusions: In overweight and obese women with PCOS, CANA and MET combination therapy may be similar to MET monotherapy in improving menstrual frequency, weight control, hyperandrogenemia, and relieving insulin resistance. CANA/MET may have more benefits in reducing TT, AUCGlu, and the AUCIns/AUCGlu ratio within three months than MET monotherapy.

Trial registration: ClinicalTrials.gov, NCT04973891.

KEYWORDS

sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors, canagliflozin, metformin, weight-loss, polycystic ovary syndrome

Introduction

According to different diagnostic criteria, polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is one of the most prevalent reproductive endocrine disorders. It affects 4-21% of women of reproductive age (1, 2). On ultrasonography, hyperandrogenism (HA), ovulatory dysfunction, and polycystic ovaries are features of this syndrome (3, 4). In addition to these diagnostic features, obesity and insulin resistance (IR) are common abnormalities associated with PCOS (5). Approximately 50% of women with PCOS are overweight or obese (6), which could significantly amplify and worsen metabolic and reproductive outcomes regardless of PCOS phenotypes (7, 8). Hyperinsulinemia caused by IR is believed to promote HA in PCOS because insulin may augment luteinizing hormone (LH)-induced androgen production and reduce the liver's sex hormonebinding globulin (SHBG) synthesis (9, 10). Excess androgen in PCOS women could aggravate IR and lead to compensatory hyperinsulinism, further enhancing ovarian theca cell androgen

secretion (11–14). Overall, obesity, IR, and HA may interact with and influence one another, contributing to PCOS development. Besides, regardless of ovulatory status, women with PCOS still risk their fertility potential being reduced (15). This may be caused by, for example, pregnancy complications (16) and the alternations in oocyte competence (17) and in endometrial competence (18). Furthermore, it is suggested that these disorders may be exacerbated by obesity, HA, and IR *via* various mechanisms, such as the affection of the physiological microenvironment in the follicular fluid, inflammation, and oxidative damage (17, 18). Currently, there is no specific remedy or cure for PCOS (19), and the therapy for PCOS administration has typically focused on the control of symptoms (20).

Metformin (MET), the most extensively used insulinlowering drug in PCOS (21), reduces hepatic glucose production, inhibits gluconeogenesis and lipogenesis, and enhances insulin sensitivity in peripheral tissues (22). Various MET functions in PCOS have been proposed, such as weight reduction, decreased serum testosterone levels, lipid metabolism disorder amelioration, and endothelial function improvement (23). It is well documented that obesity treatment is essential for PCOS management. A mere 5% reduction (24) in body weight could reduce IR, hyperinsulinemia, and HA; increase SHBG production, and improve abnormal reproductive measures (24, 25). For weight loss, it is found that MET monotherapy can achieve sound effects but is not perfect in morbidly obese PCOS women (26).

Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors, novel hypoglycemic oral drugs that promote renal glucose loss (27),

Abbreviations: AND, androstenedione; Apo A1, apolipoprotein A1; Apo B, apolipoprotein B; AUCGlu, area under the glucose curve; AUCIns, area under the insulin curve; BMI, body mass index; CANA, canagliflozin; FAI, free androgen index; FBG, fasting blood glucose; FINS, fasting insulin; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LH, luteinizing hormone; MET, metformin; N/A, not applicable; PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome; SGLT-2, Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2; SHBG, sex hormone-binding globulin; TG, triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; TT, total testosterone.
are widely used clinically in patients with diabetes. Many studies have shown that SGLT-2 inhibitors can reduce fat mass (28), and blood pressure (28), ameliorate glucose homeostasis (29), alleviate oxidative damage and inflammation (30), and protect the cardiovascular system (31). In addition, several studies have substantiated the view that SGLT-2 inhibitors can significantly reduce weight in non-diabetic overweight and obese individuals with few adverse events (AEs) (32–36). Based on the advantages of both anthropometric and metabolic profiles, the emergence of SGLT-2 inhibitors for PCOS treatment has aroused general interest (27, 37). Cai et al. found that canagliflozin (CANA) was not inferior to MET in improving weight loss and IR, and its supplementation in PCOS patients should be considered (38). However, few trials have focused on SGLT-2 combination therapy's efficacy and safety in PCOS patients.

Therefore, this randomized controlled trial (RCT) explored the difference in anthropometric indices, menstrual frequency, gonadal parameters, glucose and lipid homeostasis, and AEs between CANA/MET combination therapy and MET monotherapy in women with PCOS over three months. The present study aimed to provide additional options for PCOS treatment.

Methods

Participants

Patients in this open-label RCT were selected from the outpatient clinics of Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University Endocrinology Department, Shenyang, Liaoning, China, from April 2021 to March 2022.

Ethics

This single-center, open-label, 1:1 RCT was examined and approved by the Scientific Research and New Technology Ethical Committee of the Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University (No.2021PS555K) and pre-registered at ClinicalTrials. gov (NCT04973891). All participants read and signed a written informed consent form before testing.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria: (i) 18-40 years (ii) Body mass index (BMI) \geq 24 kg/m² (iii) PCOS diagnosis fulfills the Rotterdam 2003 criteria phenotype B with HA and oligo-/anovulation (4) (iv) A negative serum pregnancy test before enrollment.

Exclusion criteria: (i) Patients who were pregnant, intended to become pregnant, were breastfeeding or did not agree to birth control. (ii) Medication history in the recent three months included oral contraceptive pills, SGLT-2 inhibitors, glucagonlike peptide-1 receptor agonists, thiazolidinediones, MET, and Chinese herbs. (iii) Comorbidities (diabetes, abnormal thyroid function-hyperthyroidism or hypothyroidism, 21-hydroxylase deficiency, hyperprolactinemia, androgen-secreting tumors, congenital adrenal hyperplasia, and Cushing syndrome), (all based on patient's medical records) (iv) Severe hepatic (alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase > 3 times the normal value) or renal function (eGFR < 60 ml/min per 1.73 m2) damage. (v) Current or past (last three months) involvement in other interventional studies. (vi) 17αdihydroxy-progesterone > 2ng/ml, (vii) Women with persistent or recurrent symptomatic urinary tract infection (UTI), gastrointestinal (GI) problems, or any other conditions that could endanger the patient's safety.

Study process

Eligible PCOS patients who provided consent were recruited and randomly allocated to either the CANA/MET group or the MET group. Randomization was performed using a computergenerated random number sequence. CANA and MET tablets were provided by Janssen Ortho, LLC, and Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, respectively. For CANA, subjects were required to take 100 mg once daily before breakfast; for MET, subjects were asked to take 1000 mg/day (500 mg twice daily with meals) for one week, with the dose increased to 2000 mg/day (1000 mg twice daily with meals), if tolerable. The management was for three months. All eligible patients were instructed to maintain their habitual diet, exercise level, and contraceptive use throughout the study period. They were also required to abstain from any drug with possible endocrine or metabolic effects.

Each participant completed assessments at two-time points: baseline and 12 weeks post-randomization. All PCOS subjects had to fast when measurements were taken. At the beginning of the study, data on body composition, glucose and lipid homeostasis, and sex steroid hormone concentration were measured and recorded. At the end of the study, the subjects underwent repeat assessments identical to the initial visit. We frequently contacted PCOS patients through weekly phone calls or communication tools, asking about their menstrual cycle and medication AEs, reminding them to take supplements daily, and arranging a convenient time for the next visit.

Assessment of anthropometric indexes

Each subject's weight and height were measured and recorded by a nurse to calculate body mass index [(BMI);

weight (kg)/height (m2)] wearing light indoor clothing without shoes. We acknowledged that according to the WHO, overweight/obesity was defined as a BMI \geq of 25 since the individuals included were all Chinese, and a BMI of 24 and 28 were cutoffs for overweight and obesity for both males and females over 18 years of age (39, 40). Height was measured using a standardized wall-mounted radiometer (\pm 0.1 cm) (Seca 71; Hamburg, Germany), and body weight was measured using a multi-frequency bioelectrical impedance analyzer (InBody 770 scanner; In-body Bldg; Seoul, Korea). Anthropometric indices were assessed at baseline and 12 weeks post-randomization.

Assessment of menstruation

Due to all included PCOS patients meeting the Rotterdam 2003 criteria phenotype B (4), with ovulatory dysfunction (oligo-/anovulatory), irregular menstruation involved oligomenorrhea and amenorrhea. Oligomenorrhea refers to women with less than six menstrual periods within 12 months, while amenorrhea refers to individuals who have stopped menstruating for more than six months. Each bleeding counts as one menstrual cycle. Menstrual frequency recovery was defined as the recurrence of regular menstrual cycles in patients and was recorded at 12 weeks post-randomization.

Assessment of biochemical parameters

Follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) (mIU/mL) and LH (mIU/mL) levels were tested by chemiluminescent immunoassay. Total testosterone (TT) (ng/ml) was determined using an electrochemiluminescent immunoassay (ECLLA). HA was defined as TT was higher than 0.5ng/mL (17). Sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) (nmol/L) was tested using immunochemiluminescence (Unicel Dxl 800; Beckman Coulter, USA). Free androgen index (FAI) (%) was calculated as TT (nmol/L) × 100/SHBG (nmol/L) ratio, and TT (ng/mL) was converted to TT (nmol/L) divided by 3.467 (nmol/L). Androstenedione (AND) (ng/ml) was tested using luminescence. LH, FSH, TT, SHBG, FAI, and AND assessment was performed at baseline and 12 weeks post-randomization.

Glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity were assessed at baseline and 12 weeks post-randomization using the oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT). Blood samples were taken at 0, 60, and 120 min after a sugar meal and analyzed for blood glucose (mmol/L) using the hexokinase-6 phosphate dehydrogenase method or the chemiluminescence (double-antibody sandwich) for blood insulin (μ U/mL) (Abbott Architect ci 16200; Abbott, USA). The homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was calculated as fasting insulin (FINS) (μ U/mL) × fasting blood glucose (FBG) (mmol/L)/22.5. The area under the glucose curve (AUCGlu) (mmol/L \cdot min) and insulin (AUCIns) (mU/L \cdot min) were obtained by calculating the sum of the trapezoidal areas between 0, 60, and 120 min.

The deionization and enzyme method was used to evaluate triglyceride (TG) (mmol/L) concentration. Total cholesterol (TC) (mmol/L) was measured using the cholesterol oxidase method, and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) (mmol/L) was measured using the chemically modified enzyme method. Apolipoprotein A1 (Apo A1) (g/L) and apolipoprotein B (Apo B) (g/L) were detected by immunoturbidimetry, and the Apo B/A1 ratio was also calculated (Abbott Architect ci 16200; Abbott, USA). The TG, TC, LDL-C, Apo A1, Apo B, and Apo B/A1 ratio assessment was performed at baseline and 12 weeks post-randomization. The AE severity was recorded and rated as mild, moderate, or severe.

Sample size estimation

No evidence of PCOS in women treated with CANA/MET or MET combination has been reported. The sample size of the pilot study should be calculated based on its original purpose, comprehensive consideration, calculation, and analysis, so as to get the sample size. Based on the above characteristics, the explanation is as follows: The primary outcome was the three months change in body weight. The strategy of sample size calculation was based on the assumptions that the mean reduction of body weight (-2.10 ± 2.35) for the MET group, and the expectation of two more times reduction in the CANA/MET group (mean=-4.20), we required 21 subjects for each group. By considering $\alpha=0.05$, power=80%, and an approximately 20% dropout rate, 50 patients were examined and equally assigned to each group (n=25).

Statistical analysis

Continuous data were presented as mean, median, standard deviation (SD), and interquartile spacing; categorical data were presented as frequencies or percentages. AEs were calculated based on intention-to-treat principles, yet the treatment efficacy was measured using per-protocol analysis. First, normality was assessed using the D'Agostino and Pearson omnibus/Shapiro-Wilk test. The paired t-test or Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used for intragroup comparisons for continuous data. In contrast, an independent sample t-test or Mann-Whitney U test was performed for intergroup comparisons. For categorical variables, the chi-square test was used. Statistical significance was defined as a *P*-value < 0.05 (2-tailed). Results were obtained using GraphPad Prism Version 7.0 (GraphPad Software, Chicago, IL, USA) and SPSS (version 23.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

Results

Participants

A total of 66 patients with PCOS based on the Rotterdam 2003 criteria were recruited from an outpatient endocrinology department. During the screening process, fifteen patients were excluded for definite reasons: four patients had a strong desire for pregnancy during the test; eight patients declined to participate; two patients had a history of taking multiple drugs (one with oral contraceptives and another with orlistat); one patient combined with other diseases (suffered from diabetes). Then, fifty-one PCOS patients who met the inclusion criteria were enrolled in the study, including 26 in the CANA/MET group and 25 in the MET group. Five patients dropped out in the CANA/MET group (2 patients with unintended pregnancy; 3 patients were affected by the COVID-19 quarantine). Five patients withdrew from the trial in the MET group (1 patient with unintended pregnancy; 2 were affected by the COVID-19 quarantine; 1 was lost to follow-up, and 1 had severe vaginal bleeding). Finally, 21 participants in the CANA/MET group and 20 in the MET group who completed the trial were included in the final analysis. Follow-up rates were 80.76% (21/26) and 80.00% (20/25), respectively (Figure 1).

Baseline information

The two groups did not differ significantly in age, weight, or BMI (P=0.6118, P =0.2365, and P =0.1024, respectively). No

statistically significant differences were found in interest outcomes according to baseline information. All baseline data were presented in Table 1.

Assessment of anthropometric parameters

No significant differences were found in body weight [CANA/MET: -6.66 \pm 4.24 vs. MET: -5.85 \pm 3.32; (*P*=0.5386)] and BMI [CANA/MET: -2.49 \pm 1.55 vs. MET: -2.20 \pm 1.30; (*P*=0.5441)] between the two groups. Within-group comparisons showed a significant decrease in body weight and BMI in the CANA/MET group (*P* < 0.0001 and *P* < 0.0001, respectively) and the MET group (*P* < 0.0001 and *P* < 0.0001, respectively) (Table 2).

Assessment of menstruation and gonadal parameters

After 12 weeks of treatment, an improvement in menstrual cycle irregularity was detected in CANA/MET group (80.95%, 17/21) and MET (80.00%; 16/20). There was no significant difference between the two interventions (P=0.6228). There was a clinically significant decrease in TT in the CANA/MET group compared to MET [CANA/MET: -2.49 ± 1.55 vs. MET: -2.20 ± 1.30; (P=0.0233)]. No differences were noted in FSH [CANA/MET: -0.75 ± 2.51 vs. MET: -0.68 ± 2.17; (P=0.9309)], LH [CANA/MET: -1.91(-7.40 to 2.49) vs. MET:



	CANA/MET (N = 21)	MET $(N = 20)$	P value
Age (years)	26.38 ± 5.89	5255 ± 4.36	0.6118
Height (m)	1.62 ± 0.04	1.63 ± 0.05	0.4495
Body weight (kg)	81.23 ± 9.83	74.78 ± 8.91	0.2365
BMI (kg/m ²)	31.11 ± 3.02	29.33 ± 3.19	0.1024
FSH (mIU/mL)	6.58 ± 1.54	6.05 ± 1.60	0.2800
LH (mIU/mL)	10.85 (6.36-16.22)	11.63 (9.69-16.87)	0.4304
TT (ng/mL)	0.95 (0.78-1.08)	0.89 (0.74-1.09)	0.7616
FAI (%)	28.62 ± 16.4	19.26 ± 9.46	0.0738
SHBG (nmol/L)	13.60 (8.55-20.15)	18.45 (13.13-21.98)	0.1626
AND (ng/ml)	3.57 ± 1.29	4.48 ± 1.42	0.0715
FBG (mmol/L)	5.70 (5.27-6.02)	5.30 (5.16-5.80)	0.1625
FINS (mU/L)	21.5 (14.35-24.20)	16.70 (14.58-24.33)	0.5919
AUCGlu (mmol/L*min)	1086 ± 208.7	985.3 ± 160.7	0.0915
AUCIns (mU/L*min)	14808 ± 6668	13867 ± 7201	0.6664
AUCIns/AUCGlu	13.97 ± 6.83	13.90 ± 6.55	0.9728
HOMA-IR	5.70 (3.38-6.08)	4.25 (3.26-6.44)	0.6515
TG (mmol/L)	1.54 (1.09-2.01)	1.49 (1.07-1.74)	0.6668
TC (mmol/L)	4.90 ± 0.93	4.74 ± 0.63	0.5353
LDL-C (mmol/L)	3.06 ± 0.97	3.01 ± 0.54	0.8401
Apo A1 (g/L)	1.16 ± 0.15	1.25 ± 0.20	0.1516
Apo B (g/L)	0.98 ± 0.26	0.88 ± 0.18	0.2032
Apo B/A1	0.85 ± 0.23	0.72 ± 0.18	0.0732

TABLE 1 Demographic data and baseline characteristics of patients.

CANA, canagliflozin; MET, metformin; BMI, body mass index; FSH, follicle stimulating hormone; LH, luteinizing hormone; TT, total testosterone; FAI, free androgen index; SHBG, sex hormone-binding globulin; AND, androstenedione; FBG, fasting blood glucose; FINS, fasting insulin; AUCGlu, area under the glucose curve; AUCIns, area under the insulin curve; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance; TG, triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Apo A1, Apolipoprotein A1; Apo B, Apolipoprotein B.

0.42(-7.10 to 4.19); (P=0.1990)], FAI [CANA/MET: -9.47 ± 11.65 vs. MET: -5.11 ± 7.40; (P=0.1631)], SHBG [CANA/MET: 0.10(-3.45 to 5.30) vs. MET: 2.95(-2.15-10.30); (P=0.4579)], and AND [CANA/MET: -0.36 ± 1.17 vs. MET: -0.39 ± 1.58; (P=0.9555)]. Within-group comparisons showed that both groups had significantly lower TT levels (P < 0.0001 and P = 0.0343, respectively). In the CANA/MET group, the FAI (P =0.0457) at 12 weeks decreased significantly compared to baseline, but no changes were observed in the MET group. In the MET group, SHBG (P=0.0303) at 12 weeks increased significantly compared to that at baseline, but no changes were observed in the CANA/MET group. Both groups showed no significant changes in FSH, LH, or AND levels after treatment (Table 2).

Glucose homeostasis assessment

Participants in the CANA/MET group had a significant decrease in AUCGlu [CANA/MET: -158 \pm 225.4 vs. MET: 2.63 \pm 180.7; (*P*=0.0182)] and the AUCIns/AUCGlu ratio [CANA/MET: -2.86 \pm 5.71 vs. MET: 0.51 \pm 0.61; (*P*=0.0164)] compared with MET. There were no significant differences in FBG

[CANA/MET: -0.33(-0.95 to -0.05) vs. MET: -0.11(-0.49 to 0.1); (P=0.1711)], FINS [CANA/MET: -7(-10.4 to -2) vs. MET: -4.2 (-9.8 to -0.7); (P=0.4565)], AUCIns [CANA/MET: -4264 ± 5627 vs. MET: -2640 ± 6108; (P=0.3869)], and HOMA-IR [CANA/ MET: -1.83(-3.01 to -0.96) vs. MET: -1.29(-2.9 to -0.05); (P=0.4015)]. Within-group comparisons revealed that both groups had significantly lower FINS levels (P=0.0003 and P=0.0041, respectively), the AUCIns/AUCGlu ratio (P=0.0327, and P =0.0255, respectively), and HOMA-IR (P =0.0002 and P =0.0028, respectively). Decreased FBG, AUCGlu, and AUCIns levels were observed in the CANA/MET group (P=0.0007, P =0.0044, and P =0.0024, respectively). However, these differences were not observed in the MET group (Table 2).

Assessment of lipid homeostasis

No significant differences were found in all lipid parameters: TG [CANA/MET: -0.27 ± 0.51 vs. MET: -0.05 ± 0.59 ; (*P*=0.2011)], TC [CANA/MET: -0.22 ± 0.43 vs. MET: -0.27 ± 0.48 ; (*P*=0.7954)], LDL-C [CANA/MET: -0.12 ± 0.49 vs. MET: -0.19 ± 0.50 ; (*P*=0.6894)], Apo A1 [CANA/MET: -0.02 ± 0.33 vs. MET: -0.02 ± 0.16 ; (*P*=0.9465)], Apo B [CANA/MET: $-0.05 \pm$

	CANA	/MET (N = 21)	ME	T (N = 20)	P value (Change)
	12 weeks	Change from baseline	12 weeks	Change from baseline	
Anthropometric character	ristics				
Body weight (kg)	75.40 ± 8.68^{d}	-6.66 ± 4.24	72.49 ± 9.97^{d}	-5.85 ± 3.32	0.5386
BMI (kg/m ²)	28.62 ± 2.91^d	-2.49 ± 1.55	27.14 ± 3.50^{d}	-2.20 ± 1.30	0.5441
Gonadal hormones					
FSH (mIU/mL)	5.84 ± 2.24	-0.75 ± 2.51	5.36 ± 1.94	-0.68 ± 2.17	0.9309
LH (mIU/mL)	8.59 (3.96-12.16)	-1.91 (-7.40 to 2.49)	10.27 (8.22-13.61)	0.42 (-7.10 to 4.19)	0.1990
TT (ng/mL)	$0.53 (0.45 - 0.84)^d$	-0.33 ± 0.23	0.71 (0.55-0.91) ^a	-0.18 ± 0.18	0.0233
FAI (%)	19.15 ± 13.19^{a}	-9.47 ± 11.65	14.14 ± 12.57	-5.11 ± 7.40	0.1631
SHBG (nmol/L)	13.6 (9.55-24.10)	0.10(-3.45 to 5.30)	22.35(14.78-26.70) ^a	2.95 (-2.15-10.30)	0.4579
AND (ng/ml)	3.22 ± 1.35	-0.36 ± 1.17	3.79 ± 2.21	-0.39 ± 1.58	0.9555
Glucose and lipid-related	parameters				
FBG (mmol/L)	5.20 (4.88-5.35) ^c	-0.33 (-0.95 to -0.05)	5.30 (4.96-5.42)	-0.11(-0.49 to 0.1)	0.1711
FINS (mU/L)	12.0 (8.20-20.15) ^c	-7 (-10.4 to -2)	14.70 $(10.80-20.40)^b$	-4.2 (-9.8 to -0.7)	0.4565
AUCGlu (mmol/L*min)	928.3 ± 124.5^{b}	-158 ± 225.4	988.5 ± 129.0	2.63 ± 180.7	0.0182
AUCIns (mU/L*min)	10543 ± 6888^b	-4264 ± 5627	11691 ± 5212	-2640 ± 6108	0.3869
AUCIns/AUCGlu	11.12 ± 7.12^{a}	-2.86 ± 5.71	11.76 ± 4.64^{a}	0.51 ± 0.61	0.0164
HOMA-IR	3.14 (1.91-4.71) ^c	-1.83 (-3.01 to -0.96)	3.51 (2.36-4.71) ^b	-1.29 (-2.9 to -0.05)	0.4015
TG (mmol/L)	1.20 (0.84-1.63) ^a	-0.27 ± 0.51	1.43 (1.03-2.06)	-0.05 ± 0.59	0.2011
TC (mmol/L)	4.54 ± 0.80^{a}	-0.22 ± 0.43	4.54 ± 0.52	-0.27 ± 0.48	0.7954
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.83 ± 0.70	-0.12 ± 0.49	2.83 ± 0.49	-0.19 ± 0.50	0.6894
Apo A1 (g/L)	1.20 ± 0.21	-0.02 ± 0.33	1.25 ± 0.26	-0.02 ± 0.16	0.9465
Apo B (g/L)	0.92 ± 0.26	-0.05 ± 0.13	0.90 ± 0.13	0.01 ± 0.17	0.2887
Apo B/A1	0.78 ± 0.23^{a}	-0.08 ± 0.14	0.74 ± 0.16	0.02 ± 0.22	0.1450

TABLE 2 Information of 12-weeks post treatment and changes in endocrine and metabolic profile.

PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome; CANA, canagliflozin; MET, metformin; BMI, body mass index; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; LH, luteinizing hormone; TT, total testosterone; FAI, free androgen index; SHBG sex hormone-binding globulin; AND, androstenedione; FBG, fasting blood glucose; FINS, fasting insulin; AUCGlu, area under the glucose curve; AUCIns, area under the insulin curve; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance; TG, triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Apo A1, apolipoprotein A1; apo B, apolipoprotein B; N/A, not applicable.

Bold and italic fonts indicate statistically significant between the two groups.

^a P < 0.05, vs. baseline and 12-week visits.

 $^{\rm b}$ P < 0.01, vs. baseline and 12-week visits.

 $^{\rm c}$ P < 0.001, vs. baseline and 12-week visits. ^d P < 0.0001, vs. baseline and 12-week visits.

0.13 vs. MET: 0.01 \pm 0.17; (*P*=0.2887)], and the Apo B/A1 ratio [CANA/MET: -0.08 ± 0.14 vs. MET: 0.02 ± 0.22 ; (P=0.1450)]. The TG and TC levels and the Apo B/A1 ratio declined from baseline only in the CANA/MET group (P = 0.0314, P = 0.0396, and P =0.0377, respectively). Both groups showed no significant changes in LDL-C, Apo A1, and ApoB levels after treatment (Table 2).

AE assessment

AEs were seen in 57.70% (15/26) and 68.00% (17/25) patients in the CANA/MET and MET groups, respectively. Only one subject in the MET group had to withdraw due to severe vaginal bleeding. The details are summarized in Table 3.

Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first 3-month randomized clinical trial comparing the efficacy and safety of CANA (100 mg once daily)/MET (1000 mg twice daily) and MET (1000 mg twice daily) in overweight and obese women with PCOS. Our results supported MET as conventional therapy for PCOS, given its amelioration of menstrual frequency, body weight, BMI, TT, FINS, HOMA-IR, and AUCIns/AUCGlu either combined with CANA or as monotherapy. In addition, we found that CANA/ MET might be more beneficial in reducing TT, AUCGlu, and the AUCIns/AUCGlu ratio than MET monotherapy within three months. CANA/MET supplementation may be similar to MET monotherapy in PCOS administration to improve menstrual pattern, weight control, and HOMA-IR in overweight and obese PCOS women.

TABLE 3 AEs of two treatment groups.

	CANA/MET (N = 26)	MET (N = 25)
Patients with AEs		
Severe AEs		
Vaginal bleeding	0	1
Mild and moderate AEs		
Nausea	11	14
Abdominal discomfort	1	4
Abdominal pain	2	1
Bloating	0	1
Diarrhea	4	8
Loss of appetite	2	4
Anorexia	1	0
Acid reflux	1	1
Headache	1	0
Dizziness	3	0
Asthenia	1	0
Bitter mouth	0	1

CANA, canagliflozin; MET, metformin; AEs, adverse events.

Weight loss is considered essential in PCOS management. In our study, participants in the CANA/MET group had a mean weight loss of 5.83 kg (7% of their body weight), and those in MET had 2.29 kg (3% of their body weight). However, the difference between the two groups did not reach statistical significance. This result agrees with an RCT that found that the effects of dapagliflozin (DAPA) (10 mg once daily)/MET (2000 mg once daily) combination therapy may be similar to those of MET (2000 mg once daily) monotherapy in promoting weight loss in PCOS patients (41). Furthermore, a similar nonsignificant difference in weight loss was reported in two RCTs that administered SGLT-2 inhibitors (empagliflozin 25 mg daily; canagliflozin 100 mg daily) monotherapy compared with MET in women with PCOS (38, 42). So far, the efficacy of SGLT-2 inhibition in weight control compared to MET in PCOS women has been rarely reported in the previous literature, with only above mentioned three RCTs. Interestingly, a meta-analysis involving seven studies with 2297 participants indicated that SGLT-2 inhibitor plus MET was superior to MET for weight control in people with type 2 diabetes for no more than 52 weeks (43). Another meta-analysis of eight studies with 750 individuals found that SGLT-2 inhibitor monotherapy for 12 weeks or more could lead to modest weight loss in non-diabetic overweight and obese individuals (44). This discordance might be due to the relatively short duration of the intervention or the different diseases and populations. Evidence related to the SGLT-2 combination strategy for PCOS treatment is rare. Further studies on the appropriate dosage and duration of SGLT-2 inhibitors are urgently required.

There was an improvement in menstrual cycle frequency in the CANA/MET and MET groups, with no significant difference. This result is in line with that of Cai et al. (38). For gonadal hormones, we found that the significant change in TT and FAI with both treatments from baseline was consistent with previous study findings, showing that DAPA/MET or MET could reduce TT and FAI (41). However, the results were inconsistent with some studies on SGLT-2 inhibitor monotherapy in PCOS (38) (42, 45). For instance, Tan et al. illustrated that supplementation with licogliflozin (50 mg three times daily) had no significant effect on reducing TT and FAI within two weeks compared to placebo (45). After 12 weeks of empagliflozin (EMPA) (25 mg once daily) intake, Javed et al. reported no significant decrease in TT and FAI (42). A recent study by Cai et al. also suggested that CANA (100mg once daily) had no significant effect on the reduction of TT and FAI at 12 weeks (38). Therefore, though in our trial we found that CANA/ MET may be superior to MET in the reduction of TT in women with PCOS. The significant difference in FAI, an indicator that better discriminated PCOS than TT (46), did not exist between the two interventions. Therefore, we should be cautious not to draw definite conclusions due to the small sample size.

Metformin corrects endocrine and metabolic abnormalities in women with PCOS; it counteracts IR by inhibiting hepatic glucose production (22). By reducing the maximum kidney's glucose reabsorptive capacity and glucosuria threshold, SGLT2 inhibitors enhance glucose excretion, reducing fasting and postprandial plasma glucose levels and improving insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity (47) Our study found that CANA/MET and MET could reduce FINS and HOMA-IR, with no significant difference among the treatment groups. Consistent with a recent randomized study by Tan et al., FINS and HOMA-IR levels declined significantly after two weeks of licogliflozin treatment (50 mg three times daily) in women with PCOS (45). Cai et al. also indicated that CANA was not inferior to MET regarding FINS and HOMA-IR reduction after 12 weeks of intervention (38). Javed et al. demonstrated similar results based on treatment with EMPA (25 mg once daily) for 12 weeks (42). Furthermore, a comparative 24-week study of patients with PCOS found that 10 mg DAPA daily or 10 mg of DAPA with 2,000 mg of MET daily significantly reduced patients' HOMA-IR; however, the difference between the two interventions was not statistically significant (41). In our study, AUCGlu, AUCIns, and AUCIns/AUCGlu ratio decreased prominently in the CANA/MET group after 12 weeks; only AUCGlu and the AUCIns/AUCGlu ratio showed a statistically significant difference between the two comparisons. The AUCIns/ AUCGlu ratio is relevant to pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction and the incidence of diabetes (48). Currently, there is only one related study examining AUCGlu and AUCIns between licogliflozin and placebo in PCOS (45), which found that

41

licogliflozin (50 mg three times daily) could result in significant reductions in AUCGlu and AUCIns levels after a 2-week trial. No relevant studies have focused on the AUCIns/AUCGlu ratio.

In our study, the serum TG levels decreased significantly in the CANA/MET group. No significant differences were found in TG and LDL-C levels between the two treatments. SGLT-2 inhibition was found to affect the plasma lipid profile of diabetic patients by decreasing TG levels and increasing LDL-C levels (49). The LDL-C levels in the CANA/MET group were not altered from baseline, which is consistent with Cai et al. reports (38). Literature suggests that an increased Apo B/A1 ratio may worsen endocrine and metabolic profiles in women with PCOS. Also, it might be a valuable tool to screen PCOS intensity by evaluating IR and metabolic syndrome (50). We found that the Apo B/A1 ratio declined after CANA and MET combination therapy. Nevertheless, due to the small sample size and limited duration, trials with larger sample sizes are needed.

In our trial, CANA and MET were well tolerated by most patients. Only one patient withdrew owing to serious AEs and vaginal bleeding, which was considered unrelated to the study drug. Surprisingly, no UTI problems were observed in the CANA/MET therapy group. We speculate on possible reasons for the results. On the one hand, before starting medications, each participant was told to drink more water throughout the entire intervention period, also for the MET group. On the other hand, this may be because patients under this treatment had a small dose of CANA (100 mg q.d.) rather than CANA (300 mg q.d.). Nevertheless, we should still focus on the AEs after SGLT-2 inhibition supplementation, due to the small sample size. Most of the patients had mild or moderate GI problems in both groups, consistent with Cai et al. reports (38). Moreover, most AEs appeared in the initial stage of the experiment, especially after 1-3 weeks.

Our study has several strengths. Firstly, this is the first time assessing the differences between CANA/MET combination therapy and MET monotherapy in PCOS management. Until now, four clinical studies focusing on SGLT-2 inhibitors in PCOS management, and only one study compared the difference between DAPA/MET and MET monotherapy (41). The reason for selecting CANA as an intervention is that the primary outcome was set to be body weight, and CANA has displayed a better function of glucose excretion than DAPA. The second advantage is that the AUCIns/AUCGlu ratio after SGLT-2 inhibition supplementation in PCOS women has been assessed for the first time. AUCGlu and the AUCIns/AUCGlu ratio significantly lowered after combination therapy, and glucose metabolism amelioration is essential to PCOS management and its long-term complications. In our trial, we found that CANA/ MET may be more beneficial in improving TT. It is suggested that SGLT-2 inhibition could lower total fat mass in PCOS rats with HA (28). Interestingly, though we did not focus on the change of fat mass, there was a significantly lower level of TG in

the CANA/MET group compared with the baseline. In the MET group, no significant decrease in TG levels was seen. We speculate that SGLT-2 inhibition may reduce the effect of lipotoxicity, thereby ameliorating the metabolism of androgens in PCOS. Further basic and clinical studies are needed to investigate this issue. The present study has several limitations. First, this study was a single-center, open-label, lack-of-aplacebo controlled clinical design such that physicians and PCOS patients were not blinded to the medication. In the process of study design, we told all the included patients about their specific therapy strategies. The absence of blinding could make a possible subjective bias inevitable; this weakness, nevertheless, may be offset by the benefits of communicating with patients regularly, showing concern for patients, and responding to the questions as quickly as possible and thereby achieving better patient adherence as well as improving therapeutic relationships. Most of our patients were lost to follow-up for objective reasons like the COVID-19 pandemic. This could have impacted the final results' reliability despite the rate being just 20%. Second, residual confounding factors, such as individual life modifications (dietary pattern and/or exercise), may affect the outcomes despite considering many potential confounders. Actually, though all eligible patients were instructed to maintain their habitual diet, exercise level, and contraceptive use throughout the study period, this was not monitored to ensure compliance. If the included patients did alter their habitual diet, exercise level, and contraceptive use, the results we achieved might not be due to interventions alone. There is a need for a specific diet, exercise, and contraceptive use monitoring in future studies. In addition, this trial had a relatively small sample size, and its period was too short to evaluate SGLT-2 inhibitor long-term effects in combination with MET in PCOS management. Finally, we focused only on gonadal and metabolic parameters between the two groups. Other indicators associated with body composition, blood pressure, and oxidative stress were not assessed.

SGLT-2 inhibitors may be promising new therapeutic drugs for PCOS. However, whether used alone or in combination with other agents, its efficacy still needs to be explored. It is essential to understand the mechanisms underlying SGLT-2 inhibition in PCOS and its long-term complications. The sample size should be expanded in further clinical trials, and a meta-analysis should be conducted to obtain high-quality conclusions. More studies are needed to be carried out to determine more efficient PCOS therapies.

Conclusion

In overweight and obese women with PCOS, CANA and MET combination therapy may be similar to MET monotherapy in improving menstrual frequency, weight control, HA, and relieving IR. Compared with MET monotherapy, CANA/MET may have more benefits in reducing TT, AUCGlu, and AUCIns/ AUCGlu ratio within three months. Additional trials are necessary to assess the SGLT-2 inhibitor supplementation's long-term effects in patients with PCOS.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical approval was obtained from the Scientific Research and New Technology Ethical Committee of the Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University (No.2021PS555K). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to inclusion in the study. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

JZ and BH conceived, designed, and performed the experiments; JZ, XC, and CX analyzed the data; JZ wrote the paper. BH reviewed and edited the final manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

References

1. Trikudanathan S. Polycystic ovarian syndrome. Med Clin North Am (2015) 99(1):221-35. doi: 10.1016/j.mcna.2014.09.003

2. Azziz R, Carmina E, Chen Z, Dunaif A, Laven JS, Legro RS, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2016) 2:16057. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.57

3. Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS Consensus Workshop Group. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2004) 81(1):19–25. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2003.10.004

4. Lizneva D, Suturina L, Walker W, Brakta S, Gavrilova-Jordan L, Azziz R. Criteria, prevalence, and phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 106(1):6–15. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.05.003

5. Moghetti P, Tosi F. Insulin resistance and PCOS: chicken or egg? J Endocrinol Invest (2021) 44(2):233-44. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01351-0

6. Hoeger KM. Obesity and lifestyle management in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* (2007) 50(1):277-94. doi: 10.1097/GRF.0b013e31802f54c8

7. Glueck CJ, Goldenberg N. Characteristics of obesity in polycystic ovary syndrome: Etiology, treatment, and genetics. *Metabolism* (2019) 92:108–20. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.11.002

Funding

This work was supported by a grant from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant no. 81570765), the Science and Technology Department people's livelihood Science and Technology Joint Program Funding of Liaoning Province (No. 2021JH2/10300125), and the "345 Talent Project" of Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University.

Acknowledgments

We want to thank all the patients and their families, without them this study could never have been completed. We wish them all the best.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

8. Moran LJ, Norman RJ, Teede HJ. Metabolic risk in PCOS: phenotype and adiposity impact. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 26(3):136–43. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2014.12.003

9. Baillargeon JP, Nestler JE. Commentary: polycystic ovary syndrome: a syndrome of ovarian hypersensitivity to insulin? *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 91(1):22–4. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-1804

10. Sanchez-Garrido MA, Tena-Sempere M. Metabolic dysfunction in polycystic ovary syndrome: Pathogenic role of androgen excess and potential therapeutic strategies. *Mol Metab* (2020) 35:100937. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2020.01.001

11. Geffner ME, Kaplan SA, Bersch N, Golde DW, Landaw EM, Chang RJ. Persistence of insulin resistance in polycystic ovarian disease after inhibition of ovarian steroid secretion. *Fertil Steril* (1986) 45(3):327–33. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(16)49211-3

12. Caldwell ASL, Edwards MC, Desai R, Jimenez M, Gilchrist RB, Handelsman DJ, et al. Neuroendocrine androgen action is a key extraovarian mediator in the development of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2017) 114 (16):E3334–e3343. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1616467114

13. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Dunaif A. Insulin resistance and the polycystic ovary syndrome revisited: an update on mechanisms and implications. *Endocr Rev* (2012) 33(6):981–1030. doi: 10.1210/er.2011-1034

14. Goodman NF, Cobin RH, Futterweit W, Glueck JS, Legro RS, Carmina E, et al. American association of clinical endocrinologists, american college of endocrinology, and androgen excess and pcos society disease state clinical review: Guide to the best practices in the evaluation and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome-part 1. Endocr Pract (2015) 21(11):1291–300. doi: 10.4158/EP15748.DSC

15. Palomba S. Is fertility reduced in ovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome? an opinion paper. *Hum Reprod* (2021) 36(9):2421-8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab181

16. Palomba S, de Wilde MA, Falbo A, Koster MP, La Sala GB, Fauser BC. Pregnancy complications in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod Update* (2015) 21(5):575–92. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv029

17. Palomba S, Daolio J, La Sala GB. Oocyte competence in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 28(3):186–98. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.11.008

18. Palomba S, Piltonen TT, Giudice LC. Endometrial function in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2021) 27(3):584–618. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa051

19. Walter K. What is polycystic ovary syndrome? *Jama* (2022) 327(3):294. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.19776

20. Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L, et al. Recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2018) 110(3):364–79. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.05.004

21. Palomba S, Falbo A, Zullo F, Orio FJr. Evidence-based and potential benefits of metformin in the polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Endocr Rev* (2009) 30(1):1–50. doi: 10.1210/er.2008-0030

22. Bennett WL, Aschmann HE, Puhan MA, Robbins CW, Bayliss EA, Wilson R, et al. A benefit-harm analysis of adding basal insulin vs. sulfonylurea to metformin to manage type II diabetes mellitus in people with multiple chronic conditions. *J Clin Epidemiol* (2019) 113:92–100. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.03.014

23. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Christakou CD, Kandaraki E, Economou FN. Metformin: an old medication of new fashion: evolving new molecular mechanisms and clinical implications in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2010) 162(2):193–212. doi: 10.1530/EJE-09-0733

24. Clark AM, Thornley B, Tomlinson L, Galletley C, Norman RJ. Weight loss in obese infertile women results in improvement in reproductive outcome for all forms of fertility treatment. *Hum Reprod* (1998) 13(6):1502–5. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/13.6.1502

25. Kuchenbecker WK, Groen H, van Asselt SJ, Bolster JH, Zwerver J, Slart RH, et al. In women with polycystic ovary syndrome and obesity, loss of intraabdominal fat is associated with resumption of ovulation. *Hum Reprod* (2011) 26 (9):2505–12. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der229

26. Harborne LR, Sattar N, Norman JE, Fleming R. Metformin and weight loss in obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: comparison of doses. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2005) 90(8):4593-8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2004-2283

27. Marinkovic-Radosevic J, Cigrovski Berkovic M, Kruezi E, Bilic-Curcic I, Mrzljak A. Exploring new treatment options for polycystic ovary syndrome: Review of a novel antidiabetic agent SGLT2 inhibitor. *World J Diabetes* (2021) 12(7):932–8. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v12.i7.932

28. Pruett JE, Torres Fernandez ED, Everman SJ, Vinson RM, Davenport K, Logan MK, et al. Impact of SGLT-2 inhibition on cardiometabolic abnormalities in a rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(5):2576. doi: 10.3390/ijms22052576

29. Cowie MR, Fisher M. SGLT2 inhibitors: mechanisms of cardiovascular benefit beyond glycaemic control. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2020) 17(12):761-72. doi: 10.1038/s41569-020-0406-8

30. Li X, Römer G, Kerindongo RP, Hermanides J, Albrecht M, Hollmann MW, et al. Sodium glucose Co-transporter 2 inhibitors ameliorate endothelium barrier dysfunction induced by cyclic stretch through inhibition of reactive oxygen species. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(11):6044. doi: 10.3390/ijms22116044

31. DeFronzo RA, Norton L, Abdul-Ghani M. Renal, metabolic and cardiovascular considerations of SGLT2 inhibition. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2017) 13 (1):11–26. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.170

32. Lundkvist P, Sjöström CD, Amini S, Pereira MJ, Johnsson E, Eriksson JW. Dapagliflozin once-daily and exenatide once-weekly dual therapy: A 24-week randomized, placebo-controlled, phase II study examining effects on body weight and prediabetes in obese adults without diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2017) 19 (1):49–60. doi: 10.1111/dom.12779

33. Hollander P, Bays HE, Rosenstock J, Frustaci ME, Fung A, Vercruysse F, et al. Coadministration of canagliflozin and phentermine for weight management in overweight and obese individuals without diabetes: A randomized clinical trial. *Diabetes Care* (2017) 40(5):632–9. doi: 10.2337/dc16-2427

34. Bays HE, Weinstein R, Law G, Canovatchel W. Canagliflozin: effects in overweight and obese subjects without diabetes mellitus. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2014) 22(4):1042–9. doi: 10.1002/oby.20663

35. He YL, Haynes W, Meyers CD, Amer A, Zhang Y, Mahling P, et al. The effects of licogliflozin, a dual SGLT1/2 inhibitor, on body weight in obese patients with or without diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2019) 21(6):1311–21. doi: 10.1111/dom.13654

36. Javed Z, Papageorgiou M, Deshmukh H, Rigby AS, Qamar U, Abbas J, et al. Effects of empagliflozin on metabolic parameters in polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized controlled study. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. (2019) 90(6):805–13. doi: 10.1111/cen.13968

37. Sadeghi HM, Adeli I, Calina D, Docea AO, Mousavi T, Daniali M, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome: A comprehensive review of pathogenesis, management, and drug repurposing. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23(2):583. doi: 10.3390/ ijms23020583

38. Cai M, Shao X, Xing F, Zhang Y, Gao X, Zeng Q, et al. Efficacy of canagliflozin versus metformin in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized, open-label, noninferiority trial. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2022) 24 (2):312–20. doi: 10.1111/dom.14583

39. Consultation WJWHOtrs. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. *Geneva World Health Organization* (2000) 894:1–253. doi: 10.1002/jps.3080150106

40. Ji CY. Report on childhood obesity in China (1)-body mass index reference for screening overweight and obesity in Chinese school-age children. *BioMed Environ Sci* (2005) 18(6):390–400. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-842X.2005.tb00258.x

41. Elkind-Hirsch KE, Chappell N, Seidemann E, Storment J, Bellanger D. Exenatide, dapagliflozin or phentermine/topiramate differentially affect metabolic profiles in polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2021) 106 (10):3019–3033. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab408

42. Javed Z, Papageorgiou M, Madden LA, Rigby AS, Kilpatrick ES, Atkin SL, et al. The effects of empagliflozin vs metformin on endothelial microparticles in overweight/obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Endocr Connect* (2020) 9(6):563–9. doi: 10.1530/EC-20-0173

43. Maruthur NM, Tseng E, Hutfless S, Wilson LM, Suarez-Cuervo C, Berger Z, et al. Diabetes medications as monotherapy or metformin-based combination therapy for type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Intern Med* (2016) 164(11):740–51. doi: 10.7326/M15-2650

44. Wong J, Chan KY, Lo K. Sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors on weight change and cardiometabolic profiles in individuals with overweight or obesity and without diabetes: A meta-analysis. *Obes Rev* (2021) 22(12):e13336. doi: 10.1111/obr.13336

45. Tan S, Ignatenko S, Wagner F, Dokras A, Seufert J, Zwanziger D, et al. Licogliflozin versus placebo in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized, double-blind, phase 2 trial. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2021) 23 (11):2595–2599. doi: 10.1111/dom.14495

46. Hahn S, Kuehnel W, Tan S, Kramer K, Schmidt M, Roesler S, et al. Diagnostic value of calculated testosterone indices in the assessment of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Chem Lab Med* (2007) 45(2):202-7. doi: 10.1515/CCLM.2007.031

47. DeFronzo RA, Norton L, Abdul-Ghani M. Renal, metabolic and cardiovascular considerations of SGLT2 inhibition. *Nat Rev Nephrol* (2017) 13 (1):11–26. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2016.170

48. Seltzer HS, Allen EW, Herron ALJr., Brennan MT. Insulin secretion in response to glycemic stimulus: relation of delayed initial release to carbohydrate intolerance in mild diabetes mellitus. *J Clin Invest* (1967) 46(3):323–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI105534

49. Lazarte J, Kanagalingam T, Hegele RA. Lipid effects of sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors. *Curr Opin Lipidol* (2021) 32(3):183-90. doi: 10.1097/MOL.00000000000751

50. He H, Feng J, Zhang S, Wang Y, Li J, Gao J, et al. The apolipoprotein B/A1 ratio is associated with metabolic syndrome components, insulin resistance, androgen hormones, and liver enzymes in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:773781. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.773781

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Palomba, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Mayank Choubey, New York University, United States Aris Besharat, Sant'Andrea University Hospital, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Hao-Lin Zhang zoe@bjmu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 03 September 2022 ACCEPTED 11 October 2022 PUBLISHED 24 October 2022

CITATION

Ye Y, Zhou C-C, Hu H-Q, Fukuzawa I and Zhang H-L (2022) Underlying mechanisms of acupuncture therapy on polycystic ovary syndrome: Evidences from animal and clinical studies. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1035929. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1035929

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Ye, Zhou, Hu, Fukuzawa and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Underlying mechanisms of acupuncture therapy on polycystic ovary syndrome: Evidences from animal and clinical studies

Yang Ye^{1†}, Cong-Cong Zhou^{2†}, Hang-Qi Hu¹, li Fukuzawa¹ and Hao-Lin Zhang^{1*}

¹Department of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Peking University Third Hospital, Beijing, China, ²School of Global Public Health, New York University, New York, NY, United States

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a common endocrine and metabolic disorder among women of reproductive age. Current standard treatment includes lifestyle change, oral pharmacological agents, and surgical modalities. However, the efficacy of current therapies is less than satisfactory. Clinical evidence has shown that acupuncture is effective for regulating hormone levels, promoting ovulation, and attenuating insulin resistance in patients with PCOS. Acupuncture may affect the production of β -endorphin, which may lead to gonadotropin-releasing hormone secretion and then affect ovulation, menstrual cycle, and fertility. The mechanism of acupuncture for patients with PCOS has not been comprehensively reviewed so far. Better understanding of the mechanisms of acupuncture would help popularize the use of acupuncture therapy for patients with PCOS. In this narrative review, we aimed to overview the potential mechanisms and evidencebased data of acupuncture on PCOS, and analyze the most frequently used acupoints based on animal and clinical studies. The results of this study will contribute to a better understanding of the current situation in this field.

KEYWORDS

acupuncture, animal studies, clinical studies, mechanism, polycystic ovary syndrome, review

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a common endocrine-metabolic disorder in reproductive-aged women, affecting up to 15% of reproductive age women (1), and has become the leading cause of menstrual disorders and anovulatory infertility in women (2, 3). The major clinical manifestations of PCOS consist of ovulatory dysfunction, hyperandrogenism, and polycystic ovaries, along with insulin resistance, obesity, and metabolic dysfunction (4, 5). In addition, PCOS is also linked with other complications,

such as type 2 diabetes, endometrial dysfunction and cancer, cardiovascular disease, depression, and pregnancy complications (6-10). The current standard treatment for PCOS includes lifestyle change, pharmacological therapy, and surgical modalities, but the effect is less than satisfactory (11, 12). Lifestyle change is the firstline therapy for PCOS patients, especially for overweight and obese women. However, this is a very difficult task for many people (13). The main pharmacological therapy for PCOS patients is the oral selective estrogen receptor modulator like clomiphene citrate (CC). CC is ineffective in 40% of PCOS patients and is associated with significant side effects, such as headaches, bloating, mood swings, and breast tenderness (14, 15). Letrozole is considered the first-line treatment to induce ovulation, with the ability to improve clinical pregnancy rates and reduce time-to-pregnancy in women with PCOS (15). However, it is associated with higher risks of hot flashes, arthralgias, fatigue, and myalgias (16). Metformin, an insulin sensitizer, has been widely used for the treatment of PCOS patients (17). It increases insulin sensitivity, but associated with unsatisfactory weight loss and increased risk of hypoglycemia (18, 19). Gonadotropin has been proven to be effective in ovulation induction. But it may lead to the development of multiple follicles and increase the risk of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (20). Therefore, there is a need for a new therapy, which should be inexpensive, easily administered, and free of serious side effects.

Acupuncture has been used as a medical means in China for thousands of years (21). The use of acupuncture in the reproductive endocrinology and infertility of PCOS has recently gained increased popularity worldwide. Several clinical trials have shown that acupuncture may have beneficial effects on ovulatory dysfunction and infertility in patients with PCOS. Acupuncture has also been reported to improve insulin sensitivity and decrease testosterone in patients and animals with PCOS (22). However, there is an insufficient amount of research evidence to support the clinical efficacy of acupuncture treatment for PCOS women, and the mechanisms of acupuncture are unclear, previous clinical and experimental studies indicate that acupuncture influences PCOS-like symptoms via various mechanisms. Recent reviews have demonstrated that acupuncture adjusts hormone levels by regulating hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian (HPO) axis or regulating levels of anti-Müllerian hormone (AMH) and P450arom. A recent systematic review on effect of acupuncture on PCOS in animal models summarized that acupuncture could improve insulin resistance by upregulating the insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1)/PI3K/glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) pathway, or inhibiting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway, or activating the adenosine 5'-monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathway in PCOS animals (23).

Until now, no review has been published to summarize the effects of acupuncture both in PCOS patients and animal models. Therefore, the present study aims to review the potential mechanism and evidence-based data of acupuncture on PCOS, and analyze the most commonly used acupoints. The results of this narrative review may provide directions for future research in this area.

Searching methods

Search strategy

A comprehensive literature search was performed by two independent investigators in PubMed, Web of Science, and Scopus databases from establishment to July 2022 to identify related publications. The advanced search option was used to select relevant keywords and identify Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms [i.e., (Acupuncture* OR Electroacupuncture*) AND (Polycystic Ovary Syndrome* OR Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome* OR PCOS*)].

Eligibility criteria

All human and animal studies concerning the effect of acupuncture on PCOS treatment were included in this review. There was no country restriction, but the language was limited to English. Moreover, no restrictions were imposed involving publishing date, type of subjects or type of reported outcomes. Researches were excluded if the type of intervention was moxibustion or transcutaneous electrical acupoint stimulation or acupressure.

Study selection

The following assignments were independently accomplished by two investigators. We identified 150 articles on PubMed, 246 articles on Web of Science, and 158 articles on Scopus. After duplicates were removed, 263 articles conformed to our search criteria. The titles and abstracts of the identified articles were reviewed, and irrelevant search results were deleted. After that step, the full text of the remaining literature was assessed. A total of 62 publications were finally included in this review (Table 1). Among them, 28 publications were animal studies, and 34 publications were clinical studies. The flow chart of the screening process is shown in Figure 1.

The etiology of PCOS

The exact etiology of PCOS is still unclear because of the complicated pathophysiological processes. Mounting evidence suggests that PCOS may be related to hyperandrogenism, insulin resistance, genetic factors, and negative emotions. Hyperandrogenemia plays a vital role in the pathogenesis of PCOS (70). Androgen stimulation may increase the release of

Year	Author	Subject	Intervention type	Acupoints	Frequency and Duration	Mechanisms
2000	Stener- Victorin (24)	PCOS rats	EA	NR	every second or third day up to 12 times	↓ovarian NGF concentrations
2003	Stener- Victorin (25)	PCOS rats	EA	NR	12times	↓ NGF, endothelin 1
2004	Bai (26)	PCOS rats	EA	SP6, E128	2 per wk for 8 wks	reversed the NGF abundance
2005	Manni (27)	PCOS rats	EA	NR	every second day	↓beta2-ARs mRNA
2008	Manneras (28)	PCOS rats	EA	ST29, SP6	every second weekday for 4 –5 wks	↑insulin sensitivity
2009	Feng (29)	PCOS rats	EA	ST29, SP6	5 per wk for 4-5 wks	↓hypothalamic GnRH and AR expression levels
2009	Manneras (30)	PCOS rats	EA	NR	every second weekday for 4–5 wks	↓expression of genes encoding markers of sympathetic activity
2009	Stener- Victorin (31)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV6, ST29, SP6, SP9, LI4, PC6	2 per week for 2 wks, 1 per week for 6 wks, 1 every second wk for 8 wks	↓muscle sympathetic nerve activity
2010	Johansson (32)	PCOS rats	EA	NR	5 per wk for 4-5 wks	↑GLUT4, ↓high-density lipoprotein/low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
2011	Jedel (33)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV6, ST29, SP6, SP9	2 per wk for 2 wks, 1 per wk for 6 wks, 1 every other wk for 8 wks	improve hyperandrogenism and menstrual frequency
2011	Pastore (34)	PCOS women	EA/MA	UB23, UB28, SP6, SP9, PC6, TE5, GV20	2 per wk for 4 wks, 1 per wk for 4 wks	↓ LH/FSH
2012	Billhult (13)	PCOS women	EA/MA	CV3, CV6, ST29, SP6, SP9	2 per wk for 2 wks, 1 per wk for 6 wks, 1 every other week for 8 wks	hope, get result, feel of responsibility, skepticism and proof of effect, feel normal
2012	Feng (35)	PCOS rats	EA/MA	NR	5 per wk for 4-5 wks	restored disturbed oestrous cyclicity
2012	Franasiak (36)	PCOS women	EA/MA	UB23, UB28, SP6, SP9	2 per wk for 4 wks, 1 per wk for 4 wks	not change AMH concentrations
2013	Stener- Victorin (37)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV6, ST9, SP6, and SP9	2 per wk for 2 wks, 1 per wk for 6 wks, 1 every other wk for 8 wks	↓MADRS-S and BSA-S, ↑SF-36, PCOSQ
2013	Johansson (38)	PCOS rats	EA/MA	ST29, SP6	5 per wk for 4-5 wks	$\ensuremath{\downarrow}\xspace$ weight of the subcutaneous fat depot
2013	Rashidi (39)	PCOS women	acupuncture	NR	NR	↑embryo quality
2013	Yu (40)	PCOS women	EA	ST25, CV12, CV6, SP6, BL17, BL32	3 per wk	$\downarrow \rm BW, BMI, \rm WHR, FINS, \uparrow \rm ISI$ and $\rm APN$
2013	Johansson (41)	PCOS women	EA/MA	CV3, CV6, ST25, ST29, SP6, SP9, L14, GV20, LR3, PC6, GV20	2 per wk for 10 -13 wks	↑ovulation frequency
2013	Sun (42)	PCOS rats	EA	CV3, CV4	once daily for 14 consecutive days	↑P450arom, ↓P450c17α
2013	Zheng (43)	PCOS women	acupuncture	NR	once a day for 6 months	↓BMI, WHR, ovarian volume, luteotrophic hormone, LDL-C, T, ↓ LH/FSH, ↑Menstrual frequency and HDL-C
2016	Stener- Victorin (44)	PCOS women	EA	CV4, CV12, ST29, ST34, ST32, SP6, ST36, LI4, CV6, CV10, ST27, SP10, SP6, LR3, PC6	3 per wk over 5 wks	↓HbA1c, ↓circulating and adipose tissue androgens

TABLE 1 Characteristics of acupuncture in the treatment of PCOS from main studies included.

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

Year	Author	Subject	Intervention type	Acupoints	Frequency and Duration	Mechanisms
2016	Ramadoss (45)	PCOS rats	EA	biceps femoris and erector spinae muscle	alternate days for 4-5 wks	\downarrow sympathetic tone
2017	Benrick (<mark>46</mark>)	PCOS women	EA	ST27, ST28, ST29, SP6, SP9	NR	$\uparrow whole-body$ glucose uptake, $\uparrow sympathetic/partly$
2017	Maliqueo (47)	PCOS rats	EA	NR	5 per wk for 5-6 wks	↑low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol
2018	Kokosar (48)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV12, ST29, ST32, ST34, ST36, SP6, L14	NR	↑sympathetic nervous system ↑whole body glucose uptake
2018	Ma (49)	PCOS rats	EA	ST29, SP6	5 per wk for 4 wks	$\ensuremath{\uparrow}\xspace$ angiogenesis in the antral follicles
2018	Cui (50)	PCOS rats	EA	SP6, ST29, GV20	3 wks	↓global DNA methylation and Dnmt3b expression, ↓LH/FSH, ↑Menstrual frequency and HDL-C
2019	Shi (51)	PCOS rats	EA	CV3, CV4	for 14 consecutive days	↓AMH
2019	Wang (52)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV6, ST29, SP6, SP9, LI4, GV20, ST25, LR3, PC6	2 per wk for 16 wks	↑serum NE, ↓5-HT, ↓GABA
2019	Budihastuti (53)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV6, ST29, SP6, LI4, ST36	2 per wk for 6 wks	↑oocytes' growth
2019	Rouhani (54)	PCOS women	EA	ST21, ST25, ST28, ST29, REN12, REN6, REN4, SP9, SP6, ST40	20 times	↓body fat and BMI, WHR, fasting insulin, ↑insulin sensitivity
2020	Benrick (55)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV12, ST29, ST 32 ST34, ST36, SP6, LI4	NR	normalize gene expression in skeletal muscle
2020	Peng (56)	PCOS rats	EA	ST29, SP6	5 wks	↓sterol regulatory element binding protein 1
2020	Li (57)	PCOS women	EA/MA	ST29, CV3, CV12, ST34, ST33, SP6, ST36, ST27, CV6, CV10, SP10, SP6, LR3	3 per wk for 6 months	↓homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance
2020	Peng (12)	PCOS rats	EA	ST29, SP6	5 wks	↑autophagy
2020	Tong (58)	PCOS rats	EA	ST29, SP6	5 per wk for 4 wks	regulating ovarian innervation
2020	Xu (59)	PCOS rats	EA	CV3	14 consecutive days	↓T, FAI, LH, LH/FSH, AMH, INHB, FINS, ↑E2, FSH, and SHBG
2021	Budihastuti (<mark>60</mark>)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV6, ST29, SP6, LI4, ST36	2 per wk for 6 wks	↑folliculogenesis/endometrial thickness
2021	Chen (61)	PCOS rats	acupuncture	CV4, RN3, CV6, SP6, EX-CA1	each day over 11 days	↓LncMEG3, PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway, granulosa cell autophagy
2021	Dong (<mark>62</mark>)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV6, ST29, SP6, SP9, LI4, GV20, ST25, LR3, PC6	16 wks	↓weight, BMI, hipline, homeostatic model assessment of insulin sensitivity, ↓visfatin, HDL-C, WHR, fasting glucose, ↑resistin and IL-6
2021	Wang (63)	PCOS rats	EA	CV6, SP6, ST36	5 per wk for 2 wks	modulate the kisspeptin system
2021	Xiang (64)	PCOS women	EA	RN12, ST25, SP15, GB26, CV6, CV4, SP10, ST40, ST36, SP9	2 per wk until the day of oocyte collection	↑ IRS-1/PI3K/GLUT4 signaling pathway
2021	Wu (65)	PCOS women	acupuncture	ST36, CV4	2 per wk for 3 months	↓miR-32-3p, ↑PLA2G4A
2021	Zhao (66)	PCOS women	EA	NR	3 per wk for 12 wks	↓LH, AMH, T, ↑P450arom, E2
2022	Dong (67)	PCOS women	EA	CV3, CV6, GV20, ST29, ST25, SP6, SP9, LI4, LR3, PC6	2 per wk with a maximum of 32 treatments	$\ensuremath{\downarrow}\ensuremath{DHEA}$ secretion and the acne score

(Continued)

10.3389/fendo.2022.1035929

Year	Author	Subject	Intervention type	Acupoints	Frequency and Duration	Mechanisms
2022	Pan (68)	PCOS women	acupuncture	RN4, EX-CA1, ST29, ST36, SP6, RN6, RN12, DU20, ST25, KI3, KI6, LR3, SP10, PC6	2 per wk for three menstrual cycles	↑pregnancy and ovulation rate
2022	Zhang (69)	PCOS rats	EA	ST29, SP6, LR3, PC6	NR	$\downarrow white a dipose tissue, \uparrow brown adipose tissue$

TABLE 1 Continued

AMH, anti-Müllerian hormone; APN, adiponectin; AR, androgen receptor; BMI, body mass index; BSA-S, Brief Scale for Anxiety; BW, body weight; DHEA, Dehydroepiandrosterone; EA, electro-acupuncture; E2, estradiol; FAI, free androgen index; FINS, fasting serum insulin; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; GLUT4, Glucose transporter type 4; GnRH, gonadotropin releasing hormone; IL, Interleukin; INHB, inhibin B; ISN, insulin sensitivity index; LDL-C, LH, luteinizing hormone; MA, manual acupuncture; MADRS-S, Montgomery Åsberg Depression Rating Scale; NGF, nerve growth factor; NR, not reported; P450arom, P-450 aromatase; PCOSQ, PCOS Questionnaire; SHBG, sex hormone-binding globulin; SF-36, Swedish Short-Form 36; T, testosterone; WHR, waist-hip ratio; wk, week; wks, weeks.

gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), which may lead to an increase in the frequency and amplitude of luteinizing hormone (LH) pulses. Excessive LH release, in turn, may cause excessive production of androgens (71). Moreover, the low levels of folliclestimulating hormone (FSH) and inadequate conversion of androgen to estradiol prevent the recruitment of dominant follicles, leading to anovulation (71–73). Insulin resistance is another important factor in the pathogenesis of PCOS (74). An abnormal insulin signaling pathway was found in the ovarian tissues of PCOS patients. This may be because prolonged hyperinsulinemia activates the mTOR/S6 kinase pathway, which enhances the serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and eventually induces insulin resistance in the hypothalamus (75, 76). In addition, insulin levels are also positively correlated with androgen levels in PCOS patients (77). The secretion of androgens increased in PCOS patients under insulin stimulation, which enhanced the activity of cytochrome P450c17 α hydroxylase and then increased androgen production. Adiponectin, an adipocyte-specific protein that regulates insulin sensitivity and glucose catabolism, have been found decreased in patients with PCOS (78, 79). Furthermore, high insulin levels in PCOS patients may also accelerate the pulse of LH secretion and stimulate the synthesis of androgens by follicular membrane cells, resulting in hyperandrogenemia and anovulation (80). The incidence of PCOS is often clustered in families, and first-degree relatives are at higher risk (81). Genes such as the CYP17 gene, androgen receptor gene, and SHBG gene have been confirmed to be involved in androgen metabolism (82–84). Recent studies have shown that insulin receptor genes (IRS1 and IRS2) are associated with the incidence of PCOS (85). Chronic negative emotions such



as depression and low self-esteem could make the body in a state of stress. Such emotions can directly inhibit the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis, leading to obstacles in the HPO axis regulation mechanism and ovarian dysfunction, which induce PCOS (86).

Acupuncture-A possible treatment for PCOS

Acupuncture, a representative of traditional Chinese medicine, has been widely used for treating diseases in China for at least 2,000 years. Currently, acupuncture is increasingly accepted as a complementary therapy for many disorders worldwide (87). The effectiveness of acupuncture for diseases such as chronic prostatitis, chronic musculoskeletal pain, and chronic severe functional constipation, etc. have been confirmed by many high-quality randomized controlled trials (88–90). Electroacupuncture (EA) is a new form of acupuncture treatment in which acupuncture is combined with electrical stimulation. Multiple clinical trials have shown that manual acupuncture and EA are both effective for treating PCOS (48, 57, 64, 65, 68). The effects of acupuncture for PCOS involved improvement in ovulation rate, pregnancy rate, insulin resistance, negative emotion, sexual hormone disturbance, and lipid metabolism dysfunction (Figure 2) (91).

Acupuncture therapy has been used as a complementary and alternative treatment for oligo/anovulatory women with PCOS (91). Studies have revealed that acupuncture might reduce cortisol concentrations and regulate central and peripheral βendorphin production and secretion (92). Considering that acupuncture has a potential effect on β -endorphin, which can impact GnRH secretion and levels, it is postulated that acupuncture may play an important role in improving ovulation induction and fertility. In 2016, a systematic review including five randomized controlled trials (RCTs) with 413 women reported insufficient evidence to support the use of acupuncture for the treatment of ovulation disorders in women with PCOS (93). Further in 2019, the updated review added three other new RCTs with a total of 1546 women covering the uncertainty of the effect of acupuncture on the live birth rate, multiple pregnancy rate and ovulation rate compared to sham acupuncture (91). However, acupuncture may ameliorate the restoration of regular menstrual periods. In recent years, accumulating scientific studies have investigated the acupuncture meridians and the neuroendocrinological aspects of the meridians, considering that acupuncture may have a role in normalizing the HPO axis, which in turn influences the menstruation cycle pattern (91, 94). In addition, the evolving omics techniques and emerging analysis tools of biological information may facilitate acupuncture research and help to reveal the mechanisms of acupuncture action on PCOS.



FIGURE 2

Acupuncture treatment attenuates the major clinical manifestations of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). PCOS is featured by hyperandrogenism (hirsutism, acne, alopecia, etc.), ovulatory dysfunction, polycystic ovaries, obesity, insulin resistance, metabolic dysfunction, and emotional disorders. Manual-/electro-acupuncture improves the PCOS-related symptoms through different biological mechanisms.

Evidence-based study of acupuncture for PCOS

A lot of systematic reviews and meta-analyses have been performed to provide evidence-based information in this field. A Cochrane systematic review have been conducted by Lim et al. in 2011, and updated in 2016 and 2019 (91, 93, 95). These studies assessed the effectiveness of acupuncture treatment for oligo/ anovulatory women with PCOS for both fertility and symptom control. They concluded that the efficacy of acupuncture on pregnancy outcomes in PCOS patients was uncertain due to the limited number of RCTs and the low quality of evidence (91). A systematic review in 2017 revealed that acupuncture is likely to improve ovulation rate and menstruation rate, but the level of evidence was low (96). In 2020, Wu et al. believed that there was no sufficient evidence supporting the effectiveness of acupuncture to promote live birth, pregnancy, and ovulation in PCOS patients (22). Interestingly, this systematic review suggested that acupuncture could promote the recovery of menstrual cycles as well as downregulate the levels of LH and testosterone in PCOS patients. A recent systematic review showed that acupuncture combined with metformin improved pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, and insulin resistance in PCOS patients compared to using metformin alone (97). Another study found that acupuncture combined with moxibustion improved pregnancy, ovulation, and miscarriage rates, as well as the levels of some sex hormones and metabolic indicators (98). The effectiveness of acupuncture on PCOS patients undergoing in vitro fertilization (IVF) or intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) was also evaluated by a systematic review (99). The results showed that acupuncture may increase the clinical pregnancy rate and ongoing pregnancy rate and decrease the risk of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome in patients with PCOS undergoing IVF or ICSI. A systematic review by Zheng et al. found that acupuncture was relatively effective in improving glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity in patients with PCOS (100). Furthermore, a systematic review assessed the efficacy of acupuncture on animal models with PCOS (23). They found that a definite conclusion was difficult to draw because the methodology was weak and heterogeneity was high. The methodological and reporting quality of systematic reviews on acupuncture treatment for patients with PCOS was also evaluated by a systematic review. This study demonstrated poor methodological and reporting quality of systematic reviews assessing acupuncture in patients with PCOS (101). Information of these systematic reviews and meta-analyses is shown in Table 2.

Potential mechanisms of acupuncture affecting pcos-related symptoms

Ovulatory dysfunction

Ovulatory dysfunction is one of the most sovereign characteristics of PCOS (102). Oocyte quality has been proved important for reproductive potential in women with PCOS (103). EA was proved to be effective in improving oocyte quality and embryonic development potential in infertile patients with PCOS (64). Upregulation of the IRS-1/PI3K/GLUT4 signaling pathway appears to be involved in the effect of EA. A similar study demonstrated that EA improved abnormal follicular development in PCOS patients by inhibiting the overexpression of AMH and increasing the expression of P450arom (66). The protective effect of EA on follicle growth in patients with PCOS was further confirmed by another clinical study (53, 60). In addition, acupuncture at an early stage of oocyte recruitment improved embryo quality in PCOS patients undergoing in vitro fertilization (39). A recent animal study revealed that acupuncture improved ovulation disorder by downregulating LncMEG3 expression, inhibiting the PI3K/AKT/ mTOR pathway, and reducing granulosa cell autophagy (61). EA was also reported to improve follicular arrest in PCOS rats by decreasing the overexpression of AMH to normalize FSH and AMH imbalance in granulosa cells (51). Follicular maturation may be affected by endogenous ovarian angiogenesis, which may be another mechanism underlying EA in the treatment of PCOS (49). Interestingly, another animal study demonstrated that EA upregulates the numbers of preovulatory follicles and corpora lutea by increasing innervation of blood vessels near the hilum (58).

PCOS is a multi-symptom disorder linked with a range of reproductive hormonal disturbances (104). A recent clinical study showed that acupuncture improved the pregnancy rate and ovulation rate in infertile women with PCOS, and the effect may be related to the modulation of acupuncture on sex hormones disturbance (68). In another study, acupuncture induced a higher ovulation frequency in lean/overweight PCOS women (41). Meanwhile, acupuncture also reduced the serum levels of ovarian and adrenal sex steroid. In an animal study, EA improved the disturbed estrous cycles and upregulated the number of corpora lutea and area of the ovary in a pubertal rat model of PCOS (63). The increased LH and decreased estradiol and GnRH were all normalized by EA in this study. Furthermore, EA attenuated the upregulation of kisspeptin protein level in the arcuate nucleus, which might explain the efficacy of EA (63).

Hyperandrogenism

Evidence suggests that hyperandrogenism is an important clinical feature and mechanism of PCOS (105). Many clinical studies have shown that acupuncture can lower the serum level of testosterone in PCOS women (33, 41, 68, 106). In a study, the circulating and adipose tissue androgen levels in PCOS patients were decreased by EA (44). The effect of EA may be associated with decreased level of hemoglobin A1C. Another study showed that EA improved hyperandrogenism in PCOS patients, and regulation of AMH and P450arom may be involved in the potential mechanism of EA (66). In an animal study, acupuncture inhibited excessive androgen secretion in a rat model of PCOS. The efficacy of acupuncture may be related to the inhibitory effect on overexpression of androgen receptor and connexin 43 (59). Another animal study revealed that EA improved the local ovarian hyperandrogenic environment, probably through increasing P450arom level and decreasing P450C17a level (42). In addition, research showed that EA decreased the overexpression of AMH and regulated FSH and AMH imbalance in granulosa cells, improving hyperandrogenism in a rat model of PCOS (51). Lowfrequency EA also decreased serum testosterone in rats with PCOS, and the efficacy may be mediated by central opioid receptors such as *Oprk1* and *Oprm1* in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus (35).

Insulin resistance and obesity

There is general agreement that PCOS patients are insulin resistant, especially obese PCOS patients (107). Insulin resistance and related hyperinsulinemia may induce both the endocrine and reproductive traits of PCOS (108). The efficiency of acupuncture on insulin resistance in PCOS patients has been confirmed by many clinical studies (43, 57, 64). A recent study demonstrated that EA improved the insulin resistance score compared with the control group in PCOS patients, and the protective effect of EA might be through an upregulation of the IRS-1/PI3K/GLUT4 signaling pathway (64). Abdominal acupuncture also improved insulin resistance in patients with obesity-type PCOS, which may be related to the efficacy of acupuncture treatment on body–mass index, waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), and lipid metabolism dysfunctions (43). Consistent

TABLE 2 Characteristics of systematic reviews and meta-analyses assessing acupuncture for PCOS.

Year	Author	Country	Subject	Comparison	Indicator
2011	Lim (95)	Australia	RCTs	NA	NA
2016	Lim (93)	Australia	RCTs	acupuncture VS sham acupuncture, electroacupuncture VS physical exercise, electroacupuncture VS no intervention, acupuncture VS relaxation, acupuncture VS clomiphene	live birth rate, ovulation rate, clinical pregnancy rate, restoration of menstruation, multiple pregnancy, miscarriage, and adverse events
2017	Jo (99)	South Korea	RCTs	acupuncture VS sham acupuncture, acupuncture VS no treatment, acupuncture VS other treatments	clinical pregnancy rate, live birth rate, ongoing pregnancy rate, incidence of OHSS, adverse events
2017	Jo (<mark>96</mark>)	South Korea	RCTs	acupuncture VS sham acupuncture, acupuncture VS medication, acupuncture VS no treatment	ovulation rate, menstruation rate, LH, LH/FSH ratio, testosterone, fasting insulin, and pregnancy rate
2018	Luo (101)	China	systematic reviews	NA	methodological and reporting quality
2019	Lim (<mark>91</mark>)	Australia	RCTs	acupuncture VS sham acupuncture, acupuncture VS relaxation, acupuncture VS clomiphene; low-frequency electroacupuncture VS physical exercise or no intervention, acupuncture VS Diane-35	live birth rate, multiple pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, clinical pregnancy rate, restored regular menstruation period, miscarriage rate, and adverse events
2020	Wu (22)	China	RCTs	acupuncture VS sham acupuncture, acupuncture VS clomiphene citrate, acupuncture VS letrozole, acupuncture VS metformin, acupuncture VS Daine-35, acupuncture VS Chinese medicine, acupuncture VS treatment	live birth rate, pregnancy, ovulation, recovery of menstrual period and hormone levels
2021	Zheng (100)	China	RCTs	acupuncture VS no acupuncture	body mass index, waist-to-hip ratio, fasting plasma glucose, insulin resistance, triglycerides
2021	Li (23)	China	Animal studies	acupuncture plus PCOS animals VS PCOS animals	insulin resistance, testosterone, LH, LH/FSH ratio, fasting blood sample, fasting insulin, and body weight
2022	Li (98)	China	RCTs	acupuncture combined with moxibustion plus basic treatment VS basic treatment	pregnancy, ovulation, miscarriage, sex hormones, and metabolic disorders
2022	Chen (97)	China	RCTs	acupuncture plus metformin VS metformin	pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, insulin resistance

FSH, follicular stimulating hormone; LH, luteinizing hormone; NA, not available; OHSS, ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome; RCTs, randomized controlled trials; VS, versus.

with this study, EA was found to be effective in improving insulin resistance, as well as decreasing WHR and the levels of total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol (54, 62). EA was also reported to attenuate insulin resistance by inactivating the mTOR/4E-BP1 signaling pathway in a rat model of PCOS (12). Simultaneously, EA ameliorated mitochondrial dysfunction and endoplasmic reticulum stress by enhancing autophagy. EA improved insulin sensitivity in PCOS models, and this efficacy may be associated with increased plasma insulin-like growth factor-I, increased expression of leptin and interleukin-6 (IL-6) and decreased expression of uncoupling protein 2 in visceral adipose tissue (28). Sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1 (SREBP-1) is an important transcription factor that regulates the expression of genes involved in lipogenesis and glycolysis (109). A study found that EA induced the activation of the AMPK pathway to suppress SREBP-1 expression and finally inhibited insulin resistance, mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in a PCOS rat model (56). A study investigated whether EA and manual acupuncture have different effects on insulin sensitivity in PCOS rats. They found that EA improved insulin sensitivity in soleus muscle and mesenteric adipose tissue, while manual had a greater effect on glucose tolerance (Figure 3) (38).

Glucose and lipid metabolism dysfunctions are found in most obese PCOS patients (110). In a clinical study, acupuncture treatment decreased miR-32-3p levels and increased the expression of PLA2G4A, leading to improvement in PCOS

patients with diabetes (65). Gene expression and methylation were analyzed to reveal the mechanism of EA on glucose metabolism dysfunctions in PCOS patients. The results showed that EA regulated gene expression (such as MSX1 and SRNX1) in skeletal muscle in insulin-resistant overweight/obese PCOS women (55). Interestingly, EA increased LDL cholesterol without affecting insulin sensitivity or adipose tissue function in a rat model of PCOS, which might suggest that a balance of sex hormones is necessary to restore metabolic function (47). The same research team also found that EA improved insulin sensitivity and decreased total high-density lipoprotein and LDL cholesterol in the same PCOS models (32). The protein expression of GLUT4 was found to be increased in skeletal muscle, which may be involved in the mechanism of EA on insulin sensitivity. In addition, the gut microbiota is known to be causal in the development of obesity/insulin resistance (111). A recent study showed that EA intervention decreased body weight, probably through regulating gut microbiota in PCOS rats (112). This study also demonstrated that EA can normalize visceral and subcutaneous fat content, brown adipose tissue weight, and glucose tolerance in the PCOS model.

Emotional disorders

An increased risk of depression and anxiety has been found in patients with PCOS (113, 114). It has been reported that



The effect of acupuncture on the insulin pathways. Acupuncture increases glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) expression *via* upregulating the insulin receptor substrates-1/PI3K/GLUT4 pathway, or inhibiting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway, or activating the adenosine monophosphate activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathway. Acupuncture also decreases the levels of linterleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor- α , which are involved in insulin resistance.

acupuncture can improve depression and anxiety scores in women with PCOS (37). Interestingly, a recent study revealed that EA appears to improve symptoms of anxiety and depression and regulate the serum levels of norepinephrine (NE) and serotonin (5-HT) in unmarried PCOS patients (52). Anxiety and depression are associated with an autonomic nervous system imbalance (115). Hyperactivation of the sympathetic nervous system is involved in many psychological disorders, such as anxiety and depression (116). Chronic sympathetic overactivity also plays a critical role in the pathogenesis of PCOS (117). A previous clinical study showed that lowfrequency EA decreased high muscle sympathetic nerve activity in PCOS patients (31). In addition, another study showed that the efficiency of EA was associated with activation of the sympathetic nervous system (48). In a PCOS rat model, low-frequency EA and physical exercise restored the ovarian expression of markers of sympathetic nervous system activity (30). EA intervention inhibited hyperactivity of the sympathetic nervous system in PCOS rats, which may be related to the inhibitory effects of EA on nerve growth factor (NGF) concentrations in ovaries (24). In addition, the p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75^{NTR}) plays a vital role in patterning the sympathetic nervous system during development (118). EA prevented the increase in $p75^{NTR}$ expression, probably by normalizing the sympathetic ovarian response to NGF action (27). Interestingly, the effect of EA on NGF abundance was only found in the ovaries of PCOS rats, but not in the brain (Figure 4) (26).

Acupoint selection

The conception of the acupoint is introduced in Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) as the matter that acupuncture acts on the body physiology and relieves symptoms. Increasing evidence has suggested that acupoints are mostly collagen fiber-rich regions, such as intermuscular connective tissue, perineurovascular connective tissue, and organ portal and perineural connective tissue (26). Moreover, acupoints on different meridians have different effects.

Acupoints SP6, ST29, CV6, LI4, CV3, ST36, SP9, and CV4 have been frequently used in these scientific studies (Figures 5, 6). In clinical applications, the most widely used acupoint was SP6, as it had been selected in sixteen researches. According to the theory



FIGURE 4

The effect of acupuncture on restoration of the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian (HPO) axis and amelioration of emotional disorders. Increased activity and secretion of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) with persistently high pulse frequency causes elevated levels of luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), contributing to the polycystic ovarian pathology (including impaired follicular development and excess androgen production). Elevated ovarian androgen antagonizes the ability of the progesterone to descend GnRH pulse frequency, leading to a proposed vicious cycle in the HPO axis in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). Meanwhile, androgen excess has an effect on emotion disorders of women with PCOS. Acupuncture modulates central and peripheral β -endorphin production and secretion, influencing the release of GnRH, then normalising the ratio of LH and FSH, and eventually normalising the HPO axis. Moreover, acupuncture ameliorates emotion disorders of women with PCOS through regulating serum norepinephrine, 5-hydroxytryptamine and β -endorphin levels, balancing autonomic nervous system, and inhibiting the concentrations of nerve growth factor and the expression of p75 neurotrophin receptor in ovaries. of TCM, SP6 (Sanyinjiao) is mainly characterized by the ability to nourish organs, activate blood, soothe the liver and regulate Qi, which can contribute to addressing gynecological problems. The second most involved acupoint was ST29 (Guilai), which was mentioned in fifteen studies. It promotes circulation to remove stasis, regulate menstruation and relieve pain. In addition, CV6, LI4, CV3, ST36, SP9, and CV4 were used in at least eight studies for treating women with PCOS.

Compared with clinical trials, fewer acupoints were stimulated in animal researches. EA was often applied for androgen excess-induced PCOS rat/mouse models. Among the acupoints selected for treatment, SP6 acupoint was the most commonly chosen, either alone or in association with other acupoints, which was consistent with the findings of clinical studies. Additionally, ST29 was more frequently used to mitigate hyperandrogenism and ovulatory dysfunction and to modulate the menstrual cycle. CV4 and ST36 were also frequently used to treat animals with PCOS. Acupoint ST36, in particular, has the ability to tonify Qi and circulation. It was demonstrated that acupuncture at ST36 could lower the levels of IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α) in PCOS animal serum, which might be associated with the ability of acupuncture to inhibit inflammation and oxidative stress (119).

Discussion

PCOS is a common but heterogeneous disease with symptoms that vary from age to age in patients, typically featuring chronic

oligo-anovulation, hyperandrogenism, and/or metabolic disturbance (120). The routine administration after recommending lifestyle modification and some adscititious tips is symptomatic therapy with various agents (121, 122). Patients with PCOS often suffer from a high symptom burden but low tolerance and compliance to pharmacotherapy. Additional regimens need to be explored. With the building availability of acupuncture all over the world, patients with PCOS are increasingly seeking and accepting acupuncture to maintain reproductive health (91). Our previous research manifested that acupuncture can effectively relieve anxiety and depression in patients with PCOS, and its mechanism may be related to the regulation of the levels of serum β -endorphin and androgen (123). In addition, our multinational study protocol on acupuncture or metformin to improve insulin resistance in women with PCOS has been published (124). In recent years, there have been an increasing number of systematic reviews and/or meta-analyses on the effect of acupuncture on PCOS in both patients and animal models (22, 23, 96, 100). This study reviewed the feasibility and efficacy of acupuncture for managing PCOS and summarized the potential mechanisms of acupuncture on treating PCOS. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first detailed review to address acupuncturespecific action on PCOS-related symptoms, including ovulatory dysfunction, hyperandrogenism, insulin resistance, obesity, and emotional disorders.

The disordered hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian/adrenal axis is one of the most important pathological and physiological states of PCOS (125). As the main metabolic feature of PCOS, insulin resistance is considered to be a crucial pathophysiological basis for the pathogenesis of





PCOS(107). Inhibiting phosphoinositide-3 kinase and phosphorylation of IRS-1 impairs insulin signaling by affecting GLUT-4 expression and glucose uptake (126, 127). Another vital pro-inflammatory agent relevant to the pathogenesis of PCOS is adipose tissue (128). It has been proven that adipose tissueresident macrophages lead to the release of TNF-a and IL-6, which are implicated in the induction of insulin resistance (129). Hyperandrogenism causes the aberration of adipose tissue functions in PCOS. Insulin resistance, hyperandrogenism, chronic low-grade inflammation, and adipose tissue hypertrophy and dysfunction may affect a vicious cycle in the pathophysiology of PCOS (130, 131). Evidence has shown that acupuncture elevates the level of β -endorphin not only in the central endocrine system but also in the peripheral circulation (94), which is associated with both direct and indirect tonic inhibitions of GnRH and subsequent LH release (132). Aberrant sympathetic neurogenic regulation of the ovary is involved in the pathogenesis of PCOS (23), and acupuncture can also inhibit the overexpression of NGF to decrease sympathetic activity, resulting in a restoration to the normal level of the ovarian steroid response to gonadotropins (25). Moreover, acupuncture regulates the phosphorylation of insulin substrates and receptors and inhibits the abnormal expression of signaling pathways, thereby improving metabolic dysfunction such as insulin resistance (32, 56, 133). Acupuncture may also ameliorate cholesterol metabolism, affecting lipid metabolism enzyme activity, inhibiting the synthesis of fatty acids, and then promoting fat decomposition and energy metabolism (100, 134).

Many review articles concerning PCOS and acupuncture have been published during the last 10 years (23, 132, 135–137). However, our present paper is different from those published papers. Firstly, this review summarized current available information from both clinical studies and animal studies. Secondly, the mechanisms of acupuncture on PCOS-related

main symptoms (ovulatory dysfunction, hyperandrogenism, insulin resistance, obesity, and negative emotion) were all overviewed. Thirdly, the acupoints that commonly used in PCOS patients and animals were also overviewed in this study. To our knowledge, this is the most comprehensive review that summarized current progress on acupuncture treatment for PCOS.

Some points should be noted. At present, most studies on the effect of acupuncture on PCOS are statistical comparisons, with insufficient depth and breadth of its mechanism of action. System biology and omics techniques have become a new trend, and transcriptomics technology will better analyze the specific expression factors and biological mechanisms of acupuncture treatment. Additionally, there is considerable heterogeneity in terms of animal models (dihydrotestosterone, dehydroepiandrosterone, and testosterone propionate), research intervention (acupoint selection, frequency, electrical current range, pulse width and length of stimulation) and major endpoints (live birth, multiple pregnancy rate, ovulation rate, clinical pregnancy rate, and miscarriage rate), lessening the generalizability of the results from those studies. Moreover, the majority of these studies were conducted in various phenotypes of patients and animal models with PCOS. Although the pathophysiology of the symptoms is similar between several phenotypes and models, there could be differences, making data from one not entirely applicable to the other. As a recent review reported, clinical practice and health policy underuse beneficial acupuncture therapies.

Comments and future perspectives

At present, a large number of clinical studies have confirmed that acupuncture could improve many symptoms in patients

10.3389/fendo.2022.1035929

with PCOS. These symptoms include chronic and continuous anovulation, hyperandrogenemia, insulin resistance, negative emotion, glucose and lipid metabolism dysfunction, etc. The effect of acupuncture may be induced by stimulating muscle conduction and chemical signals to induce the central release of key factors through sympathetic nerve conduction and then regulating the female reproductive axis. The selection of acupoints and EA frequency may also impact the therapeutic effect, which needs to be verified by more studies.

With recent advances in technology, the effect of acupuncture could be observed from a more microscopic point of view. Whether the clinical effect of acupuncture is associated with the traditional Chinese meridian theory is still unclear. This needs to be verified and discussed in the next few decades. Clarifying the mechanism of acupuncture in the treatment of PCOS will help to make acupuncture therapy accepted by more people.

Author contributions

YY and C-CZ contributed to writing the original draft, literature search, and data collection; H-QH contributed to figure presentation and manuscript editing; IF contributed to writing, corrections, and editing; H-LZ contributed to conceiving, designing, editing, and supervising. All authors contributed to this article and approved this submitted version.

Funding

The work was supported by the Special Grant for Capital Health Research and Development (Grant No. 2022-2-4098),

References

1. Shen H, Xu X, Fu Z, Xu C, Wang Y. The interactions of CAP and LYN with the insulin signaling transducer CBL play an important role in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Metabolism* (2022) 131:155164. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2022.155164

2. Szeliga A, Rudnicka E, Maciejewska-Jeske M, Kucharski M, Kostrzak A, Hajbos M, et al. Neuroendocrine determinants of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2022) 19:3089. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19053089

3. Palomba S. Is fertility reduced in ovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome? an opinion paper. *Hum Reprod* (2021) 36:2421-8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab181

4. Escobar-Morreale HF. Polycystic ovary syndrome: definition, aetiology, diagnosis and treatment. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2018) 14:270-84. doi: 10.1038/ nrendo.2018.24

5. Zhang J, Xin X, Zhang H, Zhu Y, Ye Y, Li D. The efficacy of Chinese herbal medicine in animal models of polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* (2022) 2022:4892215. doi: 10.1155/2022/4892215

6. Chen Z, Liu L, Xi X, Burn M, Karakaya C, Kallen AN. Aberrant H19 expression disrupts ovarian Cyp17 and testosterone production and is associated with polycystic ovary syndrome in women. *Reprod Sci* (2022) 29:1357–67. doi: 10.1007/s43032-021-00700-5

7. Schoretsanitis G, Gastaldon C, Kalaitzopoulos DR, Ochsenbein-Koelble N, Barbui C, Seifritz E. Polycystic ovary syndrome and postpartum depression: A

National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 82174151), Peking University Third Hospital "Key Young Talents" Training Program (Grant No. BYSYFY2021032). The funders have had no role in study design, and will not have any role in data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscripts.

Acknowledgments

We sincerely thank everyone in the department of traditional Chinese medicine, Peking University Third Hospital for discussion and constructive criticism. we would like to thank the BioRender for figure making.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. J Affect Disord (2022) 299:463-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.12.044

8. Osibogun O, Ogunmoroti O, Michos ED. Polycystic ovary syndrome and cardiometabolic risk: Opportunities for cardiovascular disease prevention. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* (2020) 30:399–404. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2019.08.010

9. Palomba S, De Wilde MA, Falbo A, Koster MP, La Sala GB, Fauser BC. Pregnancy complications in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod Update* (2015) 21:575–92. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv029

10. Palomba S, Piltonen TT, Giudice LC. Endometrial function in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2021) 27:584–618. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa051

11. Calcaterra V, Verduci E, Cena H, Magenes VC, Todisco CF, Tenuta E, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome in insulin-resistant adolescents with obesity: The role of nutrition therapy and food supplements as a strategy to protect fertility. *Nutrients* (2021) 13:1848. doi: 10.3390/nu13061848

12. Peng Y, Guo L, Gu A, Shi B, Ren Y, Cong J, et al. Electroacupuncture alleviates polycystic ovary syndrome-like symptoms through improving insulin resistance, mitochondrial dysfunction, and endoplasmic reticulum stress *via* enhancing autophagy in rats. *Mol Med* (2020) 26:73. doi: 10.1186/s10020-020-00198-8

13. Billhult A, Stener-Victorin E. Acupuncture with manual and low frequency electrical stimulation as experienced by women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A

qualitative study. BMC Complement Altern Med (2012) 12:32. doi: 10.1186/1472-6882-12-32

14. Ersahin AA, Caliskan E. Clomiphene citrate changes metabolite content of follicular fluid of PCOS women. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* (2018) 22:4359–62. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_201807_15434

15. Wang R, Li W, Bordewijk EM, Legro RS, Zhang H, Wu X, et al. First-line ovulation induction for polycystic ovary syndrome: An individual participant data meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2019) 25:717–32. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz029

16. Vaklavas C, Roberts BS, Varley KE, Lin NU, Liu MC, Rugo HS, et al. TBCRC 002: a phase II, randomized, open-label trial of preoperative letrozole with or without bevacizumab in postmenopausal women with newly diagnosed stage 2/3 hormone receptor-positive and HER2-negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res* (2020) 22:22. doi: 10.1186/s13058-020-01258-x

17. Palomba S, Falbo A, Zullo F, Orio FJr. Evidence-based and potential benefits of metformin in the polycystic ovary syndrome: A comprehensive review. *Endocr Rev* (2009) 30:1–50. doi: 10.1210/er.2008-0030

18. Ma RL, Deng Y, Wang YF, Zhu SY, Ding XS, Sun AJ. Short-term combined treatment with exenatide and metformin for overweight/obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Chin Med J (Engl)* (2021) 134:2882–9. doi: 10.1097/CM9.00000000001712

19. Glintborg D, Mumm H, Holst JJ, Andersen M. Effect of oral contraceptives and/or metformin on GLP-1 secretion and reactive hypoglycaemia in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Endocr Connect* (2017) 6:267–77. doi: 10.1530/EC-17-0034

20. Balen AH, Morley LC, Misso M, Franks S, Legro RS, Wijeyaratne CN, et al. The management of anovulatory infertility in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: An analysis of the evidence to support the development of global WHO guidance. *Hum Reprod Update* (2016) 22:687–708. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmw025

21. Lu L, Zhang Y, Tang X, Ge S, Wen H, Zeng J, et al. Evidence on acupuncture therapies is underused in clinical practice and health policy. *BMJ* (2022) 376: e067475. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2021-067475

22. Wu J, Chen D, Liu N. Effectiveness of acupuncture in polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Med (Baltimore)* (2020) 99:e20441. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000020441

23. Li Y, Zhang L, Gao J, Yan J, Feng X, He X, et al. Effect of acupuncture on polycystic ovary syndrome in animal models: A systematic review. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* (2021) 2021:5595478. doi: 10.1155/2021/5595478

24. Stener-Victorin E, Lundeberg T, Waldenstrom U, Manni L, Aloe L, Gunnarsson S, et al. Effects of electro-acupuncture on nerve growth factor and ovarian morphology in rats with experimentally induced polycystic ovaries. *Biol Reprod* (2000) 63:1497–503. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod63.5.1497

25. Stener-Victorin E, Lundeberg T, Cajander S, Aloe L, Manni L, Waldenstrom U, et al. Steroid-induced polycystic ovaries in rats: effect of electro-acupuncture on concentrations of endothelin-1 and nerve growth factor (NGF), and expression of NGF mRNA in the ovaries, the adrenal glands, and the central nervous system. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2003) 1:33. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-1-33

26. Bai YH, Lim SC, Song CH, Bae CS, Jin CS, Choi BC, et al. Electroacupuncture reverses nerve growth factor abundance in experimental polycystic ovaries in the rat. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* (2004) 57:80–5. doi: 10.1159/000075382

27. Manni L, Lundeberg T, Holmang A, Aloe L, Stener-Victorin E. Effect of electroacupuncture on ovarian expression of alpha (1)- and beta (2)-adrenoceptors, and p75 neurotrophin receptors in rats with steroid-induced polycystic ovaries. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2005) 3:21. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-3-21

28. Manneras L, Jonsdottir IH, Holmang A, Lonn M, Stener-Victorin E. Lowfrequency electro-acupuncture and physical exercise improve metabolic disturbances and modulate gene expression in adipose tissue in rats with dihydrotestosterone-induced polycystic ovary syndrome. *Endocrinology* (2008) 149:3559–68. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-0053

29. Feng Y, Johansson J, Shao R, Manneras L, Fernandez-Rodriguez J, Billig H, et al. Hypothalamic neuroendocrine functions in rats with dihydrotestosteroneinduced polycystic ovary syndrome: effects of low-frequency electro-acupuncture. *PloS One* (2009) 4:e6638. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006638

30. Manneras L, Cajander S, Lonn M, Stener-Victorin E. Acupuncture and exercise restore adipose tissue expression of sympathetic markers and improve ovarian morphology in rats with dihydrotestosterone-induced PCOS. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2009) 296:R1124–31. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90947.2008

31. Stener-Victorin E, Jedel E, Janson PO, Sverrisdottir YB. Low-frequency electroacupuncture and physical exercise decrease high muscle sympathetic nerve activity in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2009) 297:R387–95. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00197.2009

32. Johansson J, Feng Y, Shao R, Lonn M, Billig H, Stener-Victorin E. Intense electroacupuncture normalizes insulin sensitivity, increases muscle GLUT4 content, and improves lipid profile in a rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 299:E551–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00323.2010

33. Jedel E, Labrie F, Oden A, Holm G, Nilsson L, Janson PO, et al. Impact of electro-acupuncture and physical exercise on hyperandrogenism and oligo/ amenorrhea in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized controlled trial. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 300:E37–45. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00495.2010

34. Pastore LM, Williams CD, Jenkins J, Patrie JT. True and sham acupuncture produced similar frequency of ovulation and improved LH to FSH ratios in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96:3143–50. doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1126

35. Feng Y, Johansson J, Shao R, Manneras-Holm L, Billig H, Stener-Victorin E. Electrical and manual acupuncture stimulation affect oestrous cyclicity and neuroendocrine function in an 5alpha-dihydrotestosterone-induced rat polycystic ovary syndrome model. *Exp Physiol* (2012) 97:651–62. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2011.063131

36. Franasiak J, Young SL, Williams CD, Pastore LM. Longitudinal antimullerian hormone in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: an acupuncture randomized clinical trial. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* (2012) 2012:973712. doi: 10.1155/2012/973712

37. Stener-Victorin E, Holm G, Janson PO, Gustafson D, Waern M. Acupuncture and physical exercise for affective symptoms and health-related quality of life in polycystic ovary syndrome: secondary analysis from a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Complement Altern Med* (2013) 13:131. doi: 10.1186/1472-6882-13-131

38. Johansson J, Manneras-Holm L, Shao R, Olsson A, Lonn M, Billig H, et al. Electrical vs manual acupuncture stimulation in a rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome: Different effects on muscle and fat tissue insulin signaling. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e54357. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054357

39. Rashidi BH, Tehrani ES, Hamedani NA, Pirzadeh L. Effects of acupuncture on the outcome of *in vitro* fertilisation and intracytoplasmic sperm injection in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Acupunct Med* (2013) 31:151–6. doi: 10.1136/acupmed-2012-010198

40. Yu L, Liao Y, Wu H, Zhao J, Wu L, Shi Y, et al. Effects of electroacupuncture and Chinese kidney-nourishing medicine on polycystic ovary syndrome in obese patients. *J Tradit Chin Med* (2013) 33:287–93. doi: 10.1016/s0254-6272(13)60166-1

41. Johansson J, Redman L, Veldhuis PP, Sazonova A, Labrie F, Holm G, et al. Acupuncture for ovulation induction in polycystic ovary syndrome: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 304:E934–43. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00039.2013

42. Sun J, Jin C, Wu H, Zhao J, Cui Y, Liu H, et al. Effects of electro-acupuncture on ovarian P450arom, P450c17alpha and mRNA expression induced by letrozole in PCOS rats. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e79382. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079382

43. Zheng YH, Wang XH, Lai MH, Yao H, Liu H, Ma HX. Effectiveness of abdominal acupuncture for patients with obesity-type polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized controlled trial. *J Altern Complement Med* (2013) 19:740–5. doi: 10.1089/acm.2012.0429

44. Stener-Victorin E, Maliqueo M, Soligo M, Protto V, Manni L, Jerlhag E, et al. Changes in HbA1c and circulating and adipose tissue androgen levels in overweight-obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome in response to electroacupuncture. *Obes Sci Pract* (2016) 2:426–35. doi: 10.1002/osp4.78

45. Ramadoss M, Ramanathan G, Subbiah AJ, Natrajan C. Heart rate changes in electroacupuncture treated polycystic ovary in rats. *J Clin Diagn Res* (2016) 10: CF01–3. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2016/18303.7395

46. Benrick A, Kokosar M, Hu M, Larsson M, Maliqueo M, Marcondes RR, et al. Autonomic nervous system activation mediates the increase in whole-body glucose uptake in response to electroacupuncture. *FASEB J* (2017) 31:3288–97. doi: $10.1096/f_{1}.201601381R$

47. Maliqueo M, Benrick A, Marcondes RR, Johansson J, Sun M, Stener-Victorin E. Acupuncture does not ameliorate metabolic disturbances in the P450 aromatase inhibitor-induced rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Exp Physiol* (2017) 102:113–27. doi: 10.1113/EP085983

48. Kokosar M, Benrick A, Perfilyev A, Nilsson E, Kallman T, Ohlsson C, et al. A single bout of electroacupuncture remodels epigenetic and transcriptional changes in adipose tissue in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8:1878. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-17919-5

49. Ma T, Cui P, Tong X, Hu W, Shao LR, Zhang F, et al. Endogenous ovarian angiogenesis in polycystic ovary syndrome-like rats induced by low-frequency electro-acupuncture: The CLARITY three-dimensional approach. *Int J Mol Sci* (2018) 19:3500. doi: 10.3390/ijms19113500

50. Cui P, Ma T, Tamadon A, Han S, Li B, Chen Z, et al. Hypothalamic DNA methylation in rats with dihydrotestosterone-induced polycystic ovary syndrome: effects of low-frequency electro-acupuncture. *Exp Physiol* (2018) 103:1618–32. doi: 10.1113/EP087163

51. Shi Y, Li L, Zhou J, Sun J, Chen L, Zhao J, et al. Efficacy of electroacupuncture in regulating the imbalance of AMH and FSH to improve

follicle development and hyperandrogenism in PCOS rats. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2019) 113:108687. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.108687

52. Wang Z, Dong H, Wang Q, Zhang L, Wu X, Zhou Z, et al. Effects of electroacupuncture on anxiety and depression in unmarried patients with polycystic ovarian syndrome: secondary analysis of a pilot randomised controlled trial. *Acupunct Med* (2019) 37:40–6. doi: 10.1136/acupmed-2017-011615

53. Budihastuti UR, Melinawati E, Sulistyowati S, Nurwati I. Electroacupuncture effect on polycystic ovary syndrome to improve oocytes' growth. *Med Acupunct* (2019) 31:379–83. doi: 10.1089/acu.2019.1354

54. Rouhani M, Motavasselian M, Taghipoor A, Layegh P, Asili J, Hamedi SS, et al. Efficacy of a Persian herbal remedy and electroacupuncture on metabolic profiles and anthropometric parameters in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized controlled trial. *Galen Med J* (2019) 8:e1389. doi: 10.31661/gmj.v8i0.1389

55. Benrick A, Pillon NJ, Nilsson E, Lindgren E, Krook A, Ling C, et al. Electroacupuncture mimics exercise-induced changes in skeletal muscle gene expression in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 105:2027–41. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa165

56. Peng Y, Yang X, Luo X, Liu C, Cao X, Wang H, et al. Novel mechanisms underlying anti-polycystic ovary like syndrome effects of electroacupuncture in rats: Suppressing SREBP1 to mitigate insulin resistance, mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress. *Biol Res* (2020) 53:50. doi: 10.1186/s40659-020-00317-z

57. Li J, Wu W, Stener-Victorin E, Ng EHY, Li RHW, Li M, et al. A prospective pilot study of the effect of acupuncture on insulin sensitivity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome and insulin resistance. *Acupunct Med* (2020) 38:310–8. doi: 10.1177/0964528420902144

58. Tong X, Liu Y, Xu X, Shi J, Hu W, Ma T, et al. Ovarian innervation coupling with vascularity: The role of electro-acupuncture in follicular maturation in a rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Front Physiol* (2020) 11:474. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2020.00474

59. Xu G, Zhang A, Liu J, Wang X, Feng J, Chen Y. Effects of electroacupuncture on ovarian expression of the androgen receptor and connexin 43 in rats with letrozole-induced polycystic ovaries. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* (2020) 2020:3608062. doi: 10.1155/2020/3608062

60. Budihastuti UR, Melinawati E, Anggraini NWP, Anggraeni A, Yuliantara EE, Sulistyowati S, et al. Electroacupuncture to improve endometrial receptivity and folliculogenesis in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Med Acupunct* (2021) 33:428–34. doi: 10.1089/acu.2020.1503

61. Chen X, Tang H, Liang Y, Wu P, Xie L, Ding Y, et al. Acupuncture regulates the autophagy of ovarian granulosa cells in polycystic ovarian syndrome ovulation disorder by inhibiting the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway through LncMEG3. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2021) 144:112288. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021.112288

62. Dong HX, Wang Q, Wang Z, Wu XK, Cheng L, Zhou ZM, et al. Impact of low frequency electro-acupuncture on glucose and lipid metabolism in unmarried PCOS women: A randomized controlled trial. *Chin J Integr Med* (2021) 27:737–43. doi: 10.1007/s11655-021-3482-z

63. Wang Z, Yang L, Dong H, Dong H, Cheng L, Yi P, et al. Effect of electroacupuncture on the kisspeptin system in a pubertal rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Acupunct Med* (2021) 39:491–500. doi: 10.1177/0964528420971299

64. Xiang S, Xia MF, Song JY, Liu DQ, Lian F. Effect of electro-acupuncture on expression of IRS-1/PI3K/GLUT4 pathway in ovarian granulosa cells of infertile patients with polycystic ovary syndrome-insulin resistance of phlegm-dampness syndrome. *Chin J Integr Med* (2021) 27:330–5. doi: 10.1007/s11655-020-3219-z

65. Wu J, Chen X. Acupuncture therapy protects PCOS patients with diabetes by regulating miR-32-3p/PLA2G4A pathway. *Am J Transl Res* (2021) 13:8819–32.

66. Zhao QY, Sun Y, Zhou J, Gao YL, Ma GZ, Hu ZH, et al. Effectiveness of herb-partitioned moxibustion combined with electroacupuncture on polycystic ovary syndrome in patients with symptom pattern of kidney deficiency and phlegm-dampne. J Tradit Chin Med (2021) 41:985–93. doi: 10.19852/j.cnkl.jtcm.2021.06.017

67. Dong H, Wang Q, Cheng L, Wang Z, Wu X, Zhou Z, et al. Effect of low-frequency electro-acupuncture in unmarried women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized controlled study. *Altern Ther Health Med* (2022) 28:24-33.

68. Pan W, Li FX, Wang Q, Huang ZQ, Yan YM, Zhao L, et al. A randomized sham-controlled trial of manual acupuncture for infertile women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Integr Med Res* (2022) 11:100830. doi: 10.1016/j.imr.2021.100830

69. Zhang F, Ma T, Tong X, Liu Y, Cui P, Xu X, et al. Electroacupuncture improves metabolic and ovarian function in a rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome by decreasing white adipose tissue, increasing brown adipose tissue, and modulating the gut microbiota. *Acupunct Med* (2022) 40:347–59. doi: 10.1177/09645284211056663

70. Liao B, Qi X, Yun C, Qiao J, Pang Y. Effects of androgen excess-related metabolic disturbances on granulosa cell function and follicular development. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:815968. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.815968

71. Rodriguez Paris V, Bertoldo MJ. The mechanism of androgen actions in PCOS etiology. *Med Sci (Basel)* (2019) 7:89. doi: 10.3390/medsci7090089

72. Ryu Y, Kim SW, Kim YY, Ku SY. Animal models for human polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) focused on the use of indirect hormonal perturbations: A review of the literature. *Int J Mol Sci* (2019) 20:2720. doi: 10.3390/ijms20112720

73. Rosenfield RL, Ehrmann DA. The pathogenesis of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): The hypothesis of PCOS as functional ovarian hyperandrogenism revisited. *Endocr Rev* (2016) 37:467–520. doi: 10.1210/er.2015-1104

74. Yi Y, Liu J, Xu W. Naringenin and morin reduces insulin resistance and endometrial hyperplasia in the rat model of polycystic ovarian syndrome through enhancement of inflammation and autophagic apoptosis. *Acta Biochim Pol* (2022) 69:91–100. doi: 10.18388/abp.2020_5722

75. Sir-Petermann T, Maliqueo M, Angel B, Lara HE, Perez-Bravo F, Recabarren SE. Maternal serum androgens in pregnant women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: Possible implications in prenatal androgenization. *Hum Reprod* (2002) 17:2573–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/17.10.2573

76. Pani A, Gironi I, Di Vieste G, Mion E, Bertuzzi F, Pintaudi B. From prediabetes to type 2 diabetes mellitus in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: Lifestyle and pharmacological management. *Int J Endocrinol* (2020) 2020:6276187. doi: 10.1155/2020/6276187

77. Xu Y, Qiao J. Association of insulin resistance and elevated androgen levels with polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS): A review of literature. *J Healthc Eng* (2022) 2022:9240569. doi: 10.1155/2022/9240569

78. Singh A, Choubey M, Bora P, Krishna A. Adiponectin and chemerin: Contrary adipokines in regulating reproduction and metabolic disorders. *Reprod Sci* (2018) 25:1462–73. doi: 10.1177/1933719118770547

79. Behboudi-Gandevani S, Ramezani Tehrani F, Bidhendi Yarandi R, Noroozzadeh M, Hedayati M, Azizi F. The association between polycystic ovary syndrome, obesity, and the serum concentration of adipokines. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2017) 40:859–66. doi: 10.1007/s40618-017-0650-x

80. Moran LJ, Teede HJ, Noakes M, Clifton PM, Norman RJ, Wittert GA. Sex hormone binding globulin, but not testosterone, is associated with the metabolic syndrome in overweight and obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2013) 36:1004–10. doi: 10.3275/9023

81. Dapas M, Sisk R, Legro RS, Urbanek M, Dunaif A, Hayes MG. Family-based quantitative trait meta-analysis implicates rare noncoding variants in DENND1A in polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2019) 104:3835–50. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-02496

82. Rahimi Z, Mohammadi MSE. The CYP17 MSP AI (T-34C) and CYP19A1 (Trp39Arg) variants in polycystic ovary syndrome: A case-control study. *Int J Reprod BioMed* (2019) 17:201–8. doi: 10.18502/ijrm.v17i3.4519

83. Abu-Hijleh TM, Gammoh E, Al-Busaidi AS, Malalla ZH, Madan S, Mahmood N, et al. Common variants in the sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) gene influence SHBG levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Ann Nutr Metab* (2016) 68:66–74. doi: 10.1159/000441570

84. Nikanfar S, Hamdi K, Haiaty S, Samadi N, Shahnazi V, Fattahi A, et al. Oncostatin m and its receptor in women with polycystic ovary syndrome and association with assisted reproductive technology outcomes. *Reprod Biol* (2022) 22:100633. doi: 10.1016/j.repbio.2022.100633

85. Jamshidi M, Mohammadi Pour S, Bahadoram M, Mahmoudian-Sani MR, Saeedi Boroujeni A. Genetic polymorphisms associated with polycystic ovary syndrome among Iranian women. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet* (2021) 153:33–44. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13534

86. Eggers S, Kirchengast S. The polycystic ovary syndrome-a medical condition but also an important psychosocial problem. *Coll Antropol* (2001) 25:673-85.

87. Zhang B, Shi H, Cao S, Xie L, Ren P, Wang J, et al. Revealing the magic of acupuncture based on biological mechanisms: A literature review. *Biosci Trends* (2022) 16:73–90. doi: 10.5582/bst.2022.01039

88. Sun Y, Liu Y, Liu B, Zhou K, Yue Z, Zhang W, et al. Efficacy of acupuncture for chronic Prostatitis/Chronic pelvic pain syndrome: A randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* (2021) 174:1357–66. doi: 10.7326/M21-1814

89. Mao JJ, Liou KT, Baser RE, Bao T, Panageas KS, Romero SAD, et al. Effectiveness of electroacupuncture or auricular acupuncture vs usual care for chronic musculoskeletal pain among cancer survivors: The PEACE randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol* (2021) 7:720–7. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.0310

90. Liu Z, Yan S, Wu J, He L, Li N, Dong G, et al. Acupuncture for chronic severe functional constipation: A randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* (2016) 165:761-9. doi: 10.7326/M15-3118

91. Lim CED, Ng RWC, Cheng NCL, Zhang GS, Chen H. Acupuncture for polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2019) 7:CD007689. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007689.pub4

92. Stener-Victorin E, Jedel E, Manneras L. Acupuncture in polycystic ovary syndrome: Current experimental and clinical evidence. *J Neuroendocrinol* (2008) 20:290–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2007.01634.x

93. Lim CE, Ng RW, Xu K, Cheng NC, Xue CC, Liu JP, et al. Acupuncture for polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2016) CD007689. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007689.pub3

94. Cui J, Song W, Jin Y, Xu H, Fan K, Lin D, et al. Research progress on the mechanism of the acupuncture regulating neuro-Endocrine-Immune network system. *Vet Sci* (2021) 8:149. doi: 10.3390/vetsci8080149

95. Lim DC, Chen W, Cheng LN, Xue CC, Wong FW, O'sullivan AJ, et al. Acupuncture for polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2011) CD007689. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007689.pub2

96. Jo J, Lee YJ, Lee H. Acupuncture for polycystic ovarian syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Med (Baltimore)* (2017) 96:e7066. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000007066

97. Chen X, Lan Y, Yang L, Liu Y, Li H, Zhu X, et al. Acupuncture combined with metformin versus metformin alone to improve pregnancy rate in polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2022) 13:978280. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.978280

98. Li P, Peng J, Ding Z, Zhou X, Liang R. Effects of acupuncture combined with moxibustion on reproductive and metabolic outcomes in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* (2022) 2022:3616036. doi: 10.1155/2022/3616036

99. Jo J, Lee YJ. Effectiveness of acupuncture in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome undergoing *in vitro* fertilisation or intracytoplasmic sperm injection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acupunct Med* (2017) 35:162–70. doi: 10.1136/acupmed-2016-011163

100. Zheng R, Qing P, Han M, Song J, Hu M, Ma H, et al. The effect of acupuncture on glucose metabolism and lipid profiles in patients with PCOS: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* (2021) 2021:5555028. doi: 10.1155/2021/5555028

101. Luo YN, Zheng QH, Liu ZB, Zhang FR, Chen Y, Li Y. Methodological and reporting quality evaluation of systematic reviews on acupuncture in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: A systematic review. *Complement Ther Clin Pract* (2018) 33:197–203. doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2018.10.002

102. Dumesic DA, Hoyos LR, Chazenbalk GD, Naik R, Padmanabhan V, Abbott DH. Mechanisms of intergenerational transmission of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Reproduction* (2020) 159:R1-R13. doi: 10.1530/REP-19-0197

103. Palomba S, Daolio J, La Sala GB. Oocyte competence in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 28:186–98. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.11.008

104. Krishnan A, Muthusami S. Hormonal alterations in PCOS and its influence on bone metabolism. J Endocrinol (2017) 232:R99–R113. doi: 10.1530/JOE-16-0405

105. Stener-Victorin E, Deng Q. Epigenetic inheritance of polycystic ovary syndrome - challenges and opportunities for treatment. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* (2021) 17:521–33. doi: 10.1038/s41574-021-00517-x

106. Dong H, Wang Q, Cheng L, Wang Z, Wu X, Zhou Z, et al. Effect of lowfrequency electro-acupuncture in unmarried women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized controlled study. *Altern Ther Health Med* (2021) 28:24–33.

107. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Dunaif A. Insulin resistance and the polycystic ovary syndrome revisited: an update on mechanisms and implications. *Endocr Rev* (2012) 33:981–1030. doi: 10.1210/er.2011-1034

108. Moghetti P, Tosi F. Insulin resistance and PCOS: chicken or egg? J Endocrinol Invest (2021) 44:233-44. doi: 10.1007/s40618-020-01351-0

109. Ruiz R, Jideonwo V, Ahn M, Surendran S, Tagliabracci VS, Hou Y, et al. Sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1 (SREBP-1) is required to regulate glycogen synthesis and gluconeogenic gene expression in mouse liver. *J Biol Chem* (2014) 289:5510–7. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.541110

110. Bozdag G, Yildiz BO. Interventions for the metabolic dysfunction in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Steroids* (2013) 78:777-81. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2013.04.008

111. Giron M, Thomas M, Dardevet D, Chassard C, Savary-Auzeloux I. Gut microbes and muscle function: Can probiotics make our muscles stronger? *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* (2022) 13:1460–76. doi: 10.1002/jcsm.12964

112. Zhang F, Ma T, Tong X, Liu Y, Cui P, Xu X, et al. Electroacupuncture improves metabolic and ovarian function in a rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome by decreasing white adipose tissue, increasing brown adipose tissue, and modulating the gut microbiota. *Acupunct Med* (2021) 40:347–59. doi: 10.1177/09645284211056663

113. Yin X, Ji Y, Chan CLW, Chan CHY. The mental health of women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Womens Ment Health* (2021) 24:11–27. doi: 10.1007/s00737-020-01043-x

114. Rodriguez-Paris D, Remlinger-Molenda A, Kurzawa R, Glowinska A, Spaczynski R, Rybakowski F, et al. Psychiatric disorders in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Psychiatr Pol* (2019) 53:955–66. doi: 10.12740/PP/ OnlineFirst/93105

115. Kiani AK, Maltese PE, Dautaj A, Paolacci S, Kurti D, Picotti PM, et al. Neurobiological basis of chiropractic manipulative treatment of the spine in the care of major depression. *Acta BioMed* (2020) 91:e2020006. doi: 10.23750/abm.v91i13-S.10536

116. Ito K, Hirooka Y, Matsukawa R, Nakano M, Sunagawa K. Decreased brain sigma-1 receptor contributes to the relationship between heart failure and depression. *Cardiovasc Res* (2012) 93:33–40. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr255

117. Lansdown A, Rees DA. The sympathetic nervous system in polycystic ovary syndrome: a novel therapeutic target? *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)* (2012) 77:791–801. doi: 10.1111/cen.12003

118. Hickman FE, Stanley EM, Carter BD. Neurotrophin responsiveness of sympathetic neurons is regulated by rapid mobilization of the p75 receptor to the cell surface through TrkA activation of Arf6. *J Neurosci* (2018) 38:5606–19. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0788-16.2018

119. Oh JE, Kim SN. Anti-inflammatory effects of acupuncture at ST36 point: A literature review in animal studies. *Front Immunol* (2021) 12:813748. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.813748

120. Rotterdam Ea-SPCWG. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2004) 81:19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2003.10.004

121. Moran LJ, Tassone EC, Boyle J, Brennan L, Harrison CL, Hirschberg AL, et al. Evidence summaries and recommendations from the international evidencebased guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: Lifestyle management. *Obes Rev* (2020) 21:e13046. doi: 10.1111/obr.13046

122. Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L, et al. Recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2018) 110:364–79. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.05.004

123. Zhang HL, Huo ZJ, Wang HN, Wang W, Chang CQ, Shi L, et al. Acupuncture ameliorates negative emotion in PCOS patients: a randomized controlled trial. *Zhongguo Zhen Jiu* (2020) 40:385–90. doi: 10.13703/j.0255-2930.20191231-k0005

124. Stener-Victorin E, Zhang H, Li R, Friden C, Li D, Wang W, et al. Acupuncture or metformin to improve insulin resistance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: Study protocol of a combined multinational cross sectional case-control study and a randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open* (2019) 9: e024733. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024733

125. Baskind NE, Balen AH. Hypothalamic-pituitary, ovarian and adrenal contributions to polycystic ovary syndrome. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* (2016) 37:80–97. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2016.03.005

126. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Papavassiliou AG. Molecular mechanisms of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Mol Med* (2006) 12:324–32. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2006.05.006

127. Petersen MC, Shulman GI. Mechanisms of insulin action and insulin resistance. *Physiol Rev* (2018) 98:2133–223. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00063.2017

128. Makki K, Froguel P, Wolowczuk I. Adipose tissue in obesity-related inflammation and insulin resistance: cells, cytokines, and chemokines. *ISRN Inflammation* (2013) 2013:139239. doi: 10.1155/2013/139239

129. Tilg H, Moschen AR. Inflammatory mechanisms in the regulation of insulin resistance. *Mol Med* (2008) 14:222–31. doi: 10.2119/2007-00119.Tilg

130. Sadeghi HM, Adeli I, Calina D, Docea AO, Mousavi T, Daniali M, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome: A comprehensive review of pathogenesis, management, and drug repurposing. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23:583. doi: 10.3390/ ijms23020583

131. Armanini D, Boscaro M, Bordin L, Sabbadin C. Controversies in the pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment of PCOS: Focus on insulin resistance, inflammation, and hyperandrogenism. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23:4110. doi: 10.3390/ijms23084110

132. Johansson J, Stener-Victorin E. Polycystic ovary syndrome: effect and mechanisms of acupuncture for ovulation induction. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* (2013) 2013:762615. doi: 10.1155/2013/762615

133. Yin J, Kuang J, Chandalia M, Tuvdendorj D, Tumurbaatar B, Abate N, et al. Hypoglycemic effects and mechanisms of electroacupuncture on insulin resistance. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2014) 307:R332–9. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00465.2013

134. Bi Y, Yin B, Fan G, Xia Y, Huang J, Li A, et al. Effects of acupoint therapy on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Complement Ther Clin Pract* (2021) 43:101376. doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2021.101376

135. Stener-Victorin E. Hypothetical physiological and molecular basis for the effect of acupuncture in the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2013) 373:83–90. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.01.006

136. Wu Y, Robinson N, Hardiman PJ, Taw MB, Zhou J, Wang FF, et al. Acupuncture for treating polycystic ovary syndrome: guidance for future randomized controlled trials. *J Zhejiang Univ Sci B* (2016) 17:169–80. doi: 10.1631/jzus.B1500301

137. Stener-Victorin E. Acupuncture for infertility in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: What does it add? *Semin Reprod Med* (2017) 35:353-8. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1606570

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Palomba, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY Dina H. Kassem, Ain Shams University, Egypt Johannes Ott, Medical University of Vienna, Austria

*CORRESPONDENCE Yang Zhang yangzhang83@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 22 September 2022 ACCEPTED 12 October 2022 PUBLISHED 27 October 2022

CITATION

Shen W, Qu Y, Jiang H, Wang H, Pan Y, Zhang Y, Wu X, Han Y and Zhang Y (2022) Therapeutic effect and safety of curcumin in women with PCOS: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1051111. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1051111

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shen, Qu, Jiang, Wang, Pan, Zhang, Wu, Han and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Therapeutic effect and safety of curcumin in women with PCOS: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Wenjuan Shen^{1†}, Yangfan Qu^{2†}, Huan Jiang², Hongwei Wang², Yujia Pan³, Yuehui Zhang¹, Xiaoke Wu¹, Yanhua Han¹ and Yang Zhang⁴*

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, First Affiliated Hospital of Heilongjiang University of Chinese Medicine, Harbin, China, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Heilongjiang University of Chinese Medicine, Harbin, China, ³Department of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Cixi People's Hospital Medical and Health Group, Cixi, China, ⁴Department of Internal Medicine, First Affiliated Hospital of Heilongjiang University of Chinese Medicine, Harbin, China

Background: Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a multi-factorial heterogeneous syndrome that has both adverse reproductive and metabolic implications for affected women and its management is a challenging clinical problem. Curcumin, as a phenolic compound with potent anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties exerting positive effects on the lipid profile and insulin resistance, appears to be a valuable treatment regimen for patients with PCOS.

Objective: This study aimed to evaluate the efficacy and safety of curcumin in the treatment of PCOS.

Methods: Chinese databases (Chinese National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Biology Medicine Databases, VIP database, Wanfang Database, and Chinese Clinical Trial Registry) and English databases (PubMed, Web of Science, Embase, Cochrane Library, Scopus and Clinical trials) were thoroughly investigated through screening randomized controlled trials on curcumin in PCOS published from the date of inception to May 2022. Standardized data search and abstraction were conducted following the preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analysis (PRISMA) statement. Quantitative and qualitative analyses were performed. Heterogeneity was assessed using I² statistics.

Results: A total of 447 patients from seven randomized controlled trials were included in the meta-analysis. Results showed that the ingestion of curcumin decreased body mass index (WMD -0.267, 95% CI -0.450 to -0.084, P = 0.004, $I^2 = 0.0\%$), fasting plasma glucose (WMD -3.618, 95% CI -5.165 to -2.071, P < 0.001, $I^2 = 20.4\%$), insulin (WMD -1.834, 95% CI -2.701 to -0.968, P < 0.001, $I^2 = 8.4\%$), homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance (WMD -0.565, 95% CI -0.779 to -0.351, P < 0.001, $I^2 = 0.0\%$), total cholesterol (WMD -15.591, 95% CI -27.908 to -3.273, P = 0.013, $I^2 = 68.9\%$), C-reactive protein (WMD -0.785,

95% CI -1.553 to -0.017, P = 0.045, I² = 23.9%), and increased the quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (WMD 0.011, 95% CI 0.005 to 0.017, P = 0.001, $I^2 = 39.6\%$). As for safety, the treatment group did not cause significant adverse reactions than that in the control group.

Conclusion: In light of presented findings, curcumin has beneficial effects on serum markers of inflammation, weight loss and glucose and lipid metabolism in patients with PCOS. The incidence of adverse reactions does not increase with the application of curcumin. However, a larger, more definitive study is needed to further investigate these results.

Systematic review registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/, identifier CRD42022332394.

KEYWORDS

curcumin, polycystic ovary syndrome, meta-analysis, systematic review, complementary therapy

Background

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), the most common endocrine disorder, is characterized by ovulatory dysfunction, hyperandrogenism, and polycystic ovaries. At present, the incidence of PCOS is from 6% to 25% in women of reproductive age worldwide (1, 2), of which the prevalence in China is 7.8%, and it has increased by 65% in the past 10 years (3). In addition, PCOS has been linked to a number of higher risks of metabolic disorders, including insulin resistance (IR), glucose intolerance, type 2 diabetes, obesity, dyslipidemia, and cardiovascular diseases (4). Among them, cardio metabolic diseases such as myocardial infarction and stroke, are major causes of death in women (5).

As a global epidemic disease, obesity is a 21st-century major public health challenge (6). Despite adiposity is not a defining criterion for PCOS, rates of obesity are estimated to be 2.8 times higher in PCOS than in the general population, with a prevalence of 50-80% (7). Excess adiposity, particularly around the abdomen, causes insulin resistance, a critical etiological component to PCOS (8, 9). Insulin resistance and consequent hyperinsulinemia lead to hyperandrogenism by acting on the adrenal gland, ovaries and liver to increase androgen production and decrease sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) (10). In addition, androgen excess has been shown to induce visceral fat accumulation and possibly adipose tissue dysfunction (11). Meanwhile, some studies have found hyperandrogenism aggravates the symptoms of insulin resistance, leading to a vicious cycle that promotes PCOS development.

Over the recent years, numerous preclinical and clinical studies have demonstrated that PCOS is associated with a chronic inflammatory state, inflammatory cytokines in PCOS patients can induce adipocyte proliferation by modulation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) signaling (12, 13). Excessive inflammatory factors also produce redundant reactive oxygen species (ROS) and disrupt internal ROS homeostasis, thereafter inhibit insulin signaling and insulin-mediated glucose transport, aggravating insulin resistance (14). Decreasing plasma insulin level and ameliorating insulin resistance not only leads to an improvement in reproductive abnormalities, but also probably reduces the future risk of developing diabetes and cardiovascular disease in PCOS women (15). Besides lifestyle intervention, metformin, a biguanide, is a commonly prescribed agent for the management of PCOS (16). It works by inhibiting hepatic glucose production, reducing intestinal glucose absorption and improving glucose metabolism (17). However, it has been observed that 20-30% of people receiving metformin therapy develop gastrointestinal side effects, with approximately 5% being unable to tolerate metformin at all (18). Fortunately, complementary and phytomedicines medicines have shown satisfactory results to cure PCOS.

Curcumin (diferuloylmethane) is a natural polyphenol extracted from the roots of Curcuma longa (Zingiberaceae). For many years, as an Indian spice, it has been widely used as food additives, food pigments and seasonings (19). In view of its anti-inflammatory, hypolipidemic and anti-anxiety activities, it is also used to treat a variety of chronic diseases, such as diabetes, depression and so on (20). With the

deepening of research, a lot of evidence shows that curcumin is a natural regulator and protector in the process of female reproduction (21). Continuous (up to 4 months) and highdose (up to 12 grams in human body) use of curcumin is also quite safe (22, 23). Curcumin has obvious protective effect on ovarian tissue. In fact, this compound seems to be involved in inhibiting the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), a proangiogenic factor closely related to the formation of PCOS, thereby inhibiting ovarian angiogenesis, preventing ovarian fibrosis and promoting matrix degradation (24). Nanocurcumin can significantly improve oxidative markers, glucose index and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) level, restore phosphoinositol 3 kinase (PI3k)/threonine kinase (Akt)/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) level, and then reduce insulin resistance and maintain the integrity of islet function (25).

Many clinical trials have shown that curcumin supplementation has a beneficial effect on improving insulin levels (26, 27). The latest clinical trial on the potential effectiveness of curcumin on PCOS also unanimously showed that Curcuma longa (CL) can increase insulin sensitivity in patients with PCOS (28). Although these findings are not supported by other studies (29). And most of the existing systematic reviews have observed the efficacy of curcumin and paid more attention to the effect of curcumin on blood glucose control and blood lipid level of PCOS, but there is a lack of the latest systematic review to evaluate safety of curcumin as an intervention group. Given the growing interest in alternative and complementary therapies and the global burden of PCOS, we attempt to provide an updated summary of the efficacy and safety on PCOS.

Materials and methods

This systematic review was conducted following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Metaanalysis (PRISMA) statement (30) and the study protocol was registered on PROSPERO (CRD42022332394).

Search strategy

Eligible literature published up to May 2022 was identified through a search in PubMed, Embase, Cochrane Library, Web of Science, Scopus, Clinical Trials, Chinese Clinical Trial Registry, Chinese Biomedical Literature Database (CBM), Chinese National knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), VIP database, and Wanfang Database, and an additional search of grey literature and missed references to help minimise publication bias. The search strategy consisted of medical subject headings (MeSH) as well as free words and was slightly adjusted for the syntax appropriate for the different databases without restriction to race, ethnicity, or language. Details of the search strategies are presented in the Supplementary Appendix 1.

Eligibility criteria

Studies were considered eligible if they met the following criteria: 1) parallel-assignment randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of evaluation of the effects of curcumin on PCOS; 2) all patients, at any age, had PCOS as classified by the revised European Society for Human Reproduction and Embryology/ American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ESHRE/ASRM) diagnosis, which were based on the Rotterdam criteria; 3) the interventions included curcumin/Curcuma longa or curcumin/ Curcuma longa combined with medication (unlimited dosage form, dose, or duration); 4) the control group should be placebo or medication; and 5) the trial gives enough information to conduct the effect estimates for meta-analysis. Exclusion criteria were as follows: 1) editorials, reviews, book chapter, letter, metaanalyses, observational study, animal experiments and so on; 2) women who had other pathologies such as congenital adrenal hyperplasia, Cushing's syndrome, thyroid hormone abnormalities, hyperprolactinemia, ovarian/adrenal tumors or any severe medical problem or any neurological or psychiatric history.

Two investigators independently performed the eligibility assessment on the basis of inclusion, and any disagreement was resolved by discussion. After deletion of duplicates, they screened all titles and abstracts for primary screening. Subsequently, the full texts of remaining articles were scrutinized to determine eligible studies.

Data extraction

Two researchers independently scrutinized each eligible article, extracted data and cross-checked the results to ensure the data accuracy. Any discrepancy was resolved through discussion to reach consensus. The following parameters were collected from each study: basic information of the articles (first author, publication year, country), participants (race, mean age, and sample size), curcumin characteristics (dose, frequency, treatment duration and route of administration), comparison methods, every outcome parameter and adverse effects. For studies with missing or ambiguous data, if possible, we will attempt to contact the first or corresponding author *via* telephone or email for clarification or addition to ensure the integrity of the data.

Risk-of-bias assessment

Two authors used the Cochrane risk of bias tool to assess methodological quality of RCTs, which included the following seven specified domains: random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of participants and personnel, blinding of outcome assessment, incomplete outcome data, selective reporting, and other bias. Each reviewer appraised bias according to the specific content within each item, designating a low, high, or unclear risk of bias by answering yes, no or unclear. Disagreements between the two reviewers were resolved through discussion or by consulting a third author until there was 100% agreement.

Statistical analyses

All statistical analyses were conducted with Stata software, version 14.0 (StataCorp) in accordance to the guidelines described in the Cochrane Handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. For dichotomous variables, the odds ratio (OR) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs) was calculated to summarize the difference between the groups. For continuous data, the results were presented as weighted mean difference (WMD) together with 95% CI of changes before and after the therapy in the curcumin group with those in the control group. Since some studies used different measures for the same outcome (e.g., AST and ALT), we calculated the standardized mean difference (SMD) (31). Heterogeneity among the included studies was estimated using Q statistic and the I2 statistic, results were deemed as low heterogeneity (I2 < 25%), medium heterogeneity (I2 = 25%-50%), or high heterogeneity (I2 > 50%) (32). Owing to the clinical heterogeneity inherent in our data such as ethnic differences, different use of curcumin preparations as well as duration of treatment, and so forth, random-effects models were performed for calculating pooled effect measures. We also conducted a sensitivity analysis to test the robustness of the findings.

Results

Study selection

Three hundred and eleven potentially relevant papers were imported into NoteExpress after searches across databases. After removal of duplicates across databases and reviewing of titles and abstracts, 158 papers were deemed to be of potential interest for



further consideration and full texts were retrieved. Review of the full text rapidly eliminated the majority of studies and in all 7 RCTs (26–29, 33–35) met the eligibility requirements and were included in the meta-analysis. The literature selection process is depicted in Figure 1.

Study characteristics

The main characteristics of the included studies in the present meta-analysis are described in Table 1. Overall, a total

TABLE 1 The characteristics of the included studies.

of 447 participants in the 7 RCTs that were conducted in Iran, Turkey and China was analyzed. Among the 7 included studies, 5 studies compared curcumin/CL water decoction with placebo (26, 28, 29, 33, 34), 2 studies compared curcumin/CL water decoction plus metformin with metformin alone (27, 35). The dosage of curcumin ranged from 80 to 1500 mg/day and CL water decoction's dosage was 90ml/day, the duration of the intervention varied from 6 weeks to 6 months. Primary outcome measures included fasting blood glucose (FBG), insulin (INS), homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) and C-reactive protein (CRP).

Reference	Nation	Sample size (T/C)	Mean age (T/C)	Intervention	Comparison	Dosage (T/C)	Treatment duration	Outcomes	Adverse reaction
Jamilian M 2020 (<mark>26</mark>)	Iran	24/26	28.6 ± 4.7/27.2 ± 3.4	Curcumin	Placebo	Curcumin 500mg, qd/ Placebo Nr	12 weeks	Weight, BMI, FBG, INS, QUICKI, HOMA-IR, T, DHEAS, LH, FSH, LH/ FSH, TG, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C	Nr
Sohrevardi SM2021 (27)	Iran	48/50	29 ± 2/ 28.8 ± 2.46	Curcumin +Metformin	Metformin	Curcumin 80mg, qd Metformin 500mg, tid/ Metformin 500mg, tid	12 weeks	Weight, BMI, FBG, INS, QUICKI, HOMA-IR, T, DHEAS, LH, FSH, LH/ FSH, TG, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C	Nr
Sohaei S 2019 (29)	Iran	27/24	29.40 ± 5.33/ 29.58 ± 5	Curcumin	Placebo	Curcumin 500mg, bid/ Placebo Nr	6 weeks	Weight, BMI, FBG, INS, QUICKI, HOMA-IR, TG, TC, LDL-C, HDL- C, CRP	Nr
Asan SA 2020 (33)	Turkey	15/15	27.6 ± 3.6/28.3 ± 5.9	Curcumin	Placebo	Curcumin 93.34mg/ Placebo Nr	8 weeks	Weight, WC, BMI, FBG, INS, HOMA-IR, T, DHEAS, LH, FSH, TG, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C, CRP	Nr
Heshmati J 2021 (<mark>34</mark>)	Iran	34/33	30.97 ± 5.20/ 30.75 ± 7.97	Curcumin	Placebo	Curcumin 500mg, tid/ Placebo 500mg, tid	12 weeks	WC, BMI, FBG, INS, Quicki, Homa-ir, Dheas, LH, FSH	Nr
Wu JL 2022 (28)	China	47/44	27.06 ± 4.99/ 27.16 ± 4.87	CL water decoction	Placebo	CL water decoction 45ml, bid/ Placebo 45ml, bid	6 months	BMI, WHR, FBG, INS, Glu120, Ins120, HbA1c, HOMA-IR, LH/FSH, FAI, RBC, WBC, Cr, ALT, AST	T: pruritus $(n = 1)$, edema $(n = 1)$, nausea (n = 1), dizzy $(n = 1)C: none$
Wu JL 2020 (35)	China	30/30	26.1 ± 4.9/25. 6 ± 5.0	CL water decoction+ Metformin	Metformin	CL water decoction 45ml, bid Metformin 0.85g, bid/ Metformin 0.85g, bid	3 months	BMI, WHR, FBG, INS, Glu120, Ins120, HbA1c, HOMA-IR, LH/FSH, FAI, TG, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C, RBC, WBC, Cr, ALT, AST	T:nausea (n = 2), Bloating (n = 2), diarrhea (n = 2), constipation (n=3), dizzy (n = 2), pruritus (n = 5), edema (n=1) C: nausea (n = 2), Bloating (n = 2), diarrhea (n = 3), constipation (n=1), dizzy (n = 1), pruritus (n = 3)

CL, Curcuma Longa; WC, waist circumference; BMI, body mass index; WHR, waist-to-hip ratio; FBG, fasting blood glucose; INS, insulin; QUICKI, quantitative insulin sensitivity check index; Glu120, Blood glucose at 2 h after OGTT; Ins120, Insulin at 2 h after OGTT; HbA1c, Glycosylated hemoglobin A1c; HOMA-IR, Homeostatic model assessment for insulin resistance; T, testosterone; DHEAS, dehydroepiandrosterone-sulfate; LH, luteinizing hormone; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; LH/FSH, luteinizing hormone/follicle-stimulating hormone; FAI, free androgen index; TG, triglycerides; TC, Total Cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; CRP, C-reactive protein; RBC, red blood cell; WBC, white blood cell; Cr, Creatinine; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; Nr, not report; ±, operator symbol, values are expressed as mean ± SD.

Risk-of-bias assessment

Figure 2 summarizes the risk of bias of the included studies according to the pre-defined criteria in Cochrane handbook. Adequate randomized sequence generation was reported in all included trials except one (33). Most randomized trials did not report whether allocation was concealed (26, 27, 33, 35), and participants were not blinded to randomization 3 trials (27, 33, 35). 2 studies (29, 34) specified that the evaluators of outcome assessors were blinded and were given a low risk of bias. There was a low risk of bias of incomplete outcome data, selective reporting, and other sources in all studies. We did not assess funnel plots for publication bias because fewer than 10 studies were included in the meta-analysis.

Outcome measures

Effect of curcumin on anthropometric parameters

4 studies (26, 27, 29, 33) with 229 patients were involved in this analysis. The result reported apparent trend for curcumin to decrease weight in PCOS patients and there was a medium degree of heterogeneity (WMD -0.924, 95% CI -2.009 to 0.162, P = 0.095, $I^2 = 45.2\%$, Figure 3A). Only two RCTs (33, 34) reported waist circumference (WC), there was no significant difference in WC of the intervention groups when compared with the placebo groups, and with high heterogeneity (WMD -1.475, 95% CI -4.519 to 1.570, P = 0.342, $I^2 = 81.6\%$, Figure 3B).



	Study ID	WMD (95% CI)	% Weight
	Perfumient I		
A	Body weight Sohrevardi (2021)	0.00 (-1.82, 1.82)	0.37
	Jamilian (2020)	-0.60 (-1.02, 1.02)	
	Asan (2020)	-2.60 (-4.32, -0.88)	
	Sohaei (2019)	-0.05 (-6.41, 6.31)	
	Subtotal (I-squared = 45.2%, p = 0.140)	-0.92 (-2.01, 0.16)	
		-0.32 (-2.01, 0.10)	5.02
В	WC		
	Asan (2020)	-3.10 (-5.17, -1.03)	
	Heshmati (2021)	0.01 (-1.60, 1.62)	0.47
	Subtotal (I-squared = 81.6%, p = 0.020)	-1.47 (-4.52, 1.57)	0.76
с	BMI		
C	Sohrevardi (2021)	-0.63 (-1.66, 0.40)	1 13
	Jamilian (2020)	-0.20 (-0.40, -0.00)	
	Asan (2020)	-0.80 (-1.44, -0.16)	
	Sohaei (2019)		0.22
	Heshmati (2021)	-0.67 (-2.93, 1.59)	
	Wu (2022)		0.30
	Wu (2022)	-0.40 (-3.00, 2.20)	
	Subtotal (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.699)	-0.40 (-3.00, 2.20) -0.27 (-0.45, -0.08)	
		-0.27 (-0.45, -0.08)	22.07
D	WHR		
	Wu (2022)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.01)	
	Wu (2020)	-0.04 (-0.09, 0.01)	
	Subtotal (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.520)	-0.02 (-0.05, 0.00)	/1.56
	Overall (I-squared = 58.3%, p = 0.002)	-0.14 (-0.25, -0.03)	100.00
	NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis		
	-6.41 I	6.41	

7 trials (26–29, 33–35) evaluated the effects of curcumin on body mass index (BMI) in this review, there were 225 patients in the intervention group and 222 in the control group. Meta-analysis revealed a significant BMI-lowering effect favoring the experimental group compared to the control group (WMD -0.267, 95% CI -0.450 to -0.084, P = 0.004, I² = 0.0%, Figure 3C). 2 studies (28, 35) analyzed the effects of CL water decoction on waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) in PCOS patients. Compared with the control group, there was no significant difference in WHR in the intervention group (WMD -0.024, 95% CI -0.048 to 0.000, P = 0.052, I² = 0.0%, Figure 3D).

Effect of curcumin on CRP

The level of CRP was evaluated in the 2 trials comparing curcumin with placebo (29, 33). The meta-analysis revealed a significant reduction by the treatment of curcumin (WMD -0.785, 95% CI -1.553 to -0.017, P = 0.045, $I^2 = 23.9\%$, Figure 4).

Effect of curcumin on glucose metabolism

As illustrated in Figure 5A, a significant decrease of PCOS patients' FBG was observed after curcumin treatment comparing to that of the control group, there was a low degree of

heterogeneity across the study data (WMD -3.618, 95% CI -5.165 to -2.071, P < 0.001, $I^2 = 20.4\%$). Figure 5B displays the effects of curcumin on INS across 7 RCTs (26-29, 33-35), the study data has low heterogeneity. Compared with the control group, PCOS patients treated with curcumin/CL water decoction had significantly lower INS (WMD -1.834, 95% CI -2.701 to -0.968, P < 0.001, $I^2 = 8.4\%$). The effect of curcumin on quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (QUICKI) was evaluated in 4 studies (26, 27, 29, 34). Compared with the control condition, a significant improvement on QUICKI was observed by the experimental group (WMD 0.011, 95% CI 0.005 to 0.017, P < 0.001, $I^2 = 39.6\%$, Figure 5C). For HOMA-IR, 7 studies (26-29, 33-35) involving 447 subjects suggested a significant improvement effect by the treatment group compared with the control group (WMD -0.565, 95% CI -0.779 to -0.351, P < 0.001, $I^2 = 0.0\%$, Figure 5D). Blood glucose at 2 h after OGTT (Glu120) was evaluated in two studies (28, 35) that compared CL water decoction/CL water decoction plus metformin with placebo/metformin alone. There was not strong evidence that the treatment group had an effect on improving Glu120 because of no statistical difference (WMD -0.063, 95% CI -2.307 to 2.181, P = 0.956, I² = 87.4%, Figure 5E). Meta-analysis of 2 studies (28, 35) involving 151 patients showed that no significant difference between the treatment group and the control group was identified on the level of insulin at 2 h after OGTT (Ins120) (WMD -12.445, 95% CI -44.384 to 19.494, P = 0.445, $I^2 = 0.0\%$, Figure 5F). As shown in Figure 5G, when the





treatment group was compared with the control group, there was no significant difference in the level of glycosylated hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) between the two groups (WMD -0.042, 95% CI -0.471 to 0.387, P = 0.849, $I^2 = 56.8\%$) (28, 35).

Effect of curcumin on lipid metabolism

5 trials (26, 27, 29, 33, 35) evaluated the effects of curcumin on the level of total cholesterol (TC). Meta-analysis showed that curcumin/CL water decoction significantly decreased the level of TC in patients with PCOS (WMD -15.591, 95% CI -27.908 to -3.273, P = 0.013, I² = 68.9%, Figure 6A). The whole five data (26, 27, 29, 33, 35) were pooled and significant improving effects of curcumin on triglycerides (TG) (WMD -8.889, 95% CI -27.246 to 9.468, P = 0.343, I² = 91.5%, Figure 6B), lowdensity lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) (WMD -6.427, 95% CI -17.343 to 4.489, P = 0.249, I² = 78.8%, Figure 6C) and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) (WMD 3.713, 95% CI -0.786 to 8.211, P = 0.106, I² = 81.3%, Figure 6D) were not identified compared to the control group. The heterogeneities in the study data of TG, LDL-C and HDL-C were all high.

Effect of curcumin on hormone parameters

There was significant heterogeneity across the study data, and our result revealed curcumin had no significant effect on improving testosterone (T) level of PCOS patients in comparison with the control group (WMD -0.128, 95% CI -0.383 to 0.127, P = 0.326, $I^2 = 98.6\%$, Figure 7A). Random effects meta-analysis found no significant effect for curcumin reducing level of dehydroepiandrosterone-sulfate (DHEA) in comparison with the control group (WMD -8.239, 95% CI -30.260 to 13.781, P = 0.463, $I^2 = 62.3\%$, Figure 7B). As shown in Figures 7C, D, pooling 3 RCTs (27, 33, 34) together did not show any significant change in luteinizing hormone (LH) (WMD -0.003, 95% CI -0.007 to 0.000, P = 0.087, $I^2 = 0.0\%$) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) (WMD 0.002, 95% CI -0.024 to 0.029, P = 0.854, $I^2 = 0.0\%$) of PCOS patients after curcumin treatment comparing to that of control group. Compared to the control group, an evident improvement on LH/FSH was not observed by curcumin in 3 studies (WMD -0.114, 95% CI -0.311 to 0.084, P = 0.259, $I^2 = 0.0\%$, Figure 7E) (27, 28, 35). In terms of ameliorating free androgen index (FAI), there was not a significant difference between the intervention



	Study ID		WMD (95% CI)	% Weight
А	T Sohrevardi (2021)		-0.26 (-0.32, -0.20)	5.08
	Asan (2020)	1	0.00 (-0.00, 0.00)	39.09
	Subtotal (I-squared = 98.6%, p = 0.000)	l l	-0.13 (-0.38, 0.13)	44.17
В	DHEA			
D	Sohrevardi (2021)		3.30 (-9.15, 15.75)	0.00
	Asan (2020)		-1.80 (-47.59, 43.99)	0.00
	Heshmati (2021)		-26.53 (-48.67, -4.39)	
	Subtotal (I-squared = 62.3%, p = 0.070)		-8.24 (-30.26, 13.78)	0.00
•				
С	LH Sohrevardi (2021)		-0.40 (-1.32, 0.52)	0.02
	Asan (2020)		0.10 (-4.86, 5.06)	0.02
	Heshmati (2021)		-0.00 (-0.01, 0.00)	38.11
	Subtotal (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.699)	T	-0.00 (-0.01, 0.00)	38.13
			-0.00 (-0.01, 0.00)	30.13
D	FSH			
	Sohrevardi (2021)	T.	0.10 (-1.31, 1.51)	0.01
	Asan (2020)	1	1.20 (-1.70, 4.10)	0.00
	Heshmati (2021)	1 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	0.00 (-0.02, 0.03)	17.11
	Subtotal (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.714)		0.00 (-0.02, 0.03)	17.12
E	LH/FSH			
	Sohrevardi (2021)	†	0.00 (-0.44, 0.44)	0.11
	Wu (2022)	†	-0.04 (-0.35, 0.27)	0.22
	Wu (2020)	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	-0.25 (-0.57, 0.07)	0.21
	Subtotal (I-squared = 0.0%, p = 0.551)		-0.11 (-0.31, 0.08)	0.54
F	FAI			
	Wu (2022)	1	0.15 (-0.80, 1.10)	0.02
	Wu (2020)	1	-0.77 (-1.94, 0.40)	0.02
	Subtotal (I-squared = 30.0%, p = 0.232)	Ŷ	-0.25 (-1.14, 0.65)	0.04
	Overall (I-squared = 82.8%, p = 0.000)		-0.01 (-0.03, -0.00)	100.00
	NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis			
	-48.7	0	48.7	

group and the control group (WMD -0.245, 95% CI -1.138 to 0.647, P = 0.590, $I^2 = 30.0\%$, Figure 7F).

Adverse events

2 studies (28, 35) were included that evaluated the influence of curcumin on red blood cell (RBC), white blood cell (WBC) and creatinine (Cr). Meta-analyses found no obvious improvement on the level of RBC (WMD 0.077, 95% CI -0.124 to 0.279, P = 0.452, I² = 0.0%, Figure 8A), WBC (WMD 0.180, 95% CI -0.303 to 0.663, P = 0.465, I² = 0.0%, Figure 8B) and Cr (WMD 0.592, 95% CI -2.980 to 4.163, P = 0.745, I² = 0.0%, Figure 8C) in PCOS women after treatment with curcumin versus the comparison group. Meta-analysis of three studies (27, 28, 35) assessed the effect of curcumin on alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and aspartate aminotransferase (AST), there was no significant difference in ALT (SMD -0.325, 95% CI -1.124 to 0.473, P = 0.424, I² = 89.6%, Figure 8D) and AST (SMD -0.350, 95% CI -0.766 to 0.066, P = 0.099, I² = 62.6%, Figure 8E) between the groups. Two of the enrolled studies included adverse events, the meta-analysis showed that it was not more possible for curcumin to cause adverse events, it may be a safe therapeutic method (OR 2.215, 95% CI 0.516 to 9.512, P = 0.285, $I^2 = 24.3\%$, Figure 8F).

Sensitivity analysis

Based on the results of our meta-analysis, we performed a sensitivity analysis for outcomes with high heterogeneity: WC, Glu 120, HbA1c, T, DHEA, TG, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C, ALT and AST. The results of sensitivity analyses showed that all the points fell in the confidence interval, indicating that none of the individual studies affected the final conclusion obviously (Supplementary Appendix 2).

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is currently the most comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect


of curcumin specifically for patients undergoing treatment for PCOS, in which we systematically searched and analyzed results from 7 eligible RCTs that involved 447 participants with PCOS. This analysis found that curcumin can significantly ameliorate HOMA-IR, FBG, INS, QUICKI and TC when compared with control group. In contrast to previous meta-analyses, curcumin also has a significant large positive effect size in CRP and BMI. Furthermore, we have also found that significantly decreasing trends of weight, LH and WHR after the curcumin intervention. As for the safety, curcumin appears to be well-tolerated with few adverse events reported by the included studies. However, this meta-analysis included a limited number of high-quality studies, therefore more longer-term and large sample trials evaluating the efficacy and safety of curcumin for PCOS are warranted.

Curcumin and anthropometric parameters

Women with PCOS report significant concern regarding weight gain, the rates of weight gain can be higher, which is more likely to be obese (36). Obesity is related to the infertility of PCOS and is a major risk factor for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in women (37, 38). In view of evidencebased guidelines on PCOS treatment, lifestyle management, including diet, exercise and behavioral strategies, is the firstline management in the intervention hierarchy in PCOS (39). In recent years, functional foods and nutraceuticals which have been shown as potential secondary therapies for the prevention of cardiovascular risk factors have been proposed for the

prevention against chronic diseases, glycemic and lipid metabolic disorders, and multiple metabolic syndrome components (40, 41). The results of our meta-analysis might confirm curcumin's effects on body composition indices. Our results highlighted an overall reduction in the level of BMI as a result of curcumin. This finding was in agreement with studies from a previous meta-analysis of 11 studies in which curcumin intervention significantly decreased the level of BMI in patients with overweight or obese (42). Several previous studies have reported the mechanisms that curcumin might affect body composition indices: curcumin can affect certain signal transduction and regulate the expression of specific cytokines (such as interleukin-1 β , interleukin-6 (IL-6), TNF- α , monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, leptin and adiponectin), thereby maintaining energy homeostasis (43, 44). On the other hand, curcumin also induces the conversion of white adipocytes to a brown fat phenotype (45), which facilitates energy metabolism.

Curcumin and CRP

Previous studies have demonstrated that PCOS-related metabolic diseases, such as insulin resistance, obesity, type 2 diabetes and atherosclerosis are linked to chronic low-grade inflammation (46). In addition, pro-inflammatory factor can also promote the proliferation of ovarian granulosa cell and ovarian follicular membrane cells to produce more androgen leading to hyperandrogenemia (47). A number of studies have confirmed the anti-inflammatory properties of curcumin on PCOS in clinical research and animal models. Mohammadi et al. (48) found that the number of necrotic cells, IR index and IL-6 levels in adult female Wistar rats with PCOS were significantly reduced after curcumin treatment. Sohaei et al. (29) also observed, after curcumin therapy, a significant improvement in CRP after treatment of 27 patients with PCOS, which was consistent with the results of our studies. CRP is one of the members of the pentraxin family in hepatocytes, whose expression is mainly activated by IL-6 and regulated by nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB) signal path (49). Curcumin exhibits potent anti-inflammatory activity via suppression of IkB kinase activity and NF-kB signaling pathway (50).

Curcumin and glycolipid metabolism

The prevalence of metabolic syndrome (MS) among PCOS patients has been reported to be about 2 times higher compared to that in the general population (51). Both insulin resistance and dyslipidemia are associated with metabolic disorder in PCOS patients, which have been evidenced as risk factors for T2DM and cardiovascular diseases (52, 53). Curcumin has been widely investigated owing to its obvious effects on improving

glucose metabolism and lowering blood lipids. Compared with the control group, it was observed a substantial decrease in FBG, INS and HOMA-IR and a marked increase in QUICKI of PCOS patients in this meta-analysis. Hypoglycemic properties of curcumin have been known since 1972 (54), the action is probably mediated by the stimulation of the PI3K/Akt pathway, which in turn promotes the translocation of glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) to the plasma membrane, leading to an increase in glucose uptake and glycolysis (55). In the study by Wu et al (35), a remarkable rise of disposition index and glucose disposal rate has been observed after taking curcumin for 3 months, suggesting that curcumin ameliorates glucose homeostasis through protection of islet B cells. Recently, the importance of postprandial hyperglycemia has been highlighted by the fact that uncontrolled postprandial hyperglycemia gradually causes pancreatic β -cell exhaustion (56, 57). Furthermore, it has been shown that fluctuating glucose also produces oxidative stress, thereby inducing endothelial dysfunction and inflammation (56). A study in experimental animals has demonstrated that curcumin treatment for 8 weeks decreases both postprandial glycemia and HbA1c (58), which contradicted our findings. Nevertheless, we cannot deny the positive effect of curcumin on the postprandial glucose control of PCOS individuals, due to the limited number of studies. Possible mechanisms for the hypolipidemic effect of curcumin could involve increasing polyunsaturated sphingomyelin expression, improving the apoptotic status of liver tissue and inhibiting oxidative stress via downregulating malondialdehyde (MDA) levels and upregulating superoxide dismutase (SOD) levels (59, 60). But in our result, we did not find significant effects of curcumin on blood lipids (HDL-C, TG and LDL-C) other than TC. These inconsistent results may be ascribed, at least in part, to differences in study population, doses of curcumin and analytical approaches. The results, therefore, need to be interpreted with caution and larger studies are required to validate the results.

Curcumin and sex hormone

Hyperandrogenism is implicated as a key mediator of the pathogenesis of PCOS, which persists throughout reproductive life (61). The pathogenesis may include abnormal gonadotropin secretion and hyperinsulinism caused by IR. Abnormally increased LH pulse frequency and amplitude further enhance androgen synthesis in ovarian theca cell and promote hyperandrogenemia in patients with PCOS (62). Hyperinsulinemia may cause an augmented androgen production in the adrenal cortex and follicles *via* stimulation of LH secretion and a decreased SHBG production, resulting elevated androgen levels that may lead to the characteristic clinical manifestations like acne and hirsutism (63). The present meta-analysis has not demonstrated that curcumin has good efficacy on female reproductive hormones, however, several studies provided strong justification for further exploration. A study by Heshmati et al (34), investigating the effect of curcumin on patients with PCOS, showed a significant reduction in DHEA after the curcumin than placebo. In another study, the experimental group of women that were diagnosed with PCOS, following the treatment with curcumin, manifested a clear descending trend of the levels of FAI (35). From these, curcumin has potential effects on lowering androgen levels in patients with PCOS. Most of the analysis results of our research are negative, but we cannot exclude that curcumin might be playing an active role in various reproductive hormones of PCOS patients.

Adverse effects

No serious side effects occurred as a result in our study, and only a small number of patients complained of minor side effects such as mild gastrointestinal discomfort and pruritus. Simultaneously, we observed that biochemical parameters such as RBC, WBC, Cr, AST and ALT did not show any gross abnormalities in expression, indicating that there was no obvious damage to the blood routine and liver and kidney function, which is one of the advantages of this meta-analysis. Moreover, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial found that when the clinical dose was 2400mg/d, curcumin supplementation could reduce systolic blood pressure and had no effect on cardiac metabolic risk parameters (64). In the United States, curcumin is approved as safe by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (65). From the current evidence, curcumin seems to be generally well tolerated and safe, although more clinical studies are needed to confirm the safety of curcumin in long-term treatment.

Strengths and limitations

To the best of our understanding, compared with the previously published results, this study is the first metaanalysis of RCTs to simultaneously evaluate the effects of anthropometric indicators, glucose and lipid metabolism, inflammatory factors, sex hormone levels and adverse reactions in PCOS, and provides evidence for curcumin as a non-toxic and safe drug to treat PCOS. In addition, all tests included in our analysis are clearly based on the Rotterdam standard, which is highly homogeneous. However, our review has several important limitations that need to be recognized. First, the limited sample size of the meta-analysis (a total of 447 randomized patients) resulted in weak evidence-based conclusion of the effectiveness of curcumin. Second, the descriptions of the allocation concealment or blinding were sparse in most of the included trials, which may lead to performance bias in outcome measurement. As such, these findings should be treated with caution until replicated. In addition, the duration of the involved studies was generally short-to-medium term (mostly 6 weeks to 3 months), and there was a lack of follow-up observation on the long-term efficacy of curcumin. Finally, most randomized controlled trials came from the Middle East (mainly Iran and Turkey) and the Asia Pacific region (especially East Asia, such as China), and there were no eligible studies from Western Europe and North America. Therefore, the representativeness of research results has some limitations. Collectively, there is an absence of more racially and ethnically high-quality data in our study. At present, we cannot provide robust support for the efficacy and safety of curcumin in treating PCOS, but it will lay the foundation for future largescale trials.

Implications for future

More strictly designed studies are needed to confirm the impact of curcumin on PCOS, and large sample, longer-term multi center, high-quality and well-designed clinical trials should be registered to better understand the potential mechanism of curcumin's efficacy on patients with PCOS and provide decision-making for clinical evidence-based treatment. In addition, research that includes patient data from other countries or regions in the world will help to expand the applicability of the results.

Conclusion

Altogether, the results of this meta-analysis are inspiring and provide evidence supporting the potential effectiveness and safety of curcumin in orchestrating the inflammatory microenvironment and reducing the risk of abnormalities of glucose and lipid metabolism and obesity in patients with PCOS. However, the strength of this conclusion is tempered by the dearth of large-scale, high-quality reference datasets and the significant number of studies on this topic. Indeed, the effect sizes reported in this analysis merit further evaluation in a larger, well-designed, high-quality prospective randomized clinical trial. Studies that explore the different doses and types of the supplement are also required for access to high solubility and bioavailability curcumin.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

WJS and YZ conceptualized the research question. YFQ and HJ participated in drafting and writing the review. YFQ, HWW, and HJ participated in the formulation of retrieval strategies, data acquisition, data analysis and quality assessment. YJP and YHZ participated in the drawing of tables and figures. XKW and YHH participated in critical revision of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the research and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This work is supported by the Young Scientists Project of the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81803945), National Natural Science Foundation of China (82074259), Scientific Research Project of Traditional Chinese Medicine in Heilongjiang Province (ZHY19024), the Project of Young Innovative Talents in Colleges and Universities in Heilongjiang Province (UNPYSCT-2016216), and Heilongjiang University of Traditional Chinese Medicine Graduate innovation research project (2022yjscx017).

References

1. Mimouni NEH, Paiva I, Barbotin AL, Timzoura FE, Plassard D, Le Gras S, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome is transmitted *via* a transgenerational epigenetic process. *Cell Metab* (2021) 33(3):513–30. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2021.01.004

2. Iervolino M, Lepore E, Forte G, Laganà AS, Buzzaccarini G, Unfer V. Natural molecules in the management of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): An analytical review. *Nutrients* (2021) 13(5):1677. doi: 10.3390/nu13051677

3. Yang R, Li Q, Zhou ZH, Qian WP, Zhang J, Wu Z, et al. Changes in the prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in China over the past decade. *Lancet Reg Health West Pac* (2022) 25:100494. doi: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2022.100494

4. Li YL, Tan Y, Xia GC, Shuai JQ. Effects of probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics on polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* (2021) 21:1–17. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2021.1951155

5. Wekker V, van Dammen L, Koning A, Heida KY, Painter RC, Limpens J, et al. Long-term cardiometabolic disease risk in women with PCOS: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2020) 26(6):942–60. doi: 10.1093/ humupd/dmaa029

6. Xiang L, Wu QB, Cheng LH, Sun KY, Li J, Yoshida M, et al. Leptin and adiponectin signaling pathways are involved in the antiobesity effects of peanut skin extract. *Oxid Med Cell Longev* (2019) 2019:2935315. doi: 10.1155/2019/2935315

7. Wang FF, Wu Y, Zhu YH, Ding T, Batterham RL, Qu F, et al. Pharmacologic therapy to induce weight loss in women who have Obesity/Overweight with polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Obes Rev* (2018) 19(10):1424–45. doi: 10.1111/obr.12720

8. Estampador AC, Pomeroy J, Renström F, Nelson SM, Mogren I, Persson M, et al. Infant body composition and adipokine concentrations in relation to maternal gestational weight gain. *Diabetes Care* (2014) 37(5):1432–8. doi: 10.2337/dc13-2265

9. Wang CY, Ding CF, Hua ZJ, Chen CY, Yu J. Cangfudaotan decoction alleviates insulin resistance and improves follicular development in rats with polycystic ovary syndrome via IGF-1-PI3K/Akt-Bax/Bcl-2 pathway. *Mediators Inflammation* (2020) 2020:8865647. doi: 10.1155/2020/8865647

10. Tabrizi FPF, Farhangi MA, Vaezi M, Hemmati S. The effects of spinachderived thylakoid supplementation in combination with calorie restriction on anthropometric parameters and metabolic profiles in obese women with polycystic

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.1051111/full#supplementary-material

ovary syndrome: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Nutr J (2020) 19(1):82. doi: 10.1186/s12937-020-00601-4

11. Zeng X, Xie YJ, Liu YT, Long SL, Mo ZC. Polycystic ovarian syndrome: Correlation between hyperandrogenism, insulin resistance and obesity. *Clin Chim Acta* (2020) 502:214–21. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2019.11.003

12. Rostamtabar M, Esmaeilzadeh S, Tourani M, Rahmani A, Baee M, Shirafkan F, et al. Pathophysiological roles of chronic low-grade inflammation mediators in polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Cell Physiol* (2021) 236(2):824–38. doi: 10.1002/jcp.29912

13. Zhuang ZH, Pan XH, Zhao K, Gao W, Liu J, Deng TQ, et al. The effect of interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-11 (IL-11), signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), and AKT signaling on adipocyte proliferation in a rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Med Sci Monit* (2019) 25:7218–27. doi: 10.12659/MSM.916385

14. Pan MD, Sun X. Chronic inflammatory mechanism of polycystic ovary syndrome and its research progress. *J Reprod Med* (2021) 30(8):1118-21. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1004-3845.2021.08.025

15. Łagowska K, Bajerska J, Jamka M. The role of vitamin d oral supplementation in insulin resistance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Nutrients* (2018) 10(11):1637. doi: 10.3390/nu10111637

16. Yang J, Guo YQ, Seo W, Zhang RH, Lu CJ, Wang YY, et al. Targeting cellular metabolism to reduce head and neck cancer growth. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9 (1):4995. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-41523-4

17. Jochmans S, Alphonsine JE, Chelly J, Vong LVP, Sy O, Rolin N, et al. Does metformin exposure before ICU stay have any impact on patients' outcome? a retrospective cohort study of diabetic patients. *Ann Intensive Care* (2017) 7(1):116. doi: 10.1186/s13613-017-0336-8

18. Silamikele L, Silamikelis I, Ustinova M, Kalniņa Z, Elbere I, Petrovska R, et al. Metformin strongly affects gut microbiome composition in high-fat dietinduced type 2 diabetes mouse model of both sexes. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:626359. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.626359

19. Farhoudi L, Kesharwani P, Majeed M, Johnston TP, Sahebkar A. Polymeric nanomicelles of curcumin: Potential applications in cancer. *Int J Pharm* (2022) 617:121622. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpharm.2022.121622

20. Lamanna-Rama N, Romero-Miguel D, Desco M, Soto-Montenegro ML. An update on the exploratory use of curcumin in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Antioxid* (*Basel*) (2022) 11(2):353. doi: 10.3390/antiox11020353

21. Sirotkin AV. The influence of turmeric and curcumin on female reproductive processes. *Planta Med* (2022) 88(12):1020-5. doi: 10.1055/a-1542-8992

22. Sharma RA, Euden SA, Platton SL, Cooke DN, Shafayat A, Hewitt HR, et al. Phase I clinical trial of oral curcumin: Biomarkers of systemic activity and compliance. *Clin Cancer Res* (2004) 10(20):6847–54. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0744

23. Lao CD, Ruffin MT4, Normolle D, Heath DD, Murray SI, Bailey JM, et al. Dose escalation of a curcuminoid formulation. *BMC Complement Altern Med* (2006) 6:10. doi: 10.1186/1472-6882-6-10

24. Wang LL, Li C, Meng JP, Yang X. Effect of curcumin on expression of VEGF in polycystic ovary syndrome rat models. *J Shanghai Jiaotong University(Medical Science)* (2014) 34(2):144–8. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1674-8115.2014.02.004

25. Abuelezz NZ, Shabana ME, Abdel-Mageed HM, Rashed L, Morcos GNB. Nanocurcumin alleviates insulin resistance and pancreatic deficits in polycystic ovary syndrome rats: Insights on PI3K/AkT/mTOR and TNF-α modulations. *Life Sci* (2020) 256:118003. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118003

26. Jamilian M, Foroozanfard F, Kavossian E, Aghadavod E, Shafabakhsh R, Hoseini A, et al. Effects of curcumin on body weight, glycemic control and serum lipids in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Clin Nutr ESPEN* (2020) 36:128–33. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2020.01.005

27. Sohrevardi SM, Heydari B, Azarpazhooh MR, Teymourzadeh M, Simental-Mendía LE, Atkin SL, et al. Therapeutic effect of curcumin in women with polycystic ovary syndrome receiving metformin: A randomized controlled trial. *Adv Exp Med Biol* (2021) 1308:109–17. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-64872-5_9

28. Wu JL, Liu JC, Liu F, Deng X, Fang F, Hu RJ, et al. Randomized controlled trial of curcuma longa on improving insulin sensitivity in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Chin J Integr Med* (2022) 42(4):444–8. doi: 10.7661/j.cjim.20211124.256

29. Sohaei S, Amani R, Tarrahi MJ, Ghasemi-Tehrani H. The effects of curcumin supplementation on glycemic status, lipid profile and hs-CRP levels in Overweight/Obese women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Complement Ther Med* (2019) 47:102201. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2019.102201

30. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

31. Huang ZD, Zhao YF, Li S, Gu HY, Lin LL, Yang ZY, et al. Comparative efficacy and acceptability of pharmaceutical management for adults with post-traumatic stress disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Pharmacol* (2020) 11:559. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00559

32. Stone GW, Kimura T, Gao RL, Kereiakes DJ, Ellis SG, Onuma Y, et al. Timevarying outcomes with the absorb bioresorbable vascular scaffold during 5-year follow-up: A systematic meta-analysis and individual patient data pooled study. *JAMA Cardiol* (2019) 4(12):1261–9. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2019.4101

33. Asan SA, Bas M, Eren B, Karaca E. The effects of curcumin supplementation added to diet on anthropometric and biochemical status in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Prog Nutr* (2020) 22 (4):1–13. doi: 10.23751/pn.v22i4.10460

34. Heshmati J, Moini A, Sepidarkish M, Morvaridzadeh M, Salehi M, Palmowski A, et al. Effects of curcumin supplementation on blood glucose, insulin resistance and androgens in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Phytomedicine* (2021) 80:153395. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2020.153395

35. Wu JL, Mei X, Tang S, Fang F, Li S, Zhang HM, et al. Clinical study of curcuma longa combined with metformin on improving insulin resistance in patients with polycystic ovary syndrom. *Chin J Integr Med* (2020) 40(4):406–12. doi: 10.7661/j.cjim.20191101.453

36. Naderpoor N, Shorakae S, de Courten B, Misso ML, Moran LJ, Teede HJ. Metformin and lifestyle modification in polycystic ovary syndrome: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2015) 21(5):560–74. doi: 10.1093/ humupd/dmv025

37. Luo E, Zhang JX, Song JH, Feng D, Meng YX, Jiang HY, et al. Serum antimüllerian hormone levels were negatively associated with body fat percentage in PCOS patients. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2021) 12:659717. doi: 10.3389/ fendo.2021.659717

38. Chami N, Preuss M, Walker RW, Moscati A, Loos RJF. The role of polygenic susceptibility to obesity among carriers of pathogenic mutations in MC4R in the

UK biobank population. *PloS Med* (2020) 17(7):1–20. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pmed.1003196

39. Moran LJ, Tassone EC, Boyle J, Brennan L, Harrison CL, Hirschberg AL, et al. Evidence summaries and recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome: Lifestyle management. *Obes Rev* (2020) 21(10):1-15. doi: 10.1111/obr.13046

40. Sosnowska B, Penson P, Banach M. The role of nutraceuticals in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Cardiovasc Diagn Ther* (2017) 7(Suppl 1): S21–31. doi: 10.21037/cdt.2017.03.20

41. Mousavi SM, Karimi E, Hajishafiee M, Milajerdi A, Amini MR, Esmaillzadeh A. Anti-hypertensive effects of cinnamon supplementation in adults: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* (2020) 60(18):3144–54. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2019.1678012

42. Mousavi SM, Milajerdi A, Varkaneh HK, Gorjipour MM, Esmaillzadeh A. The effects of curcumin supplementation on body weight, body mass index and waist circumference: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* (2020) 60(1):171–80. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018.1517724

43. Song ZL, Revelo X, Shao WJ, Tian LL, Zeng KJ, Lei H, et al. Dietary curcumin intervention targets mouse white adipose tissue inflammation and brown adipose tissue UCP1 expression. *Obes (Silver Spring)* (2018) 26(3):547–58. doi: 10.1002/oby.22110

44. Zhu XL, Li XN. Research progress of curcumin in regulating adipose tissue function. *Food Nutr China* (2020) 26(7):46–50. doi: 10.19870/j.cnki.11-3716/ts.2020.07.012

45. Lone J, Choi JH, Kim SW, Yun JW. Curcumin induces brown fat-like phenotype in 3T3-L1 and primary white adipocytes. *J Nutr Biochem* (2016) 27:193–202. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015.09.006

46. Tian XY, Ganeshan K, Hong C, Nguyen KD, Qiu YF, Kim J, et al. Thermoneutral housing accelerates metabolic inflammation to potentiate atherosclerosis but not insulin resistance. *Cell Metab* (2016) 23(1):165–78. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.10.003

47. Zhang J, Sun ZY, Liu C, Qiu Y. Characteristics of inflammatory markers in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Med Recapitulate* (2019) 25(3):540–4. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1006-2084.2019.03.025

48. Mohammadi S, Karimzadeh Bardei L, Hojati V, Ghorbani AG, Nabiuni M. Anti-inflammatory effects of curcumin on insulin resistance index, levels of interleukin-6, c-reactive protein, and liver histology in polycystic ovary syndrome-induced rats. *Cell J* (2017) 19(3):425–33. doi: 10.22074/cellj.2017. 4415

49. Tabrizi R, Vakili S, Akbari M, Mirhosseini N, Lankarani KB, Rahimi M, et al. The effects of curcumin-containing supplements on biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Phytother Res* (2019) 33(2):253-62. doi: 10.1002/ptr.6226

50. Shishodia S, Amin HM, Lai R, Aggarwal BB. Curcumin (Diferuloylmethane) inhibits constitutive NF-kappaB activation, induces G1/S arrest, suppresses proliferation, and induces apoptosis in mantle cell lymphoma. *Biochem Pharmacol* (2005) 70(5):700–13. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2005.04.043

51. Huddleston HG, Dokras A. Diagnosis and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome. JAMA (2022) 327(3):274-5. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.23769

52. Gourgari E, Lodish M, Shamburek R, Keil M, Wesley R, Walter M, et al. Lipoprotein particles in adolescents and young women with PCOS provide insights into their cardiovascular risk. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 100(11):4291–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-2566

53. Spégel P, Ekholm E, Tuomi T, Groop L, Mulder H, Filipsson K. Metabolite profiling reveals normal metabolic control in carriers of mutations in the glucokinase gene (MODY2). *Diabetes* (2013) 62(2):653–61. doi: 10.2337/db12-0827

54. Altobelli E, Angeletti PM, Marziliano C, Mastrodomenico M, Giuliani AR, Petrocelli R. Potential therapeutic effects of curcumin on glycemic and lipid profile in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes-a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trial. *Nutrients* (2021) 13(2):404. doi: 10.3390/nu13020404

55. Chen J, Liu YR. Effect of curcumin on glucose transport and PI3K /Akt signaling pathway in adipocytes of type 2 diabetes mellitus rats. *Chin J Comp Med* (2019) 29(5):90–7. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-7856.2019.05.014

56. Choi HS, Kim S, Kim MJ, Kim MS, Kim J, Park CW, et al. Efficacy and safety of panax ginseng berry extract on glycemic control: A 12-wk randomized, doubleblind, and placebo-controlled clinical trial. *J Ginseng Res* (2018) 42(1):90–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jgr.2017.01.003 57. Fujii H, Funakoshi S, Maeda T, Satoh A, Kawazoe M, Ishida S, et al. Eating speed and incidence of diabetes in a Japanese general population: ISSA-CKD. J Clin Med (2021) 10(9):1949. doi: 10.3390/jcm10091949

58. Zhang YZ, Liu YX, Song XY, Wu XC. Effect of curcumin on glycolipid metabolism and MicroRNA in rats with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Chin Hosp Pharm J* (2017) 37(6):502–5. doi: 10.13286/j.cnki.chinhosppharmacyj.2017.06.04

59. Su C, Jin SN, Zhang LJ, Huang RZ, Song CW, Yin J. Improved effects of curcumin component enrichment site on serum polyunsaturated sphingomyelins in hyperlipidemic mice. *Her Med* (2022) 41(6):786–90. doi: 10.3870/j.issn.1004-0781.2022.06.006

60. Xia ZH, Chen WB, Shi L, Jiang X, Li K, Wang YX, et al. The underlying mechanisms of curcumin inhibition of hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia in rats fed a high-fat diet combined with STZ treatment. *Molecules* (2020) 25(2):271. doi: 10.3390/molecules25020271

61. Risal S, Manti M, Lu HJ, Fornes R, Larsson H, Benrick A, et al. Prenatal androgen exposure causes a sexually dimorphic transgenerational increase in

offspring susceptibility to anxiety disorders. Transl Psychiatry (2021) 11(1):45. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-01183-9

62. Liao BY, Qiao J, Pang YL. Central regulation of PCOS: Abnormal neuronal-Reproductive-Metabolic circuits in PCOS pathophysiology. *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*) (2021) 12:667422. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.667422

63. Regidor PA, Mueller A, Sailer M, Gonzalez Santos F, Rizo JM, Egea FM. Chronic inflammation in PCOS: The potential benefits of specialized pro-resolving lipid mediators (SPMs) in the improvement of the resolutive response. *Int J Mol Sci* (2020) 22(1):384. doi: 10.3390/ijms22010384

64. Amin F, Islam N, Anila N, Gilani AH. Clinical efficacy of the Coadministration of turmeric and black seeds (Kalongi) in metabolic syndrome-a double blind randomized controlled trial-TAK-MetS trial. *Complement Ther Med* (2015) 23(2):165–74. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2015.01.008

65. Choi Y, Ban I, Lee H, Baik MY, Kim W. Puffing as a novel process to enhance the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of curcuma longa l. *(Turmeric) Antioxid (Basel)* (2019) 8(11):506. doi: 10.3390/antiox8110506

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Palomba, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY Flavia Costanzi, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Renato De Oliveira, Faculdade de Medicina do ABC, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Zhifen Zhang zhangzf@zju.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 01 October 2022 ACCEPTED 03 November 2022 PUBLISHED 24 November 2022

CITATION

Shi L, Ye S, Gao M, Chen Y, Jin X and Zhang Z (2022) Effect of different timing of letrozole initiation on pregnancy outcome in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1059609. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1059609

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shi, Ye, Gao, Chen, Jin and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effect of different timing of letrozole initiation on pregnancy outcome in polycystic ovary syndrome

Lan Shi^{1†}, Shujin Ye^{1†}, Mengyun Gao², Yijie Chen¹, Xuejing Jin² and Zhifen Zhang^{1,2*}

¹Department of the Fourth Clinical Medical College, Zhejiang Chinese Medical University, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China, ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Hangzhou Women's Hospital (Hangzhou Maternity and Child Health Care Hospital), Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China

Objective: To investigate the efficacy of oral letrozole (LE) starting on day 3 or 5 of the menstrual cycle in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS).

Design: Retrospective cohort study.

Setting: Reproductive Endocrinology Department of Hangzhou Women's Hospital.

Methods: In this retrospective analysis, we analyzed patients who received oral LE for ovulation induction (OI) at the Hangzhou Women's Hospital from January 2016 to January 2021. In total, 539 PCOS patients with fertility requirements were classified into the D3 group and D5 group according to the different starting times of oral LE, that is, from the 3rd or 5th day of the menstrual cycle or LE is taken orally for 5 days starting on day 3 or 5 of progesterone withdrawal bleeding. Treatment started with one tablet (LE 2.5 mg), continue the regimen from the previous cycle in non-responders and continued until pregnancy or for up to three ovulatory cycles, with visits to determine ovulation and pregnancy, followed by tracking of pregnancies. The primary outcome was to compare ovulation rates, conception rates, live birth rates, pregnancy complications, and pregnancy outcomes at different initiation times.

Results: Women who started LE on the 5th day of their menstrual cycle had more cumulative conception rates than those who started LE on the 3rd day (173 of 228[75.9%]vs. 201 of 311[64.6%], P= 0.005; rate ratio for conception, 1.174; 95% confidence interval, 1.052 to 1.311) without significant differences in overall live birth rate, though there were 142 of 228[62.3%] in the D5 group versus 172 of 311[55.3%] in the D3 group (P= 0.105). The median (IQR) endometrial thickness was significantly (P = 0.013) greater during the D5 group treatment compared to the D3 group, which may be related to higher conception and clinical pregnancy rates. The median (IQR) maximum follicle diameter was not statistically (P = 0.073) different between the two groups. The

cumulative ovulation per cycle rate was higher with D5 than with D3 (287 of 405 treatment cycles [70.9%] vs. 388 of 640 treatment cycles [60.6%], P=0.001). There were no significant between-group differences in pregnancy loss (31 of 173 conceptions in the D5 group [17.9%] and 29 of 201 conceptions in the D3 group [14.4%]) or multiples pregnancy (8.2% and 10.5%, respectively). Rates of other adverse events during pregnancy were similar in the two treatment groups.

Conclusion: As compared with D3 group, D5 group was associated with higher ovulation and conception rates, shorter time-to-pregnancy among infertile women with the PCOS.

KEYWORDS

polycystic ovarian syndrome, letrozole, ovulation induction, infertility, conception, pregnancy

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is the most common endocrine disorder in women of reproductive age, affecting about 10% of women (1). PCOS is characterized by sparse ovulation, hyperandrogenism, and polycystic ovary morphology based on ultrasound evaluation. It is usually associated with metabolic syndromes such as insulin resistance, obesity, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension. It accounts for 90% of infertility in anovulatory women and is one of the important causes of infertility in women of childbearing age (1). Current research shows that although the natural conception rate for women with PCOS is low, the treatments and strategies currently being used in the clinic are highly effective in improving conception rates (2). Therefore, choosing simple but effective infertility treatment options for patients with PCOS is essential. Even though PCOS is a complex disorder of reproductive metabolism, the hypothalamicpituitary axis remains the target of first-line ovulation treatment. Many treatment options aimed at achieving ovulation, pregnancy, and live birth have been used with varying success (eg. Aromatase inhibitors, clomiphene, metformin for patients with abnormal glucose metabolism, etc.) (3, 4).

Letrozole (LE), the third generation of an aromatase inhibitor, is a new type that stimulates ovulation drugs to inhibit androstenedione and the conversion of testosterone to estrogen in the ovary, decreasing estrogen levels. It acts on the hypothalamic-pituitary gland through positive feedback, promotes the secretion and release of FSH, and induces follicle development and mature discharge (5). Numerous randomized trials have found increased ovulation, pregnancy, and live birth rates in women with PCOS after LE ovulation promotion compared to clomiphene citrate ovulation (6–8). Currently, LE is started on the third to the fifth day of the menstrual cycle. The potential advantages of using LE during this period are its relatively short half-life (*45 h), accumulation of intraovarian androgens, and activation of estrogen receptors, which will enhance follicular sensitivity, resulting in rapid endometrial growth. Nevertheless, there is no consensus on the optimal start time (9). We designed a retrospective cohort study to compare effectiveness and safety when LE was started on the third or fifth day of menstruation, respectively, to explore the optimal timing of ovulation initiation.

Materials and methods

Study oversight

This retrospective cohort study was approved by the Ethics Review Committee of the Hangzhou Women's Hospital. Written informed consent was waived due to the retrospective nature of the study.

Participants

A total of 624 patients with PCOS who received LE ovulation-promoting treatment and visited the Reproductive Endocrinology Department of Hangzhou Women's Hospital from January 2016 to January 2021 were collected.

The inclusion criteria for participants eligible for the use of ovulation-promoting drugs were: 1) Women of childbearing age between 20 and 40 years old who have not been pregnant without contraception for \geq 1 year; 2) The PCOS was defined according to

Rotterdam Consensus 2003 (Meet two of the three and exclude other causes of hyperandrogenism: Low ovulation/anovulation, clinical manifestations of high androgen (acne/hirsute) and/or biochemical manifestations (testosterone ≥ 0.8 ng/ml or free androgen index [FAI] \geq 5)[3], gynecological ultrasonography during the menstrual cycle or 3rd to 5th days after bleeding after progesterone withdrawal suggests polycystic changes in the ovary (small follicles with a diameter of 2 -9 mm, \geq 12 small follicles, and/ or ovarian volume >10 ml) (10); 3) The women and their partners agreed to have regular intercourse with the intention of conception during the study.

The exclusion criteria include: 1)Women with BMI > 30kg/ m2; 2)Patients with tubal factor infertility; 3)Patients with uterine and reproductive tract malformation confirmed by gynecological ultrasound, HSG, laparoscopy, or hysteroscopy; 4) Patients with infertility due to abnormalities in the male partner's semen (normal sperm concentration of 15 million per milliliter and a normal activity rate of >40%, WHO 2010.); 5) Women who were pregnant before this ovulation induction drug started; 6)Women who have received ovulation induction (OI) treatment within 6 months and gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists (GnRHa) within three months; 7) Patients with diabetes mellitus, hypertension, endometrial hyperplasia/ cancer, thyroid disease, and hyperprolactinemia that cannot effectively control by medication; 8)Patients with major systemic illnesses; 9)Patients with a history of LE allergy and contraindications.

Study overview

The final 539 patients were included and divided into groups D3 (n=311) and D5 (n=228) according to the start of oral LE (Femara, Novartis Pharmaceuticals), that is, oral LE 2.5 mg/d for 5 days starting on days 3 and 5 of the menstrual cycle. All patients were tested for follicular growth by vaginal ultrasound from day 10 of the menstrual cycle.

HCG (human chorionic gonadotrophin) injection and corpus luteum support standard: When the largest diameter of the dominant follicle was \geq 18mm or the urine LH was positive, an intramuscular injection of HCG5000-10000 IU was used to induce ovulation, and the patient was asked to have sex on the injection day or the next day; or intrauterine insemination was performed 24h or 36h after HCG injection. After that, vaginal ultrasound monitoring is done daily until the day of ovulation, or every 2-3 days until after the next menstrual period if ovulation has not occurred after 96 hours of HCG.

Urine HCG testing 10 days after ovulation to determine conception, the follow-up to 5-6 weeks after the last menstrual period, diagnosis of clinical pregnancy when a gestational sac is detected by ultrasound, and the obstetric records of those conceiving were reviewed for pregnancy outcomes. If no conception occurs, continue the regimen from the previous cycle, with no conception for 3 consecutive cycles considered a failure.

Criteria for interrupting the treatment cycle: At the risk of ovarian hyperstimulation: \geq 3 dominant follicles, ovarian diameter \geq 60mm, ascites, serum estradiol level \geq 5500pmol-L-1.

Outcomes

The primary outcome of the study was the conception (serum or urine HCG was positive)and live birth rates. Secondary outcomes included the rate of ovulation(serum progesterone level over 5ng/ml within one cycle), endometrial thickness(on the day of intramural injection of HCG), maximum follicular diameter(on the day of intramural injection of HCG), treatment cycles received until pregnancy, pregnancy loss (including biochemical, miscarriage, ectopic), pregnancy outcome, multiples pregnancy, pregnancy complications, mode of delivery and other adverse events.

Blood examination

Days 2-5 of the menstrual cycle, after a period of 10 or more hours without food, blood samples were collected from all participants before breakfast. Anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH), Follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (LH), Progesterone(P), Testosterone (T), Prolactin (PRL) and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) were measured using the chemiluminescence method (Beckman Coulter UniCel Dxl-800). The Beckman Coulter AU5821 chemistry analyzer was used to measure fasting plasma glucose (FPG), fasting insulin (FINS), total bilirubin, total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), high-density lipoprotein (HDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), Apoa1, homocysteine (HCY), uric acid (UA), serum calcium, serum phosphorus, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR), platelet (PLT), and C-reactive protein (CRP).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS Statistics 26. Participants' characteristics in the two allocated treatment sequences were compared using independent non-parametric tests. Generalized estimating equations were used for the analysis of the ovulation rate to account for the correlation of multiple ovulation cycles for each subject. The endometrial thickness and maximum follicle diameter were compared using independent non-parametric tests. Categorical data were compared using the chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test. In addition, the rate ratio (RR) and the absolute difference (AD) (95% Confidence Interval) were estimated for conception and live birth rates. Kaplan–Meier curves were used for time-toevent analyses. Logistic regression models created odds ratios (ORs) with associated 95 percent confidence intervals (CIs), which were used to assess the relationship between characteristics associated with conception and live birth after controlling for potential confounders such as maternal age and BMI (body mass index), LH/FSH, AMH (anti-Müllerian hormone), T (testosterone), and TSH (thyroid stimulating hormone).

Results

Characteristics of the patients

Figure 1 illustrates the flow of participants throughout the trial. In total,539 patients were included in this study, with 311 patients receiving LE on the 3rd day of their menstrual cycle and 228 patients receiving LE on the 5th day. Based on the baseline characteristics of both groups in Table 1, no significant differences were found at baseline characteristics.

Primary outcomes (conception and live birth)

The conception and live birth rates were depicted in Figure 2 and Figure 3 for the overall and each stratum. Throughout the study, as compared with the D3 group, the D5 group exhibited a substantial increase in conception rates (173 of 228 women [75.9%] vs. 201 of 311 [64.6%], P=0.005; RR for conception on the 5th day, 1.174; 95% CI,1.052 to 1.311) (Figure 2).

We performed an analysis according to the maternal BMI, when BMI was 18.5-25(normal range), the D5 group had significantly greater conception rates than the D3 group (76.0% vs. 63.3%, p=0.009). In PCOS individuals with BMI >25, the D5 group had a significantly higher live birth rate than the D3 group (70.8% vs. 52.2%, p=0.045). There was no large discrepancy in conception or live birth rates between the two groups of PCOS patients with the BMI < 18.5.

Sub-analysis of conception rates based on different ages, LH/ FSH, T, and TSH revealed between the two groups. When the age was <30, LH/FSH <2, AMH≥4.15, T<0.8, and TSH was 1.43-2.61, the D5 group had a greater conception rate than the D3 group, and all were statistically different.

There was no statistical difference in live birth rates between the two groups, although the 5th day arm had a trend toward



	D3 $(n = 311)$	D5 ($n = 228$)	Р
Age (years)	28.0 (26.0 to 31.0)	29.0 (26.0 to 31.0)	0.434
BMI (kg/m^2)	22.0 (19.8 to 24.3)	22.1 (19.8 to 24.1)	0.801
Infertility duration (years)	2.0 (2.0 to 2.0)	2.0 (2.0 to 3.0)	0.059
AMH (ng/ml)	6.5 (4.2 to 10.0)	7.0 (4.2to 10.0)	0.833
LH (IU/L)	7.4 (4.6 to 13.1)	7.8 (5.1 to 13.7)	0.39
FSH (IU/L)	6.7 (5.6 to 7.7)	6.4 (5.2 to 7.7)	0.208
P (ng/ml)	0.62 (0.37 to 1.02)	0.62 (0.43 to 1.08)	0.218
Testosterone (ng/ml)	0.57 (0.44 to 0.72)	0.61 (0.42 to 0.77)	0.064
FAI (%)	6.56 (3.8 to 11.0)	5.8 (2.9 to 11.2)	0.419
Prolactin (ng/ml)	11.9 (8.9 to 16.8)	12.2 (9.1 to 18.3)	0.414
Fasting insulin (mIU/L)	6.7 (4.6 to 10.6)	8.2 (5.7 to 10.7)	0.146
Fasting glucose (mmol/L)	5.0 (4.6 to 5.2)	4.9 (4.6 to 5.2)	0.605
TSH (mIU/L)	1.8 (1.4 to 2.6)	1.9 (1.5 to 2.6)	0.921
PLT (10^9/L)	245 (212 to 275)	237 (209 to 273)	0.313
NLR	1.8 (1.4 to 2.5)	2.0 (1.5 to 2.7)	0.126
UA (umol/L)	296 (253 to 347)	304 (255 to 354)	0.557
TC (mmol/L)	4.92 (4.32 to 5.54)	4.78 (4.27 to 5.52)	0.464
TG (mmol/L)	1.08 (0.74 to 1.72)	1.12 (0.82 to 1.66)	0.406
HDL (mmol/L)	1.52 (1.27 to 1.78)	1.50 (1.27 to 1.79)	0.79
LDL (mmol/L)	2.62 (2.21 to 3.04)	2.61 (2.16 to 3.04)	0.661
Apoal (g/L)	1.50 (1.29 to 1.71)	1.44 (1.28 to 1.74)	0.536

TABLE 1 Baseline Characteristics of Participants.

(Numerical data presented as median (25th to 75th percentile).
 D3, using LE on the 3rd day of menstruation; D5, using LE on the 5th day of menstruation.
 BMI, body mass index; AMH, anti-Müllerian hormone; LH, luteinizing hormone; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; P, progesterone; FAI, free androgen index; TSH, thyroid stimulating hormone; NLR, neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; UA, uric acid; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglyceride; HDL, high density lipoprotein; LDL, low density lipoprotein.

	D3(n=311)	D5(n=228)		Rate ratio(95% CI)	Absolute difference (95% CI)	Р
OUTCOME	201/311(64.6%)	173/228(75.9%)	-	1.174(1.052 ,1.311)	11.3%(3.6% to 19.0%)	0.005
Age (years)						
<30	130/196(66.3%)	107/132(81.1%)		1.222(1.074,1.391)	14.7%(5.3% to 24.1%)	0.003
≥30	71/115(61.7%)	66/96(68.8%)		1.114(0.914,1.356)	7.0%(-5.8% to 19.8%)	0.288
BMI(kg/m2)						
<18.5	22/29(75.9%)	19/26(73.1%)		0.963(0.706,1.314)	-2.8%(-26.6% to 20.3%)	0.813
18.5-25	136/215(63.3%)	117/154(76.0%)		1.201(1.049,1.375)	12.7%(3.4% to 22.0%)	0.009
>25	43/67(64.2%)	37/48(77.1%)		1.201(0.948,1.521)	12.9%(-3.6% to 29.4%)	0.138
LH/FSH						
<2	148/234(63.2%)	122/162(75.3%)		1.191(1.044,1.358)	12.1%(3.0% to 21.2%)	0.011
≥2	53/77(68.8%)	51/66(77.3%)		1.123(0.92,1.37)	8.4%(-6.0% to 22.9%)	0.258
AMH(ng/ml)						
<4.15	54/76(71.1%)	37/56(66.1%)		0.93(0.734,1.178)	-5.0%(-21.0% to 11.0%)	0.541
4.15-9.995	96/157(61.6%)	88/115(76.5%)	—	1.251(1.066,1.469)	15.4%(4.5% to 26.3%)	0.007
>9.995	51/78(65.4%)	48/57(84.2%)	⊢ ∎→→	1.288(1.058,1.568)	18.8%(4.6% to 33.0%)	0.015
T(ng/ml)						
<0.8	173/265(65.3%)	134/175(76.6%)		1.173(1.04,1.323)	11.3%(2.8% to 19.8%)	0.012
≥0.8	28/46(60.9%)	39/53(73.6%)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1.209(0.912,1.603)	12.7%(-5.7% to 31.1%)	0.177
TSH						
<1.43	55/82(67.1%)	40/51(78.4%)		1.169(0.949,1.441)	11.3%(-3.9% to 26.5%)	0.159
1.43-2.61	93/146(63.7%)	98/123(79.7%)		1.25(1.075,1.452)	16.0%(5.4% to 26.6%)	0.004
>2.61	53/8363.9%	35/54(64.8%)		1.015(0.787,1.309)	0.9%(-15.6% to 17.2%)	0.9
		Г				
		0.5	5 0.8 1.1 1.4 1. The estimates	7		

FIGURE 2

Outcomes with Regard to Conception Rate.

	D3(n=311)	D5(n=228)		· · ·	bsolute difference (95% CI)	
OUTCOME	172/311(55.3%)	142/228(62.3%)	-	1.126(0.977,1.298)	7.0%(−1.4% to 15.4%)	0.10
Age (years)						
<30	113/196(57.7%)	94/132(71.2%)	⊢ ∎−−1	1.235(1.051,1.452)	13.5%(3.1% to 23.9%)	0.01
≥30	59/115(51.3%)	48/96(50.0%)		0.975(0.746,1.274)	-1.3%(-14.8% to 12.2%)	0.85
BMI(kg/m2)						
<18.5	22/29(75.9%)	15/26(57.7%)		0.76(0.516,1.121)	-18.2%(-42.8% to 6.4%)	0.15
18.5-25	115/215(53.5%)	93/154(60.4%)		1.129(0.944,1.35)	6.9%(-3.3% to 17.1%)	0.18
>25	35/67(52.2%)	34/48(70.8%)	— •—	1.356(1.012,1.816)	18.6%(1.0% to 36.2%)	0.04
LH/FSH						
<2	122/234(52.1%)	98/162(60.5%)		1.16(0.974,1.382)	8.4%(-1.5% to 18.2%)	0.1
≥2	50/77(64.9%)	44/66(66.7%)		1.027(0.81,1.301)	1.7%(-13.9% to 17.3%)	0.82
AMH(ng/ml)						
<4.15	48/76(63.2%)	29/56(51.8%)		0.82(0.604,1.113)	-11.4%(-28.4% to 5.6%)	0.19
4.15-9.995	80/157(51.0%)	74/115(64.3%)		1.263(1.029,1.55)	13.3%(1.6% to 25.0%)	0.02
>9.995	44/78(56.4%)	39/57(68.4%)		1.213(0.932,1.578)	12%(-4.3% to 28.3%)	0.15
T(ng/ml)						
<0.8	149/265(56.2%)	111/175(63.4%)		1.128(0.966,1.317)	7.2%(-2.1% to 16.5%)	0.13
≥0.8	23/46(50.0%)	31/53(58.5%)		1.17(0.81,1.689)	8.5%(-11.1% to 28.1%)	0.39
тѕн						
<1.43	46/82(56.1%)	32/51(62.7%)		1.118(0.841,1.488)	6.7%(-10.4% to 23.8%)	0.44
1.43-2.61	80/146(54.8%)	80/123(65.0%)		1.182(0.973,1.436)	10.2%(-1.5% to 21.9%)	0.08
>2.61	46/83(55.4%)	30/54(55.6%)	⊢	1.002(0.738,1.362)	0.1%(-16.9% to 17.1%)	0.98
	. ,	. ,				
		(0.5 1 1.5 2	2		
			The estimates			
RE 3						

higher rates. To detect variations in live birth rates, larger sample size is necessary. The primary outcome of live birth was significantly influenced by age (p=0.027) (Table 2), when the age was less than 30, the live birth rate for subjects in the D5 group was considerably greater than for women in the D3 group (p=0.013) (Figure 3). At AMH between 4.15 and 9.995, live birth rates were higher in the D5 group than in the D3 group (p=0.028) (Figure 3).

Secondary outcomes (ovulation, pregnancy, and pregnancy loss)

On the day of HCG intramuscular injection, the median (IQR) endometrial thickness was substantially (P = 0.013) larger in the D5 group than in the D3 group. The maximum follicle diameter was not statistically (P = 0.073) different between the two groups (Table 3).

Per cycle analysis revealed considerably greater ovulation rates in the D5 group (P=0.001) (Table 3). As previously stated, however, the variations in ovulation rates did not result in a significant increase in the live birth rate among the D5 group. Rates of conception and Singleton pregnancy per cycle in which ovulation occurred were higher in the D5 group (P=0.029, P=0.069). There was statistically significant change in the frequencies of conception and singleton pregnancy per ovulated subject (P=0.002, P=0.024). But there was no statistically significant change in the frequencies of live births per ovulated subject.

The median number of treatment cycles received until pregnancy was significantly (log-rank P=0.0012) smaller with the D5 group (2[1–3] cycles) compared to the D3 group (1[1–3] cycles) (Figure 4).

The pregnancy rate in the D3 group was considerably lower than in the D5 group (P=0.042 for both comparisons). The rates of pregnancy loss after conception were equivalent in the two treatment groups. Four adverse events of pregnancy loss after observed heart motion occurred during infertility treatment in the D5 group (Table 3).

Between the D3 and D5 groups, there was no significant difference in the period from treatment initiation to live birth (log-rank P=0.66) (Figure 4).

Adverse events and mode of delivery

Table 4 summarizes adverse events and their mode of delivery. During pregnancy, gestational diabetes was the most prevalent consequence, followed by early membrane rupture, preterm labor, and HDP (hypertensive disorder in pregnancy), with no significant differences between treatment groups. There were two substantial congenital malformations (one with D3 and one with D5); the between-group difference was not significant. Both groups had similar delivery patterns.

Baseline Parameter	Category	aOR (95% CI)	Р
Age (years)	per year increased	0.944 (0.896 to 0.993)	0.027
BMI (kg/m2)	per kg/m2 increased	0.992 (0.942 to 1.046)	0.779
LH/FSH	per increased	1.214 (1.011 to 1.458)	0.037
AMH (ng/ml)	per ng/ml increased	1.011 (0.964 to 1.059)	0.66
T (ng/ml)	per ng/ml increased	0.775 (0.358 to 1.678)	0.519
TSH (mIU/L)	per mIU/L increased	0.929 (0.785 to 1.101)	0.396
Type of treatment	D3 vs. D5	1.325 (0.929 to 1.888)	0.12

TABLE 2 Logistic Regression of Live Birth Outcome.

Analyses were adjusted for maternal age, maternal BMI, LH/FSH, AMH, T, TSH. aOR, adjusted odd ratio.

TABLE 3 Rates of Ovulation, Pregnancy, and Pregnancy Loss.

Variable	D3 (n = 311)	D5 (n = 228)	Rate ratio (95% CI)	Absolute difference (95% CI)	Р
No. of ovulations/total treatment cycles	388/640 (60.6%)	287/405 (70.9%)		10.2% (4.3% to 15.9%)	0.001
ET (mm) [median (IQR)]	8.0 (7.0 to 10.0)	9.0 (8.0 to 10.0)			0.013
Maximum follicle diameter	1.88 (1.77 to 1.97)	1.84 (1.75 to 1.95)			0.073
Conception	201/311 (64.6%)	173/228 (75.9%)	1.174 (1.052 to 1.311)	11.3% (3.6% to 19.0%)	0.005
Pregnancy	172/311 (55.3%)	146/228 (64.0%)	1.158 (1.007 to 1.331)	8.7% (0.4% to 17.0%)	0.042
Singleton	154/172 (89.5%)	134/146 (91.8%)	1.025 (0.955 to 1.1)	2.3% (-4.1% to 8.7%)	0.495
Twins	16/172 (9.3%)	12/146 (8.2%)	0.884 (0.432 to 1.807)	-1.1% (-7.3% to 5.1%)	0.734
Multiples	18/172 (10.5%)	12/146 (8.2%)	0.785 (0.391 to 1.576)	-2.3% (-8.7% to 4.1%)	0.495
Pregnancy loss					
Total losses among subjects who conceived	29/201 (14.4%)	31/173 (17.9%)	1.242 (0.781 to 1.975)	3.5% (-4.0% to 11.0%)	0.359
Biochemical factor or no fetal heart motion	21/201 (10.4%)	20/173 (11.6%)	1.107 (0.621 to 1.972)	1.1% (-5.3% to 7.5%)	0.731
Ectopic pregnancy	8/201 (4.0%)	7/173 (4.0%)	1.017 (0.376 to 2.746)	0.1% (-4.0% to 4.0%)	0.974
Loss after observed heart motion	0/201 (0.0%)	4/173 (2.3%)		2.3%0.1% to 4.5%)	0.045
Events among ovulated cycles					
Conception	201/388 (51.8%)	173/287 (60.3%)	1.164 (1.017 to 1.331)	8.5% (0.9% to 15.9%)	0.029
Singleton pregnancy	154/388 (39.7%)	134/287 (46.7%)	1.176 (0.988 to 1.4)	7.0% (-0.5% to 14.5%)	0.069
Singleton live birth	154/388 (39.7%)	130/287 (45.3%)	1.141 (0.956 to 1.362)	5.6% (-2.0% to 13.1%)	0.145
Events among subjects who ovulated					
Conception	201/287 (70.0%)	173/210 (82.4%)	1.176 (1.066 to 1.298)	12.4% (4.7% to 19.5%)	0.002
Singleton pregnancy	154/287 (53.7%)	134/210 (63.8%)	1.189 (1.025 to 1.379)	10.2% (1.4% to 18.6%)	0.024
Singleton live birth	154/287 (53.7%)	130/210 (61.9%)	1.154 (0.992 to 1.342)	8.3% (-0.6% to 16.8%)	0.067

Categorical data: % (n/N); Ovulation was defined as serum progesterone level over 5ng/ml within one cycle; IQR, interquartile; ET, endometrial thickness (on the day of intramural injection of HCG); Conception was defined as a serum level of human chorionic gonadotropin that was positive; Pregnancy was defined by the presence of fetal heart movements on ultrasound.

Logistic regression of conception and live birth outcome

of live birth rates. Maternal age showed a negative (adverse) effect on outcome (OR=0.944, 95% CI: 0.896-0.993) (Table 2).

Table 5 shows the outcomes of a logistic regression model for the factors that could have influenced the conception rate. The results showed that using LE on the fifth day of menstruation had a substantial positive (favorable) effect (OR = 1.71, 95% CI: 1.161-2.519).

However, there was no significant effect of LE use on 5th day or 3rd day and a favorable effect of LH/FSH on live birth (OR = 1.214, 95 percent CI: 1.011-1.458) in regression models

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first sufficiently powered clinical study exploring the optimal initiation time of LE. Our study found that starting LE on the fifth day of their menstrual cycle was more effective as a fertility treatment than starting LE on the third day in anovulatory women with PCOS.



Ovulation, endometrial thickness (on the day of intramural injection of HCG), conception, and pregnancy were significantly more likely after treatment with the D5 group. The rate of pregnancy loss, mode of delivery, multiples pregnancy, and rates of other adverse events during pregnancy (including anomalies) did not differ significantly between the two treatment groups. Our study also found that the D5 group required 1.39 cycles on average to conceive, while the D3 group required 1.54 cycles on average. When studying fertility treatment, we acknowledge that the ideal primary outcome would be live birth. The live birth rate was 10% higher in the D5 group than in the D3 group (RR = 1.126), but this did not reach statistical significance because the study was not strong enough to look at this outcome (power = 37.4%, alpha = 0.05), so we cannot rule out possible differences with small sample sizes. At the same time, we consider that the outcome of live birth is related to many other factors during pregnancy, such as environmental, physical, dietary, exercise and lifestyle factors. Our research was a

retrospective analysis, and all pregnant women were not managed uniformly and followed up regularly during pregnancy, so we chose the conception and ovulation rates as the primary outcome, which is a limitation of our study. We will expand the sample size and provide appropriate management for prospective randomized clinical trials. Regular follow-up of all pregnant women included in the trial criteria to exclude other factors that interfere with pregnancy outcomes where possible and further explore the effect of different LE initiation times on pregnancy outcomes.

The triad that determines the success of human reproduction is the embryo, the endometrium, and their interactions. Past highquality studies have shown that women with PCOS exhibit a clinically significant increased risk of obstetric and neonatal complications (11). Similar results have been published previously, confirming that endometrial dysfunction and altered oocyte capacity in women with PCOS are welldocumented mechanisms contributing to increased pregnancy

Event	D3 n (%)	D5 n (%)	Rate ratio (95% CI)	Р
sPTB	21 (10.4%)	17 (9.8%)	0.941 (0.513 to 1.725)	0.843
Eutocia	95 (47.3%)	77 (44.5%)	0.942 (0.755 to 1.175)	0.594
Cesarean section	71 (35.3%)	63 (36.4%)	1.031 (0.786 to 1.353)	0.826
Forceps delivery	6 (3.0%)	2 (1.2%)	0.387 (0.079 to 1.894)	0.295
GDM	40 (19.9%)	29 (16.8%)	0.842 (0.546 to 1.298)	0.435
HDP	16 (8.0%)	15 (8.7%)	1.089 (0.555 to 2.138)	0.804
PROM	34 (16.9%)	32 (18.5%)	1.094 (0.706 to 1.694)	0.689
Fetal anomalies	1 (0.5%)	1 (0.6%)	1.162 (0.073 to 18.437)	1.0
LBW	7 (3.5%)	7 (4.0%)	1.162 (0.416 to 3.247)	0.775
VLBW	2 (1.0%)	2 (1.2%)	1.162 (0.165 to 8.161)	1.0
Macrosomia	5 (2.5%)	4 (2.3%)	0.929 (0.254 to 3.407)	1.0

TABLE 4 Adverse Events.

sPTB, spontaneous preterm birth; GDM, gestational diabetes; HDP, hypertensive disorder in pregnancy; PROM, premature rupture of membranes; LBW, Infant low birth weight; VLBW, Infant very low birth.

TABLE 5 Logistic Regression of Conception Outcome.

Baseline Parameter	Category	aOR (95% CI)	Р
Age (years)	per year increased	0.96 (0.909 to 1.014)	0.146
BMI (kg/m2)	per kg/m2 increased	0.982 (0.929 to 1.039)	0.538
LH/FSH	per increased	1.184 (0.968 to 1.45)	0.1
AMH (ng/ml)	per ng/ml increased	1.03 (0.979 to 1.085)	0.256
T (ng/ml)	per ng/ml increased	0.743 (0.323 to 1.707)	0.484
TSH (mIU/L)	per mIU/L increased	0.856 (0.716 to 1.023)	0.087
Type of treatment	D3 vs. D5	1.71 (1.161 to 2.519)	0.007

Analyses were adjusted for maternal age, maternal BMI, LH/FSH, AMH, T, TSH. aOR, adjusted odd ratio.

complications and outcomes (12, 13). Women with PCOS can exert a potentially adverse effect on the endometrium with preconception, conception, and post-conception endometrial function. LE is a third-generation, highly effective, and specific aromatase inhibitor that does not bind to estrogen receptors and does not affect the quality of cervical mucus or the thickness, morphology, and tolerability of the endometrium. Past studies have demonstrated the ability of LE to improve endometrial development, and it is more conducive to embryo implantation (14). During controlled ovarian stimulation (COS), LE administration during the early follicular phase significantly increases testosterone and androstenedione levels in the follicular fluid, thereby improving the follicular sensitivity to FSH stimulation and optimizing pregnancy outcomes. Our data indicate that multiples pregnancy and rates of other adverse events during pregnancy (including anomalies) are similar in the two treatments we evaluated. The rate of multiple pregnancies is consistent with a randomized, double-blind study (6.1%) (6). Our Pregnancy loss with LE on D3 and D5 was similar (p=0.359), and this data was in general agreement with the results of a study that included 42 RCTs in which Pregnancy loss was 19% (7). Our data show that using LE on the fifth day of menstruation does not increase the risk of teratogenicity or miscarriage compared to using LE on the third day.

There have been conflicting reports about the timing of LE's medication. Kaitlin et al. found that a single oral dose of LE 25 mg for 1 day versus 5 mg/d for 5 days resulted in comparable cycle pregnancy rates in both groups (14.2% vs. 11.6%) (15); Mitwally et al. showed that a single oral dose of LE 20 mg on day 3 of the menstrual cycle compared with 2.5 mg/d on days 3-7 of the menstrual cycle resulted in comparable cycle pregnancy rates in both groups (15% vs. 18%) (16); Badawy et al. discovered that oral administration of LE 2.5mg/d on days 1-10 of the menstrual cycle resulted in a higher pregnancy rate than patients who received 5mg/d on days 1-5 of the menstrual cycle (17. 4% vs.12. 4%) (17); Other scholars believe that if there is no dominant follicle in the ovary and endometrial lesions are ruled out, any time during the follicular phase can be used as the time to initiate ovulation-promoting drugs. Nonetheless, the most widespread clinical use is for 5 days starting on day 3 or 5 of the menstrual cycle or progesterone withdrawal bleeding. Because LE is taken orally from day 3 or 5 of the menstrual cycle, it can pass a halflife (45 hours), which is right in the selection period of dominant follicles (5-7 days of the menstrual cycle) (18). Therefore, this method of medication has long been considered the clinic's most reasonable ovulation induction plan.

However, no studies have compared the effect of oral LE starting on the third day and fifth day of the menstrual cycle. In our study, LE initiation on the 5th day of the menstrual cycle had higher ovulation rates, endometrial thickness (on the day of HCG intramuscular injection), pregnancy rates, and clinical pregnancy rates in women with PCOS than LE initiation on the 3rd day of the menstrual cycle. In the present study, though the median (IQR) maximum follicle diameter in the D3 and D5 groups were comparable on the day of intramuscular injection of HCG(P=0.0730), the median (IQR) endometrial thickness was significantly better in D5 group [9.0(8.0 to 10.0)mm] compared with D3 group [8.0(7.0 to 10.0)mm]. Roy et al. reported similar results in a randomized control trial of LE versus CC in women undergoing superovulation, which showed that vascular penetration of the endometrium was associated with thicker endometrium (19). At the same time, Chien et al. confirmed a significant increase in pregnancy rate with deeper endometrial vascular penetration (20). Therefore, we believe that the endometrium on the day of ovulation when LE started on the fifth day of menstruation is thicker than when LE started on the third day of menstruation. For the D5 group, the thickness of the endometrium is more compatible with the dominant follicles, and the permeability of the endometrial vascular is more profound. HCG was routinely administered to allow follicle maturation and precisely the time the intercourse for these couples to increase the conception rate of patients with PCOS favorably.

LE has a high cumulative ovulation rate in the trial by Legro et al.(61.7%), comparable to the cumulative ovulation rate in our D3 group (60.6%). However, the study was biased towards obese subjects, which may account for the lower live birth rate (8). The D5 group resulted in an increased pregnancy rate compared to the D3 group (RR 1.158, 95% CI 1.007 to 1.331). Our pregnancy rate was higher than that of the most recent Cochrane review (35%) (21), and we had obese patients lose weight before our OI treatment may have contributed to this. Moreover, our small sample size could be a contributing factor. However, a high-quality study found that PCOS patients using LE had a pregnancy rate of 61.2%, which is comparable to our findings (6).

A possible explanation for the higher success of using LE on D5 is the greater ovulation rate per cycle in the D5 group. Aromatase activity occurs in granulosa cells of follicles larger than 6-8 mm on Day 5-8 of the menstrual cycle. The dominant follicle produces more estradiol-17 than the cohort's other follicles, inhibiting FSH. LE administered on day 5 of menstruation effectively inhibits aromatase activity, enlarges the FSH window to stimulate follicle growth, and enables the simultaneous selection of multiple follicles. However, past researches indicates that around one-fourth of apparently healthy women may experience more than one follicle selection during a single menstrual cycle. It is conceivable that the variability offollicular dynamics in women of reproductive age is more significant than previously believed. We speculate that more than one follicular selection was probably generated in the D5 group (22).

Many studies have pointed to a decreasing trend in pregnancy rates as the age of the mother increases (23). In our research, we found that the conception rate was significantly higher in the D5 group than in the D3 group when the age was <30 years (81.1% vs. 66.3%, P=0.003), and the live birth rate was better in the D5 group than in the D3 group (71.2% vs. 57.7%, P=0.013). Therefore, for PCOS patients of optimal reproductive age, initiating LE on the 5th day of the menstrual cycle is the best time to promote ovulation.

BMI is one of the most important factors affecting fertility and pregnancy outcomes in women of childbearing age, obesity is responsible for an increased risk of subfecundity and infertility, and obesity has a significant impact on different PCOS phenotypes (24). For PCOS patients in different BMI groups, our study found that among PCOS patients whose BMI was 18.5-25 (normal weight), the pregnancy rate in D5 group was higher than that in D3 group (76.0% *vs.*63.3%, P=0.009). Our PCOS participants met the generally accepted Rotterdam diagnostic criteria for PCOS and had a median BMI of about 22 kg/m2. We believe that this cohort is well representative of PCOS women who receive fertility treatment at most fertility centers. Therefore, our results can be generalized to clinical practice on a global scale.

Past studies have shown that in the pathogenesis of PCOS, the secretion pattern of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) is disrupted, leading to a relative increase in the release of LH and FSH. Although the LH/FSH ratio is not part of the androgen excess society's diagnostic criteria for PCOS, in healthy women, the ratio of LH/FSH is usually between 1 and 2. In women with PCOS, this ratio flips. In some cases, it can reach 2 or 3. Ovulation does not occur in patients with PCOS due to the high LH/FSH ratio (25). Because the LH/FSH cut-off point is thought to indicate the responsiveness of ovaries to ovulation-stimulating medications, studies on the link between the LH/FSH cut-off point and pregnancy outcomes have been done since 1995 (26). Su et al. found that baseline LH/FSH level was a significant independent risk factor for live birth (p<0.05) (27). Our study found that when LH/FSH<2, the D5 group had a higher conception rate than the D3 group, with significant statistical differences. After adjusting for confounders, each unit increase in LH/FSH resulted in a 21.4% increase in a live birth. The small sample size could be the reason for this difference.

AMH is a product of the granulosa cells of the antral follicles, and serum AMH levels are 2-5 times higher in women with PCOS than in normal subjects due to the increased number of small follicles and excessive production of AMH per follicle (27, 28). We performed an analysis according to the quartile of maternal AMH. When AMH is in the 25th to 100th percentile range, the pregnancy rate of the D5 group is significantly higher than that of the D3 group. When AMH is in the 25th to 75th percentile range, The live birth rate of the D5 group was better than the D3 group, and the difference was statistically significant. Therefore, it can be inferred that the initiation of LE ovulation induction therapy on the fifth day of the menstrual cycle is more suitable for most anovulation PCOS patients.

Hyperandrogenemia is a prominent feature of PCOS and plays a significant role in its pathogenesis (29). Studies have shown that hyperandrogenemia in PCOS may alter the growth and function of early-onset follicles, leading to abnormal follicular development, which may affect conception and pregnancy (30). Our study found that among patients with T <0.8ng/mL, the pregnancy rate in the D5 group was significantly higher than that in the D3 group (76.6% vs. 65.3%, P=0.012). When T≥0.8ng/mL, the pregnancy rate in the D5 group was higher than that in the D3 group, but the difference was not statistically significant (P=0.177). Considering the sample size, we cannot rule out potential differences, which need to be confirmed by further studies.

Furthermore, we discovered that conception rates were significantly higher in the D5 group when TSH was in the 25th-75th percentile range. Logistic regression studies revealed that TSH levels were not substantially related to conception outcomes. Some studies have reported that TSH levels of 2.5 mIU/L did not link with fecundity, pregnancy loss, or live birth (31). That is similar to our findings, where higher D5 group conception rates contributed to identifying novel treatment options in the long term. The increase in E2 (estradiol) levels reduces free thyroid-hormone levels and increases the release of thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH), causing TSH levels to rise as a result of ovarian stimulation (32). That might explain the difference in conception rates between the two groups with high TSH levels.

Our retrospective study had several following limitations. First of all, the sample size was still relatively small, which may affect the results of this study. Then, this study did not manage patients uniformly during the pregnancy because it only analyzed the outcome data based on the completed cases, these intrinsic limitations, may impact its results. Third, this study did not utilize randomization and blinding, which may increase the risk of case selection. Finally, the 2018 guidelines proposed multiple phenotypes of PCOS (33), and our study did not further explore the optimal timing of ovulation induction for LE initiation in PCOS patients with different phenotypes.

In summary, our data showed that women who started LE on the fifth day of their menstrual cycle were superior to those who started LE on the third day as a treatment for anovulatory infertility in women with PCOS. The D5 group was associated with higher ovulation and conception rates and shorter time-topregnancy. These novel results suggest that this simple strategy may be an alternate low-risk, low-cost infertility treatment that offers superior reproductive results. Therefore, we recommend initiating LE on the fifth day of the menstrual cycle may be the best time for OI therapy with PCOS women. A further larger size of prospective randomized controlled studies is needed to clarify the optimal start time of LE OI therapy.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Ethics Review Committee of the Hangzhou Women's Hospital. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

ZZ and LS contributed to the conception of study. LS and SY were responsible for study designing, statistical analyses, and manuscript writing. ZZ and XJ contributed to revising the manuscript. LS, MG, and YC contributed to collecting data. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version. LS and SY have contributed equally to this work.

Funding

This study was supported by grants from the Zhejiang Province Major Science and Technology Program of Medicine and Health [No.WKJ-ZJ-2010] and Hangzhou City Major Science and Technology Program of Medicine and Health [Z20200007].

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the medical staff and patients in the Hangzhou Women's Hospital for recording the data and cooperating with the treatment.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Palomba S. Aromatase inhibitors for ovulation induction. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 100(5):1742–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-4235

2. Palomba S. Is fertility reduced in ovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome? an opinion paper. *Hum Reprod* (2021) 36(9):2421-8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab181

3. Wang R, Li W, Bordewijk EM, Legro RS, Zhang H, Wu X, et al. First-line ovulation induction for polycystic ovary syndrome: an individual participant data meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2019) 25(6):717–32. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz029

4. Thessaloniki EA-SPCWG. Consensus on infertility treatment related to polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod* (2008) 23(3):462–77. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/dem426

5. Badawy A, Metwally M, Fawzy M. Randomized controlled trial of three doses of letrozole for ovulation induction in patients with unexplained infertility. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2007) 14(5):559–62. doi: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)61046-2

6. Amer SA, Smith J, Mahran A, Fox P, Fakis A. Double-blind randomized controlled trial of letrozole versus clomiphene citrate in subfertile women with polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Hum Reprod* (2017) 32(8):1631–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dex227

7. Franik S, Eltrop SM, Kremer JA, Kiesel L, Farquhar C. Aromatase inhibitors (letrozole) for subfertile women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2018) 5:CD010287. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010287.pub3

8. Legro RS, Brzyski RG, Diamond MP, Coutifaris C, Schlaff WD, Casson P, et al. Letrozole versus clomiphene for infertility in the polycystic ovary syndrome. *N Engl J Med* (2014) 371(2):119–29. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1313517

9. Requena A, Herrero J, Landeras J, Navarro E, Neyro JL, Salvador C, et al. Use of letrozole in assisted reproduction: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2008) 14(6):571–82. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmn033

10. Rotterdam EA-SPCWG. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2004) 81 (1):19–25. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2003.10.004

11. Palomba S, de Wilde MA, Falbo A, Koster MP, La Sala GB, Fauser BC. Pregnancy complications in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod Update* (2015) 21(5):575–92. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv029

12. Palomba S, Daolio J, La Sala GB. Oocyte competence in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 28(3):186–98. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.11.008

13. Palomba S, Piltonen TT, Giudice LC. Endometrial function in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2021) 27(3):584–618. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa051

14. Fisher SA, Reid RL, Van Vugt DA, Casper RF. A randomized double-blind comparison of the effects of clomiphene citrate and the aromatase inhibitor letrozole on ovulatory function in normal women. *Fertil Steril* (2002) 78(2):280–5. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(02)03241-7

15. McGrail K, Conway S, Storment J, Buzhardt S, Chappell N. Pregnancy rates from intrauterine insemination are equivalent following 1- versus 5-day letrozole administration for ovulation induction: a retrospective study. *F S Rep* (2020) 1 (3):202–5. doi: 10.1016/j.xfre.2020.07.003

16. Mitwally MF, Casper RF. Single-dose administration of an aromatase inhibitor for ovarian stimulation. *Fertil Steril* (2005) 83(1):229–31. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2004.07.952

17. Badawy A, Mosbah A, Tharwat A, Eid M. Extended letrozole therapy for ovulation induction in clomiphene-resistant women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A novel protocol. *Fertil Steril* (2009) 92(1):236–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.04.065

18. Begum MR, Ferdous J, Begum A, Quadir E. Comparison of efficacy of aromatase inhibitor and clomiphene citrate in induction of ovulation in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2009) 92(3):853–7. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.08.044

19. Roy KK, Baruah J, Singla S, Sharma JB, Singh N, Jain SK, et al. A prospective randomized trial comparing the efficacy of letrozole and clomiphene citrate in induction of ovulation in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *J Hum Reprod Sci* (2012) 5 (1):20–5. doi: 10.4103/0974-1208.97789

20. Chien LW, Au HK, Chen PL, Xiao J, Tzeng CR. Assessment of uterine receptivity by the endometrial-subendometrial blood flow distribution pattern in women undergoing *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer. *Fertil Steril* (2002) 78 (2):245–51. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(02)03223-5

21. Franik S, Le QK, Kremer JA, Kiesel L, Farquhar C. Aromatase inhibitors (letrozole) for ovulation induction in infertile women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2022) 9:CD010287. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010287.pub4

22. Baerwald AR, Adams GP, Pierson RA. Ovarian antral folliculogenesis during the human menstrual cycle: A review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2012) 18 (1):73–91. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmr039

23. Starosta A, Gordon CE, Hornstein MD. Predictive factors for intrauterine insemination outcomes: A review. *Fertil Res Pract* (2020) 6(1):23. doi: 10.1186/s40738-020-00092-1

24. Cena H, Chiovato L, Nappi RE. Obesity, Polycystic Ovary Syndrome, and Infertility: A New Avenue for GLP-1 Receptor Agonists. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2020) 105(8):e2695–709. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa285

25. Saadia Z. Follicle stimulating hormone (LH: FSH) ratio in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) - obese vs. *Non- Obese Women Med Arch* (2020) 74(4):289–93. doi: 10.5455/medarh.2020.74.289-293

26. Tarlatzis BC. The prognostic value of basal luteinizing hormone: Folliclestimulating hormone ratio in the treatment of patients with polycystic ovarian syndrome by assisted reproduction techniques. *Hum Reprod* (1995) 10:2545–9. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a135742

27. Su NJ, Huang CY, Liu J, Kang DY, Wang SL, Liao LJ, et al. Association between baseline LH/FSH and live-birth rate after fresh-embryo transfer in polycystic ovary syndrome women. *Sci Rep* (2021) 11(1):20490. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-021-99850-4

28. Dilaver N, Pellatt L, Jameson E, Ogunjimi M, Bano G, Homburg R, et al. The regulation and signalling of anti-mullerian hormone in human granulosa cells: relevance to polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod* (2019) 34(12):2467–79. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dez214

29. Aflatounian A, Edwards MC, Rodriguez Paris V, Bertoldo MJ, Desai R, Gilchrist RB, et al. Androgen signaling pathways driving reproductive and metabolic phenotypes in a PCOS mouse model. *J Endocrinol* (2020) 245(3):381–95. doi: 10.1530/JOE-19-0530

30. Wang ET, Diamond MP, Alvero R, Casson P, Christman GM, Coutifaris C, et al. Androgenicity and fertility treatment in women with unexplained infertility. *Fertil Steril* (2020) 113(3):636–41. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.10.034

31. Jin L, Wang M, Yue J, Zhu GJ, Zhang B. Association between TSH level and pregnancy outcomes in euthyroid women undergoing IVF/ICSI: A retrospective study and meta-analysis. *Curr Med Sci* (2019) 39(4):631–7. doi: 10.1007/s11596-019-2084-5

32. Poppe K. MANAGEMENT OF ENDOCRINE DISEASE: Thyroid and female infertility: more questions than answers?! *Eur J Endocrinol* (2021) 184(4):R123-R135. doi: 10.1530/EJE-20-1284

33. Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L, et al. Recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2018) 110(3):364–79. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.05.004

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Palomba, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY Tiziana Russo, Mediterranea University of Reggio Calabria, Italy Gonzalo Cruz, Universidad de Valparaiso, Chile

*CORRESPONDENCE Noha M. Shawky nelsayed@umc.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 28 June 2022 ACCEPTED 31 October 2022 PUBLISHED 30 November 2022

CITATION

Shawky NM (2022) Cardiovascular disease risk in offspring of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:977819. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.977819

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shawky. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cardiovascular disease risk in offspring of polycystic ovary syndrome

Noha M. Shawky^{1,2*}

¹Department of Cell and Molecular Biology, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, United States, ²Women's Health Research Center, Mississippi Center of Excellence in Perinatal Research, University of Mississippi Medical Center, Jackson, MS, United States

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is the most common endocrine disorder affecting women at reproductive age. PCOS diagnosis (Rotterdam criteria) is based on the presence of two out of three criteria; clinical and/or biochemical hyperandrogenism, oligo- or an-ovulation and polycystic ovaries. PCOS women suffer from a constellation of reproductive and metabolic abnormalities including obesity and insulin resistance. PCOS women also have increased blood pressure and increased risk of cardiovascular diseases (CVD). In-utero, offspring of PCOS women are exposed to altered maternal hormonal environment and maternal obesity (for most of PCOS women). Offspring of PCOS women could also be subject to genetic susceptibility, the transgenerational transmission of some of the PCOS traits or epigenetic changes. Offspring of PCOS women are commonly reported to have an abnormal birth weight, which is also a risk factor for developing CVD and hypertension later in life. Although studies have focused on the growth pattern, reproductive and metabolic health of children of PCOS women, very limited number of studies have addressed the risk of hypertension and CVD in those offspring particularly as they age. The current narrative review is designed to summarize the available literature (both human studies and experimental animal studies) and highlight the gaps in addressing hypertension and CVD risks in offspring of PCOS women or hyperandrogenemic female animal models.

KEYWORDS

cardiovascular disease, hypertension, polycystic ovary syndrome, offspring, sex differences

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is the most common endocrine disorder affecting women at reproductive age (1). Although the guidelines for diagnosis of PCOS have evolved over time, the currently-used Rotterdam criteria developed by the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology/American Society for Reproductive Medicine Rotterdam consensus (ESHRE/ASRM) requires the presence of two out of three features to establish a PCOS diagnosis: oligo- or an-ovulation (OA), clinical and/or biochemical hyperandrogenism (HA), and polycystic ovarian morphology (PCOM) on ultrasound (2).

In addition to being a reproductive and endocrine disorder, PCOS women suffer from metabolic anomalies and obesity, which is their highest priority reason for seeking medical care (3). PCOS women also have increased blood pressure (BP) and increased risk of cardiovascular diseases [CVD] (4), with various involved mechanisms including obesity, sympathetic nervous system activation, renin-angiotensin system (RAS) activation and increased 20-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (20-HETE) in the renal microvasculature [reviewed in (5)]. Given the myriad of signs/symptoms associating PCOS, a lot of questions arise about the health of the offspring. In part they are subjected to the altered *in-utero* environment including maternal hyperandrogenemia. They are also subjected to maternal obesity which has been shown to negatively impact the cardiovascular and metabolic health of the offspring (6-9). The altered maternal environment persists across the lactation period if their mothers are nursing them. There is also a genetic component and the possible transgenerational transmission of PCOS traits (10, 11). Studies have addressed the growth patterns and metabolic and reproductive health of the offspring (12-14). However, very limited studies addressed the risk of developing hypertension in the offspring, which represents a major risk factor for CVD (15), and whether those risks are sex-specific.

Pregnancy in PCOS women, and associated complications

PCOS women have difficulty getting pregnant and they often require assisted reproduction [e.g. invitro fertilization] (16). PCOS women diagnosed according to the Rotterdam criteria could have one of 4 different phenotypes; full-blown phenotype A (having PCOM, OA and HA), phenotype B (having HA and OA), phenotype C (ovulatory PCOS having HA and PCOM) and phenotype D (non-hyperandrogenic PCOS having OA and PCOM] (17, 18). Decreased fertility in women with PCOS could not be fully explained on the basis of ovulatory dysfunction (19, 20). A comprehensive review utilizing literature from 1970 - 2020 showed that PCOS women exhibit endometrial dysfunction which partly underlies their poor reproductive outcomes. This dysfunction could be due to hyperandrogenemia, insulin resistance, obesity or even chronic inflammation (21). Decreased fertility in PCOS women could also be a result of decreased oocyte competence, which could be influenced by PCOS comorbidities (obesity and insulin resistance) in addition to the differences between the PCOS phenotypes (20).

Studies addressing PCOS pregnancy-associated complications have some discrepancy in their findings. For example, Haakova

and colleagues have shown that PCOS is not associated with increased risk of gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) or pregnancy-induced hypertension (PIH) along with no significance in the gestational weight gain between PCOS and control women (22). On the contrary, the majority of studies found that PCOS women have increased risk of miscarriage, PIH, GDM, pre-eclamptic toxaemia and preterm delivery (23, 24). Homburg and colleagues showed that results of different studies are related to their cohort size, where studies with fairly-small cohorts (n = 22-47) show increased incidence of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy in PCOS, while large-scale studies found no correlation between PCOS and hypertensive disorders of pregnancy [reviewed in (25)]. Another important consideration is the variability of the criteria used for diagnosis of PCOS women enrolled in those studies starting by the NIH 1990 criteria and including the currently-used Rotterdam criteria, with some studies even not mentioning the criteria used. It is also important to think of this discrepancy from the view of the control group, it is possible that the variation in the control group used (whether they are just age-matched healthy women or age-matched and body mass index (BMI)-matched women) is the reason behind the variation seen between the findings of those studies. An extensive review summarizing clinical and pathophysiological features of pregnancy in PCOS concluded that PCOS women have a clinically-significant increased risk (3-4 fold) of pregnancy complications (including PIH, PE, GDM and premature delivery) compared with controls without adjusting for other confounders (including BMI, infertility treatments and others). Women with PCOS still had increased risks of the same pregnancy complications after adjusting for confounders (1.5-2 fold) compared to women without PCOS (26). Unfortunately, the exact pathophysiological mechanism of pregnancy complications in PCOS remains unclear.

The question remains as to whether pregnancy complications are linked to a certain PCOS phenotype. PCOS women diagnosed according to the Rotterdam criteria could have one of 4 different phenotypes; full-blown phenotype A (having PCOM, OA and HA), phenotype B (having HA and OA), phenotype C (ovulatory PCOS having HA and PCOM) and phenotype D (non-hyperandrogenic PCOS having OA and PCOM] (17, 18). Palomba et al., (27), reported increased cumulative rates of adverse obstetric and neonatal outcomes in PCOS women compared to BMI-matched controls. The authors compared the ovulatory PCOS women to the oligo- or anovulatory PCOS women and found that the latter group had higher risk of miscarriages, PIH, GDM and operative delivery. Although the risk of pre-eclampsia (PE) was higher in PCOS women than controls, it was similar between ovulatory and oligo- or an-ovulatory women with PCOS (27). The same study categorized women into the 4 Rotterdam phenotypes and showed that the full-blown PCOS (phenotype A) and phenotype B had the highest incidence (93% and 86%, respectively) of adverse neonatal and obstetric outcomes, followed by phenotypes D and C (60% and 22%, respectively) (27). On the other hand, a recent retrospective study that used data extracted from computerized database in France showed that oocyte morphology (essential for fertilization and subsequent fetal development) and percentage of normal oocytes was similar between women with PCOS phenotypes A, C and D (28). In an opinion paper, the author suggested that PCOS women have reduced fertility that is caused by altered oocytes, embryo and endometrial competence, regardless of their ovulatory status (19).

Offspring birth weight in PCOS; human studies versus experimental animal studies

Studies indicated that PCOS pregnancy could be associated with increased risk of abnormal birth weight in the offspring. The majority of studies showed offspring are born small-forgestational age (SGA), an indication of intrauterine growth restriction [IUGR] [(24, 29, 30) and reviewed in (23, 25)], and some studies showed offspring are born large-for-gestational age [LGA] (16, 31). The variation could be attributed to the different phenotypes of PCOS, different diagnostic criteria used, different ethnicities of PCOS women or environmental factors surrounding the PCOS women (32) or differences in the prepregnancy BMI (33) or maternal diet consumed during pregnancy and lactation. Palomba et al. showed an increased incidence of SGA and LGA and decreased incidence of appropriate-for-gestational age (AGA) babies in women with PCOS compared to controls. The authors showed that only babies from PCOS mothers of phenotypes A and B had significantly higher risk of being born SGA than babies from mothers with phenotypes D and are less likely to be born AGA than babies from mothers with phenotypes D or C, suggesting that the combination of hyperandrogenemia and ovulation disturbance as a key factor for abnormal birth weight in the offspring (27). Interestingly, women with phenotype C and D in this study had a similar percentage of AGA babies as seen in control women of the same study (~ 80 - 86%) (27). Fux-Otta et al. compared pregnancy outcomes from two Latin American populations of women with PCOS and found that offspring from Argentinian PCOS women had higher incidence of SGA babies compared to Chilean PCOS women after adjusting to different maternal factors (32).

Theories behind having SGA babies in PCOS included insulin resistance and insulin-dependent growth dysfunction (25). Another hypothesis is that fetal exposure to excess androgens can induce changes in differentiating tissues, which would also cause the PCOS phenotype to develop in adult life (34). PCOS women with clinical signs of hyperandrogenism have been shown to have decreased endometrial and sub-

endometrial blood flow indices (35), which could affect offspring birth weight. Chekir et al. also reported impaired uterine artery perfusion in women with PCOS that correlates with their hyperandrogenemia (36). According to the Barker hypothesis, SGA offspring are at increased risk of metabolic disease, obesity and hypertension as they age (37, 38). LGA offspring are also at increased risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes with aging (39). Unfortunately, the impact of birth weight on cardiovascular health later in life or the correlation between the maternal PCOS phenotype and the later cardiovascular health in PCOS offspring has not been clearly studied. Gunning and colleagues showed that there was no correlation between maternal androgen levels and offspring BMI or blood pressure at infancy or early childhood (2.5-8 years). Unfortunately, although mothers in this study were diagnosed according to the Rotterdam criteria, the study did not aim at differentiating between the different PCOS phenotypes (33).

On the other hand animal studies have consistently described IUGR in offspring exposed to maternal hyperandrogenemia. It is important to highlight that androgen injection or implantation is the tool utilized by those studies to induce maternal conditions that mimic human PCOS. In sheep, testosterone injections in the dams during early-mid pregnancy (gestational day (GD)30 - GD90; term is 147 days) caused females offspring only (40, 41) or offspring of both sexes (42) to be born with IUGR. In rats, testosterone injections in dams during late pregnancy (GD15 - GD19 of pregnancy; term is 21 days) results in IUGR in female offspring (43) or male offspring (44) or offspring of both sexes (45). Similarly, our studies have shown that maternal exposure to 5 alpha-dihydrotestosterone (DHT) starting prepubertally and continuing throughout pregnancy and lactation results in obesity and insulin resistance in the dams. Importantly, under those conditions of impaired maternal metabolic health and maternal hyperandrogenemia, but no maternal hyperglycemia, offspring of both sexes were still born with IUGR (46-48). Prenatal androgen-induced fetal growth restriction has been attributed to defective transfer of amino acids to the fetus (45), impaired placental function (34) or decreased insulin growth factor availability (42). This could support the suggestion that maternal factors other than hyperandrogenemia (e.g. maternal diet or GDM or other comorbidities) are responsible for having LGA offspring in some PCOS women.

Do daughters of PCOS women develop hypertension? data from human studies

The pathogenesis behind the development of PCOS is not clear. The origin of PCOS is thought to be multi-factorial and

involves an interaction of environmental and genetic factors over the life span. Environmental factors associated with PCOS can be classified into prenatal (intra-uterine environment and fetal developmental programming) or postnatal [diet, obesity, sedentary life style, etc.] (49). Therefore daughters of PCOS women were often studied for their potential to develop PCOS themselves. Some studies show that female offspring of PCOS mothers develop symptoms of PCOS (hyperandrogenemia, cystic ovaries, abnormal menses) with adolescence and young adulthood, and some studies do not, hence whether female PCOS offspring develop PCOS themselves is controversial. For example, some studies found PCOS daughters to have increased insulin (50-52), BMI (53), ovarian volume (52), increased anti-Mullerian hormone (53, 54), menstrual disturbances (54), and increased levels of testosterone pre- and post-pubertal (51, 52, 54). Meanwhile other studies found PCOS daughters to have similar BMI (52, 55) and ovarian volume as controls (56), with no change in insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance post-puberty (57), and no increase in testosterone in childhood (55) when compared to BMI-matched controls (53, 54). De Leo, et al., suggested a crossgenerational relationship between the degree of maternal hyperandrogenism and the development of PCOS in their daughters (58).

Despite those extensive studies on the reproductive and metabolic health of daughters of PCOS women, little is known about their risk for hypertension and CVD. Daughters (4-17 years of age) of PCOS mothers (diagnosed according to the older NIH criteria) had similar BMI, body composition and importantly BP (cuff method) compared to controls at all assessed ages (56). Another study showed that normal weight eumenorrheic daughters of PCOS mothers that have PCOM are still at increased risk of CVD as demonstrated by increased ambulatory BP and decreased plasma nitric oxide (NO) metabolites, along with hyperinsulinemia and hyperglycemia at 24-26 years of age, despite the absence of hyperandrogenemia in those daughters (59).

Lessons from animal studies in female offspring

PCOS is diagnosed as early as menarche. PCOS women have a 2-3 fold increase in their androgen levels. Studies have shown that women with PCOS maintained a high androgen level throughout pregnancy (60-63) and lactation (64). In addition to this, the majority of PCOS women suffer from a myriad of signs/symptoms that include obesity, insulin resistance and glucose intolerance, all of which could induce reproductive dysfunction and adverse effects on the offspring.

Our group used a rat model of hyperandrogenemia, originally developed by Manneras and colleagues (65), that is induced by subcutaneous implantation of DHT pellets in female Sprague Dawley (SD) rats starting at 4 weeks of age (prepubertal) to induce hyperandrogenemia as seen in PCOS women (66). Manneras, et al., showed that the DHT-treated rats exhibited irregular cycles along with PCOM (65). The pellet releases the androgen over a period of 90 days and is replaced every 85 days so hyperandrogenemia is maintained throughout the rat life, as in PCOS, making it suitable for studying different age changes in PCOS (47, 67-69). DHT, unlike testosterone, is a non-aromatizable androgen, therefore does not cause an increase in estradiol levels, neither does it suppress endogenous synthesis of estradiol in rats (66). Upon induction of hyperandrogenemia, rats developed obesity (increased fat mass), insulin resistance, glucose intolerance and an increase in their BP, same as what happens in PCOS women (66). Upon breeding DHT-treated SD females with vendor-supplied SD males, pregnancy occurred in 60% of DHT-treated females, compared to 99% in controls, and offspring are born smaller than control offspring despite the similar liter size, suggesting IUGR as seen in SGA babies from PCOS women (46-48). Thus offspring born to this rat model provide a very realistic tool to assess the CVD risks and their mechanisms in offspring of hyperandrogenemic dams as an experimental model of PCOS.

Female offspring born to DHT-treated females had similar estradiol and testosterone levels compared to control offspring as adults. They did not develop obesity (increased fat mass), had a normal serum lipid profile and normal renal function (indicated by normal proteinuria levels) as adults (46). Surprisingly, female offspring of DHT-treated dams had lower urinary nitrate/nitrite excretion, but remained normotensive. Nitrates/nitrites are metabolites of the vasodilator NO and are used as a measure of endogenous NO levels. We tested their response to exogenous angiotensin (Ang) II after blocking their endogenous RAS by enalapril, an Ang converting enzyme inhibitor, and found that they had a suppressed response to Ang II which could indicate being protected against CVD risks (46). Our results from the female offspring of DHT-treated dams are summarized in Table 1. Similar to our studies, using a mouse model injected with DHT during pregnancy (GD16.5 - GD18.5, late pregnancy in mice), female offspring developed cardiac hypertrophy with no change in their BP. The findings in the mouse model were independent of maternal diet and the metabolic profile of the female offspring (70).

Chinnathambi et al. used a rat model to show that female offspring of dams injected with testosterone (GD15 – GD19, late pregnancy in rats) developed hyperandrogenemia and hypertension as adults. The authors concluded that hypertension in those female offspring was mediated by gonadal testosterone because ovariectomy normalized BP (71). They also showed that female offspring develop a decrease in the levels of NO synthase in their mesenteric arteries, with a decrease in NO-mediated vascular relaxation (72). More and colleagues used a similar model and showed that female offspring develop hypertension as adults, along with an increased contractile response to Ang II in mesenteric arteries due to downregulation of Ang II type-2 receptors (73). King et al.

used a sheep model to show that female offspring of dams injected with testosterone (GD30 - GD90, early-mid pregnancy in sheep) also develop mild hypertension as adults. However hypertension is independent of gonadal hormones. It was also independent of plasma aldosterone and catecholamine levels (74). Importantly, testosterone is an aromatizable androgen that is converted to estradiol causing high levels of estradiol during gestation, which raises the question whether the hypertensive effect in the female offspring in those studies is purely androgenic or partly estrogenic.

Do sons of PCOS develop hypertension, and are there sex differences in CVD risks in offspring of PCOS? data from human studies

Despite the accumulating evidence of the existence of sex differences in the etiology of hypertension and CVD risks (75, 76), studies have not clearly addressed sex differences in the risk of CVD in children born to PCOS mothers. For instance, children of PCOS women, aged 2.5 - 8 years (not separated by sex), had higher aortic pulse pressure, left ventricular internal diameter, and carotid intima-to-media thickness compared to control children (77). The same study pointed out that children of PCOS mothers also had higher triglycerides (TG) and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-c) compared to controls (77). Another study that used data from the Western Australia Data linkage system pointed out that PCOS offspring (not separated by sex) are at increased risk of

postnatal hospitalizations and were at higher risk of being born with congenital cardiovascular anomalies [1.5% compared with 1.0%, odds ratio 1.37, 95% CI 1.01-1.87] (78), which suggests their increased risk of CVD later in life.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of nine observational studies including offspring of PCOS women from Chile, Netherlands and the US re-analyzed the data with/without stratifying for the sex of the offspring and summarized cardiometabolic health as metabolic sum scores 1 (BMI + systolic BP (SBP) + insulin levels + TG + high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c)) and 2 (waist-to-height ratio + SBP + glucose + TG + HDL-c). The authors showed that both metabolic sum scores 1 and 2 were not different between PCOS offspring and control offspring when the data are not stratified for sex; however, with the stratification there was a significant interaction between both sexes, suggesting that sex of the offspring was a significant mediator of cardiometabolic outcomes, when comparing PCOS offspring versus control offspring (13).

A Chilean study recruited sons of women with PCOS (NIH criteria) at 2-3 months of age (infants), 4-7 years of age (children), and 18-30 years of age (adults) to study their metabolic health. The authors showed that sons of PCOS women had increased body weights at all tested ages compared to controls, and had insulin resistance with hyperinsulinemia as adults (79). Later on, the same group showed that sons of women with PCOS (NIH criteria) at 7-18 years of age had hypercholesterolemia and increased LDL-c compared to controls (80). Unfortunately, neither study addressed BP in PCOS sons. Thus it remains unclear whether sons of women with PCOS are at increased risk of developing hypertension or CVD as adults or not.



morphology; GDM, gestational diabetes mellitus; PIH, pregnancy-induced hypertension; PE, pre-eclampsia; LGA, large-for-gestational age; SGA, small-for-gestational age

Lessons from animal studies in male offspring

Using our DHT-treated rat model explained earlier, adult male offspring had a decrease in their body weights that is mediated by a decrease in their lean mass. They also developed hypercholesterolemia and increased urinary protein excretion (marker of renal injury). Importantly, although those males remained normotensive at baseline, they had an exaggerated pressor response to chronic Ang II after blocking their endogenous RAS with enalapril (Table 1) (48). This could suggest an increased risk of hypertension and CVD with aging in male offspring of hyperandrogenemic dams.

Chinnathambi, et al., showed that although both male and female offspring of testosterone-treated dams (rat model) develop hypertension as adults, the increase in BP in prenatal testosteroneexposed adult males was more pronounced than in females (71). Unlike female offspring, male offspring of testosterone-treated dams developed a decrease in endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor-mediated relaxation of mesenteric rings (72). Injecting testosterone directly into the flanks of male fetuses (GD62 -GD82, post-sexual differentiation in sheep fetus) resulted in dyslipidemia and altered metabolic health (hyperinsulinemia with normal testosterone levels) (81), but the authors did not address BP.

What happens to BP in offspring of PCOS with aging?

Currently-used criteria for diagnosis of PCOS (Rotterdam criteria) have been in place since 2003/4, which makes offspring of the population of women diagnosed according to this diagnosis

paradigm still in their late teens (2). Older criteria (NIH) were in place in 1990, so offspring of this population are now in their third decade of life. Therefore, human studies so far have not addressed the question of whether maternal hyperandrogenemia as seen in PCOS would impact cardiovascular health of the offspring as they age. In fact, studies addressing the impact of aging on the cardiovascular health of PCOS women themselves are still lacking. It is well-accepted that males are at increased risk of hypertension and CVD when they are young, compared to age-matched women [reviewed in (82)]. According to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey conducted on 9,623 participants, the prevalence of stage 2 hypertension (SBP/DBP >/= 140/90 mmHg) among women older than 75 years was 78% compared to 71% in men. Also the prevalence of stage 1 hypertension (SBP/DBP >/= 130/80 mmHg) among women older than 75 years was 85% compared to 79% in men (83). The question still remains as to whether male and female offspring of PCOS mothers will carry exaggerated risks of CVD with aging or not.

Using the DHT-treated female rats, we have shown that female offspring at 16-18 months of age (post-estrous cycling) remained normotensive, despite decreased renal function (higher proteinuria). They had lower heart rates compared to the adult female offspring of DHT-treated females, suggesting further damage to the heart function with further aging. Post-estrous cycling female offspring of DHT-treated dams also had similar fat mass and body weight, but higher serum total cholesterol compared to age-matched controls. We challenged them with exogenous angiotensin II after blocking their endogenous RAS with enalapril to determine their pressor response. Post-estrous cycling female offspring of DHT-treated dams had a suppressed pressor response to Ang II and Ang II plus 4% salt diet, which could be partly due to increased intrarenal Ang 1-7 (vasodilator arm of RAS). Our future studies will aim at addressing CVD risk in the female offspring with further aging, and in male offspring (46).

TABLE 1 Characteristics of female and male offspring of DHT-treated dams compared to their age- and sex-matched controls.

	Adult male off- spring (4-6 months of age)	Adult female off- spring (4-6 months of age)	Post-estrous cycling female off- spring (16-20 months of age)
Born smaller than controls (intra-uterine growth restriction)	Yes (47, 48)	Ye	s (46, 47)
Body weight	Lower (48)	Similar (<mark>46</mark>)	Similar (46)
Lean mass	Lower (48)	Similar (46)	Similar (46)
Fat mass	Similar (48)	Similar (46)	Similar (46)
Serum total cholesterol	Higher (48)	Similar (46)	Higher (46)
Proteinuria (marker of renal injury)	Higher (48)	Similar (46)	Higher (46)
Urinary nitrates/nitrites (measure of the endogenous vasodilator NO)	Similar (48)	Lower (46)	Similar (46)
Baseline blood pressure	Similar (48)	Similar (46)	Similar (46)
Pressor response to Ang II after blocking endogenous RAS	Exaggerated (48)	Suppressed (46)	Suppressed (46)
Pressor response to Ang II plus salt diet after blocking endogenous RAS	Not tested	Not tested	Suppressed (46)

NO, nitric oxide; Ang, angiotensin; RAS, renin-angiotensin system.

Impact of life style, diet or different medications received during PCOS pregnancy on offspring cardiovascular health

Another great gap in our knowledge is the impact of different factors including the PCOS mother's life style and medications on the offspring cardiovascular health and their risk of developing hypertension. For example, some studies pointed out an increased prevalence of PCOS in western diet (WD)-consuming females (84, 85). Szczuko, et al., even suggested that the improper diet is the main reason behind metabolic abnormalities in PCOS (86). However, studies addressing the impact of maternal diet in PCOS on offspring cardiovascular health or risk of hypertension are lacking. Bishop and colleagues have shown that in Rhesus Macaques, testosterone-treated females require increased time to achieve pregnancy; however, WD-fed Macaques had decreased numbers of pregnancies and overall fertility to 70%. Importantly, testosterone-treatment plus WD consumption simultaneously decreased the number of viable fetuses compared to either testosterone or WD alone (87). Testosterone plus WD also promoted an increase in fasting blood glucose level and impairment of glucose tolerance during pregnancy (87), which could suggest further metabolic derangements in the offspring as they age. However, using a mouse model, Risal, et al., showed that prenatal androgen exposure, but not maternal WD consumption, causes transgenerational reproductive and metabolic dysfunction in female offspring (11). Neither addressed the cardiovascular health or BP of offspring with aging.

Another example is the use of metformin by pregnant PCOS women and its effect on their offspring BP as they go into adulthood. Various studies have addressed the role of metformin in reducing the incidence of miscarriage and GDM in pregnant PCOS [(88) and reviewed in (89, 90)]. Others found that metformin treatment during the whole pregnancy in PCOS could reduce the risk of IUGR in offspring [from 17%-22% in groups untreated with metformin or treated for only certain period during their pregnancies to 2% in group treated with metformin across the whole pregnancy] (88). On the contrary, a follow-up study on two randomized controlled trials showed that metformin-exposed children had higher BMI and increased prevalence of overweight/obesity at 4 years of age (91). Using a rat model of PCOS, Xie, et al., showed that metformin treatment during pregnancy reduces the risks of insulin resistance and obesity in female offspring (92).

Torstein and colleagues performed a follow-up study on a randomized clinical trial to include children of PCOS women (~ half of them received metformin during pregnancy and the other half were placebo-treated) with an average age of 8 years. In both metformin and placebo groups, BP in the offspring was within

the normal range for the gender and age studied. However, SBP was higher in the metformin group (106 mmHg vs. 101 mmHg) with a borderline significance of p = 0.05. Meanwhile, DBP was not different between the groups. This study has a very limited number of participants with the majority of the metformin group being boys and the majority of the placebo group being girls, and data were not stratified according to sex most likely because of the limited number of participants (93).

Conclusion

Based on their abnormal birth weight, exposure to altered maternal environment both *in-utero* and during lactation and possible trans-generational transmission of some PCOS traits, the risk of hypertension and CVD in offspring of PCOS may be strongly predicted as shown in Figure 1. However, studies have not yet clearly addressed those risks in either adult or aging offspring. Sex differences are strongly suggested and should be examined further. Animal studies paying attention to duration and timing of exposure of dams to hyperandrogenemia and the associated metabolic abnormalities could provide a useful tool for determining the impact of maternal hyperandrogenemia plus maternal obesity (as seen in obese PCOS) on offspring cardiovascular health as adults, and even more importantly with aging.

Author contributions

NS conceptualized and designed the study, performed the literature search, drafted and revised the review article.

Funding

Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number P20GM121334 (N.M.S). The content is solely the responsibility of the author and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. This work was also supported by the American Heart Association Career Development Award Number 938320 (N.M.S.).

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Azziz R. Polycystic ovary syndrome. *Obstetrics Gynecology* (2018) 132 (2):321–36. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000002698

 Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS Consensus Workshop Group. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Hum Reprod* (2004) 19(1):41–7. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/deh098

3. Gibson-Helm M, Teede H, Dunaif A, Dokras A. Delayed diagnosis and a lack of information associated with dissatisfaction in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 102(2):604–12. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-2963

4. Holte J, Gennarelli G, Berne C, Bergh T, Lithell H. Elevated ambulatory daytime blood pressure in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a sign of a prehypertensive state? *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (1996) 11(1):23–8. doi: 10.1093/ oxfordjournals.humrep.a019028

 Reckelhoff JF, Shawky NM, Romero DG, Yanes Cardozo LL. Polycystic ovary syndrome: Insights from pre-clinical research. *Kidney* (2022) 3(8):1449–57. doi: 10.34067/KID.0002052022

6. Chang E, Hafner H, Varghese M, Griffin C, Clemente J, Islam M, et al. Programming effects of maternal and gestational obesity on offspring metabolism and metabolic inflammation. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):16027. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-52583-x

7. Gambineri A, Conforti A, Di Nisio A, Laudisio D, Muscogiuri G, Barrea L, et al. Maternal obesity: focus on offspring cardiometabolic outcomes. *Int J Obes Suppl* (2020) 10(1):27–34. doi: 10.1038/s41367-020-0016-2

8. Godfrey KM, Reynolds RM, Prescott SL, Nyirenda M, Jaddoe VWV, Eriksson JG, et al. Influence of maternal obesity on the long-term health of offspring. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2017) 5(1):53–64. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30107-3

9. Taylor PD, Samuelsson A-M, Poston L. Maternal obesity and the developmental programming of hypertension: a role for leptin. *Acta Physiologica* (2014) 210(3):508–23. doi: 10.1111/apha.12223

10. Risal S, Manti M, Lu H, Fornes R, Larsson H, Benrick A, et al. Prenatal androgen exposure causes a sexually dimorphic transgenerational increase in offspring susceptibility to anxiety disorders. *Transl Psychiatry* (2021) 11(1):45. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-01183-9

11. Risal S, Pei Y, Lu H, Manti M, Fornes R, Pui HP, et al. Prenatal androgen exposure and transgenerational susceptibility to polycystic ovary syndrome. *Nat Med* (2019) 25(12):1894–904. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0666-1

12. Bell GA, Sundaram R, Mumford SL, Park H, Broadney M, Mills JL, et al. Maternal polycystic ovarian syndrome and offspring growth: the upstate KIDS study. J Epidemiol Community Health (2018) 72(9):852–5. doi: 10.1136/jech-2017-210004

13. Gunning MN, Sir Petermann T, Crisosto N, van Rijn BB, de Wilde MA, Christ JP, et al. Cardiometabolic health in offspring of women with PCOS compared to healthy controls: a systematic review and individual participant data meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* (2020) 26(1):103–17. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz036

14. Crisosto N, Sir-Petermann T. Family ties: offspring born to women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Curr Opin Endocr Metab Res* (2020) 12:119–24. doi: 10.1016/j.coemr.2020.05.002

15. Fuchs FD, Whelton PK. High blood pressure and cardiovascular disease. *Hypertension (Dallas Tex 1979)* (2020) 75(2):285-92. doi: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.14240

16. Roos N, Kieler H, Sahlin L, Ekman-Ordeberg G, Falconer H, Stephansson O. Risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: population based cohort study. *Bmj* (2011) 343:d6309. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d6309

17. Lizneva D, Suturina L, Walker W, Brakta S, Gavrilova-Jordan L, Azziz R. Criteria, prevalence, and phenotypes of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertility sterility* (2016) 106(1):6–15. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.05.003

18. Johnson T, Kaplan L, Ouyang P, Rizza R. National institutes of health evidence-based methodology workshop on polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *NIH EbMW Rep Bethesda Natl Institutes Health* (2012) 1:1–14. organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

19. Palomba S. Is fertility reduced in ovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome? an opinion paper. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2021) 36(9):2421–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab181

20. Palomba S, Daolio J, La Sala GB. Oocyte competence in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol metabolism: TEM* (2017) 28(3):186–98. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.11.008

21. Palomba S, Piltonen TT, Giudice LC. Endometrial function in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2020) 27(3):584–618. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa051

22. Haakova L, Cibula D, Rezabek K, Hill M, Fanta M, Zivny J. Pregnancy outcome in women with PCOS and in controls matched by age and weight. *Hum Reprod* (2003) 18(7):1438–41. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deg289

23. Katulski K, Czyzyk A, Podfigurna-Stopa A, Genazzani AR, Meczekalski B. Pregnancy complications in polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *Gynecological Endocrinol* (2015) 31(2):87–91. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2014.974535

24. Kjerulff LE, Sanchez-Ramos L, Duffy D. Pregnancy outcomes in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a metaanalysis. *Am J Obstetrics Gynecology* (2011) 204(6):558.e1–.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2011.03.021

25. Homburg R. Pregnancy complications in PCOS. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 20(2):281-92. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2006.03.009

26. Palomba S, de Wilde MA, Falbo A, Koster MP, La Sala GB, Fauser BC. Pregnancy complications in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod Update* (2015) 21(5):575–92. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmv029

27. Palomba S, Falbo A, Russo T, Tolino A, Orio F, Zullo F. Pregnancy in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: the effect of different phenotypes and features on obstetric and neonatal outcomes. *Fertility sterility* (2010) 94(5):1805–11. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.10.043

28. Uk A, Decanter C, Grysole C, Keller L, Béhal H, Silva M, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome phenotype does not have impact on oocyte morphology. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol RB&E* (2022) 20(1):7. doi: 10.1186/s12958-021-00874-2

29. Sir-Petermann T, Hitchsfeld C, Maliqueo M, Codner E, Echiburú Br, Gazituúa R, et al. Birth weight in offspring of mothers with polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Hum Reprod* (2005) 20(8):2122–6. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dei009

30. Naver KV, Grinsted J, Larsen SO, Hedley PL, Jorgensen FS, Christiansen M, et al. Increased risk of preterm delivery and pre-eclampsia in women with polycystic ovary syndrome and hyperandrogenaemia. *BJOG an Int J obstetrics gynaecology* (2014) 121(5):575–81. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.12558

31. Anderson H, Fogel N, Grebe SK, Singh RJ, Taylor RL, Dunaif A. Infants of women with polycystic ovary syndrome have lower cord blood androstenedione and estradiol levels. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 95(5):2180–6. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2009-2651

32. Fux-Otta C, Maliqueo M, Echiburu B, Rosato O, Crisosto N, Iraci GS, et al. Pregnancy outcomes in women with polycystic ovary syndrome in two Latin American populations. *J obstetrics gynaecology J Institute Obstetrics Gynaecology* (2018) 38(6):750–5. doi: 10.1080/01443615.2017.1410532

 Gunning MN, van Rijn BB, Bekker MN, de Wilde MA, Eijkemans MJC, Fauser BCJM. Associations of preconception body mass index in women with PCOS and BMI and blood pressure of their offspring. *Gynecological Endocrinol* (2019) 35(8):673–8. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2018.1563885

34. Gur EB, Karadeniz M, Turan GA. Fetal programming of polycystic ovary syndrome. *World J Diabetes* (2015) 6(7):936–42. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v6.i7.936

35. Lam P, Johnson I, Raine-Fenning N. Endometrial blood flow is impaired in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome who are clinically hyperandrogenic. *Ultrasound Obstetrics Gynecology* (2009) 34(3):326–34. doi: 10.1002/uog.7314

36. Chekir C, Nakatsuka M, Kamada Y, Noguchi S, Sasaki A, Hiramatsu Y. Impaired uterine perfusion associated with metabolic disorders in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Acta obstetricia gynecologica Scandinavica* (2005) 84 (2):189–95. doi: 10.1111/j.0001-6349.2005.00678.x

37. Barker DJ. Fetal origins of cardiovascular disease. Ann Med (1999) 31 Suppl 1:3-6. doi: 10.1080/07853890.1999.11904392

38. Barker DJ. The developmental origins of adult disease. J Am Coll Nutr (2004) 23(6):588s–95s. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2004.10719428

39. Nordman H, Jääskeläinen J, Voutilainen R. Birth size as a determinant of cardiometabolic risk factors in children. *Hormone Res paediatrics* (2020) 93 (3):144–53. doi: 10.1159/000509932

40. Steckler T, Wang J, Bartol FF, Roy SK, Padmanabhan V. Fetal programming: prenatal testosterone treatment causes intrauterine growth retardation, reduces ovarian reserve and increases ovarian follicular recruitment. *Endocrinology* (2005) 146(7):3185–93. doi: 10.1210/en.2004-1444

41. Veiga-Lopez A, Steckler TL, Abbott DH, Welch KB, MohanKumar PS, Phillips DJ, et al. Developmental programming: impact of excess prenatal testosterone on intrauterine fetal endocrine milieu and growth in sheep. *Biol Reprod* (2011) 84(1):87–96. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.110.086686

42. Manikkam M, Crespi EJ, Doop DD, Herkimer C, Lee JS, Yu S, et al. Fetal programming: prenatal testosterone excess leads to fetal growth retardation and postnatal catch-up growth in sheep. *Endocrinology* (2004) 145(2):790–8. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-0478

43. Sathishkumar K, Elkins R, Yallampalli U, Balakrishnan M, Yallampalli C. Fetal programming of adult hypertension in female rat offspring exposed to androgens in utero. *Early Hum Dev* (2011) 87(6):407–14. doi: 10.1016/ j.earlhumdev.2011.03.001

44. More AS, Mishra JS, Gopalakrishnan K, Blesson CS, Hankins GD, Sathishkumar K. Prenatal testosterone exposure leads to gonadal hormonedependent hyperinsulinemia and gonadal hormone-independent glucose intolerance in adult Male rat offspring. *Biol Reprod* (2016) 94(1):5,1–11. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.115.133157

45. Sathishkumar K, Elkins R, Chinnathambi V, Gao H, Hankins GDV, Yallampalli C. Prenatal testosterone-induced fetal growth restriction is associated with down-regulation of rat placental amino acid transport. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol RB&E* (2011) 9:110–. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-9-110

46. Shawky NM, Dalmasso C, Ojeda NB, Zuchowski Y, Stachenfeld N, Alexander BT, et al. Consequences of hyperandrogenemia during pregnancy in female offspring: attenuated response to angiotensin II. *J Hypertens* (2022) 40 (4):712–22. doi: 10.1097/HJH.000000000003067

47. Shawky NM, Patil CN, Dalmasso C, Maranon RO, Romero DG, Drummond H, et al. Pregnancy protects hyperandrogenemic female rats from postmenopausal hypertension. *Hypertension (Dallas Tex 1979)* (2020) 76(3):943–52. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.120.15504

48. Zuchowski Y, Dalmasso C, Shawky NM, Reckelhoff JF. Cardiometabolic consequences of maternal hyperandrogenemia in male offspring. *Physiol Rep* (2021) 9(14):e14941. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14941

49. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Piperi C, Spina J, Argyrakopoulou G, Papanastasiou L, Bergiele A, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome: the influence of environmental and genetic factors. *Hormones (Athens)* (2006) 5(1):17-34. doi: 10.14310/horm.2002.11165

50. Kent SC, Gnatuk CL, Kunselman AR, Demers LM, Lee PA, Legro RS. Hyperandrogenism and hyperinsulinism in children of women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a controlled study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93(5):1662–9. doi: 10.1210/ic.2007-1958

51. Sir-Petermann T, Maliqueo M, Codner E, Echiburu B, Crisosto N, Perez V, et al. Early metabolic derangements in daughters of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2007) 92(12):4637–42. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-1036

52. Sir-Petermann T, Codner E, Pérez V, Echiburú Br, Maliqueo M, Ladrón de Guevara A, et al. Metabolic and reproductive features before and during puberty in daughters of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 94(6):1923–30. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-2836

53. Torchen LC, Legro RS, Dunaif A. Distinctive reproductive phenotypes in peripubertal girls at risk for polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2019) 104(8):3355–61. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-02313

54. Olszanecka-Glinianowicz M, Zachurzok A, Drosdzol-Cop A, Bozetowicz-Wikarek M, Owczarek A, Gawlik A, et al. Circulating anti-mullerian hormone levels in daughters of women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hormone Res paediatrics* (2016) 85(6):372–8. doi: 10.1159/000444637

55. Sir-Petermann T, Codner E, Maliqueo M, Echiburú Br, Hitschfeld C, Crisosto Ns, et al. Increased anti-Müllerian hormone serum concentrations in prepubertal daughters of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2006) 91(8):3105–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-2693

56. Legro RS, Kunselman AR, Stetter CM, Gnatuk CL, Estes SJ, Brindle E, et al. Normal pubertal development in daughters of women with PCOS: A controlled study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 102(1):122–31. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-2707

57. Harnois-Leblanc S, Trottier A, Leblanc S, Battista MC, Geller DH, Baillargeon JP. Evolution of metabolic alterations 5 years after early puberty in a cohort of girls predisposed to polycystic ovary syndrome. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol RB&E* (2017) 15(1):56. doi: 10.1186/s12958-017-0275-0

58. De Leo V, Musacchio MC, Cappelli V, Massaro MG, Morgante G, Petraglia F. Genetic, hormonal and metabolic aspects of PCOS: an update. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2016) 14(1):38. doi: 10.1186/s12958-016-0173-x

59. Battaglia C, Mancini F, Cianciosi A, Busacchi P, Persico N, Paradisi R, et al. Cardiovascular risk in normal weight, eumenorrheic, nonhirsute daughters of patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: a pilot study. *Fertility sterility* (2009) 92 (1):240–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.05.018

60. Falbo A, Rocca M, Russo T, D'Ettore A, Tolino A, Zullo F, et al. Changes in androgens and insulin sensitivity indexes throughout pregnancy in women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): relationships with adverse outcomes. *J Ovarian Res* (2010) 3:23. doi: 10.1186/1757-2215-3-23

61. Sir-Petermann T, Maliqueo M, Angel B, Lara HE, Perez-Bravo F, Recabarren SE. Maternal serum androgens in pregnant women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: possible implications in prenatal androgenization. *Hum Reprod* (2002) 17(10):2573–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/17.10.2573

62. Maliqueo M, Lara HE, Sanchez F, Echiburu B, Crisosto N, Sir-Petermann T. Placental steroidogenesis in pregnant women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur J obstetrics gynecology Reprod Biol* (2013) 166(2):151–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2012.10.015

63. Homburg R, Gudi A, Shah A, M. Layton A. A novel method to demonstrate that pregnant women with polycystic ovary syndrome hyper-expose their fetus to androgens as a possible stepping stone for the developmental theory of PCOS. a pilot study. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol RB&*/E (2017) 15(1):61. doi: 10.1186/s12958-017-0282-1

64. Maliqueo M, Sir-Petermann T, Salazar G, Pérez-Bravo F, Recabarren SE, Wildt L. Resumption of ovarian function during lactational amenorrhoea in breastfeeding women with polycystic ovarian syndrome: metabolic aspects. *Hum Reprod* (2001) 16(8):1598–602. doi: 10.1093/humrep/16.8.1598

65. Mannerås L, Cajander S, Holmäng A, Seleskovic Z, Lystig T, Lönn M, et al. A new rat model exhibiting both ovarian and metabolic characteristics of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Endocrinology* (2007) 148(8):3781–91. doi: 10.1210/en.2007-0168

66. Yanes LL, Romero DG, Moulana M, Lima R, Davis DD, Zhang H, et al. Cardiovascular-renal and metabolic characterization of a rat model of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Gend Med* (2011) 8(2):103–15. doi: 10.1016/j.genm.2010.11.013

67. Yanes Cardozo LL, Romero DG, Reckelhoff JF. Cardiometabolic features of polycystic ovary syndrome: Role of androgens. *Physiol (Bethesda Md)* (2017) 32 (5):357–66. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00030.2016

68. Dalmasso C, Maranon R, Patil C, Bui E, Moulana M, Zhang H, et al. Cardiometabolic effects of chronic hyperandrogenemia in a new model of postmenopausal polycystic ovary syndrome. *Endocrinology* (2016) 157(7):2920– 7. doi: 10.1210/en.2015-1617

69. Patil CN, Racusen LC, Reckelhoff JF. Consequences of advanced aging on renal function in chronic hyperandrogenemic female rat model: implications for aging women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Physiol Rep* (2017) 5(20):e13461. doi: 10.14814/phy2.13461

70. Manti M, Fornes R, Pironti G, McCann Haworth S, Zhengbing Z, Benrick A, et al. Maternal androgen excess induces cardiac hypertrophy and left ventricular dysfunction in female mice offspring. *Cardiovasc Res* (2019) 116(3):619–32. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvz180

71. Chinnathambi V, Balakrishnan M, Yallampalli C, Sathishkumar K. Prenatal testosterone exposure leads to hypertension that is gonadal hormone-dependent in adult rat male and female offspring. *Biol Reprod* (2012) 86(5):137, 1–7. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.111.097550

72. Chinnathambi V, Yallampalli C, Sathishkumar K. Prenatal testosterone induces sex-specific dysfunction in endothelium-dependent relaxation pathways in adult male and female rats. *Biol Reprod* (2013) 89(4):97. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.113.111542

73. More AS, Mishra JS, Hankins GD, Kumar S. Prenatal testosterone exposure decreases aldosterone production but maintains normal plasma volume and increases blood pressure in adult female rats. *Biol Reprod* (2016) 95(2):42, 1–11. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.116.141705

74. King AJ, Olivier NB, Mohankumar PS, Lee JS, Padmanabhan V, Fink GD. Hypertension caused by prenatal testosterone excess in female sheep. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2007) 292(6):E1837–41. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00668.2006

75. Gillis EE, Sullivan JC. Sex differences in hypertension: Recent advances. *Hypertension (Dallas Tex 1979)* (2016) 68(6):1322-7. doi: 10.1161/ HYPERTENSIONAHA.116.06602

76. Reckelhoff JF. Gender differences in hypertension. Curr Opin Nephrol hypertension (2018) 27(3):176-81. doi: 10.1097/MNH.000000000000404

77. de Wilde MA, Eising JB, Gunning MN, Koster MPH, Evelein AMV, Dalmeijer GW, et al. Cardiovascular and metabolic health of 74 children from women previously diagnosed with polycystic ovary syndrome in comparison with a population-based reference cohort. *Reprod Sci* (2018) 25(10):1492–500. doi: 10.1177/1933719117749761

78. Doherty DA, Newnham JP, Bower C, Hart R. Implications of polycystic ovary syndrome for pregnancy and for the health of offspring. *Obstet Gynecol* (2015) 125(6):1397–406. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000000852

79. Recabarren SE, Smith R, Rios R, Maliqueo M, Echiburú Br, Codner E, et al. Metabolic profile in sons of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2008) 93(5):1820–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-2256

80. Crisosto N, Echiburú B, Maliqueo M, Luchsinger M, Rojas P, Recabarren S, et al. Reproductive and metabolic features during puberty in sons of women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Endocr Connect* (2017) 6(8):607–13. doi: 10.1530/EC-17-0218

81. Siemienowicz KJ, Filis P, Shaw S, Douglas A, Thomas J, Mulroy S, et al. Fetal androgen exposure is a determinant of adult male metabolic health. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):20195. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-56790-4

82. Reckelhoff JF. Gender differences in the regulation of blood pressure. *Hypertension (Dallas Tex 1979)* (2001) 37(5):1199-208. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.37.5.1199

83. Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ ASPC/NMA/PCNA guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: a report of the American college of Cardiology/American heart association task force on clinical practice guidelines. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2018) 71(19):e127–248. doi: 10.1161/HYP.00000000000000000

84. Shahdadian F, Ghiasvand R, Abbasi B, Feizi A, Saneei P, Shahshahan Z. Association between major dietary patterns and polycystic ovary syndrome: evidence from a case-control study. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab* (2019) 44(1):52–8. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2018-0145

85. Bentov Y. "A Western diet side story": The effects of transitioning to a Western-type diet on fertility. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155(7):2341–2. doi: 10.1210/ en.2014-1405

86. Szczuko M, Sankowska P, Zapałowska-Chwyć M, Wysokiński P. Studies on the quality nutrition in women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Roczniki Panstwowego Zakladu Higieny* (2017) 68:61–7.

87. Bishop CV, Stouffer RL, Takahashi DL, Mishler EC, Wilcox MC, Slayden OD, et al. Chronic hyperandrogenemia and western-style diet beginning at puberty reduces fertility and increases metabolic dysfunction during pregnancy in young adult, female macaques. *Hum Reprod* (2018) 33(4):694–705. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey013

88. Nawaz FH, Khalid R, Naru T, Rizvi J. Does continuous use of metformin throughout pregnancy improve pregnancy outcomes in women with polycystic ovarian syndrome? *J Obstet Gynaecol Res* (2008) 34(5):832–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2008.00856.x

89. Jorquera G, Echiburú B, Crisosto N, Sotomayor-Zárate R, Maliqueo M, Cruz G. Metformin during pregnancy: Effects on offspring development and metabolic function. *Front Pharmacol* (2020) 11:653–. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00653

90. Ghazeeri GS, Nassar AH, Younes Z, Awwad JT. Pregnancy outcomes and the effect of metformin treatment in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: an overview. *Acta obstetricia gynecologica Scandinavica* (2012) 91(6):658–78. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0412.2012.01385.x

91. Hanem LGE, Stridsklev S, Júlíusson PB, Salvesen Ø, Roelants M, Carlsen SM, et al. Metformin use in PCOS pregnancies increases the risk of offspring overweight at 4 years of age: Follow-up of two RCTs. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2018) 103(4):1612–21. doi: 10.1210/jc.2017-02419

92. Xie Y, Xiao L, Li S. Effects of metformin on reproductive, endocrine, and metabolic characteristics of female offspring in a rat model of letrozole-induced polycystic ovarian syndrome with insulin resistance. *Front Endocrinol* (2021) 12. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.701590

93. Rø TB, Ludvigsen HV, Carlsen SM, Vanky E. Growth, body composition and metabolic profile of 8-year-old children exposed to metformin in utero. *Scandinavian J Clin Lab Invest* (2012) 72(7):570–5. doi: 10.3109/00365513.2012.712319

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Palomba, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY

Flavia Costanzi, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Aris Besharat, Sant'Andrea University Hospital, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Zhiming Zhao Image: Contempositic Contempo

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 25 October 2022 ACCEPTED 06 December 2022 PUBLISHED 19 December 2022

CITATION

Jiang R, Cao M, Hao H, Jia R, Chen P, Liu Y and Zhao Z (2022) Effects of follicular output rate on cumulative clinical pregnancy rate and cumulative live birth rate in PCOS patients with different characteristics. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1079502. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1079502

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Jiang, Cao, Hao, Jia, Chen, Liu and Zhao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Effects of follicular output rate on cumulative clinical pregnancy rate and cumulative live birth rate in PCOS patients with different characteristics

Rulan Jiang^{1†}, Mingya Cao^{1†}, Haomeng Hao^{1†}, Rui Jia^{1,2}, Peipei Chen³, Yuanyuan Liu¹ and Zhiming Zhao^{1*}

¹Department of Reproductive Medicine, The Second Hospital of Hebei Medical University, Shijiazhuang, China, ²Shenzhen Key Laboratory of Reproductive Immunology for Peri-Implantation, Shenzhen Zhongshan Institute for Reproduction and Genetics, Shenzhen Zhongshan Urology Hospital, Shenzhen, China, ³Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Handan First Hospital, Handan, China

Objective: We aim to explore the effects of follicular output rate (FORT) on cumulative clinical pregnancy rate (CCPR) and cumulative live birth rate (CLBR) in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) patients with different characteristics undergoing *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) treatment.

Methods: This retrospective study analyzed 454 patients with PCOS undergoing their first IVF cycle at our center from January 2016 to December 2020. FORT was calculated as pre-ovulatory follicle count (PFC) × 100/antral follicle count (AFC). Multivariate regression analyses were conducted to explore the relationships between FORT and CCPR and CLBR. Curve fitting and threshold effect analyses were established to find nonlinear relationships. Effect modification in different subgroups were examined by stratification analyses.

Results: Based on the FORT values, individuals were classified into the following three groups: low-FORT group, middle-FORT group and high-FORT group. Multivariate regression analyses revealed that FORT was an independent factor affecting the CCPR and CLBR significantly (OR = 1.015, 95% CI: 1.001, 1.030 and OR = 1.010, 95% CI:1.001, 1.020). Curve fitting and threshold effect analyses showed that the CCPR and CLBR had a positive correlation with FORT when the FORT was less than 70% (OR = 1.039, 95% CI: 1.013, 1.065 and OR = 1.024, 95% CI: 1.004, 1.044). Stratification analyses showed that the CLBR increased by 1.3% with each additional unit of FORT for patients with hyperandrogenic manifestations (OR = 1.013, 95% CI: 1.001, 1.025). Compared with the low-FORT group, in the high-FORT group, CCPR increased 1.251 times for patients with polycystic ovarian morphology, while CCPR and CLBR increased 1.891 times and 0.99 times for those with ovulation disorder, respectively (OR = 2.251, 95% CI: 1.008, 5.028 and OR = 2.891, 95% CI: 1.332, 6.323 and OR = 1.990, 95% CI: 1.133, 3.494).

Conclusion: In patients with PCOS, cumulative IVF outcomes have a positive correlation with FORT when the FORT is less than 70%. For PCOS patients with polycystic ovarian morphology, ovulation disorder or hyperandrogenic manifestations, a high FORT could be conductive to achieving better pregnancy outcomes.

KEYWORDS

follicular output rate, cumulative clinical pregnancy rate, cumulative live birth rate, polycystic ovarian syndrome, PCOS characteristics, *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) typically manifests with hyperandrogenism, oligo-anovulation and polycystic ovarian morphology. Studies have shown that PCOS is the main cause of anovulatory infertility, affecting about 8-13% of childbearing age women (1–3). For PCOS patients, *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) treatment is an assisted reproductive option, where controlled ovarian stimulation (COS) is the main step. However, COS in these patients frequently leads to large quantities of poor-quality oocytes and increased incidence of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS).

Anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH), antral follicle count (AFC), and basal follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) levels have been used to adjust ovarian stimulation (OS), minimize risks and optimize assisted reproductive technology (ART) outcomes, but all of them have certain limitations (4–7). They do not reflect the dynamic nature of follicular growth in response to exogenous gonadotrophins (Gn) and their ability to predict clinical outcomes after ART is limited (7, 8).

In 2011, Genro et al. (9) proposed the concept of the follicular output rate (FORT), the ratio of pre-ovulatory follicle count (PFC) on the trigger day to the AFC, to quantify the follicular development potential. Gallot et al. (10) further explored the correlation between pregnancy rate and FORT in patients who underwent IVF treatment with regular menstrual cycles. They found that better pregnancy outcomes were related to high FORT values. In addition, Hassan et al. (11) studied women with unexplained infertility and found that FORT had an independent effect on clinical pregnancy rate.

Several studies have suggested that FORT may reflect clinical outcomes after ART in PCOS patients, but consensus has not been reached (12–14). In an early study of 140 patients with PCOS, the fertilization rate and high quality embryo rate were highest in the middle-FORT group, although the FORT groups did not differ significantly in the clinical pregnancy rate (12). However, Tan et al. (13) found that the clinical pregnancy rate and high quality

embryo rate increased with FORT in PCOS patients. A recent study of PCOS patients performed by Yang et al. (14) showed that the cumulative live birth rate (CLBR) was highest in the high-FORT group but lowest in the middle-FORT group.

Although Yang et al. (14) investigated the association of FORT with cumulative ART outcomes, the impact of clinical characteristics of PCOS was not taken into account in this study. A previous research showed that PCOS patients with different phenotypic characteristics reflected varied ovarian responses to COS (15). Furthermore, AFC and CLBR were significantly different in PCOS patients with different phenotypic features (15–17). To date, conclusive and definite data about the role of clinical characteristics of PCOS on the relationship between FORT and cumulative ART outcomes are still lacking.

In this study, we investigated the relationship between FORT and cumulative ART outcomes in PCOS patients with different characteristics after one IVF cycle including all fresh and subsequent frozen-thaw embryos, in order to guide COS medication and help PCOS patients get better reproductive outcomes.

Materials and methods

Subjects

This was a retrospective study of 454 PCOS patients undergoing the first IVF cycle from January 2016 to December 2020 in the Second Hospital of Hebei Medical University. The diagnosis of PCOS was assessed by the Rotterdam criteria (18), which requires at least two of the following: (1) oligoanovulatory ovarian dysfunction (OAD); (2) biochemical or clinical evidence of hyperandrogenism (HA); (3) polycystic ovarian morphology (PCOM). Exclusion criteria included endocrine abnormalities (such as abnormal thyroid function or Cushing's syndrome), uterine cavity abnormalities, endometrial diseases, histories of ovarian surgery, chromosomal abnormalities, oocyte freezing, female age >38 years. Also, women who did not get a live birth and did not run out of all embryos were excluded. This study was approved by our hospital ethical committee.

Treatment protocol

Patients adopted the gonadotropin-releasing hormone antagonist (GnRH-ant) protocol, gonadotrophin-releasing hormone agonist (GnRH-a) long protocol or GnRH-a prolonged protocol. In the GnRH-ant protocol, ovarian stimulation was started from the 2nd or 3rd day of the menstrual cycle with Gn (Recombinant Human Follitropin Alfa, MerckSerono, Italy, 75 IU) until one follicle reached 14 mm or more than six follicles reached 11-13 mm in diameter or serum E2 reached 400pg/ml, then GnRH-ant (Cetrorelix, MerckSerono, Switzerland, 0.25 mg) was administered daily. In the GnRH-a long protocol, triptorelin (Decapeptyl, Ferring, Germany, 1 ml; 0.1 mg) was used for pituitary down regulation, 0.1 mg once daily, from the middle luteal phase of the previous menstrual cycle. When the down regulation was confirmed, Gn was administered until triggering for oocyte maturation. In the GnRH-a prolonged protocol, GnRH-a (Decapeptyl, Ferring, Germany, 3.75mg) was injected in early follicular phase, and Gn was initiated 28-30 days later along with confirmation of pituitary down regulation.

For all the COS protocols, blood tests and ultrasound were used to monitor hormone levels and follicle growth. When the diameter of the leading follicle reached 18 mm or more than two follicles reached 17 mm, human chorionic gonadotropin (hCG) or GnRH agonists was used to trigger the oocyte final maturation referred to patients' hyperstimulation risk. Oocytes were collected under ultrasound scan 36–37h after triggering.

Collected oocytes from each woman were inseminated through conventional IVF and fertilization assessment was carried out 17h after insemination. Based on the Istanbul Consensus (19) and Vienna Consensus (20), the embryos were classified into grades I-IV referred to their morphology, cell number and the percentage of fragmentation at 72h after fertilization. Grade I embryos on day 3 of culture were taken as high quality embryos. Grade I-II embryos on day 3 were considered available embryos which could be transferred or frozen. The remaining cleavage embryos were cultured to blastocysts and those with a Gardner score above 3CC on day 5 or 6 were considered suitable for vitrification.

For fresh embryo transfer, the embryo transfer was carried out on the 3rd or 5th day following oocyte retrieval. For frozen embryo transfer, the patients started taking 2-3 mg of oral estradiol twice daily from the third day of the menstrual cycle for endometrial preparation. Vaginal progesterone was administered for corpus luteum support when the thickness of the endometrium reached 8 mm under ultrasound scan. Frozen embryo transfer was scheduled on the 4th or 6th day of corpus luteum support. After embryo transfer, progesterone was given for corpus luteum support. The β -hCG level in peripheral blood was measured 2 weeks after embryo transfer. The transvaginal ultrasound examination of the gestational sac and heart beat was carried out 28-30 days following embryo transfer. Clinical pregnancy was defined as one or more intrauterine gestational sacs with heartbeat visualized under ultrasound scan.

Observation indicators

The AFC was recorded with a diameter of 3–10 mm at baseline. On the trigger day, the PFC was recorded with a diameter of 14–22 mm. FORT was calculated as PFC×100/AFC. The main outcomes of our study were cumulative clinical pregnancy rate (CCPR) and CLBR. CCPR was calculated as the number of clinical pregnancy cycles/number of first oocyte retrieval cycles. CLBR was calculated as the number of live birth cycles/number of first oocyte retrieval cycles.

Statistical analysis

We performed all statistical analyses with SPSS26.0 software and EmpowerStats (X&Y solutions, Inc., Boston, MA). Continuous variables were presented as mean \pm SD or median (Q1-Q3). Categorical variables were presented as percentages.

If the variables were in normal distribution, variance analysis method and two-independent sample test were conducted for group comparisons. If the variables followed non-normal distribution, non-parametric Mann-Whitney U tests were applied to compare continuous variables. Fisher's exact test or Chi-square test was performed when comparing categorical variables. Univariate analyses were conducted with logistic regression models to detect the possible variables which may affect cumulative ART outcomes. Multivariate logistic regression analyses were carried out to estimate the associations between FORT and CCPR and CLBR. Curve fitting and threshold effect analyses were established to find nonlinear relationships. The relationships between FORT and cumulative ART outcomes in different subgroups were examined by stratification analyses. A p-value <0.05 was considered significant statistically.

Results

Baseline status

There were 454 PCOS patients included in our study after exclusions (Figure 1). Based on the FORT values, individuals were classified into the following three groups: low-FORT group (n = 145) with FORT values below the 33rd percentile (FORT



<0.54), middle-FORT group (n = 138) with FORT values between the 33rd and 67th percentiles (FORT 0.54~0.66), and high-FORT group (n = 171) with FORT values above the 67th percentile (FORT >0.66). Table 1 showed the patients' baseline characteristics. The age, body mass index (BMI), years of infertility, basal estradiol (E2), basal FSH, starting dose of Gn, dose of Gn and duration of Gn were similar among the three groups. The AFC in the high-FORT group was lower than that in the middle-FORT and low-FORT group (p < 0.05). The AMH in the high-FORT group was higher than that in the low-FORT group (p < 0.05). The basal testosterone (bT), PFC were significantly higher in the high-FORT group than in the middle-FORT group and low-FORT group (p < 0.05). Patients with the high basal testosterone level accounted for a large proportion in the high-FORT group (62.573%). Table 2 showed the laboratory indicators and clinical outcomes of study participants. The number of retrieved oocytes, number of 2PN zygotes and number of cleavage embryos in the high-FORT group were significantly higher than that in the middle-FORT and low-FORT group (p < 0.05). The fertilization rate, available embryo rate, number of available embryos and number of high-quality embryos were significantly higher in the high-FORT group than in the low-FORT group (p < 0.05). The CCPR significantly increased with FORT (p < 0.05). The CLBR increased with increasing FORT although the p-value was not significant.

Follicular output rate is an independent factor for IVF outcome

The consequences of the univariate analyses were given in Supplementary Table 1. The multivariate logistic regression analysis adjusted for the following confounders: age, BMI, years of infertility, AMH, treatment plan, type of PCOS. In the adjusted model, we found that the FORT was an independent factor significantly affecting the CCPR and CLBR (OR = 1.015, 95% CI: 1.001, 1.030 and OR = 1.010, 95% CI:1.001, 1.020) (Tables 3, 4). The CCPR and CLBR increased by 1.5% and 1.0%, respectively, with each additional unit of FORT. The CCPR increased 2.017 times and the CLBR increased 1.188 times in the high-FORT group compared with the low-FORT group (OR = 3.017, 95% CI: 1.433, 6.355 and OR = 2.188, 95% CI: 1.256, 3.813).

The results of curve fitting revealed a curvilinear relationship between FORT and cumulative IVF outcomes, after adjustment for age, BMI, years of infertility, AMH, treatment plan and type of PCOS (Figure 2). Threshold effect analyses showed that the CCPR increased by 3.9% and the CLBR increased by 2.4% with each additional unit of FORT when the FORT was lower than 70% (OR = 1.039, 95% CI: 1.013, 1.065 and OR = 1.024, 95% CI: 1.004, 1.044) (Table 5). However, when the FORT was higher than 70%, the growth trend in the CCPR and CLBR with FORT was no longer significant (OR = 0.999, 95% CI: 0.983, 1.016 and OR = 1.003, 95% CI: 0.990, 1.015).

TABLE 1 Patient's baseline characteristics.

FORT	Low (<0.54, n=145)	Middle (0.54~0.66, n=138)	High (>0.66, n=171)	F/χ^2	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	28.269 (2.935)	28.725 (3.311)	28.661 (3.310)	0.869	0.420
BMI (kg/m2)	25.650 (3.258)	25.416 (3.595)	24.777 (3.498)	2.740	0.066
Years of infertility (years)	3.000 (2.000-5.000)	3.000 (2.000-5.000)	3.000 (2.000-4.000)	2.941	0.054
bFSH (mIU/mL)	6.905 (1.869)	6.542 (1.708)	6.489 (1.773)	2.415	0.091
bE2 (pg/mL)	41.000(28.000-59.000)	42.000 (32.000-60.000)	41.000 (30.000-57.000)	0.260	0.771
bP (ng/mL)	0.650 (0.390-0.970)	0.665 (0.472-1.015)	0.650 (0.390-1.010)	0.495	0.61
bLH (mIU/mL	8.060 (4.740-12.560)	8.185 (4.855-11.985)	8.280 (4.145-13.270)	0.462	0.631
bT (ng/mL)	0.650 (0.490-0.820)*	0.660 (0.490-0.835)*	0.750 (0.595-0.880)	8.181	< 0.001
AMH (ng/mL)	5.820 (4.170-8.810)*	6.405 (4.720-9.158)	7.050 (4.960-11.260)	5.276	0.005
No. of AFC	23.579 (4.445)*	23.203 (2.365)*	21.064 (4.865)	17.406	< 0.001
Starting dose of Gn (IU	178.017 (55.282)	171.830 (45.811)	176.681 (47.704)	0.609	0.545
Dose of Gn (IU	2250.000 (1650.000-2925.000)	2193.750 (1650.000-2765.625)	2000.000 (1500.000-2475.000)	3.023	0.050
Duration of Gn (IU)	11.262 (2.789)	11.797 (4.215)	11.029 (2.753)	2.152	0.163
No. of PFC	10.159 (2.394)*#	13.529 (1.567)*	18.789 (7.028)	141.728	< 0.001
FORT	45.830 (37.500-50.000)*#	58.330 (54.170-62.500)*	79.170(70.830-100.000)	274.479	< 0.001
Type of infertility				0.824	0.662
Primary	93 (64.138%)	83 (60.145%)	111 (64.912%)		
Secondary	52 (35.862%)	55 (39.855%)	60 (35.088%)		
Type of PCOS				28.464	< 0.001
A	44 (30.345%)	39 (28.261%)	59 (34.503%)		
В	10 (6.897%)	7 (5.072%)	33 (19.298%)		
С	8 (5.517%)	11 (7.971%)	15 (8.772%)		
D	83 (57.241%)	81 (58.696%)	64 (37.427%)		
РСОМ				19.454	< 0.001
no	10 (6.897%)	7 (5.072%)	33 (19.298%)		
yes	135 (93.103%)	131 (94.928%)	138 (80.702%)		
OAD				1.266	0.531
no	8 (5.517%)	11 (7.971%)	15 (8.772%)		
yes	137 (94.483%)	127 (92.029%)	156 (91.228%)		
HA				17.361	< 0.001
no	83 (57.241%)	80 (57.971%)	64 (37.427%)		
yes	62 (42.759%)	58 (42.029%)	107 (62.573%)		
Treatment plan		. ,		5.244	0.263
GnRH-ant protocol	33 (22.759%)	19 (13.768%)	35 (20.468%)		
GnRH-a long protocol	35 (24.138%)	35 (25.362%)	34 (19.883%)		
GnRH-a prolonged protocol	77 (53.103%)	84 (60.870%)	102 (59.649%)		
Cycle outcome				34.161	< 0.001

TABLE 1 Continued

FORT	Low (<0.54, n=145)	Middle (0.54~0.66, n=138)	High (>0.66, n=171)	F/χ^2	<i>p</i> -value
Fresh embryo transfer	97(66.897%)	67(48.551%)	58(33.918%)		
Frozen embryo transfer	48(33.103%)	71(51.449%)	113(66.082%)		
Number of transferred cycles				4.507	0.342
1	136 (93.793%)	128 (92.754%)	152 (88.889%)		
2	9 (6.207%)	10 (7.246%)	19 (11.111%)		

#P<0.05 compared with middle group.

*P<0.05 compared with high group.

Categorical variables are presented as number (%). Continuous variables are presented as mean (SD) or median (interquartile range). BMI, body mass index; bFSH, basal folliclestimulating hormone; bE2, baseline estradiol; bP, baseline progesterone; bT, baseline testosterone; bLH, baseline luteinizing hormone; AMH, anti-Mullerian hormone; Gn, Gonadotropin; PCOM, polycystic ovarian morphology; OAD, oligoanovulatory ovarian dysfunction; HA, hyperandrogenism.

Stratification analysis

Stratification analysis was performed separately based on age, BMI and clinical characteristics of PCOS. When the patients' age was over 30, the CCPR increased by 3.3% and the CLBR increased by 1.6% with each additional unit of FORT (OR = 1.033, 95% CI: 1.005, 1.062 and OR = 1.016, 95% CI: 1.000, 1.033). When the patients were younger than 30, the CCPR and CLBR did not correlate significantly with FORT (Table 6).

When BMI was lower than 25, the CCPR increased by 2.4% and the CLBR increased by 1.3% with each additional unit of FORT (OR = 1.024, 95% CI: 1.002, 1.046 and OR = 1.013, 95% CI: 1.001, 1.026). When BMI was 25 or larger than that, the

CCPR and CLBR did not correlate significantly with FORT (Table 6).

Among patients with hyperandrogenic manifestations, the CLBR increased by 1.3% with each additional unit of FORT (OR = 1.013, 95% CI: 1.001, 1.025). The CCPR increased 1.541 times and the CLBR increased 1.451 times in the high-FORT group compared with the low-FORT group (OR = 2.541, 95% CI: 1.041, 6.202 and OR = 2.451, 95% CI: 1.169, 5.139). Among patients with polycystic ovarian morphology, the CCPR increased 1.251 times in the high-FORT group compared with the low-FORT group compared with the low-FORT group (OR = 2.251, 95% CI: 1.008, 5.028). Among patients with ovulation disorder, the CCPR increased 1.891 times and the CLBR increased 0.99 times in the high-FORT group compared with the low-FORT group (OR = 2.891, 95%)

TABLE 2 Patient's laboratory i	ndicators and c	clinical outcomes.
--------------------------------	-----------------	--------------------

FORT	Low (<0.54, n=145)	Middle (0.54~0.66, n=138)	High (>0.66, n=171)	F/χ^2	<i>p</i> -value
No. of oocyte	11.000 (8.000-17.000)*#	18.000 (13.000-22.750)*	19.000 (15.000-27.000)	35.612	< 0.001
No. of 2PN	7.000 (4.000-10.000)*#	11.000 (7.000-15.000)*	12.000 (8.000-17.000)	32.156	< 0.001
No. of cleavage embryo	9.000 (6.000-14.000)*#	15.000 (11.000-18.750)*	16.000 (12.000-23.000)	34.336	< 0.001
No. of available embryo	3.000 (2.000-4.000)*#	4.500 (3.000-6.000)	5.000 (3.000-7.000)	14.353	< 0.001
No. of high quality embryo	1.000 (0.000-2.000)*	1.000 (0.000-3.000)	1.000 (0.000-4.000)	4.845	0.008
Total number of transferred embryo	2.021 (0.520)	2.058 (0.509)	2.099 (0.620)	0.789	0.391
Fertilization rate	0.700 (0.213)*	0.733 (0.182)	0.762 (0.178)	4.027	0.018
2PN Fertilization rate	0.600 (0.440-0.730)	0.620 (0.500-0.750)	0.640 (0.500-0.775)	2.434	0.089
Cleavage rate	0.975 (0.124)	0.961 (0.152)	0.989 (0.032)	2.494	0.084
Available embryo rate	0.300 (0.220-0.400)*	0.270 (0.180-0.350)	0.250 (0.170-0.350)	5.462	0.005
High quality embryo rate	0.080 (0.000-0.200)	0.080 (0.000-0.190)	0.070 (0.000-0.180)	0.004	0.996
Cumulative clinical pregnancy	120 (82.759%)	124 (89.855%)	157 (91.813%)	6.688	0.035
Cumulative live birth	101 (69.655%)	101 (73.188%)	138 (80.702%)	5.397	0.067

Categorical variables are presented as number (%). Continuous variables are presented as mean (SD) or median (interquartile range).

 TABLE 3
 Follicular output rate and cumulative clinical pregnancy rate.

	Non-adjusted		Adjusted			
	OR (95%CI)	<i>p-</i> value	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> - value		
FORT						
Low	1		1			
Middle	1.845(0.916, 3.719)	0.08663	2.008 (0.975, 4.138)	0.05871		
High	2.336(1.165, 4.686)	0.01688	3.017 (1.433, 6.355)	0.00366		
FORT	1.011(0.998, 1.024)	0.10493	1.015 (1.001, 1.030)	0.03496		
Adjusted age, BMI, AMH, years of infertility, type of PCOS, treatment plan.						

CI: 1.332, 6.323 and OR = 1.990, 95% CI: 1.133, 3.494) (Tables 7, 8).

Discussion

In this retrospective study of 454 PCOS patients, we found that FORT was an independent factor affecting the cumulative IVF outcomes. The CLBR and CCPR were positively correlated with FORT when the FORT was less than 70%.

FORT, as a simple and noninvasive tool in our clinical practice, could objectively reflect dynamic changes of follicular growth in response to exogenous Gn. Genro et al. found a negative association between FORT and AMH levels in peripheral blood, which might be explained by the hypothesis that AMH inhibited the sensitivity of antral follicles to Gn (9). Hassan et al. showed that no significant difference in the serum AMH levels was found among the FORT groups (11). We found

TABLE 4 Follicular output rate and cumulative live birth rate.

	Non-adjusted		Adjusted				
	OR (95%CI)	<i>p-</i> value	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> - value			
FORT							
Low	1		1				
Middle	1.189(0.709, 1.994)	0.51119	1.275(0.749, 2.170)	0.37060			
High	1.822(1.084, 3.062)	0.02356	2.188(1.256, 3.813)	0.00572			
FORT	1.007(0.998, 1.016)	0.10747	1.010(1.001, 1.020)	0.03268			

that FORT was positively associated with AMH levels in peripheral blood. The difference between our results and other studies may be due to the disparities in the studied populations. We studied patients with PCOS, whereas Genro et al. and Hassan et al. studied patients with different infertility causes (9, 11). In the studies conducted on PCOS cases only, the serum AMH levels can be used as a marker of ovarian responsiveness and there was a positive association between AMH levels and assisted reproductive outcomes (21). In our study, basal testosterone levels in the high-FORT group were dramatically higher than that in the low-FORT and middle-FORT groups. This finding supports the previous studies which showed that basal testosterone level positively correlated with ovarian response and follicular count on trigger day (≥ 14 mm) (22, 23). The possible mechanism is that androgens could enhance FSH receptor expression in granulosa cells and are considered to promote follicular development by amplifying the effects of FSH (24). Additionally, androgens also augment the expression of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) in the primate ovary, which is crucial for regulating follicular growth (22, 25).

This study found that the CCPR, cleavage embryos, 2PN zygotes, number of retrieved oocytes and PFC increased progressively from the low to high FORT groups. And the numbers of available embryos and high quality embryos were significantly lower in the low FORT group. These results are in agreement with the earlier reported results (10-12). In the high-FORT group, patients have better ovarian responsiveness to exogenous gonadotrophins, resulting in increased mature and retrieved oocytes, and consequently better clinical outcomes. In our study, the fertilization rate was significantly higher in the high FORT group. Our findings are in agreement with those of Hassan et al. (11), but they differ from that obtained in other studies (10, 12, 14), which did not show any difference in fertilization rate among the FORT groups. The difference between other studies and our findings may be attributed to the disparities in the number of cases investigated and study populations. We also found that the available embryo rate was higher in the low FORT group. This may be due to the relatively low number of retrieved oocytes in the low-FORT group. Despite these contradictions, the findings revealed that FORT can be used as a qualitative reflector of the follicular responsiveness to FSH, oocyte competence, and embryo quality.

The central finding of our study is the positive correlation between FORT and CCPR and CLBR in PCOS patients. The CCPR and CLBR in the high-FORT group were significantly higher than that in the low-FORT group. With the widespread use of embryo cryo-resuscitation technology, the CCPR and CLBR, defined as the pregnancy and live birth after using up all fresh and frozen embryos derived from one single COS cycle, appear to be more accurate and comprehensive measures to reflect the effectiveness and safety of IVF treatment (26–29). After reviewing the published literatures regarding PCOS and FORT, we found that there were few researches used CCPR and CLBR as clinical outcome indicators. Yang et al. (14) investigated the relationship between FORT and CLBR and showed that the CLBR was highest in the high-FORT group and lowest in the middle-FORT group. Differences between this study and our results may be due to the disparities in the study populations and the COS protocols. Also, in their study, there were significant differences in Gn dosage and stimulation days among three groups. This may affect the outcome because PCOS patients are usually high ovarian responders.

With a threshold effect model, our results showed that when the FORT was lower than 70%, the CCPR increased by 3.9% and the CLBR increased by 2.4% with each additional unit of FORT. When the FORT was greater than 70%, the CCPR and CLBR did not increase significantly even if the FORT increased. The positive association between the FORT and the cumulative ART outcomes in the first segment of the curve suggested the importance of the high FORT values for the success of IVF. Patients with high FORT values may have more oocytes and produce more euploid embryos that can be used for embryo transfer, thereby increasing the chance of pregnancy and live birth. However, when the FORT reached a certain value, there was no longer a significant beneficial relationship. This may be due to the fact that pregnancy outcomes are influenced by many other factors, such as obesity, environmental exposure (including smoking and alcohol), stress and antiphospholipid syndrome (30, 31). Therefore, for PCOS patients, we should also pay attention to the general conditions and lifestyle rather than simply increasing the FORT.

According to our results, patients with hyperandrogenemia (HA) can increase the CCPR and CLBR by increasing the FORT. HA is the core etiology and primary endocrine characteristic of

TABLE 5 The threshold effect analysis of the follicular output rate and clinical outcomes.

Cut points	N	OR	95%CI	<i>p</i> -value				
The cumulative pregnancy rate								
< 70	316	1.039	(1.013, 1.065)	0.0029				
>70	138	0.999	(0.983, 1.016)	0.9188				
The cumulative live birth rate								
< 70	316	1.024	(1.004, 1.044)	0.0170				
>70	138	1.003	(0.990, 1.015)	0.6813				
Adjusted age, BMI, AMH, years of infertility, type of PCOS, treatment plan.								

PCOS. HA leads to premature granulosa cell luteinization and abnormal oocyte maturation by altering follicular fluid microenvironment and the feedback of ovarian hormones to hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian (HPO) axis (32). In addition, due to the expression of androgen receptors in pancreas and hepatocytes, high testosterone levels could lead to hyperinsulinemia, which seriously impairs ovarian function resulting in premature arrest of follicular development and oligo-anovulation (33). Furthermore, high testosterone levels in PCOS patients also influence glucose metabolism of endometrium, which leads to local insulin resistance and subsequently endometrial lesion (34). Evidence show that the CLBR of patients with hyperandrogenemia is significantly lower than that of individuals without hyperandrogenemia (16). Therefore, improving FORT is a good choice for these poorprognosis patients with HA to improve the CCPR and CLBR.



FIGURE 2

Curve fitting between follicular output rate and clinical outcomes. The adjusted smoothed plots between the follicular output rate with the cumulative clinical pregnancy rate and the cumulative live birth rate based on two-piece-wise regression model (A, B). The nonlinear relationship between the follicular output rate and the cumulative clinical pregnancy rate and the cumulative live birth rate, respectively. Adjustment factors included age, BMI, AMH, years of infertility, type of PCOS, treatment plan. The solid line and dashed line represent the estimated values and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals.
	N	The cumulativ nancy ra		The cumulati birth rat	
		OR (95%CI)	<i>p-</i> value	OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> - value
Age					
<30	287	1.007 (0.990, 1.025)	0.4064	1.007 (0.995, 1.020)	0.2489
>=30	167	1.033 (1.005, 1.062)	0.0198	1.016 (1.000, 1.033)	0.0496
BMI					
<25	210	1.024 (1.002, 1.046)	0.0311	1.013 (1.001, 1.026)	0.0398
>=25	244	1.016 (0.996, 1.036)	0.1189	1.012 (0.997, 1.027)	0.1272
		tors included age, BM if not stratified by its	,	ars of infertility, type	of PCOS,

TABLE 6	Stratification analysis of follicular output rate and
cumulativ	ve clinical outcomes.

treatment plan, if not stratified by its.

Furthermore, we also found that patients with polycystic ovarian morphology or ovulation disorder had better cumulative IVF outcomes in the high-FORT group. These results together suggest that FORT, as a noninvasive and simple tool in our clinical practice, may contribute to improving the CCPR and CLBR for PCOS patients with typical clinical characteristics.

TABLE 7 Stratification analysis of follicular output rate and cumulative clinical outcomes.

	Ν	The cumula pregnancy		The cumulati birth rat	
		OR (95%CI)	<i>p-</i> value	OR (95%CI)	<i>p-</i> value
PCO	Μ				
No	50	1.007 (0.979, 1.036)	0.6339	1.005 (0.980, 1.029)	0.7173
Yes	404	1.014 (0.997, 1.031)	0.0983	1.010 (0.999, 1.021)	0.0821
OAD					
No	34	1.022 (0.974, 1.074)	0.3731	1.038 (0.986, 1.094)	0.1576
Yes	420	1.013 (0.998, 1.028)	0.0833	1.007 (0.998, 1.017)	0.1330
HA					
No	227	1.013 (0.986, 1.041)	0.3437	1.006 (0.990, 1.022)	0.4734
Yes	227	1.013 (0.997, 1.030)	0.1206	1.013 (1.001, 1.025)	0.0386

Adjusted age, BMI, AMH, years of infertility, treatment plan.

PCOM, polycystic ovarian morphology; OAD, oligoanovulatory ovarian dysfunction; HA, hyperandrogenism.

Our results showed that the CCPR and CLBR increased with FORT in PCOS patients over 30 years old, whereas the relationship was not statistically significant in patients under the age of 30. This indicated that the older the age, the more positive correlation between the FORT and cumulative ART outcomes. We know that oocyte quality gradually declines with women aging and the competence of women's oocytes begins to deteriorate around their third decade (35). Multiple potential mechanisms may be responsible for this, such as meiotic spindle abnormalities, mitochondrial dysfunction and chronic exposure to oxidative stress, which usually lead to aneuploidy of the embryo and a higher incidence of adverse pregnancy outcomes (36–39). In general, younger women have better oocyte quality, which may somewhat attenuate the impact of FORT on pregnancy outcomes. Therefore, for the older age group of PCOS patients, due to the decline of oocyte quality, higher FORT values and more oocytes retrieved are needed to achieve better cumulative ART outcomes.

In this study, we found that the FORT was significantly related with the CCPR and CLBR in PCOS patients without overweight and obesity. By boosting FORT, we can increase the CCPR and CLBR in these individuals. Obesity and overweight are known risk factors for cumulative ART outcomes (40), and PCOS patients are more likely to be obese and overweight, which contributes to diminished response to ART, adverse pregnancy outcomes and higher incidence of other complications (41, 42). Obesity could impair endometrial function through inflammation, oxidative stress or other ways, which could cause decidual formation abnormalities and embryo implantation failure (43). Additionally, obesity affects oocyte function by inducing abnormal chromosome pairing and altering follicles' liquid microenvironment (32). Therefore, weight control and alleviating metabolism disorders are more beneficial to the prognosis of overweight and obese patients than increasing the FORT.

The main strengths of our study rest on the following aspects. First, it was the first study to investigate the role of clinical characteristics of PCOS on the relationship between FORT and cumulative IVF outcomes. Second, the present study first uncovered a curvilinear relationship between FORT and CCPR and CLBR, and this relationship might be useful in establishing an optimal treatment strategy for PCOS patients to obtain better reproductive outcomes. Additionally, our research used CCPR and CLBR as main outcome measures, which is an important advantage over other metrics.

Despite the strengths, this study has some limitations. One disadvantage of the index FORT is related to its operatordependent characteristic. It is unlikely to rule out the variation in marking AFC and PFC by different sonographers. Secondly, the association between FORT and the incidence of OHSS was not investigated in our study. Other limitations of our study lie in the retrospective and monocentric character, as well as the small study population. Prospective and multicentric

	N	The cumul pregnancy		The cumulati birth rat	
		OR (95%CI)	<i>p</i> - value	OR (95%CI)	<i>p-</i> value
РСОМ					
No					
Low FORT	10	1		1	
Middle FORT	7	10.270(0.270, 391.238)	0.2098	4.866 (0.265, 89.481)	0.2868
High FORT	33	11.392(0.692, 187.649)	0.0887	5.950 (0.735, 48.200)	0.0947
Yes					
Low FORT	135	1		1	
Middle FORT	131	1.816 (0.857, 3.852)	0.1196	1.166 (0.672, 2.021)	0.5857
High FORT	138	2.251 (1.008, 5.028)	0.0479	1.768 (0.978, 3.197)	0.0592
OAD					
No					
Low FORT	8	1		1	
Middle FORT	11	3.772 (0.198, 72.002)	0.3776	0.486 (0.041, 5.760)	0.5676
High FORT	15	1.848 (0.070, 48.735)	0.7130	7.929 (0.282,223.082)	0.2239
Yes					
Low FORT	137	1		1	
Middle FORT	127	1.862 (0.883, 3.925)	0.1025	1.345 (0.773, 2.342)	0.2946
High FORT	156	2.891 (1.322, 6.323)	0.0079	1.990 (1.133, 3.494)	0.0166
HA					
No					
Low FORT	83	1		1	
Middle FORT	80	1.588 (0.562, 4.484)	0.3824	1.136 (0.549, 2.353)	0.7309
High FORT	64	3.029 (0.730, 12.576)	0.1270	1.700 (0.715, 4.039)	0.2297
Yes					

TABLE 8 Stratification analysis of follicular output rate and cumulative clinical outcomes.

TABLE 8 Continued

	Ν	The cumul pregnancy		The cumulati birth rat	
		OR (95%CI)	<i>p-</i> value	OR (95%CI)	<i>p-</i> value
Low FORT	62	1		1	
Middle FORT	58	2.161 (0.779, 5.996)	0.1388	1.271 (0.577, 2.801)	0.5523
High FORT	107	2.541 (1.041, 6.202)	0.0405	2.451 (1.169, 5.139)	0.0176

Adjusted age, BMI, AMH, years of infertility, treatment plan.

PCOM, polycystic ovarian morphology; OAD, oligoanovulatory ovarian dysfunction; HA, hyperandrogenism.

investigations with larger simple size and longer duration of observation would be necessary to further validate the findings.

In summary, the present findings indicate that cumulative IVF outcomes have a positive correlation with FORT in PCOS patients when the FORT was less than 70%. For PCOS patients with polycystic ovarian morphology, ovulation disorder or hyperandrogenic manifestations, a high FORT could be conductive to achieving better pregnancy outcomes.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the research ethics committee of the Second Hospital of Hebei Medical University. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

Study design: ZZ. Data acquisition: RJ, PC, and YL. Data analysis: RLJ, MC, and HH. Writing manuscript: Rulan Jiang. All authors read the article and agreed to the submitted version.

Funding

This project was funded by S&T Program of Hebei (22377742D).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Bozdag G, Mumusoglu S, Zengin D, Karabulut E, Yildiz BO. The prevalence and phenotypic features of polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod* (2016) 31:2841–55. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew218

2. March WA, Moore VM, Willson KJ, Phillips DIW, Norman RJ, Davies MJ. The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. *Hum Reprod* (2010) 25:544–51. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/dep399

3. Hull MG. Epidemiology of infertility and polycystic ovarian disease: endocrinological and demographic studies. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (1987) 1:235–45. doi: 10.3109/09513598709023610

4. Bancsi LFJMM, Broekmans FJM, Mol BWJ, Habbema JDF, te Velde ER. Performance of basal follicle-stimulating hormone in the prediction of poor ovarian response and failure to become pregnant after *in vitro* fertilization: a meta-analysis. *Fertil Steril* (2003) 79:1091–100. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(03) 00078-5

5. Barad DH, Weghofer A, Gleicher N. Comparing anti-müllerian hormone (AMH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH) as predictors of ovarian function. *Fertil Steril* (2009) 91:1553–5. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.09.069

6. Broer SL, Mol BWJ, Hendriks D, Broekmans FJM. The role of antimullerian hormone in prediction of outcome after IVF: comparison with the antral follicle count. *Fertil Steril* (2009) 91:705–14. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.12.013

7. Melo MAB, Garrido N, Alvarez C, Bellver J, Meseguer M, Pellicer A, et al. Antral follicle count (AFC) can be used in the prediction of ovarian response but cannot predict the oocyte/embryo quality or the *in vitro* fertilization outcome in an egg donation program. *Fertil Steril* (2009) 91:148–56. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2007.11.042

8. Li HWR, Lee VCY, Lau EYL, Yeung WSB, Ho PC, Ng EHY. Role of baseline antral follicle count and anti-mullerian hormone in prediction of cumulative live birth in the first *in vitro* fertilisation cycle: a retrospective cohort analysis. *PloS One* (2013) 8::61095. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061095

9. Genro VK, Grynberg M, Scheffer JB, Roux I, Frydman R, Fanchin R. Serum anti-müllerian hormone levels are negatively related to follicular output RaTe (FORT) in normo-cycling women undergoing controlled ovarian hyperstimulation. *Hum Reprod* (2011) 26:671–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deq361

10. Gallot V, Berwanger da Silva AL, Genro V, Grynberg M, Frydman N, Fanchin R. Antral follicle responsiveness to follicle-stimulating hormone administration assessed by the follicular output RaTe (FORT) may predict *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer outcome. *Hum Reprod* (2012) 27:1066–72. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der479

11. Hassan A, Kotb M, AwadAllah A, Wahba A, Shehata N. Follicular output rate can predict clinical pregnancy in women with unexplained infertility undergoing IVF/ICSI: a prospective cohort study. *Reprod BioMedicine Online* (2017) 34:598–604. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2017.03.004

12. Zhang N, Hao C-F, Zhuang L-L, Liu X-Y, Gu HF, Liu S, et al. Prediction of IVF/ICSI outcome based on the follicular output rate. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2013) 27:147–53. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2013.04.012

13. Tan X, Wen Y, Chen H, Zhang L, Wang B, Wen H, et al. Follicular output rate tends to improve clinical pregnancy outcomes in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome undergoing *in vitro* fertilization-embryo transfer treatment. *J Int Med Res* (2019) 47:5146–54. doi: 10.1177/0300060519860680

14. Yang H, Lin J, Jin C, Meng L, Wu S, Chen Y. The predictive value of the follicular output rate on pregnancy outcome of patients with polycystic ovary

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.1079502/full#supplementary-material

syndrome undergoing *In vitro* fertilization and embryo transfer. *Med Sci Monit* (2020) 26:e916175. doi: 10.12659/MSM.916175

15. Cela V, Obino MER, Alberga Y, Pinelli S, Sergiampietri C, Casarosa E, et al. Ovarian response to controlled ovarian stimulation in women with different polycystic ovary syndrome phenotypes. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2018) 34:518–23. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2017.1412429

16. De Vos M, Pareyn S, Drakopoulos P, Raimundo JM, Anckaert E, Santos-Ribeiro S, et al. Cumulative live birth rates after IVF in patients with polycystic ovaries: phenotype matters. *Reprod BioMedicine Online* (2018) 37:163–71. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2018.05.003

17. Mackens S, Pareyn S, Drakopoulos P, Deckers T, Mostinckx L, Blockeel C, et al. Outcome of *in-vitro* oocyte maturation in patients with PCOS: does phenotype have an impact? *Hum Reprod* (2020) 35:2272-9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deaa190

 Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS consensus workshop group. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Hum Reprod* (2004) 19:41–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh098

19. Alpha Scientists in Reproductive Medicine and ESHRE Special Interest Group of Embryology. The Istanbul consensus workshop on embryo assessment: proceedings of an expert meeting. *Hum Reprod* (2011) 26:1270–83. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der037

20. ESHRE Special Interest Group of Embryology, Alpha Scientists in Reproductive Medicine. The Vienna consensus: report of an expert meeting on the development of art laboratory performance indicators. *Hum Reprod Open* (2017) 2017:hox011. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hox011

21. Kaya C, Pabuccu R, Satıroglu H. Serum antimüllerian hormone concentrations on day 3 of the *in vitro* fertilization stimulation cycle are predictive of the fertilization, implantation, and pregnancy in polycystic ovary syndrome patients undergoing assisted reproduction. *Fertil Steril* (2010) 94:2202–7. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2009.12.002

22. Sun B, Wang F, Sun J, Yu W, Sun Y. Basal serum testosterone levels correlate with ovarian response but do not predict pregnancy outcome in non-PCOS women undergoing IVF. *J Assist Reprod Genet* (2014) 31:829–35. doi: 10.1007/s10815-014-0246-8

23. Qin Y, Zhao Z, Sun M, Geng L, Che L, Chen Z-J. Association of basal serum testosterone levels with ovarian response and *in vitro* fertilization outcome. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2011) 9:9. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-9-9

24. González-Comadran M, Durán M, Solà I, Fábregues F, Carreras R, Checa MA. Effects of transdermal testosterone in poor responders undergoing IVF: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2012) 25:450–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2012.07.011

25. Vendola K, Zhou J, Wang J, Bondy CA. Androgens promote insulin-like growth factor-I and insulin-like growth factor-I receptor gene expression in the primate ovary. *Hum Reprod* (1999) 14:2328–32. doi: 10.1093/humrep/14.9.2328

26. Maheshwari A, McLernon D, Bhattacharya S. Cumulative live birth rate: time for a consensus? *Hum Reprod* (2015) 30:2703–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev263

27. Heijnen EMEW, Macklon NS, Fauser BCJM. What is the most relevant standard of success in assisted reproduction? the next step to improving outcomes of IVF: consider the whole treatment. *Hum Reprod* (2004) 19:1936–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh368

28. Tan SL, Royston P, Campbell S, Jacobs HS, Betts J, Mason B, et al. Cumulative conception and livebirth rates after *in-vitro* fertilisation. *Lancet* (1992) 339:1390-4. doi: 10.1016/0140-6736(92)91205-m

29. Malizia BA, Hacker MR, Penzias AS. Cumulative live-birth rates after *in vitro* fertilization. *N Engl J Med* (2009) 360:236–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0803072

30. Maconochie N, Doyle P, Prior S, Simmons R. Risk factors for first trimester miscarriage–results from a UK-population-based case-control study. *BJOG* (2007) 114:170–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.01193.x

31. Petri M. Antiphospholipid syndrome. *Transl Res* (2020) 225:70-81. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2020.04.006

32. Palomba S, Daolio J, La Sala GB. Oocyte competence in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 28:186–98. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.11.008

33. Unluhizarci K, Karaca Z, Kelestimur F. Role of insulin and insulin resistance in androgen excess disorders. *World J Diabetes* (2021) 12:616–29. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v12.i5.616

34. Palomba S. Is fertility reduced in ovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome? an opinion paper. *Hum Reprod* (2021) 36:2421-8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab181

35. Secomandi L, Borghesan M, Velarde M, Demaria M. The role of cellular senescence in female reproductive aging and the potential for senotherapeutic interventions. *Hum Reprod Update* (2021) 28:172–89. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmab038

36. Battaglia DE, Goodwin P, Klein NA, Soules MR. Influence of maternal age on meiotic spindle assembly in oocytes from naturally cycling women. *Hum Reprod* (1996) 11:2217–22. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a019080

37. van der Reest J, Nardini Cecchino G, Haigis MC, Kordowitzki P. Mitochondria: Their relevance during oocyte ageing. *Ageing Res Rev* (2021) 70:101378. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2021.101378

38. Wang L, Tang J, Wang L, Tan F, Song H, Zhou J, et al. Oxidative stress in oocyte aging and female reproduction. *J Cell Physiol* (2021) 236:7966–83. doi: 10.1002/jcp.30468

39. Wasielak-Politowska M, Kordowitzki P. Chromosome segregation in the oocyte: What goes wrong during aging. *Int J Mol Sci* (2022) 23:2880. doi: 10.3390/ ijms23052880

40. Ding W, Zhang F-L, Liu X-C, Hu L-L, Dai S-J, Li G, et al. Impact of femaleobesity on cumulative live birth rates in the first complete ovarian stimulation cycle. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2019) 10:516. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00516

41. Joham AE, Palomba S, Hart R. Polycystic ovary syndrome, obesity, and pregnancy. *Semin Reprod Med* (2016) 34:93–101. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1571195

42. Carmina E, Orio F, Palomba S, Longo RA, Cascella T, Colao A, et al. Endothelial dysfunction in PCOS: role of obesity and adipose hormones. *Am J Med* (2006) 119:356.e1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.10.059

43. Palomba S, Piltonen TT, Giudice LC. Endometrial function in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2021) 27:584–618. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa051

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Didier Dewailly, Université de Lille, France

REVIEWED BY Mayank Choubey, New York University, United States Chuan Lv, The People's Hospital of Liaoning Province, China Xiaowen Zhang, Nanjing Drum Tower Hospital, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Xin Sun sunxin77@126.com Hongli Wang hongliwang_doctor@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

RECEIVED 22 October 2022 ACCEPTED 22 December 2022 PUBLISHED 11 January 2023

CITATION

Gao Y, Xin C, Fan H, Sun X and Wang H (2023) Circulating apelin and chemerin levels in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: A meta-analysis. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:1076951. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1076951

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Gao, Xin, Fan, Sun and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Circulating apelin and chemerin levels in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome: A meta-analysis

Yiming Gao^{1†}, Caihong Xin^{2†}, Huaying Fan³, Xin Sun^{3*} and Hongli Wang^{4*}

¹The First Clinical College of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ²Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, The Fourth People's Hospital of Shenyang, Shenyang, China, ³Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, The First Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University, Suzhou, China, ⁴Department of Cardiology, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Dalian Medical University, Dalian, China

Background: Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is one of the most common gynecological endocrine disorders. Apelin and chemerin are newly identified adipokines, which are higher in obesity and diabetes. Studies have found that the serum apelin and chemerin levels in patients with PCOS are significantly increased. However, other studies showed the opposite results. Therefore, the relationship between those two adipokines and PCOS is still controversial.

Aim: This meta-analysis was conducted to statistically evaluate the apelin and chemerin levels of patients with PCOS.

Methods: We searched the Web of Science, Embase, PubMed, and Google Scholar databases for potential studies. "Polycystic ovary syndrome" or "PCOS" in combination with the terms "apelin" or "chemerin" were used as keywords search titles or abstracts. The publication period examined was between 1990 and 2021. Standardized mean differences (SMD) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were determined as the results of the meta-analysis.

Results: A total of 148 articles were initially retrieved, and 18 qualified articles were finally obtained through preliminary screening and quality evaluation. The publications together contain 1,265 cases and 894 controls. The results of the meta-analysis showed that the circulating chemerin levels in patients with PCOS were significantly higher than those in the controls (SMD: 0.79, 95% CI [0.36, 1.23]), and there was no significant difference in circulating apelin between patients with PCOS and controls (SMD: 0.57, 95% CI [-0.21, 1.35]).

Conclusions: This meta-analysis is the first to evaluate circulating apelin and chemerin levels in patients with PCOS. Our findings suggest that circulating chemerin levels of patients with PCOS are significantly higher than those of healthy controls.

Systematic review registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/ display_record.php?RecordID=218316, identifier CRD42020218316.

KEYWORDS

apelin, chemerin, polycystic ovary syndrome, PCOS, meta- analysis

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is one of the most common gynecological endocrine disorders with a complex pathogenesis (1). It is characterized by dysmenorrhea, amenorrhea, infertility, hairiness, and obesity, all of which seriously affect the physical and mental health of women of childbearing age. PCOS also increases the risk of endometrial cancer, gestational diabetes mellitus, and hyperlipidemia. Approximately 5%-10% of women of childbearing age are affected by PCOS. Patients with PCOS account for 15%-20% of infertility cases (2, 3). Studies have shown that abnormal follicular development in patients with PCOS is not only regulated by sex hormones but is also closely related to disorders in the follicular development microenvironment caused by ovarian autocrine/paracrine dysfunction. Recent studies suggested that insulin resistance may initiate PCOS development (4).

Apelin and chemerin are newly identified adipokines. Apelin is an APJ receptor ligand, is widely expressed in different organs, and plays an important role in glucose and lipid metabolism (5). Recent studies found that serum apelin levels are significantly correlated with type 2 diabetes mellitus and obesity (6, 7). Chemerin, also called TIG2 or RARRES2, is secreted as an 18 kDa precursor protein (chem163s), which can be transformed into a 16 kDa active molecule only after Cterminal cleavage (8). The precursor protein has multiple restriction sites, which can produce a variety of subtypes upon treatment with different proteases. Chemerin also contributes to adipogenesis, glucose homeostasis, food intake, and body weight and is associated with elevated levels of obesity, diabetes, and cancer (9–11).

Studies have found that serum apelin and chemerin levels in patients with PCOS are significantly increased (12–15), and are potential targets for the treatment of PCOS (16, 17). However, other studies showed that the serum apelin and chemerin levels of PCOS patients are lower than those of healthy individuals (18, 19). Therefore, the relationship between these adipokines and PCOS remains controversial. This meta-analysis aimed to statistically evaluate apelin and chemerin levels in patients with PCOS.

Methods

Search design

We searched the Web of Science, Embase, PubMed, and Google Scholar databases for potential studies. "Polycystic ovary syndrome" or "PCOS" in combination with the terms "apelin" or "chemerin" were used as keywords search titles or abstracts. The full electronic search strategy is provided in the Supplementary Data Sheet 1. The publication period examined was between 1990 and 2021. Concurrently, manual retrieval of relevant literature was performed and the references included in clinical trials were consulted to uncover relevant studies that might have been omitted. This review and meta-analysis were conducted according to the recommendations of the Cochrane Collaboration and following the PRISMA statement. The PRISMA list is provided in the Supplementary Data Sheet 2 and the PROSPERO registration number is CRD42020218316.

Inclusion criteria

The studies included in this meta-analysis met the following criteria: (1) case-controlled or prospective design; (2) detailed data on circulating apelin or chemerin levels in patients with PCOS and healthy controls; and (3) written in English. All the patients with PCOS included in the studies had no medical history or evidence of diabetes, hypertension, hyperprolactinemia, thyroid disease, Cushing's syndrome, and congenital adrenal hyperplasia. Patients taking drugs such as insulin-sensitizing drugs, oral contraceptives, corticosteroids, anti-androgens, and gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists or antagonists within 3 months were also excluded from the study.

Data extraction and risk of bias

Two independent evaluators screened the studies according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria. First, the evaluators read the topic and abstract and eliminated duplicate studies and those who did not meet the inclusion criteria. Next, they read the full

10.3389/fendo.2022.1076951

text of the documents marked for inclusion and cross-checked the results. Finally, the two reviewers discussed and came to consensus on any publications with objections. If they still could not reach an agreement, a third researcher was invited for further evaluation. For documents with questions or missing data, we contacted the author or corresponding author to obtain as much confirmation or supplemental data as possible. The extracted content of the original publication data included the first author, publication year, study period, region, study design, and details of cases and controls.

The Newcastle Ottawa Scale (NOS) was used as the standard to evaluate the quality of the included literature. The NOS is applicable to the evaluation of cohort and case-controlled studies. It consists of three parts: selection of exposure and control populations, comparability, and evaluation of exposure or outcome. It has eight entries. NOS uses the semi-quantitative principle of a star scale to evaluate the quality of literature with a maximum of nine stars (20, 21).

Statistical analysis

Standardized mean differences (SMD) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were determined as the results of the meta-analysis. Cochran's Q test and I² statistics were used to test the heterogeneity among the studies. When I² \leq 50%, there was no heterogeneity and a fixed effects model was used for combined analysis. When I² > 50%, there was significant heterogeneity and the random effects model was used for combined analysis. The stability of the meta-analysis results was evaluated by a sensitivity analysis. Low-quality literature was excluded and the impact of a single study on the overall research results was excluded for each study. Begg's test was used to analyze publication bias. The significance level was set at *P* < 0.05. Stata 12.0 (College Station, TX, USA) was used for analysis.

Results

A total of 148 articles were initially retrieved, and 18 qualified articles were finally obtained through preliminary screening and quality evaluation (5-25). The publications together contain 1,265 cases and 894 controls (12-15, 18, 19, 22-33). The literature retrieval process is shown in Figure 1 and the baseline data and quality evaluation of the included case-controlled studies are shown in Table 1.

Results of the meta-analysis

The results of the meta-analysis showed that there was no significant difference in circulating apelin between patients with



PCOS and controls (SMD: 0.57, 95% CI [-0.21, 1.35]; $I^2 =$ 96.6%). Forest plots of circulating apelin levels in patients with PCOS compared with controls are shown in Figure 2. The circulating chemerin levels in patients with PCOS were significantly higher than those in the controls (SMD: 0.79, 95% CI [0.36, 1.23]; $I^2 =$ 91.7%). Forest plots of circulating chemerin levels are shown in Figure 3. The funnel plots of circulating apelin and chemerin were presented in Supplementary Figures 1, 2.

Sensitivity analysis and publication bias

Using the sensitivity analysis by excluding individual studies one by one, the results showed little difference, suggesting that the results of this study were relatively credible (Figures 4, 5). A comprehensive search of articles obtained from the database was performed. Begg's test was also performed to determine whether there was a potential publication bias in the reviewed literature. The results (P > 0.05) suggest that there was no publication bias.

Discussion

This systematic review is the first to evaluate circulating apelin and chemerin levels in patients with PCOS. Although most studies have shown that circulating apelin and chemerin levels in patients with PCOS are higher than those in healthy controls, some found that they are lower. In this meta-analysis, 18 independent studies were included and analyzed. We concluded that the circulating chemerin levels in patients with PCOS were significantly higher than those in the healthy controls (SMD: 0.79, 95% CI [0.36, 1.23]), whereas there was

Author	Publication Year	Study Period	Region	Study design	Case (n)	Control (n)	Case factor	Control factor	Indicator
Goren	2011	_	Turkey	Case-control study	32	31	PCOS patients, 15 - 35 years, BMI 22.51 ± 3.20 kg/m ²	healthy volunteers, 15 – 35 years, BMI 21.94 ± 1.63 kg/m ²	Apelin
Chang	2011	_	China	Case-control study	50	34	PCOS patients recruited from the outpatient Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 24.8 ± 5.0 years, BMI 22.2 ± 4.1 kg/m ²	healthy controls, 28.9 \pm 5.0 years, BMI 21.0 \pm 2.7 kg/ m ²	Apelin
Cekmez	2011	2007 - 2008	Turkey	Case-control study	48	37	Obese PCOS patients recruited among the adolescents who attended the outpatient clinic of the Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, 16.9 \pm 0.3 years, BMI 35.1 \pm 4.3 kg/m ²	Obese, healthy children enrolled from patients who attended the hospital for minor illnesses such as the common cold, conjunctivitis etc, 17.2 ± 0.2 years, BMI 30.7 ± 2.2 kg/ m ²	Apelin
Choi	2012	_	Korea	Prospective observational study	82	33	PCOS recruited from outpatients of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 24.51 ± 5.02 years, BMI 20.27 ± 2.34 kg/m ²	women visited our hospital for annual comprehensive medical examinations without specific health problems, 24.58 ± 2.72 years, BMI 19.88 ± 1.56 kg/m ²	Apelin
Wang	2014	July 2012 - April 2013	China	Case-control study	67	20	PCOS patients recruited consecutively from infertility and endocrine clinics, 24.46 ± 4.97 years, BMI 25.77 ± 3.23 kg/m ²	healthy volunteers, 23.55 ± 4.99 years, BMI 22.49 ± 2.29 kg/m ²	Chemerin
Ademoglu	2014	_	Turkey	Case-control study	70	38	newly diagnosed or untreated PCOS patients, 25.1 ± 5.7 years, BMI 27.4 ± 7.0 kg/m ²	aged-match healthy women, 26.2 \pm 4.9 years, BMI 21.3 \pm 2.7 kg/m ²	Chemerin
Guzel	2014	2011 - 2012	Turkey	Case-control study	80	57	PCOS patients recruited from the outpatient endocrinology and gynecology clinics, 25.73 ± 6.02 years, BMI 26.23 ± 6.58 kg/m ²	healthy volunteers, 24.89 ± 4.27 years, BMI 24.54 ± 4.29 kg/m ²	Chemerin
Benk	2014	_	Turkey	Case-control study	30	30	PCOS patients recruited from the Outpatient Clinic of Obstetrics and	BMI- and age- matched healthy volunteers, 23.66 ±	Apelin

TABLE 1 Study characteristics of the published studies included in the meta-analysis.

TABLE 1 Continued

2014	_	Turkey	Case-control			Gynaecology Department, 22.46 ± 4.11 years, BMI 20.76 ± 2.08 kg/m ²	7.08 years, BMI 20.04 \pm 2.22 kg/m ² age-matched women who had	
2014	-	Turkey					•	
			study	45	45	PCOS patients, 23.5 ± 5.3, BMI 25.3 ± 3.9 kg/m ²	regular menses and no clinical or biochemical hyperandrogenism or PCO were eligible, 25.1 ± 5.7 years, BMI 22.8 ± 2.3 kg/m ²	Apelin
2015	January 2013 – June 2014	China	Case-control study	118	114	PCOS patients recruited from the outpatient endocrinology and gynecology clinics, 25.07 ± 4.27 years, BMI 24.63 ± 4.37 kg/m ²	healthy volunteers with normal ovulatory menstruation, 24.62 ± 3.69 years, BMI 23.08 ± 3.34 kg/m ²	Chemerin
2015	March 2012 – June 2014	China	Case-control study	148	88	newly diagnosed PCOS patients, 28.69 ± 5.69 years, BMI 25.80 ± 5.18 kg/m ²	healthy volunteers, 25.79 \pm 5.11 years, BMI 23.24 \pm 3.05 kg/m ²	Chemerin
2015	2010 - 2011	Poland	Prospective observational study	83	67	newly diagnosed PCOS patients, 25.4 ± 5.5 years, BMI 29.4 ± 8.8 kg/m ²	regularly menstruating women without clinical symptoms of hyperandrogenism, 25.7 ± 4.9 years, BMI 28.3 ± 7.0 kg/ m ²	Apelin
2016	-	Turkey	Case-control study	40	30	PCOS patients recruited from the endocrinology and gynecology, 25.40 ± 5.62 years, BMI 24.87 ± 5.02 kg/m ²	women who had visited the clinic for non-hormonal or non-menstrual irregularities. 31.50 \pm 7.5 years, BMI 23.7 \pm 4.46 kg/m ²	Chemerin
2016	-	Turkey	Prospective observational study	55	55	PCOS patients recruited from the obstetrics and gynecology polyclinic, 26.42 ± 4.77 years, BMI 26.81 ± 4.76 kg/m ²	age- and BMI- matched healthy volunteer, 28.44 ± 6.28 years, BMI 25.78 ± 4.93 kg/m ²	Apelin
2019	-	Spain	Case-control study	17	17	newly diagnosed PCOS patients, 26.82 ± 6.87 years, BMI 30.12 ± 7.59 kg/m ²	age- and BMI- matched healthy volunteers recruited from the hospital's staff and by noticeboard advertising, 26.47 ±	Chemerin
	2015 2015 2016 2016	2015 2013 - June 2014 2015 June 2014 2015 2010 - 2011 2016 - 2016 -	20152013 - June 2014China2015March 2012 - June 2014China20152010 - 2011Poland2016-Turkey2016-Turkey	20152013 - June 2014ChinaCase-control study2015March 2012 - June 2014ChinaCase-control study20152010 - 2011PolandProspective observational study2016-TurkeyCase-control study2016-TurkeyCase-control study2016-SpainCase-control study	20152013 - June 2014ChinaCase-control study1182015March 2012 - June 2014ChinaCase-control study14820152010 - 2011PolandProspective observational study832016-TurkeyCase-control study402016-TurkeySpainSpain2019-SpainCase-control study17	20152013 - June 2014ChinaCase-control study1181142015March 2015 - June 2014ChinaCase-control study1488820152010 - 2011PolandProspective observational study83672016-TurkeyCase-control study40302016-TurkeyProspective observational study55552016-SpainCase-control study1717	2015Junary June 2014ChinaCase-control study118114endocrinology and gynecology clinics, 25.07 ± 4.27 years, BMI 24.63 ± 4.37 kg/m22015March 2012 - June 2014ChinaCase-control study14888newly diagnosed PCOS patients, 28.69 ± 5.18 BMI 25.80 ± 5.18 BMI 25.80 ± 5.1820152010 - 2011ChinaCase-control study14888newly diagnosed PCOS patients, 28.69 ± 5.18 BMI 25.80 ± 5.18 BMI 25.80 ± 5.1820152010 - 2011PolandProspective observational study8367Newly diagnosed PCOS patients, 25.4 ± 5.5 years, BMI 29.4 ± 8.8 kg/m22016-TurkeyCase-control study4030PCOS patients recruited from the endocrinology and gyneclogy a	2015June 2014ChinaCase-control study118114endocrinology and gynecology clinics, BMI 24.63 ± 4.37orvalatory menstruation, 24.62 ± 3.08 ± 3.34 kg/m²2015March 2012 - June 2014ChinaCase-control study14888Rewly diagnosed perly diagnosed kg/m²bealthy volunteers, 25.79 ± 5.11 years, BMI 23.24 ± 3.0520152010 - June 2014ChinaCase-control study14888Rewly diagnosed perly diagnosed kg/m²regularly menstruating women without clinical symptoms of perly diagnosedregularly menstruating women without clinical symptoms of perly diagnosed perly d

TABLE 1 Continued

Author	Publication Year	Study Period	Region	Study design	Case (n)	Control (n)	Case factor	Control factor	Indicator
								5.34 years, BMI 29.12 ± 7.33 kg/m ²	
Foda	2019	January 2016 – July 2018	Egypt	Prospective observational study	100	70	untreated PCOS patients recruited from Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 21 –26 years, BMI 27.90 ± 3.37 kg/m ²	women with regular periods and normal findings on pelvic ultrasound scan, 26.47 ± 5.34 years, BMI 27.67 ± 3.90 kg/m ²	Chemerin
Ozegowska	2019	2014 - 2016	Poland	Case-control study	94	68	PCOS patients recruited at the Department of Infertility and Reproductive Medicine, 27.0 (24.0 – 29.0) years, BMI 21.0 (20.0 – 22.6) kg/m ²	age- and BMI- matched healthy volunteers with regular menstrual cycles, 28.0 (26.0 – 30.0) years, BMI 20.5 (19.5 – 22.3) kg/m ²	Apelin
Abruzzese	2020	April 2009 – September 2017	Argentina	Case-control study	106	60	PCOS patients recruited from Department of Endocrinology, 26.42 ± 5.36 years, BMI 31.8 (18.5 – 49) kg/m ²	unrelated women recruited from voluntary donors at the Department of Hemotherapy and Endocrinology, 27.70 ± 4.85 years, BMI 23 (18 – 45.65) kg/m ²	Chemerin

no significant association between circulating apelin and PCOS (SMD: 0.57, 95% CI [-0.21, 1.35]).

A 5-dihydrotestosterone (DHT)-induced rat model was used to simulate the reproductive and metabolic phenotypes of PCOS. These animal experiments showed that recombinant chemerin inhibits basal estradiol secretion in DHT-induced rat granulosa cells. *In vitro*, chemerin suppressed folliclestimulating hormone-induced progesterone and estradiol secretion in cultured preantral follicles and granulosa cells (34). Chemokine-like receptor-1 (CMKLR1), an orphan G-protein-coupled receptor, is specifically expressed by monocyte-derived dendritic cells, macrophages, and circulating plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Chemerin is a chemoattractant ligand for CMKLR1. *CMKLR1* gene deletion



FIGURE 2

Forest plots of circulating apelin levels in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome compared with controls. Diamond represents the pooled odds ratio at 95% confidence interval.



FIGURE 3

Forest plots of circulating chemerin levels in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome compared with controls. Diamond represents the pooled odds ratio at 95% confidence interval.



attenuates the effects of chronic DHT treatment on ovarian function in mouse models of DHT-induced PCOS, likely via BMP4 signaling (35). Chemerin also reduces IGF-1-induced steroidogenesis and cell proliferation by decreasing the activation of the IGF-1R signaling pathway in primary human granulosa cells (36). Additionally, metformin treatment has been shown to significantly reduce serum chemerin levels in PCOS patients (32, 37). Chemerin treatment in vitro stimulates the process of angiogenesis (38). Therefore, Anusha et al. hypothesized that the increased expression of ovarian chemerin protein in PCOS subjects may cause derangements in ovarian steroidogenesis or angiogenesis that may trigger the development and progression of metabolism related reproductive disorder (39). In addition, murine model of polycystic ovaries when treated with pioglitazone and metformin showed improved insulin



resistance and abnormal steroid production by attenuating the ovarian chemerin gene expression (40). These findings suggest that chemerin is a novel negative regulator that may contribute to PCOS pathogenesis. However, further investigation is necessary to understand the effects of chemerin on PCOS.

Although circulating apelin levels are significantly associated with diabetes, in our meta-analysis, there was no significant association between circulating apelin levels and PCOS. Apelin is expressed in granulosa cells, follicles, and follicular fluid and participates in the normal development of follicles, selection of dominant follicles, and proliferation and apoptosis of granulosa cells (41, 42). However, the influence of apelin on PCOS pathogenesis seems to be more complicated, as indicated by controversial data regarding the association between apelin levels, HOMA-IR, and body mass index (BMI) (12, 18, 22, 27). More high-quality studies are needed to better support the association between apelin and PCOS.

This meta-analysis aimed to statistically evaluate circulating apelin and chemerin levels in PCOS patients. However, this study had some limitations. Due to the lack of large sample casecontrolled studies, most of the studies included in this metaanalysis were small. Additionally, some studies did not use BMImatched healthy controls. Different detection methods for apelin and chemerin were used in these studies. All these factors may have affected the results; therefore, the results of this metaanalysis should be interpreted cautiously, as further research is needed.

Conclusion

This meta-analysis is the first to evaluate circulating apelin and chemerin levels in PCOS patients. Our findings suggest that circulating chemerin levels in PCOS patients are significantly higher than those in healthy controls. More high-quality studies are needed to better support the association between serum apelin levels and PCOS.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

XS designed the study. YG and XS searched databases and collected the data. HF and HW assessed the quality of the study. XS performed the analysis. HF and XS wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Carmina E, Lobo RA. Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) arguably the most common endocrinopathy is associated with significant morbidity in women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1999) 84:1897–9. doi: 10.1210/jcem.84.6.5803

 The Rotterdam ESHRE/ASRM-Sponsored PCOS consensus workshop group. Revised 2003 consensus on diagnostic criteria and long-term health risks related to polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *Hum Reprod* (2004) 19:41–7. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/deh098

3. Wild RA, Carmina E, Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Dokras A, Escobar-Morreale HF, Futterweit W, et al. Assessment of cardiovascular risk and prevention of cardiovascular disease in women with the polycystic ovary syndrome (AE-PCOS) society. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 95:2038–49. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-2724

4. Amato MC, Vesco R, Vigneri E, Ciresi A, Giordano C. Hyperinsulinism and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) role of insulin clearance. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2015) 38:1319–26. doi: 10.1007/s40618-015-0372-x

5. Antushevich H, Wojcik M. Review apelin in disease. Clin Chim Acta (2018) 483:241-8. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2018.05.012

6. Castan-Laurell I, Dray C, Attane C, Duparc T, Knauf C, Valet P. Apelin, diabetes, and obesity. *Endocrine* (2011) 40:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s12020-011-9507-9

7. Noori-Zadeh A, Bakhtiyari S, Khanjari S, Haghani K, Darabi S. Elevated blood apelin levels in type 2 diabetes mellitus a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2019) 148:43-53. doi: 10.1016/ j.diabres.2018.12.012

8. Kennedy AJ, Davenport AP. International union of basic and clinical pharmacology CIII chemerin receptors CMKLR1 (Chemerin1) and GPR1 (Chemerin2) nomenclature, pharmacology, and function. *Pharmacol Rev* (2018) 70:174–96. doi: 10.1124/pr.116.013177

9. Helfer G, Wu QF. Chemerin a multifaceted adipokine involved in metabolic disorders. J Endocrinol (2018) 238:R79–94. doi: 10.1530/JOE-18-0174

10. Li Y, Shi B, Li S. Association between serum chemerin concentrations and clinical indices in obesity or metabolic syndrome a meta-analysis. *PloS One* (2014) 9:e113915. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113915

11. Qi X, Fan J, Zhu J, Ling Y, Mi S, Chen H, et al. Circulating chemerin level and risk of cancer a systematic review and meta-analysis. *biomark Med* (2020) 14:919–28. doi: 10.2217/bmm-2019-0500

12. Cekmez F, Cekmez Y, Pirgon O, Canpolat FE, Aydinöz S, Metin Ipcioglu O, et al. Evaluation of new adipocytokines and insulin resistance in adolescents with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur Cytokine Netw* (2011) 22:32. doi: 10.1684/ ecn.2011.0279

13. Goren K, Sagsoz N, Noyan V, Yucel A, Caglayan O, Bostancİ MS. Plasma apelin levels in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Turkish-German Gynecol Assoc* (2012) 13:27–31. doi: 10.5152/jtgga.2011.74

14. Wang L, Zhong Y, Ding Y, Shi X, Huang J, Zhu F. Elevated serum chemerin in Chinese women with hyperandrogenic PCOS. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2014) 30:746–50. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2014.928687

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.1076951/full#supplementary-material

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA SHEET 1

The full electronic search strategy.

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA SHEET 2

Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analyses (PRISMA) checklist

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 1

The funnel plots of circulating apelin levels in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome compared with controls.

SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURE 2

The funnel plots of circulating chemerin levels in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome compared with controls.

15. Ademoglu E, Berberoglu Z, Carlioglu A, Dellal F, Gorar S, Alphan Z, et al. Higher levels of circulating chemerin in both lean and obese patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Minerva Ginecol* (2014) 66:535–42.

16. Liu Q, Jiang J, Shi Y, Mo Z, Li M. Apelin/Apelin receptor a new therapeutic target in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Life Sci* (2020) 260:118310. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2020.118310

17. Polak K, Czyzyk A, Simoncini T, Meczekalski B. New markers of insulin resistance in polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2017) 40:1–8. doi: 10.1007/s40618-016-0523-8

18. Chang C, Tsai Y, Lee C, Chan T, Wang S, Su J. Lower serum apelin levels in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* (2011) 95:2520–3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.04.044

19. Guvenc Y, Var A, Goker A, Kuscu NK. Assessment of serum chemerin, vaspin and omentin-1 levels in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Int Med Res* (2016) 44:796–805. doi: 10.1177/0300060516645421

20. Wells GA, Shea B, O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. *The Newcastle-Ottawa scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in meta-analyses* (2014) (Accessed 2014 Aug 5).

21. Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions version 5.1.0 (2014) (Accessed 2014 Aug).

22. Choi YS, Yang HI, Cho S, Jung JA, Jeon YE, Kim HY, et al. Serum asymmetric dimethylarginine, apelin, and tumor necrosis factor- α levels in nonobese women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Steroids* (2012) 77:1352–8. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2012.08.005

23. Altinkaya SO, Nergiz S, Kucuk M, Yuksel H. Apelin levels in relation with hormonal and metabolic profile in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2014) 176:168–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2014.02.022

24. Benk SD, Gokce C, Keskin KR, Yilmaz AN, Ozturk OH, Turhan E, et al. Does polycystic ovary syndrome itself have additional effect on apelin levels? *Obstet Gynecol Int* (2014) 2014:536896. doi: 10.1155/2014/536896

25. Guzel EC, Celik C, Abali R, Kucukyalcin V, Celik E, Guzel M, et al. Omentin and chemerin and their association with obesity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2014) 30:419-22. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2014.888412

26. Huang R, Yue J, Sun Y, Zheng J, Tao T, Li S, et al. Increased serum chemerin concentrations in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome relationship between insulin resistance and ovarian volume. *Clin Chim Acta* (2015) 450:366–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2015.09.015

27. Olszanecka-Glinianowicz M, Madej P, Owczarek A, Chudek J, Skalba P. Circulating anti-mullerian hormone levels in relation to nutritional status and selected adipokines levels in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol (OXF)* (2015) 83:98–104. doi: 10.1111/cen.12687

28. Kiyak Caglayan E, Engin-Üstun Y, Sari N, Göçmen AY, Seckin L, Kara M, et al. Is there association between vitamin d levels, apelin 36, and visfatin in PCOS? *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2016) 32:386–9. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2015.1124260

29. Yang S, Wang Q, Huang W, Song Y, Feng G, Zhou L, et al. Are serum chemerin levels different between obese and non-obese polycystic ovary syndrome women? *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2016) 32:38–41. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2015.1075501

30. Ożegowska K, Bartkowiak-Wieczorek J, Bogacz A, Seremak-Mrozikiewicz A, Duleba AJ, Pawelczyk L. Relationship between adipocytokines and angiotensin converting enzyme gene insertion/deletion polymorphism in lean women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2019) 36:1–5. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2019.1695248

31. Martinez-Garcia MA, Moncayo S, Insenser M, Alvarez-Blasco F, Luque-Ramirez M, Escobar-Morreale HF. Metabolic cytokines at fasting and during macronutrient challenges influence of obesity, female androgen excess and sex. *Nutrients* (2019) 11:2566. doi: 10.3390/nu11112566

32. Foda AA, Foda EA, El-Negeri MA, El-Said ZH. Serum chemerin levels in polycystic ovary syndrome after metformin therapy. *Diabetes Metab Syndr* (2019) 13:1309–15. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2019.01.050

33. Abruzzese GA, Gamez J, Belli SH, Levalle OA, Mormandi E, Otero P, et al. Increased chemerin serum levels in hyperandrogenic and normoandrogenic women from Argentina with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Gynecol Endocrinol* (2020) 36:1057–61. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2020.1769061

34. Wang Q, Kim JY, Xue K, Liu JY, Leader A, Tsang BK. Chemerin, a novel regulator of follicular steroidogenesis and its potential involvement in polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Endocrinology* (2012) 153:5600–11. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-1424

35. Tang M, Huang C, Wang YF, Ren PG, Chen L, Xiao TX, et al. CMKLR1 deficiency maintains ovarian steroid production in mice treated chronically with dihydrotestosterone. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:21328. doi: 10.1038/srep21328

36. Reverchon M, Cornuau M, Rame C, Guerif F, Royere D, Dupont J. Chemerin inhibits IGF-1-induced progesterone and estradiol secretion in human granulosa cells. *Hum Reprod* (2012) 27:1790–800. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ des089

37. Sun X, Wu X, Zhou Y, Yu X, Zhang W. Evaluation of apelin and insulin resistance in patients with PCOS and therapeutic effect of drospirenoneethinylestradiol plus metformin. *Med Sci Monit* (2015) 21:2547–52. doi: 10.12659/MSM.894926

38. Tal S, Seifer DB, Arici A. The emerging role of angiogenic factor dysregulation in the pathogenesis of polycystic ovarian syndrome. semin. *Reprod Med* (2015) 33:195–207. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1552582

39. Anusha S, Mayank C, Puran B, Amitabh K. Adiponectin and chemerin contrary adipokines in regulating reproduction and metabolic disorders. *Reprod Sci* (2018) 25:1462–73. doi: 10.1177/1933719118770547

40. Kabiri N, Tabandeh M, Tabatabaie SR. Beneficial effects of pioglitazone and metformin in murine model of polycystic ovaries *via* improvement of chemerin gene up-regulation. *DARU* (2014) 22:39. doi: 10.1186/2008-2231-22-39

41. Shimizu T, Kosaka N, Murayama C, Tetsuka M, Miyamoto A. Apelin and APJ receptor expression in granulosa and theca cells during different stages of follicular development in the bovine ovary involvement of apoptosis and hormonal regulation. *Anim Reprod Sci* (2009) 116:28–37. doi: 10.1016/j.anireprosci.2009.01.009

42. Schilffarth S, Antoni B, Schams D, Meyer HH, Berisha B. The expression of apelin and its receptor APJ during different physiological stages in the bovine ovary. *Int J Biol Sci* (2009) 5:344–50. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.5.344

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Katja Teerds, Wageningen University and Research, Netherlands

REVIEWED BY Tiziana Russo, Mediterranea University of Reggio Calabria, Italy Lei Zeng, the First Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Wenbin Meng mwb202030@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

SPECIALTY SECTION RECEIVED 15 July 2022 ACCEPTED 19 December 2022 PUBLISHED 18 April 2023

CITATION

Rong A, Ta N, E. L and Meng W (2023) Add-on effect of the Guizhi Fuling formula for management of reduced fertility potential in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Front. Endocrinol.* 13:995106. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.995106

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Rong, Ta, E. and Meng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Add-on effect of the Guizhi Fuling formula for management of reduced fertility potential in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials

Anna Rong^{1†}, Na Ta^{1†}, Lihua E.² and Wenbin Meng^{1*}

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, The Affiliated Hospital of Inner Mongolia Medical University, Hohhot, China, ²Department of Stomatology, The Affiliated Hospital of Inner Mongolia Medical University, Hohhot, China

Background: Guizhi Fuling (GZFL) pill, a traditional Chinese herbal formula including *Semen Persicae*, *Ramulus Cinnamomi*, *Poria*, *Radix Paeoniae Alba*, and *Cortex Moutan*, has been widely applied in the management of gynecological diseases.

Objective: To evaluate the add-on effect of the GZFL formula for treating reduced fertility potential in women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) by conducting a systematic review and meta-analysis.

Methods: Two reviewers independently searched the PubMed, Embase, Cochrane Library, Wanfang, SinoMed, and CKNI databases until 09/11/2022. Eligible studies were randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of the GZFL formula plus Western medicine versus the Western medicine for treating PCOS. The primary endpoint was the ovulation, pregnancy, and miscarriage rate. The secondary endpoints included the serum follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), total testosterone, luteinizing hormone (LH), estradiol, and homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance (HOMA-IR).

Results: There were 16 RCTs with 1,385 patients identified. The GZFL formula plus Western medicine significantly improved the ovulation rate (risk ratios [RR] 1.24; 95% confidence intervals [CI] 1.15–1.34) and pregnancy rate (RR 1.53; 95% CI 1.38 to 1.69) than the Western medicine alone. Adjuvant treatment with the GZFL formula also significantly decreased the serum FSH (mean difference [MD] -0.48 U/l; 95% CI -0.80 to -0.15), total testosterone (standard mean difference [SMD] -1.07; 95% CI -1.71 to -0.44), LH level (MD -2.19 U/l; 95% CI -3.04 to -1.34), and HOMA-IR (MD -0.47; 95% CI -0.60 to -0.34). However, there was no significant difference in the miscarriage rate (RR 0.89; 95% CI

0.36-2.20) and serum estradiol level (SMD $0.34;\,95\%$ CI -0.25 to 0.94) between two groups.

Conclusions: The GZFL formula as adjuvant therapy can improve the ovulation and pregnancy rates in women with PCOS. Its beneficial effects may correlate with reducing FSH, total testosterone, and LH and ameliorating insulin resistance. However, more well-designed RCTs with larger samples and multicenter trials are required to confirm the current findings due to uncertainty of the evidence.

Systematic review registration: PROSPERO identifier, CRD42022354530.

KEYWORDS

Guizhi Fuling capsule/pill, insulin resistance, meta-analysis, polycystic ovary syndrome, pregnancy, sex hormone

Introduction

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a hormonal disorder common among reproductive-age women. The pooled mean prevalence of PCOS was 21.27% using different diagnostic criteria (1). Women with PCOS are more likely to develop certain long-term health sequelae including type 2 diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and endometrial cancer (2). Apart from hormonal imbalance and metabolic problems, fertility reduced in ovulatory women with PCOS is also a big concern (3). Alterations in oocyte competence are considered potential causative factors for subfertility in women with PCOS (4). Management of fertility reduced in ovulatory women with PCOS include lifestyle changes, pharmacological ovulation induction, reproductive technologies, or laparoscopic ovarian drilling (5). However, achievement of successful fertility in women with PCOS remains a major concern (6).

Traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) has been used to treat gynecological diseases including PCOS. The Guizhi Fuling (GZFL) formula was firstly described in Jingui Yaolue of the Han dynasty. This prescription includes *Semen Persicae*, *Ramulus Cinnamomi*, *Poria*, *Radix Paeoniae Alba*, and *Cortex Moutan*. This classical formula exhibits the effects of activating blood and dissolving blood stasis according to TCM theory. The combination of the GZFL capsule/pill has been widely applied for treatment of PCOS (7, 8). A previous meta-analysis published in Chinese (9) has concluded that the GZFL formula combined with Western medicine was superior to the Western medicine in improving the ovulation and pregnancy rate in women with PCOS. However, the impact of the GZFL formula on sex hormone level and insulin resistance was not well-characterized in this meta-analysis. No previous meta-analysis published in English literature has specially focused on the add-on effect of the GZFL formula for management of reduced fertility potential in women with PCOS. To address this knowledge gap, we conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) to evaluate the add-on effect of the DZFL formula for treatment of infertility associated with PCOS.

Methods

Literature search

The current study was performed and reported based on the guidelines of Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (10). Our study was registered in the PROSPERO database (CRD42022354530). Two reviewers independently searched PubMed, Embase, Cochrane Library, Wanfang, VIP, SinoMed, and China National Knowledge Infrastructure databases until 09/12/2022. Keywords for the literature search included the following (Supplemental Text S1): "Gyejibokryeong-Hwan" OR "Guizhi Fuling" OR "Gui zhi Fu ling" AND "polycystic ovary syndrome" OR "polycystic ovarian syndrome" OR "PCOS" AND "randomized controlled trial" OR "random." Reference lists of retrieved studies and reviews were also manually searched to identify any additional eligible studies.

Study selection

Studies satisfying the following criteria were included: 1) patients with a clinical diagnosis of PCOS; 2) study design:

RCTs; 3) GZFL formula regardless of capsule, pill, or decoction plus Western medicine versus the same Western medicine alone as intervention; and 4) the primary endpoint was the ovulation rate, pregnancy rate, and miscarriage rate. The secondary endpoints included the serum follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), total testosterone, luteinizing hormone (LH), estradiol level, and homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance (HOMA-IR). Exclusion criteria included the following: 1) modified GZFL formula as intervention; 2) GZFL formula combined with any complementary therapy as intervention; 3); any different treatment except for the GZFL formula between two groups; 4) patients with Cushing's syndrome or congenital adrenal hyperplasia, and 5) duplicate publication or suspected plagiarism.

Data extraction and quality assessment

The following data were collected by two independent reviewers from the selected trials: name of the first author, publication time, number of patients, mean age or age range, type/dosage of GZFL, detailed Western therapy, duration of intervention, duration of follow-up, outcome measures, and quality assessment information. The Cochrane Collaboration risk-of-bias tool was applied to evaluate the methodological quality of eligible trials, which assesses randomization generation, allocation concealment, blinding of participants and personnel, blinding of outcome assessors, incomplete outcome data, selective outcome reporting, and whether to enroll patients according to TCM syndrome. Any disagreement between the two reviewers was settled by consensus or asked for the third reviewer.

Data analysis

All data were analyzed using Review Manager version 5.1 and STATA 12.0 (STATA Corp LP, College Station, TX, USA). The effect sizes were summarized by pooling weight mean difference (WMD) or standard mean difference (SMD) with a 95% confidence interval (CI) for the continuous outcome data. For the binary outcome data, we pooled the risk ratios (RR) with 95% CI for the GZFL formula plus Western medicine versus the Western medicine alone. Heterogeneity across trials was examined using the I² statistic and Cochrane Q test. A randomeffect model was selected when there was significant heterogeneity $(I^2 \text{ statistic } \ge 50\% \text{ and/or } p$ -value <0.1 of the Cochrane Q test); otherwise, we selected a fixed-effect model. To investigate the robustness of the pooling effect size, we conducted a leave-out one trial sensitivity analysis. Subgroup analysis was conducted according to the types of Western medicine, course of treatment, and form of prepared GZFL formula. Begg's test (11) and Egger's test (12) were used to assess publication bias. In the case of significant publication bias, the trim-and-fill analyses were used to correct the pooling effect size. The GRADE method was used to summarize the certainty of evidence.

Results

Search results and study characteristics

The literature search identified 776 articles, of which 538 articles were left after exclusion of duplicates. After reviewing the titles and abstracts, 490 articles were excluded and then 48 articles were left for full-text evaluation. Finally, 16 trials (13–28) were included in the meta-analysis after applying the predefined criteria for inclusion and exclusion. A flowchart of the study selection is shown in Figure 1.

The main features of the included trials are shown in Table 1. These eligible trials were published between 2008 and 2022. All the included trials were conducted in China and published in Chinese. A total of 1,385 women with PCOS were identified. The duration of treatment varied from three to six menstrual cycles. For each course of treatment, the GZFL formula was administered at a dosage of 2.79 to 12 mg daily except for the menstrual period. Clomiphene was administered at a dosage of 50 to 100 mg daily from the 5th to 10th days of menstruation. Ethinylestradiol/cyproterone acetate (ECA) 2 mg/0.035 mg daily was administered from the 5th day of menstruation for 21 consecutive days. Supplemental Figure S1 and Figure S2 summarize the risk of bias of included trials. According to the



Author/	Sample	Age	Main interventions		Course of	Follow-	Outcome measures
year	size	(years)	Outcome measures	Outcome measures	treatment	up duration	
Zhao HB 2008 (<mark>13</mark>)	GZFL:34 Con: 34	28-34	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	Clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	3 months		Pregnancy, ovulation, LH, FSH, TT, HOMA-IR
Shi SQ 2010 (14)	GZFL:24 Con: 17	Not reported	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	Clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	3 months		Pregnancy, ovulation, TT
Ye HJ 2012 (15)	GZFL:30 Con: 30	GZFL: 27.7 ± 3.6 Con: 27.8 ± 3.8	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/day + clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day + clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	3 menstrual cycles		Pregnancy, ovulation, LH, TT
Shao JY 2016 (16)	GZFL:44 Con:44	GZFL: 26.1 ± 5.16 Con: 25.3 ± 4.54	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	Clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	3 months		Pregnancy, ovulation, LH, FSH, TT, Estradiol
Zhang LY 2016 (17)	GZFL:55 Con: 55	GZFL: 30.8 ± 6.9 Con: 29.8 ± 6.6	GZFL pill 12 g/day + ECA 2 mg/ 0.035 mg/day + metformin 1.5 g/ day	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day + metformin 1.5 g/ day	3 menstrual cycles		Pregnancy, ovulation, miscarriage, LH, FSH, TT, Estradiol, HOMA-IR
He WJ 2017 (<mark>18</mark>)	GZFL:45 Con: 32	GZFL: 27.49 ± 6.11 Con: 27.85 ± 6.18	GZFL pill 12 g/day + ECA 2 mg/ 0.035 mg/day	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day	3 menstrual cycles		Pregnancy, ovulation, LH, TT
Tian Y 2017 (19)	GZFL:54 Con: 53	GZFL: 29.8 ± 4.5 Con: 29.3 ± 4.1	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/day + metformin 1.0 g/day	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day + metformin 1.0 g/ d	3 menstrual cycles		Pregnancy, ovulation, LH, FSH, TT, Estradiol, HOMA-IR
Wang ZY 2017 (20)	GZFL:52 Con: 52	GZFL: 28.02 ± 3.81 Con: 27.21 ± 4.17	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/day	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day	3 months	3 months	Pregnancy, ovulation, LH, FSH, Estradiol
Cui YJ 2018 (21)	GZFL:28 Con: 28	GZFL: 28.0 ± 3.8 Con: 28.3 ± 2.5	GZFL tablet 2.88 g/day + ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/day	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day	3 menstrual cycles	6 months	Pregnancy, ovulation, TT
Luo J 2018 (22)	GZFL:54 Con: 54	GZFL: 30.23 ± 2.19 Con: 29.65 ± 2.47	GZFL pill 12 g/day + ECA 2 mg/ 0.035 mg/day + clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day + clomiphene citrate 50 mg/day × 5	3 menstrual cycles	12 months	Pregnancy, miscarriage, LH, FSH, TT, estradiol

TABLE 1 Main features of clinical trials included in the meta-analysis.

(Continued)

Author/	Sample	Age	Main interventions		Course of	Follow-	Outcome measures
year	size	(years)	Outcome measures	Outcome measures	treatment	up duration	
Wu ZW 2018 (23)	GZFL:40 Con:40	GZFL: 28.34 ± 3.59 Con: 28.16 ± 3.64	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/day	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day	6 menstrual cycles	12 months	Pregnancy
Cui Y 2019 (27)	GZFL:79 Con:78	GZFL: 28.97 ± 2.92 Con: 29.03 ± 3.08	GZFL pill 6-12 g/day + pioglitazone 15 mg/day	Pioglitazone 15 mg/day	3 menstrual cycles	6 months	Pregnancy, ovulation
Zhang Y 2019 (24)	GZFL:28 Con:28	GZFL: 25-40 Con: 24-38	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/day + metformin 1.0 g/day	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day + metformin 1.0 g/ day	3 menstrual cycles		Pregnancy, ovulation
Zhao XH 2019 (<mark>25</mark>)	GZFL:44 Con: 44	GZFL: 31.7 ± 3.6 Con: 31.4 ± 3.6	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/day	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day	3 months		Pregnancy, ovulation, LH, Estradiol
Zhao SY 2019 (26)	GZFL:53 Con: 53	GZFL: 28.54 ± 5.02 Con: 27.93 ± 3.21	GZFL pill 12 g/day + clomiphene citrate 100 mg/day	Clomiphene citrate 100 mg/day	4 menstrual cycles	12 months	Pregnancy, ovulation, FSH, TT, Estradiol
Liu W 2022 (<mark>28</mark>)	GZFL:45 Con: 46	GZFL: 28.76 ± 2.30 Con: 28.14 ± 2.52	GZFL capsule 2.79 g/day + ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/day + clomiphene citrate 50 g/day × 5	ECA 2 mg/0.035 mg/ day + clomiphene citrate 50 g/day × 5	3 menstrual cycles		Pregnancy, ovulation, LH, TT, Estradiol

GZFL, Guizhi Fuling; Con, control; ECA, ethinylestradiol/cyproterone acetate; LH, luteinizing hormone; FSH, follicle-stimulating hormone; TT, total testosterone; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance.

Cochrane Collaboration risk-of-bias tool, most of the trials were classified as suboptimal methodological quality with an unclear risk of bias. Only two trials (15, 28) enrolled the patients based on the TCM syndrome differentiation.

Ovulation rate

Fourteen trials (13–21, 24–28) reported the effect of the GZFL formula as an adjuvant therapy on the ovulation rate. As shown in Figure 2, the GZFL formula plus Western medicine significantly improved the ovulation rate (RR 1.24; 95% CI 1.15–1.34) compared with the Western medicine alone in a random-effect model, with significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 39.7\%$, p = 0.063). Leave-out one trial sensitivity analysis showed that the pooled RR of the ovulation rate

ranged from 1.21 to 1.26 (all p-values < 0.05). Table S1 describes the results of subgroup analysis. Both the Begg's test (p = 0.002) and the Egger's test (p = 0.002) suggested the likelihood of publication bias. However, the "trim-and-fill" analysis showed that the corrected pooling RR of ovulation rate was 1.27 (95% CI 1.17–1.38).

Pregnancy rate

All the included trials reported the effect of the GZFL formula as an adjuvant therapy on the pregnancy rate. As shown in Figure 3, the GZFL formula plus Western medicine significantly improved the pregnancy rate (RR 1.53; 95% CI 1.38–1.69) compared with the Western medicine alone, without significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 32.8\%$, p = 0.10). Leave-out one trial sensitivity

Study of Subgroup Events Total Events Total Vecital MH, Random, 95%; Cl Zhao HB 29 34 26 34 71% 1.12 [0.86, 1.41] 200 Shi SO 18 24 9 17 2.2% 1.42 [0.86, 2.35] 2010 Ye HJ 28 30 26 30 1.98 [0.86, 2.35] 2010 Shi SO 18 24 9 17 2.2% 1.09 [0.31, 1.28] 2010 Zhang LY 49 55 45 55 10.9% 1.09 [0.31, 1.28] 2010 Wang ZY 42 52 2.9 52 5.7% 1.45 [1.10, 1.91] 2017 He WU 40 45 18 32 4.5% 1.32 [1.03, 1.48] 2017 Tian Y 40 54 39 53 4.5% 1.32 [1.03, 1.48] 2017 Cui YU 64 78 3.5 6.3% 1.32 [1.03, 1.48] 2017 Zhao SY 38	Zhao HB Shi SQ				Total	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	Year	M-H, Random, 95% Cl
Shi SQ 18 24 9 17 2.2% 1.42 (0.86, 2.35) 2010 Ye HJ 26 30 26 30 10.1% 1.08 (0.93, 1.27) 2016 Zhang LY 49 55 45 55 10.9% 1.08 (0.93, 1.27) 2016 Shao JY 37 44 19 44 3.8% 1.95 (1.36, 2.80) 2016 Wang ZY 42 52 29 52 57% 1.45 (1.0.191) 2017 He WJ 40 45 18 32 4.5% 1.25 (1.0.191) 2017 Tian Y 49 54 39 53 9.4% 1.23 (1.0.31, 1.48) 2017 Cui YJ 27 28 24 28 10.2% 1.13 (0.96, 1.33) 2018 Cui YJ 64 79 52 78 9.0% 1.22 (1.01, 1.47) 2019 Zhao SY 38 53 35 53 6.3% 1.09 (0.84, 1.40) 2019 Zhao XY 38 53 35 53 6.3% 1.09 (0.84, 1.40) 2019 Zhao XY 38 53 35 53 6.3% 1.09 (0.84, 1.40) 2019 Zhao XY 38 53 35 53 6.3% 1.09 (0.84, 1.40) 2019 Zhao XY 39 45 29 46 6.5% 1.37 (1.07, 1.67) 2019 Liu W 39 45 29 46 6.5% 1.37 (1.07, 1.76) 2022 Total events 527 401 Heterogeneity Tas 27.87 (0.0001) Total events 0 527 401	Shi SQ								
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		18	24	9	17	2.2%			
Shao, Jy 37 44 19 44 38% 1.95 (1.36, 2.60) 2016 Wang ZY 42 22 95 52, 57% 1.45 (1.10, 1.91) 2017 He YU 40 45 18 32 4.5% 1.58 (1.14, 2.18) 2017 Tian Y 49 54 39 53 9.4% 1.23 (1.03, 1.48) 2017 Cui YJ 27 28 24 28 1.35 (1.06, 51, 33) 2018 Cui YJ 27 28 20 53 5.3% 1.09 (1.08, 1.73) 2019 Zhao SY 38 53 5.3% 1.09 (1.08, 1.72) 2019 Zhao SY 38 53 5.3% 1.09 (1.08, 1.72) 2019 Zhao SY 39 45 29 46 6.5% 1.37 (1.07, 1.67) 2022 Total (95% Ct) 615 594 100.0% 1.24 [1.15, 1.34] 4 4 Total events 527 401 40 45 29 40.5 50.7 1.15 2 Total (95% Ct) 615 594 <	Ye HJ	28	30	26	30	10.1%	1.08 [0.91, 1.28]	2012	+-
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Zhang LY	49	55	45	55	10.9%	1.09 [0.93, 1.27]	2016	+
He VU 40 45 18 32 4.5% 1.58 [1.14, 2.18] 2017 Tian Y 49 54 39 53 9.4% 1.23 [1.03, 1.48] 2017 Cui Y 27 28 24 28 10.2% 1.13 [0.95, 1.33] 2018 Cui Y 64 79 52 78 9.0% 1.09 [0.84, 1.40] 2019 Zhao SY 38 53 35 53 6.3% 1.09 [0.84, 1.40] 2019 Zhao SY 27 28 20 28 6.7% 1.35 [1.06, 1.72] 2019 Zhao SY 39 45 29 46 6.5% 1.37 [1.07, 1.76] 2022 Total (95% CI) 615 594 100.0% 1.24 [1.15, 1.34] Total events 577 401 Heterogeneity Tau ⁺ = 0.01; Ch ⁺ = 21 55, df = 1 3 CP = 0.06); P = 40% Total coursel defice T, 5 30 (P = 0.000); P = 40%	Shao JY	37	44	19	44	3.8%	1.95 [1.36, 2.80]	2016	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Wang ZY	42	52	29	52	5.7%	1.45 [1.10, 1.91]	2017	
Cui VJ 27 28 24 28 10.2% 1.13 [0.95], 1.33 2018 Cui VJ 64 79 52 78 90.% 1.22 [1.01], 1.47 2019 Zhao SY 38 53 35 53 6.3% 1.09 [0.84, 1.40] 2019 Zhang Y 27 28 20 28 6.7% 1.35 [1.06, 1.72] 2019 Zhao XH 40 44 30 44 7.5% 1.33 [1.07, 1.67] 2019 Lu W 39 45 29 46 6.5% 1.37 [1.07, 1.67] 2019 Total (95% Cl) 615 594 100.0% 1.24 [1.15, 1.34] 4 Heterogeneity: Tau*= 0.01; Ch*= 21.55, df= 13 (P = 0.06); P = 40% 0.5	He WJ	40	45	18	32	4.5%	1.58 [1.14, 2.18]	2017	
Cui Y 64 79 52 78 9.0% 1.22[1.01,1.47] 2019 Zhao SY 38 53 35 53 6.3% 1.29[1.04,1.72] 2019 Zhang Y 27 28 20 28 6.7% 1.33[1.06,1.72] 2019 Zhao XH 40 44 30 44 7.5% 1.33[1.07,1.67] 2019 Liu W 39 45 29 46 6.5% 1.37[1.07,1.76] 2022 Total events 527 401 40	Tian Y	49	54	39	53	9.4%	1.23 [1.03, 1.48]	2017	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Cui YJ	27		24	28	10.2%	1.13 [0.95, 1.33]	2018	+
Zhang Y 27 28 20 28 6.7% 1.35 [1.06, 1.72] 2019 Zhao XH 40 44 30 44 7.5% 1.33 [1.07, 1.67] 2019 Liu W 39 45 29 46 6.5% 1.37 [1.07, 1.67] 2022 Total (95% Cl) 615 594 100.0% 1.24 [1.15, 1.34] Heterogeneity, Tau"= 0.01; Chi"= 21.55, df = 13 (P = 0.06); I"= 40% 0.5 0.7 1 1.5	Cui Y	64	79	52	78	9.0%	1.22 [1.01, 1.47]	2019	—
Zhao'XH 40 44 30 44 7.5% 1.33 [1.07, 1.67] 2019 Liu W 39 45 29 46 6.5% 1.37 [1.07, 1.76] 2022 Total (95% CI) 615 594 100.0% 1.24 [1.15, 1.34] ◆ Total events 527 401 40% 40% 0.5 0.7 1 1.5 Total events 7.52 401 40% 40% 40.5 0.5 0.7 1 1.5	Zhao SY			35	53	6.3%	1.09 [0.84, 1.40]	2019	
Liu W 39 45 29 46 6.5% 1.37 [1.07, 1.76] 2022 Total (95% Ch) 615 594 100.0% 1.24 [1.15, 1.34] Total events Total events Total events Total events Total events Total events Total events Total events Total events 0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2	Zhang Y	27			28	6.7%	1.35 [1.06, 1.72]	2019	
Total (95% Cl) 615 594 100.0% 1.24 [1.15, 1.34] Total events 527 401 Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 21.55, df = 13 ($Pe = 0.06$); $Pe = 40\%$ 0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2					44				
Total events 527 401 Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 1.3; Ch ² = 1.3 (P = 0.06); I ² = 40% Test for consent effect 7 = 5.20 (P = 0.0001) 0.5 0.7 1 1.5 2	Liu W	39	45	29	46	6.5%	1.37 [1.07, 1.76]	2022	
Heterogeneity, Tau"= 0.01; Chi ⁺ = 2.15, 5, df = 13 (P = 0.06); P = 40%	Total (95% CI)		615		594	100.0%	1.24 [1.15, 1.34]		•
Tect for overall effect: 7 = 5.29 /P < 0.00001)	Total events	527		401					
	Heterogeneity: Tau	² = 0.01; Chi ² = 21.55	5, df = 13 (P = 0.06)	; ² = 4	0%		_	
	Test for overall effe	ct: Z = 5.39 (P < 0.00	001)					GZEL fo	
								021111	

analysis showed that the pooled RR of pregnancy rate ranged from 1.49 to 1.60 (all p-values < 0.05). Table S2 summarizes the results of subgroup analysis. The Begg's test (p = 0.006) and the Egger's test (p < 0.001) indicated the likelihood of publication bias. However, the "trim-and-fill" analysis suggested that the corrected pooling RR of pregnancy rate was 1.33 (95% CI 1.24-1.41).

Miscarriage rate

Two trials (17, 22) reported the effect of the GZFL formula as an adjuvant therapy on the miscarriage rate. As shown in Figure S3, there was no significant difference on miscarriage rate (RR 0.89; 95% CI 0.36–2.20; $I^2 = 0.0\%$, p = 0.390) between the GZFL formula plus Western medicine and the Western medicine alone in a fixed-effect model.

Follicle-stimulating hormone

Seven trials (13, 16, 17, 19, 20, 22, 26) reported the effect of the GZFL formula on the serum FSH level. As shown in Figure 4, a random-effect model meta-analysis indicated that the GZFL formula plus Western medicine significantly reduced the serum FSH level (MD -0.48 U/l; 95% CI -0.80 to -0.15) compared with the Western medicine alone, with significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 86.0\%$, p < 0.001). Leave-out one trial sensitivity analysis indicated that the pooled MD of FSH ranged from -0.38 to -0.56 (all p-values < 0.05).

Luteinizing hormone

Nine trials (13, 15–20, 22, 28) reported the effect of the GZFL formula on the serum LH level. As shown in Figure 5, a randomeffect model meta-analysis showed that the GZFL formula plus Western medicine significantly reduced the serum LH level (MD -2.19 U/l; 95% CI -3.04 to -1.34) compared with the Western medicine alone, with significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 94.0\%$, p <0.001). Leave-out one trial sensitivity analysis indicated that the pooled MD of LH ranged from -2.02 to -2.50 (all p-values < 0.05).

Total testosterone

Eleven trials (13-19, 21, 22, 26, 28) reported the effect of the GZFL formula on the serum level of total testosterone. As shown in Figure 6, a random-effect model meta-analysis suggested that

	GZFL formula+o		Contro			Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events		Events			M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl
Zhao HB	13	34	7	34	2.4%	1.86 [0.85, 4.08]		
Shi SQ	17	24	6	17	2.4%	2.01 [1.00, 4.01]		
Ye HJ	13	30	10	30	3.5%	1.30 [0.68, 2.49]		
Shao JY	21	44	12	44	4.2%	1.75 [0.99, 3.10]		
Zhang LY	44	55	40	55	13.9%	1.10 [0.89, 1.36]	2016	+ -
He WJ	28	45	7	32	2.8%	2.84 [1.42, 5.69]	2017	
Tian Y	45	54	35	53	12.3%	1.26 [1.01, 1.58]	2017	-
Wang ZY	23	52	12	52	4.2%	1.92 [1.07, 3.43]	2017	
Cui YJ	15	28	10	28	3.5%	1.50 [0.82, 2.75]	2018	+
Luo J	40	48	29	48	10.1%	1.38 [1.06, 1.79]	2018	
Wu ZW	25	40	15	40	5.2%	1.67 [1.05, 2.66]	2018	— •—
Zhang Y	19	28	10	28	3.5%	1.90 [1.09, 3.32]	2019	
Zhao XH	32	44	20	44	7.0%	1.60 [1.10, 2.32]	2019	
Zhao SY	32	53	20	53	7.0%	1.60 [1.06, 2.41]	2019	
Cui Y	55	79	41	78	14.3%	1.32 [1.03, 1.71]	2019	
Liu W	26	45	11	46	3.8%	2.42 [1.36, 4.28]	2022	
Total (95% CI)		703		682	100.0%	1.53 [1.38, 1.69]		•
Total events	448		285	001	1001011			
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =		= 0 10) 17 :					+	-+ + +-+
Test for overall effect:								0.2 0.5 1 2 5 10
restion overall ellect.	2 = 0.22 (1 = 0.00	,001)					GZFL f	ormula+control Control



the GZFL formula plus Western medicine significantly reduced the serum total testosterone level (SMD -1.07; 95% CI -1.71 to -0.44) compared with the Western medicine alone, with significant heterogeneity ($I^2 = 95.0\%$, p < 0.001). Leave-out one trial sensitivity analysis indicated that the pooled SMD of total testosterone ranged from -0.81 to -1.18 (all p-values < 0.05). The Begg's test (p = 0.043) and the Egger's test (p = 0.099) indicated the likelihood of publication bias. However, the "trimand-fill" analysis suggested that the corrected pooling SMD of serum total testosterone level was unchanged.

Estradiol

Nine trials (14, 16, 17, 19, 20, 22, 25, 26, 28) reported the effect of the GZFL formula on the serum estradiol level. As shown in Supplemental Figure S4, a random-effect model metaanalysis showed that there was no significant difference in serum estradiol level (SMD 0.34; 95% CI -0.25 to 0.94; $I^2 = 94.0\%$, p < 0.001) between the GZFL formula pus Western medicine and Western medicine groups. Leave-out one trial sensitivity analysis indicated that the pooled SMD of estradiol ranged from 0.11 to 0.45 (all p-values > 0.05).

Homeostasis model assessment insulin resistance

Three trials (13, 17, 19) reported the effect of the GZFL formula on HOMA-IR level. As shown in Supplemental

Figure S5, a random-effect model meta-analysis indicated that the GZFL formula plus Western medicine significantly reduced the HOMA-IR level (MD -0.47; 95% CI -0.60 to -0.34) compared with the Western medicine alone, with substantial heterogeneity ($I^2 = 70.0\%$, p = 0.03). Leave-out one trial sensitivity analysis indicated that the pooled SMD of HOMA-IR ranged from -0.43 to -0.57 (all p-values < 0.05).

GRADE quality of evidence

The quality of evidence is summarized in Supplemental Table S3. The overall certainty of evidence was very low to moderate.

Discussion

This systematic review and meta-analysis evaluated the addon effect of the GZFL formula for treating reduced fertility potential in women with PCOS. The main findings of our study were that the GZFL formula in combination with Western medicine significantly improved the ovulation and pregnancy rates in women with PCOS. The GZFL formula as adjuvant therapy could improve approximately 24% and 53% of the ovulation rate and pregnancy rate, respectively, when compared with the Western medicine alone. Moreover, adjuvant treatment with the GZFL formula also significantly reduced the serum FSH, total testosterone, and LH levels as well as HOMA-IR.





Considering these findings all together, the GZFL formula as addon therapy to Western medicine can achieve additional beneficial effects in women with PCOS. It should be noted that adjuvant treatment with the GZFL formula appeared to have no clear effect on the miscarriage rate. However, the certainty of evidence was very low to moderate mainly due to the unclear risk of bias and significant heterogeneity of the included trials.

Our subgroup analysis showed that the add-on effects of the GZFL formula on the ovulation and pregnancy rate were stronger in the studies with more than three menstrual cycles' treatment. The GZFL capsule appeared to exert better effects on the ovulation and pregnancy rates than the GZFL pill in the subgroup analysis, suggesting that the preparation of GZFL may affect its clinical effect. Regarding the types of Western medicine used, the add-on effect of GZFL appeared to be stronger in the patients who administered ECA or clomiphene citrate alone.

The pathological physiological manifestations of the PCOS are characterized by dysfunction of the hypothalamus–pituitary– ovarian axis and the gonadotropin-releasing hormone secretion, which can result in the secretion of serum FSH, LH, testosterone, and estrogen levels. Our meta-analysis indicated that the GZFL formula combined with Western medicine has more beneficial effects in reducing the serum levels of FSH, LH, and testosterone than Western medicine alone. In addition, the GZFL formula also had additional beneficial effects in reducing insulin resistance. A preclinical study showed that the GZFL formula could ameliorate insulin resistance in PCOS-insulin resistance rat through regulating intestinal flora to control inflammation (29). Moreover, the GZFL formula also inhibited granulosa cell autophagy and promoted follicular development to attenuate ovulation disorder in PCOS-insulin resistance rats (30).

Clomiphene citrate, ECA, metformin, and pioglitazone are used for the treatment of PCOS in the included trials. For patients with ovulatory infertility, clomiphene citrate has long been the gold standard for ovulation induction. Clomiphene citrate remains the first-line pharmacological therapy for infertility associated with PCOS (31). ECA suppresses the male sex hormones (androgens). However, use of ECA could increase the risk for venous thromboembolic complications (32). Whether the add-on GZFL formula to Western medicine increases the adverse events is a big concern. Only one trial (27) reported adverse events including rash, headache, and insomnia. There was no significant difference in adverse events between the GZFL formula and control group. Adding the GZFL formula to Western medicine appeared to not increase the adverse events in this trial. However, we were unable to draw a firm conclusion about the safety of the GZFL formula combined with Western medicine. Future RCTs are warranted to investigate whether the GZFL formula as adjuvant therapy to Western medicine increases the adverse events.

The current systematic review and meta-analysis had important clinical implications. Adding the GZFL formula to Western medicine could significantly improve the ovulation and pregnancy rates. Regarding the preparation of the GZFL formula, the effect of the GZFL capsule on the ovulation and pregnancy rates appeared to be stronger than the GZFL pill. More than three menstrual cycles' treatment could exert better effects than that with less than three menstrual cycles. In addition, the add-on effect of the GZFL formula was more pronounced in combination with ECA or clomiphene citrate alone. Based on the theory of TCM, the GZFL formula is more suitable for patients with Qi stagnation and blood stasis syndrome. However, TCM syndrome differentiation was not considered in the majority of included trials. Future trials should consider the TCM syndrome differentiation in the process of patient selection.

Our systematic review and meta-analysis had certain limitations. First, a major concern is the methodological flaws of the analyzed trials. Only six trials clearly report the method of randomization. Nevertheless, all the included trials did not mention the allocation concealment and blind method. Second, majority of the included trials did not take into account the TCM syndrome differentiation in their diagnostic procedures, which could have resulted in potential selection bias of patients. Third, there was significant heterogeneity in the pooling serum hormone level and HOMA-IR. Different patients' characteristics, course of treatment, types of GZFL formula, and regimens of Western medicine may contribute to the observed heterogeneity. Fourth, all included original RCTs were written in Chinese, which gives difficulty for the readers to evaluate the quality of original trials. Finally, results of stratified analysis were potentially unreliable because of the small number of trials included in the subgroups.

Conclusions

The GZFL formula as adjuvant therapy to Western medicine can improve the ovulation and pregnancy rate in women with PCOS. The beneficial effects of the GZFL formula may correlate with reducing serum FSH, total testosterone, LH, and ameliorating insulin resistance. However, more well-designed RCTs with larger samples and multicenter trials are required to confirm the current findings due to the uncertainty of evidence.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

Study conception/design and interpretation of data: WM; literature search, data extraction, quality assessment, and

statistical analysis: AR and NT; writing of the manuscript: LE; revising of the manuscript: WM. All authors read and approved the final version of manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fendo.2022.995106/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Deswal R, Narwal V, Dang A, Pundir CS. The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome: A brief systematic review. *J Hum Reprod Sci* (2020) 13(4):261–71. doi: 10.4103/jhrs.JHRS_95_18

2. Helvaci N, Yildiz BO. Polycystic ovary syndrome and aging: Health implications after menopause. *Maturitas* (2020) 139:12-9. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2020.05.013

3. Palomba S. Is fertility reduced in ovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome? an opinion paper. *Hum Reprod* (2021) 36(9):2421-8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab181

4. Palomba S, Daolio J, La Sala GB. Oocyte competence in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 28(3):186-98. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.11.008

 Cunha A, Póvoa AM. Infertility management in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: A review. Porto BioMed J (2021) 6(1):e116. doi: 10.1097/j.pbj.000000000000116

6. Zehravi M, Maqbool M, Ara I. Polycystic ovary syndrome and infertility: An update. Int J Adolesc Med Health (2021) 34(2):1–9. doi: 10.1515/ijamh-2021-0073

7. Qin X. Application and mechanism of guizhi fuling pill for management of gynecological diseases. J Guangxi Univ Chin Med (2021) 24(1):61–4.

8. Ong M, Peng J, Jin X, Qu X. Chinese Herbal medicine for the optimal management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Am J Chin Med* (2017) 45(3):405–22. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X17500252

9. Zhang YY, Xu ZY, Zhou LS, Wang CY, Yu J, Ding CF. Meta analysis of guizhi fuling pill as an adjuvant therapy for treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Zhejiang J Integrated Traditional Chin Western Med* (2021) 31(6):572–8.

10. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gotzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: Explanation and elaboration. *J Clin Epidemiol* (2009) 62(10):e1–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006S0895-4356(09)00180-2 11. Begg CB, Mazumdar M. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. *Biometrics* (1994) 50(4):1088–101. doi: 10.2307/2533446

12. Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* (1997) 315(7109):629–34. doi: 10.1136/bmj.315.7109.629

13. Zhao HB, He YR. Clinical observation of effect of clomiphene citrate combined with cassia tuckahoe capsule on infertile polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *China Trop Med* (2008) 8(11):1942–3.

14. Shi SQ, Huang BZ, Wang JY, Wang F. The efficacy of guizhifuling capsule promoting ovulation in non-obese polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *China Med* (2010) 5(12):1176–7. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1673-4777.2010.12.029

15. Ye HJ, Jiang YJ, Li AP, Yu Y. Clinical observation on treating polycystic ovary syndrome with stertility with guizhi fuling capsule and Diane-35 and clomifene citrate. *Chin J Clin Pharmacol Ther* (2012) 17(6):691–5.

16. Shao JY, Liu J. Influence of guizhi fuling capsule combined with clomiphene on the hormone level and pregnancy rate of patients with polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Henan Traditional Chin Med* (2016) 36(5):899–901. doi: 10.16367/j.issn.1003-5028.2016.05.0379

17. Zhang LY, Yin WQ. Effect of guizhi fuling pill treatment for polycystic ovary syndrome patients with insulin resistance. *J Chin Medicinal Materials* (2016) 39 (7):1161–3. doi: 10.13863/j.issn1001-4454.2016.07.051

18. He WJ, Zhao R. Efficacy of cinnamon twig and poria bolus combined with diane-35 in the treatment of infertility induced by polycystic ovary syndrome and their influence on serum visfatin and high-sensitivity c-reactive protein. *Guangxi Med J* (2017) 39(2):165–8. doi: 10.11675/j.issn.0253-4304.2017.02.08

19. Tian Y, Gao XL. Guizhi fuling gum combined with western medicine in the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome and its effects on endocrine metabolism and ovulation. *Shanxi Tradiitional Chin Med* (2017) 38(4):444–5. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-7369.2017.04.017

20. Wang ZY. Effect of ethinylestradiol and cyproterone combined with guizhi fuling capsule on infertility of polycystic ovary syndrome, ovulation rate and pregnancy outcome. *Pract Clin J Integrated Traditional Chin Western Med* (2017) 17(6):77–8. doi: 10.13638/j.issn.1671-4040.2017.06.050

21. Cui YJ. Clinical efficacy of guizhi fuling combined with Diane-35 in the treatment of infertility with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Imaging Res Med Appl (2018) 2(10):215–6.

22. Luo J, Nie RQ, Lin LY. Influence of taie-35 and clomifen combined with laurel cocos poria pill on the pregnancy and psychological state of polycystic ovary syndrome patients. *Drug Eval Res* (2018) 41(7):1300–3. doi: 10.7501/j.issn.1674-6376.2018.07.028

23. Wu ZW. Clinical efficacy of guizhi fuling combined with Diane-35 in the treatment of infertility with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diet Health* (2018) 5(14):87.

24. Zhang Y. Guizhi fuling capsule combined with ethinylestradiol, cyproterone and metformin in the treatment of 56 cases of polycystic ovary syndrome. *J North Pharm* (2019) 16(1):136–7.

25. Zhao XH. Clinical observation of guizhi fuling capsule combined with ethinylestradiol and cyproterone in the treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Capital Med* (2019) 26(19):65.

26. Zhao SY, Wei YY. Effect of guizhi fuling capsule on ovarian function and clinical symptoms in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome complicated with insulin resistance. *Electronic J Of Pract Gynecologic Endocrinol* (2019) 6(23):106–7.

27. Cui Y, Li SP, Li Y, Yin XY. Effect of guizhi fuling pill combined with pioglitazone on serum RANTES, MCP-1 and pregnancy rate in

patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. World J Complex Med (2019) 5 (5):81-3.

28. Liu W, Du XH. Effects of guizhi fuling capsule combined with ethinylestradiol and cyproterone pretreatment on endocrine hormone level and ovulation induction in infertile patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Contemp Med* (2022) 28(7):83–5. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1009-4393.2022.07.028

29. Zhu Y, Li Y, Liu M, Hu XD, Zhu HQ. Guizhi fuling wan, Chinese herbal medicine, ameliorates insulin sensitivity in PCOS model rats with insulin resistance *via* remodeling intestinal homeostasis. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)* (2020) 11:575. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00575

30. Liu M, Zhu H, Zhu Y, Hu X. Guizhi fuling wan reduces autophagy of granulosa cell in rats with polycystic ovary syndrome *via* restoring the PI3K/AKT/ mTOR signaling pathway. *J Ethnopharmacol* (2021) 270:113821. doi: 10.1016/ j.jep.2021.113821

31. Costello MF, Misso ML, Balen A, Boyle J, Devoto L, Garad RM, et al. A brief update on the evidence supporting the treatment of infertility in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* (2019) 59(6):867–73. doi: 10.1111/ajo.13051

32. Ruan X, Kubba A, Aguilar A, Mueck AO. Use of cyproterone acetate/ ethinylestradiol in polycystic ovary syndrome: Rationale and practical aspects. *Eur J Contracept Reprod Health Care* (2017) 22(3):183–90. doi: 10.1080/ 13625187.2017.1317735 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefano Palomba, Magna Græcia University, Italy

REVIEWED BY Jason Mears, Case Western Reserve University, United States Tsung-Hsien Lee, Chung Shan Medical University, Taiwan

*CORRESPONDENCE Sadia Tabassum ⊠ saadia.tabassum81@hu.edu.pk Muhammad Zahoor ⊠ muhammad.zahoor@medisin.uio.no

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 08 November 2022 ACCEPTED 17 April 2023 PUBLISHED 22 August 2023

CITATION

Bibi S, Abbas G, Khan MZ, Nawaz T, Ullah Q, Uddin A, Khan MF, Ghafoor SU, Nadeem MS, Tabassum S and Zahoor M (2023) The mutational analysis of mitochondrial DNA in maternal inheritance of polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Front. Endocrinol.* 14:1093353. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1093353

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Bibi, Abbas, Khan, Nawaz, Ullah, Uddin, Khan, Ghafoor, Nadeem, Tabassum and Zahoor. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The mutational analysis of mitochondrial DNA in maternal inheritance of polycystic ovarian syndrome

Shaheen Bibi^{1†}, Ghulam Abbas^{2†}, Muhammad Zahoor Khan^{3†}, Tanzeela Nawaz¹, Qudrat Ullah³, Aziz Uddin⁴, Muhammad Fiaz Khan¹, Sajid Ul Ghafoor⁴, Muhammad Shahid Nadeem⁵, Sadia Tabassum^{1*} and Muhammad Zahoor⁶*

¹Department of Zoology, Hazara University, Mansehra, Pakistan, ²Department of Biotechnology, University of Agriculture, Dera Ismail Khan, Pakistan, ³Faculty of Veterinary and Animal Science, University of Agriculture, Dera Ismail Khan, Pakistan, ⁴Department of Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering, Hazara University, Mansehra, Pakistan, ⁵Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, King Abdul-Aziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, ⁶Department of Molecular Medicine, Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

Introduction: Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome (PCOS) is a globally prevalent condition that leads to infertility in women. While environmental factors contribute to PCOS, maternal genetics also play a significant role. Currently, there is no definitive test for identifying predisposition to PCOS. Hence, our objective is to discover novel maternal genetic risk factors for PCOS by investigating the genomes of patients from Pakistan.

Methods: We utilized Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS) to sequence the complete mitochondrial DNA of three PCOS patients. Subsequently, we employed MitoTIP (Mitochondrial tRNA Informatics Predictor) and PON-mt-tRNA tools to identify variations in the mitochondrial DNA. Our analysis focused on the genes MT-RNR1, MT-RNR2, MT-ATP6, MT-TL2, and MT-CYTB, which displayed common variations in all three genomes. Additionally, we observed individual variations. The D-loop region exhibited the highest frequency of mutations, followed by the non-coding regions of RNR1 and RNR2 genes. Moreover, we detected frameshift mutations in the mitochondrially encoded NADH Dehydrogenase 2 (MT-ND2) and mitochondrially encoded NADH Dehydrogenase 5 (ND5) genes within individual genomes.

Results: Our analysis unveiled six regions with common variations in the mitochondrial DNA of all three PCOS patients. Notably, the MT-RNR1, MT-RNR2, MT-ATP6, MT-TL2, and MT-CYTB genes exhibited these variations. Additionally, we identified individual variations in the mitochondrial DNA. The D-loop region displayed the highest mutation frequency, followed by the non-coding regions of RNR1 and RNR2 genes. Furthermore, frameshift mutations were detected in the MT-ND2 and ND5 genes within individual genomes.

Conclusion: Through our study, we have identified variations in mitochondrial DNA that may be associated with the development of PCOS and have the potential to serve as predisposition tests. Our findings highlight the presence of novel mutations in the MT-RNR1, MT-RNR2, MT-ATP6, MT-TL2, and MT-CYTB genes, as well as frameshift mutations in the MT-ND2 and ND5 genes. Pathogenicity analysis indicated that most variants were likely to result in benign cysts. However, the frameshift mutations in the ND2 gene were associated with a high risk of complications and pathogenicity in PCOS. This is the first report identifying these mutations and their association with PCOS, contributing to our understanding of the genetic factors underlying the condition.

KEYWORDS

mitochondrial DNA, mutations, PCOS, genome, sequence analysis, pathogenicity

Introduction

Polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) is a complex endocrine disorder that affects up to 8%-13% of women in their reproductive age (1). PCOS is a growing concern worldwide, with increasing incidence rates reported (2). The disorder is characterized by the presence of numerous ovarian cysts visible through ultrasound inspection (3). PCOS is associated with various symptoms such as menstrual irregularities, hormonal dysfunction, dermatological issues, psychological problems, high cancer risk, and metabolic disorders (4). Various gynecological issues are associated with PCOS, including anovulatory infertility (5), variations in oocyte competency (OC), which can lead to subfertility (6, 7), endometrial dysfunction, and abnormal trophoblast invasion and placentation (8), which can increase the risk of miscarriage and pregnancy complications in women with PCOS (5). PCOS women who have hyperandrogenic conditions are also at a higher risk of developing pervasive developmental disorders (PDDs) (9). Hormonal dysfunction is considered a key feature of PCOS (8, 10), while insulin resistance and hyperandrogenism have also been reported, leading to decreased folliculogenesis and an increased risk of comorbidities and androgenic alopecia (11). The most prominent impact of PCOS on women's lives is menstrual irregularities and ovarian cancer. PCOS is a multifactorial disorder, with several risk factors contributing to its etiology, including obesity, neuroendocrine status, environment or lifestyle, and genetic makeup (3). Variations in mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) are increasingly recognized as a genetic cause (12, 13). Both nuclear and mitochondrial genetic variations have been associated with PCOS pathogenesis (14). Nuclear genes, including calpain 10 (CAPN10), cytochrome family P450, insulin (INS) gene, androgen receptor (AR), fat mass obesity (FTO) gene, and follicle-stimulating hormone receptor (FSHR) gene, have been shown to be associated with PCOS (15).

The mitochondrial genome is considered more vulnerable to oxidative damage and has a high mutation rate due to the lack of protective histones, inefficient DNA repair mechanisms, and its proximity to the electron transport chain (ETC), where oxygenderived free radicals are frequently generated (16). Hence, the mitochondrial genome is considered a Pandora's box of pathogenic mutations (16). This study was designed to screen the whole mitochondrial DNA (WMTDNA), comprising 37 mitochondrial genes using next-generation sequencing and to predict *in silico* the resultant common variations for pathogenicity. *In silico* analysis was used to evaluate the pathogenicity of mutations and their impact on subjects.

Material and methods

Ethical statement

The experimental procedures were approved by the Ethical Committee of the Institution and Board of Advanced Studies and Research at Hazara University, Mansehra (21300), and Pakistan under notification number F.No.73/HU/ORIC/IBC/2017/400.

Consent, recruitment of patients, and families

The Rotterdam criteria have been used for diagnosing PCOS patients (10). According to these criteria, a patient must have two of the following three symptoms: hyperandrogenism (biochemical or clinical), oligo- or anovulation, and polycystic ovary morphology (PCOM), as determined by ultrasound inspection.

After obtaining informed consent and a physical examination by a gynecologist, selected patients were interviewed about their family history and other details, and pedigrees were constructed to trace the maternal inheritance pattern of their disorder. Saliva samples were then collected from each patient. Patients with hyperprolactinemia, thyroid and adrenal diseases, 21-hydroxylase deficiency, and androgensecreting tumors were excluded because these disorders mimic the symptoms of PCOS. Finally, three fully expressed syndromic patients were selected and subjected to whole mitochondrial genome sequence (WMGS) analysis to draw the genetic portrait of mitochondrial mutational hotspots associated with maternally inherited PCOS.

Variant calling and identification of homoplasmic and heteroplasmic mutations were carried out. After obtaining detailed family histories and information about deceased members, the pedigrees of the three families were constructed (see Figure 1). The mutations identified in WMGS were assessed in other family members of the probands through Sanger sequencing.

DNA extraction, NGS analysis, and identification of variants

DNA was extracted from saliva samples using the phenolchloroform method (17). Nanodrop quantification and gel electrophoresis were performed to determine the quantity and quality of the isolated DNA. Samples were then carefully labeled and stored at -20°C. The labeled samples were sent to a commercial company for DNA sequence analysis. Online DNA analysis tools like National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) Blast, Universal Protein Resource (Uniprot), and UGENE were used to conduct further alignment and investigations. The resulting nucleotide sequences were compared to the revised Cambridge Reference Sequence (rCRS). We performed Sanger sequencing for validation of the identified common variations for D-loop, ATP6, MT-TL2, and CYTB.

In the UGENE (http://ugene.net/) editor, two nucleotide sequences were aligned, and variations were checked. Multiple sequence alignment was performed using integrated multiple sequence comparison by log expectations (MUSCLE) on UGENE.

Score-based evaluation of tRNA variants for pathogenicity and validation by *in silico* predictive tools

Mitochondrial tRNA Informatics Predictor (MitoTIP) and PONmt-tRNA were utilized to determine the pathogenicity of mitochondrial variations. MitoTIP was employed to assess the pathogenicity status of genetic variations, while the PON-mt-tRNA, a multifactorial probability-based prediction approach, was used to classify the studied and identified mitochondrial variants. Some variants were reported to be deleterious, some benign, one novel frameshift, and one pathogenic based on the results from both MitoTIP and PON-mt-tRNA. The difference in the degree of predicted variants is attributed to the fact that both tools operate on distinct algorithms/principles and consider diverse factors (18–20).

Results

The current study focused on the mitochondrial genome of patients with maternally inherited PCOS. To achieve this, three patients were selected for the study, each from a different family with a history of maternally inherited PCOS. Furthermore, the experiment focused on analyzing the WMTDNA of these patients to identify any mutations or genetic variations that may be associated with the development of PCOS.

Clinical evaluations

At the onset of the condition, the average age range was 30–35 years. Among these patients, two were unmarried and one was married but having infertility issues. One PCOS patient was suffering from diabetes due to insulin resistance, and the other two had catamenia, dermatological, metabolic, and hormonal issues. Other family members of these three patients also suffered from PCOS. Most of the symptoms, such as obesity, dermatological problems, catamenia, hirsutisms, and hormonal issues, are common in the three PCOS patients. The detailed clinical data of the PCOS patients are given in Table 1.

Common mitochondrial DNA mutations were identified in the coding and noncoding region of the three PCOS patients in the present study

The analysis of the whole mitochondrial genome has enabled us to identify a set of mutations present in three familial subjects with PCOS. The mutations that were identified in all three genomes are presented in Table 2. Specifically, eight mutations at eight different positions in six genes were identified as common among the three PCOS patients. Of these, two mutations were located in the D-loop



TABLE 1 Clinical manifestations of three PCOS patients selected for WMTDNA analysis.

Clinical characteristics	Patient 1	Patient 2	Patient 3
Remarks	Patient	Patient	Patient
Candidate's age	30	28	35
Family history	+	+	+
Marriage history	Married	Unmarried	Unmarried
Catamenia problems	+	+	+
Irregular menses	+	+	+
Metrorrhagia	+	+	+
Amenorrhea	+	_	-
Diabetic problem	+	_	-
Insulin resistance	+	_	-
Dermatological problems	+	+	+
Hirsutism	+	+	+
Infertility problems	+	_	-
Obesity	+	+	+
Elevated abdominal circumference	+	+	+
Hormonal issues	+	+	+

"+" Presence of PCOS symptoms in PCOS patients; "-" Absence of PCOS symptoms in PCOS patients.

region, one in RNR1, one in RNR2, one in ATP6, one in MT-TL2, and one in CYTB, while four were missense variants, two were identified in intergenic regions, and one was a noncoding transcript. To further validate these findings, the mutations were revalidated in other PCOS patients through Sanger sequencing of the individual positions, as depicted in Figure 2.

Mutations were identified in the whole mitochondrial genome sequence of the three PCOS patients in the present study

The nucleotide sequence analysis has identified 36 mutations in PCOS patient 1, including 11 variants in the D-loop region, seven variants in the *RNR1* and *RNR2* genes, nine synonymous mutations, and nine missense mutations (Figure 3).

Similarly, the nucleotide sequence analysis has identified 38 mutations in PCOS patient 2, including 14 variants in the D-loop region, five variants in the *RNR1* and *RNR2* genes, nine synonymous mutations and eight missense mutations, and one stop-loss and one frameshift (Figure 4).

Furthermore, the WMTDNA nucleotide sequence analysis has identified 19 mutations in PCOS-positive patient 3, including five variants in the D-loop region, four variants in the *RNR1* and *RNR2* gene, five synonymous mutations and three missense mutations, and one stop-loss and one frameshift (Figure 5).

Pathogenicity status of the studied mutations

The pathogenicity of the identified variants was evaluated using different tools. Results revealed that among all the common

Sr. No.	Mutation	Gene name	Complete name	Location
1	73A>G	D-loop	Displacement loop	Intergenic region
2	263A>G	D-loop	Displacement loop	Intergenic region
3	1438A>G	RNR1	12S ribosomal RNA	Noncoding transcript
4	3106CN>C	RNR2	16S ribosomal RNA	Missense variant
5	8860A>G	ATP6	ATP synthase F0 subunit 6	Missense variant
7	12308A>G	MT-TL2	Mitochondrial transfer RNA leucine 2	Missense variant
8	15326A>G	СҮТВ	Cytochrome b	Missense variant

TABLE 2 Common mitochondrial DNA mutations identified in the coding and noncoding regions of three PCOS patients in the present study.



mutations identified in the three whole mitogenomes of PCOS patients after NGS analysis, mutations reported in RNR1 at positions 709A>G, 750A>G, 1438A>G, and 1393 G>A were found to be resulting in translation defects that were pathogenic. MT-12S rRNA variations are possibly associated with disruption of

mitochondrial function. The mutations found in RNR2 at positions 2706A>G, 2831G>A, 3106CN>C, and 1888G>A. These mutations are present at the 530 loops of the ribosome, and they affect the codon–anticodon interaction at the A site (acceptor site). These mutations lead to the improper movement of the small subunit



COX1, two in ATP6, two in –COX3, one in ND4L, four in ND4, one in ND5, one in ND6, and three in CYTB.



(SSU) head during translocation and finally the translocation (Table 3).

ML probability of pathogenicity: average probability of pathogenicity predicted by 20 machine learning (random forests) predictors

In addition, a mutation in the *MT-ATP6* gene at position 8860A>G with a score of 0.1 was declared as tolerated with a score of 0.003. A mutation in mitochondrial transfer RNA leucine 2 at position 12308A>G with a score of 11.8509 was declared likely neutral with a score of 0.41. A mutation at position 11719G>A in the *ND4* gene is a synonymous variant and pose no impact on the amino acid type.

Discussion

Overall, the present study aimed to investigate the mitochondrial genome of patients with maternally inherited PCOS. Three patients, each from a different family with a history of maternally inherited PCOS, were selected for the study. The study focused on analyzing the WMTDNA of these patients to identify any mutations or genetic variations that could be associated with the development of PCOS. By analyzing the mitochondrial genome of these patients, we aimed to gain insights into the potential genetic factors that contribute to the development of this disorder, specifically those that are passed down maternally.

PCOS is a common endocrine disorder that affects reproductive-age women worldwide and is the leading cause of ovulatory dysfunction and infertility (21). PCOS is characterized by hyperandrogenism, anovulation, and polycystic ovaries, along with



Frontiers in Endocrinology

Sr. No.	Genes	Mutation	rsID	SIFT; PolyPhen	MitoTIP score	Pon-mt-tRNA	Comment
1	MT-RNR1	1438A>G	rs2001030	-	-	-	Noncoding transcript exon variant
2	MT-RNR2	3106CN>C	rs368669629	-	-	-	Noncoding transcript exon variant
3	MT-CYTB	15326A>G	rs2853508	0.28 tolerated; 0.009 benign	-	-	
4		11719 G>A					Synonymous variant
5	MT-ATP6	8860A>G	rs2001031	0.1; 0.003 tolerated	-	-	Missense variant
6	MT-TL2	12308A>G	rs2853498	-	11.8509 (Q3)	0.41	

TABLE 3 Pathogenicity prediction of genetic variants detected in PCOS patients.

insulin resistance, obesity, and metabolic disorders (1). Several predisposing risk factors, including genetic, neuroendocrine, lifestyle/environmental, and obesity, have been linked to PCOS development (3). Moreover, mtDNA mutations are also considered to contribute to the pathogenesis of PCOS. MI mutations that were potentially associated with PCOS-IR were as follows: mt-tRNA^{Leu} (UUR) A3302G and C3275A mutations; mt-tRNAGln T4363C and T4395C mutations; mt-tRNA^{Ser(UCN)} C7492T mutation; mttRNA^{Asp} A7543G mutation, mt-tRNA^{Lys} A8343G mutation, mttRNA^{Arg} T10454C mutation, and mt-tRNA^{Glu} A14693G mutation (22). They utilized a whole mitochondrial genome sequencing analysis for three maternally inherited PCOS familial subjects. Their findings revealed several variations in mtDNA. Patient 1 had 11 variants in the d-loop region, including 73A>G, 146T>C, 152T>C, 263A>G, 280C>T, 309C>CCT, 310T>C, 324C>T, 16224T>C, 16311T>C, and 16519T>C. The variant 73A>G, 146T>C, and 152T>C have been previously reported to be associated with gastric colon and oral cancer, PCOS, and breast cancer (23-25). Women with PCOS may be more susceptible to some cancers due to their abnormal metabolic and hormonal conditions.

Prolonged hormone stimulation is known to be associated with the development of endometrial, ovarian, and breast cancers in women (24, 26). In this study, we identified several mtDNA variants in the three maternally inherited PCOS familial subjects that have been previously reported to be associated with various types of cancer and other diseases. Variant 263A>G was found to be linked with perilesional skin and skin tumors and PCOS (27). Variants 310T>C and 324C>T have been associated with epithelial ovarian cancer (28), while 16224T>C and 16311T>C have been linked to perilesional skin and skin tumors (27). Variant 309C>CCT has been associated with the etiology of malignant melanoma (29). One variant in the COX1 gene, which has been reported to be associated with PCOS, esophageal cancer, congenital contract, and obesity, was found in patient 1 (23, 30, 31). Similarly, variant 11719G>A has been linked to breast cancer, obesity, and PCOS (24, 31). Moreover, one variant reported in transfer RNA leucine 2 at nucleotide position 12308A>G has been associated with breast cancer, colorectal cancer, prostate and kidney cancer, Alzheimer's disease, and cardiomyopathy (24, 25, 32, 33).

Our investigation identified three variants in the *CYTB* gene, including 14766C>T and 14798T>C, which have not been previously reported in association with PCOS (27). Women with

a predisposition to PCOS may experience metabolic and hormonal issues such as insulin resistance and hyperandrogenism, which can lead to weight gain and eventually obesity. Obesity, in turn, can exacerbate the symptoms of PCOS, resulting in further metabolic complications and reproductive abnormalities. Our study also identified two mitochondrial variants in the ATP6 gene, namely 8860A>G and 9055G>A. These variants have been previously associated with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (25) and nonsyndromic hearing loss (28). The vascular characteristics of arterial walls involved in the atherogenic process may be directly influenced by androgen excess in PCOS, as reported by Wu et al. (34) in 2020. Furthermore, mutations were discovered in both the coding and noncoding regions of mitochondria in selected patients who suffered from various issues such as skin problems, hormonal imbalances, diabetes, menstrual problems, and infertility. Other family members were also identified as having this disorder (Table 1).

Fourteen variants were identified in the D-loop of patient 2, including 73A>G, previously found to be associated with gastric colon and oral cancer (24), 146T>C with oral cancer (23) and PCOS, 263A>G in association with PCOS (24), 310T>C with malignant melanoma (26), and 513G>GCA with nodular sclerosing Hodgkin lymphoma (Mitomap). Variants not previously reported in the literature with any disease but identified in our study that may be associated with PCOS are 16051A>G, 16086T>C, 16259C>A, 16267C>T, 16291C>T, 16326A>G, and 16353C>T.

In PCOS patient 2, two variants were identified in RNR1, including 750A>G, which has been reported to be associated with brain tumors (28), obesity (31), and PCOS (24), while 1438A>G is associated with obesity (31), type 2 diabetes, Parkinson's disease, and PCOS. In RNR2, three variants were reported, including 1811A>G, which has been associated with congenital cataracts (30) and PCOS (24). However, 1888G>A and 3106CN>C have not been reported in previous literature with any disease. Three variants were identified in ND1, including 3417C>G, 3465A>G, and 4129A>G, with no previous reports in association with any disorder, making them novel findings in this investigation. Similarly, three variants were reported in ND2, including the 4769A>G (frameshift) variant previously associated with esophageal cancer and PCOS (24), while 4569GA>G and 5186A>T (stop loss) variants have not been reported in previous studies with any disease. In the ATP6 gene, two variants were

identified at position 8860A>G, reported to be associated with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and PCOS, while 9094C>T is associated with primary ovarian insufficiency (35). In PCOS patient 2, a single variant was found in transfer RNA leucine 2, previously associated with breast cancer (24), and colorectal and kidney cancer (33). Three variants were identified in the cytochrome *b* gene, including 15326A>G, previously associated with PCOS (27), while 14766C>T and 15049C>T mutations have not been reported in any previous studies.

Five variants were identified in the mitochondrial D-loop region of PCOS patient 3, including 73A>G, 150C>T, 263A>G, and 16519T>C, previously associated with PCOS and gastric, colon, and oral cancers. In addition, 42T>TG was also identified. Two variants were identified in RNR1, including 1393G>A with no previous reports and 1438A>G with a reported association with obesity (31), type 2 diabetes, Parkinson's disease, and PCOS (27). However, 3106CN>C has not been reported in previous literature with any disease.

One variant was identified in ND4L at position 10685G>A, and four variants were identified in ND5 at positions 12417C>CA, 12654A>G, 13500T>C, and 13914C>A. One variant was identified in ND6 at position 14305G>A, and one variant was identified at position 15326A>G, both associated with PCOS (27). We identified mutations in both the coding and noncoding regions of mitochondria, which may have phenotypic effects on patients. PCOS patient 3 also suffered from skin issues such as acne and hirsutism, hormonal problems, diabetes, menstrual problems, frequent urination, and some psychological issues. Other family members were also found to be suffering from this disorder (refer to Table 1). The identified mutations and their biological effects in our current study and in other previous studies have been summarized in Table 4.

Conclusions

In conclusion, studying the mutation spectrum of the entire mitochondrial genome is a valuable tool for investigating various maternally inherited genetic disorders in humans, including PCOS. Mitochondrial dynamics, including the mutational spectrum, can be explored to elucidate the etiology of such genetic diseases, given that mitochondria have all the mechanisms for energy transduction in many cells and organs. Homoplasmic variations can have catastrophic consequences, while heteroplasmic mutations may have a lesser impact. This study identified mutations in the Dloop, MT-RNR1, MT-RNR2, MT-ATP6, MT-TL2, and MT-CYTB genes that are most likely associated with the etiology of maternally inherited PCOS in Pakistan. To help patients receive appropriate treatment, genetic testing for the condition and public awareness efforts should be implemented. To validate the association of these mutations with PCOS, it is recommended to predict the defects and replicate the sequence analysis with a larger sample size in other parts of the world. Furthermore, the paternal inheritance pattern should be studied in PCOS patients from Pakistani families. Overall, this study highlights the potential of mitochondrial genetic variations as a novel biomarker for PCOS diagnosis and management. Further research is needed to establish a causal relationship between these mutations and the development of PCOS.

Sr. No.	Mutation	Gene name	Biological effect in the current study	Biological function	References
1	73A>G	D-loop	PCOS	Breast cancer; PCOS; gastric, colon, and oral cancers	Czarnecka et al. (24) and Zhuo et al. (27)
2	263A>G	D-loop	PCOS	Perilesional skin and skin tumor, PCOS	Zhuo et al. (27) and Durham et al. (36)
3	1438A>G	MT- RNR1	PCOS	PCOS	Zhuo et al. (27) and Wang et al. (31)
4	3106CN>C	MT- RNR2	PCOS, dermatological issues	PCOS, dermatological issues	In the current study
5	8860A>G	MT- ATP6	PCOS	Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, PCOS	Zhuo et al. (27) and Grasso et al. (32)
6	11719G>A	MT-ND4	PCOS	Breast cancer, obesity, PCOS	Czarnecka et al. (24) and Zhuo et al. (27)
7	12308A>G	MT-TL2	PCOS	Breast, colorectal, and kidney cancers; Alzheimer's disease; cardiomyopathy	Czarnecka et al. (24), Weigl et al. (37), and Booker et al. (33)
8	15326A>G	MT- CYTB	PCOS	PCOS	Zhuo et al. (27)

TABLE 4 Mitochondrial DNA mutations identified in our stud of the WMTDNA of PCOS patients and their association with other diseases.

Eight different mutations at a different positions in six genes, these mutations are already reported in association with different diseases.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Committee of the Institution and Board of Advanced Studies and Research at Hazara University, Mansehra (21300), Pakistan under notification numberF.No.73/HU/ORIC/ IBC/2017/400. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

SB, MK, GA, ST, and MZ designed the study and wrote the manuscript. ST and MZ supervised the manuscript. SB, TN, QU, MK, AU, MF, SG, MN, and GA helped in the collection of data resources and editing of the final version of the manuscript. Moreover, data analysis and collection were completed by SB,

TN, and MF. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The authors acknowledge HEC for funding the project under NRPU10076.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Zeng X, Xie YJ, Liu YT, Long SL, Mo ZC. Polycystic ovarian syndrome: correlation between hyperandrogenism, insulin resistance and obesity. *Clinica chimica Acta* (2020) 502:214–21. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2019.11.003

2. Sharma M, Khapre M, Saxena V, Kaushal P. Polycystic ovary syndrome among Indian adolescent girls-a systematic review and metanalysis. *Nepal J Epidemiol* (2021) 11(3):1063. doi: 10.3126/nje.v11i3.38460

3. Bulsara J, Patel P, Soni A, Acharya S. A review: brief insight into polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Endocrine Metab Sci* (2021) 3:100085. doi: 10.1016/j.endmts.2021.100085

4. Setji TL, Brown AJ. Polycystic ovary syndrome: diagnosis and treatment. Am J Med (2007) 120(2):128-32. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2006.06.029

5. Palomba S. Is fertility reduced in ovulatory women with polycystic ovary syndrome? an opinion paper. *Hum Reprod* (2021) 36(9):2421-8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deab181

6. Palomba S, Daolio J, La Sala GB. Oocyte competence in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2017) 28(3):186–98. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2016.11.008

7. Harris HR, Titus LJ, Cramer DW, Terry KL. Long and irregular menstrual cycles, polycystic ovary syndrome, and ovarian cancer risk in a population-based case-control study. *Int J Cancer* (2017) 140(2):285–91. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30441

8. Palomba S, Piltonen TT, Giudice LC. Endometrial function in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a comprehensive review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2021) 27 (3):584–618. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa051

9. Palomba S, Marotta R, Di Cello A, Russo T, Falbo A, Orio F, et al. Pervasive developmental disorders in children of hyperandrogenic women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a longitudinal case-control study. *Clin Endocrinol* (2012) 77(6):898–904. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2012.04443.x

10. Azziz R. Diagnosis of polycystic ovarian syndrome: the Rotterdam criteria are premature. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 91(3):781-5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-2153

11. Rojas J, Chávez M, Olivar L, Rojas M, Morillo J, Mejías J, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome, insulin resistance, and obesity: navigating the pathophysiologic labyrinth. *Int J Reprod Med* (2014) 2014, 1–17. doi: 10.1155/2014/719050

12. Shukla P, Mukherjee S, Patil A. Identification of variants in mitochondrial d-loop and oriL region and analysis of mitochondrial DNA copy number in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. DNA Cell Biol (2020) 39(8):1458–66. doi: 10.1089/dna.2019.5323

13. Finsterer J. Mitochondrial dysfunction in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Reprod Sci* (2022) 30(5):1435–1442. doi: 10.1007/s43032-022-01100-z

14. Dabravolski SA, Nikiforov NG, Eid AH, Nedosugova LV, Starodubova AV, Popkova TV, et al. Mitochondrial dysfunction and chronic inflammation in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Int J Mol Sci* (2021) 22(8):3923. doi: 10.3390/ijms22083923

15. Scarfò G, Daniele S, Fusi J, Gesi M, Martini C, Franzoni F, et al. Metabolic and molecular mechanisms of diet and physical exercise in the management of polycystic ovarian syndrome. *Biomedicines* (2022) 10(6):1305. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10061305

16. Hahn A, Zuryn S. Mitochondrial genome (mtDNA) mutations that generate reactive oxygen species. *Antioxidants* (2019) 8(9):392. doi: 10.3390/antiox8090392

17. Aidar M, Line SRP. A simple and cost-effective protocol for DNA isolation from buccal epithelial cells. *Braz Dental J* (2007) 18:148–52. doi: 10.1590/S0103-64402007000200012

18. Niroula A, Vihinen M. PON-mt-tRNA: a multifactorial probability-based method for classification of mitochondrial tRNA variations. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2016) 44(5):2020–7. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw046

19. Sonney S, Leipzig J, Lott MT, Zhang S, Procaccio V, Wallace DC, et al. Predicting the pathogenicity of novel variants in mitochondrial tRNA with MitoTIP. *PloS Comput Biol* (2017) 13(12):e1005867. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005867

20. Yarham JW, Al-Dosary M, Blakely EL, Alston CL, Taylor RW, Elson JL, et al. A comparative analysis approach to determining the pathogenicity of mitochondrial tRNA mutations. *Hum Mutat* (2011) 32(11):1319–25. doi: 10.1002/humu.21575

21. Barbosa G, de Sá LBPC, Rocha DRTW, Arbex AK. Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and fertility. *Open J Endocrine Metab Dis* (2016) 6(1):58–65. doi: 10.4236/ ojemd.2016.61008

22. Ding Y, Xia BH, Zhang CJ, Zhuo GC. Mutations in mitochondrial tRNA genes may be related to insulin resistance in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Am J Trans Res* (2017) 9(6):2984.

23. Datta S, Majumder M, Biswas NK, Sikdar N, Roy B. Increased risk of oral cancer in relation to common Indian mitochondrial polymorphisms and autosomal GSTP1 locus. *Cancer* (2007) 110(9):1991–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.23016

24. Czarnecka AM, Krawczyk T, Plak K, Klemba A, Zdrozny M, Arnold RS, et al. Mitochondrial genotype and breast cancer predisposition. *Oncol Rep* (2010) 24 (6):1521–34. doi: 10.3892/or_00001014

25. Mohammed FMA, Mosaieby E, Houshmand M. Mitochondrial A12308G alteration in tRNALeu (CUN) in colorectal cancer samples. *Diagn Pathol* (2015) 10 (1):1–4. doi: 10.1186/s13000-015-0337-6

26. Li J, Liu L, Feng Z, Wang X, Huang Y, Dai H, et al. Tumor markers CA15-3, CA125, CEA and breast cancer survival by molecular subtype: a cohort study. *Breast Cancer* (2020) 27:621–30. doi: 10.1007/s12282-020-01058-3

27. Zhuo G, Feng G, Leng J, Yu L, Jiang Y. A 9-bp deletion homoplasmy in women with polycystic ovary syndrome revealed by mitochondrial genome-mutation screen. *Biochem Genet* (2010) 48:157–63. doi: 10.1007/s10528-009-9308-5

28. Mkaouar-Rebai E, Tlili A, Masmoudi S, Charfeddine I, Fakhfakh F. New polymorphic mtDNA restriction site in the 12S rRNA gene detected in Tunisian patients with non-syndromic hearing loss. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2008) 369 (3):849–52. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.02.107

29. Ebner S, Lang R, Mueller EE, Eder W, Oeller M, Moser A, et al. Mitochondrial haplogroups, control region polymorphisms and malignant melanoma: a study in middle European caucasians. *PloS One* (2011) 6(12):e27192. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027192

30. Roshan M, Kabekkodu SP, Vijaya PH, Manjunath K, Graw J, Gopinath PM, et al. Analysis of mitochondrial DNA variations in Indian patients with congenital cataract. *Mol Vision* (2012) 18:181.

31. Wang B, Qiao L, Wang Y, Zeng J, Chen D, Guo H, et al. Mitochondrial DNA Dloop lesions with the enhancement of DNA repair contribute to gastrointestinal cancer progression. *Oncol Rep* (2018) 40(6):3694–704. doi: 10.3892/or.2018.6724

32. Grasso M, Diegoli M, Brega A, Campana C, Tavazzi L, Arbustini E. The mitochondrial DNA mutation T12297C affects a highly conserved nucleotide of tRNALeu (CUN) and is associated with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Eur J Hum Genet* (2001) 9(4):311–5. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejhg.5200622

33. Booker LM, Habermacher GM, Jessie BC, Sun QC, Baumann AK, Amin M, et al. North American white mitochondrial haplogroups in prostate and renal cancer. *J Urol* (2006) 175(2):468–73. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5347(05)00163-1

34. Wu CH, Chiu LT, Chang YJ, Lee CI, Lee MS, Lee TH, et al. Hypertension risk in young women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a nationwide population-based cohort study. *Front Med* (2020) 7:574651. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.574651

35. Venkatesh S, Kumar M, Sharma A, Kriplani A, Ammini AC, Talwar P, et al. Oxidative stress and ATPase6 mutation is associated with primary ovarian insufficiency. *Arch gynecology obstetrics* (2010) 282:313–8. doi: 10.1007/s00404-010-1444-y

36. Durham SE, Krishnan KJ, Betts J, Birch-Machin MA. Mitochondrial DNA damage in non-melanoma skin cancer. Br J Cancer (2003) 88(1):90–5. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6600773

37. Weigl S, Paradiso A, Tommasi S. (2013). Mitochondria and familial predisposition to breast cancer. *Current Genomics* 14(3), 195.

Frontiers in Endocrinology

Explores the endocrine system to find new therapies for key health issues

The second most-cited endocrinology and metabolism journal, which advances our understanding of the endocrine system. It uncovers new therapies for prevalent health issues such as obesity, diabetes, reproduction, and aging.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



